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MISSION STATEMENT

NEfER

Pursuing the vision of being the “Chinese Connection’ both among Chinese communities and between
Chinese communities and the rest of the world, Phoenix seeks to provide Chinese everywhere with
a continuous stream of Chinese-language programming, ranging from entertainment, talk shows and
Asian and Western movies through to balanced, accurate and up-to-the-minute news and information
about political and economic developments around the globe.

By performing these functions, Phoenix fulfills its mission of bringing China closer
to the world and the world closer to China.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

TREMES

Although the traditional media business
environment is still critical, revenue from the
outdoor media business increased.

The Group's revenue for the year ended
31 December 2018 was approximately
HK$4,062,816,000, which represented an
increase of 2.7 % over the previous year.
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Financial Summary

° Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
approximately HK$4,062,816,000, which represented an
increase of 2.7% over the previous year.

° Profit attributable to owners of Phoenix Media Investment
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was approximately
HK$243,790,000.

° The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
recommended a final dividend of 1 Hong Kong cent per ordinary
share of the Company (the “Share(s)").

Results

The revenue of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately
HK$4,062,816,000 (year ended 31 December 2017:
HK$3,957487000), which represented an increase of 2.7% over the
previous year. Although the traditional media business environment
is still crucial to the Company’s income, revenue from the outdoor
media business increased. The operating costs have increased 7.8%
to approximately HK$4,129,514,000 (year ended 31 December 2017:
HK$3,829,558,000) compared to the previous year. The increase in
operating costs was primarily due to an increase in the contribution
required by the strategic upgrade of the Group.
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The operating loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 was approximately HK$66,698,000 (year ended 31 December
2017: operating profit of HK$127929,000).

Fair value gain on financial assets related to subsequent
measurement of internet media’s investment in Particle Inc. for the
year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately HK$802,877000
(year ended 31 December 2017: HK$285,352,000).

Fair value gain of approximately HK$7533,000 (year ended 31
December 2017: HK$44,868,000) was recognized for the investment
properties in Beijing and London.

The net exchange loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 was approximately HK$17906,000 (year ended 31 December
2017: gain of HK$8,083,000) mainly resulting from the depreciation of
the Renminbi.

The profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$243,790,000 (year ended 31 December 2017: HK$286,248,000).
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The chart below summarises the performance of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and the year ended 31 December
2017 respectively.
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Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31MHLEE

2018 2017
20185 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Television broadcasting BRERE 1,284,068 1,336,615
Internet media B AR 1,690,804 1,733,094
Outdoor media PoNERS 823,084 721,436
Real estate FEiE 68,404 29,464
Other businesses H R 196,456 136,878
Group's total revenue AEEBITA 4,062,816 3,957487
Operating costs KRR (4,129,514) (3,829,558)
Operating (loss)/profit i (1E) 5 (66,698) 127,929
Fair value gain on investment properties & & 2N FEW 7533 44,868
Net gain on internet media investment B B4 8840 & YUk 25 5 58
Fair value gain N EWE 802,877 285,352
Interest income FBIA 4,389 136,124
Exchange (loss)/gain, net FEH (F18) W F8 (17,906) 8,083
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary R{EHE — B AR 2 ik — 5,007
Other income, net H A A58 33,857 16,812
Profit before share of results of joint BheghERBENRIEE
ventures and associates, income FriS i R IEE R = AT m F
tax and non-controlling interests 764,052 624,175
Share of results of joint ventures BIEeEhERBERNRES
and associates 14,059 (13,743)
Income tax expense Fristi & A (216,768) (89,579)
Profit for the year FEm A 561,343 520,853
Non-controlling interests FEIEARAE A (317,553) (234,605)
Profit attributable to owners NAREE AEERET
of the Company 243,790 286,248
Basic earnings per share, GRREARZF] - B
Hong Kong cents 4.88 5.73
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Business Overview and Prospects

With an insight into the perplexing media market which is
experiencing drastic changes in the global political and economic
environment, Phoenix TV has adjusted its operations by setting a
three-year development goal of strategic upgrade: leveraging Phoenix
TV's brand influence and professionalism to build an internationally
leading high-tech omni-media group focused on content operations
and driven by cross-sector integration. In 2018, the first year in which
the strategy was implemented, the Group constantly improved
the operation system with perseverance, innovation, prioritization,
integration and choice-making. Driven by technological innovation and
capital operation, the Group promoted the coordinated development
of its various business segments, as well as controlling operation
costs reasonably with consideration to the business operations.
The financial performance of the Company was in-line with its
transformation and upgrade. Liu Changle, the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, remains positive on the prospect
of the Group's strategic transformation and upgrade.

Based in Hong Kong, Phoenix TV serves Chinese all over the
world. The news and information production of Phoenix TV upholds
the philosophy of “Global Outlook and Chinese Perspective” It
emphasises integrating its brand with the local culture, communicates
with the world with professionalism and passion, and plays a crucial
role in promoting Chinese culture, hence becoming a media platform
facilitating linkage and communication between China and the rest
of the world. In 2018, our global Phoenix TV team witnessed and
immediately reported on world events such as China’s diplomatic
relations with many major countries, the InterKorean Summits, the
U.S.-North Korea Summit, the China-U.S. trade tensions, the U.S.
mid-term elections, the progress of Brexit, the Russian presidential
election, etc. The coverage of these developments won praise and
acclaim from Chinese audiences all over the world, reflecting the
international characteristics and global influence of Phoenix TV.
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Phoenix TV's status in the industry and brand value continued to
improve, and continuously received awards included being rated as
one of The World's 500 Largest Media Companies, and entered the
list of Hong Kong's 100 Most Influential Brands in 2018, becoming
the only media organization to be listed in the top 10, reflecting its
status and reputation in media, culture and other fields. Phoenix
TV's programmes and promotional trailers have always enjoyed
a good reputation among Chinese media, and a number of its
excellent programs have received a series of awards from the New
York International Television Festival and the Chicago International
Television Festival for consecutive years, which underscores the
excellent capabilities and professionalism of Phoenix. Phoenix Zone,
a video on-demand product of derivative culture from television
program contents, entered into cooperation with various companies
in relation to overseas platform content, the coverage of which in
regions including Europe, North America, Asia and Oceania were
completed through the new media cooperation platform.

The Group's television broadcasting business has further deepened
the philosophy of “omni-media service” with constant innovation
of its content production and strengthened customer demand
orientation by promoting the evolution of the television station from
an advertising and marketing organization into a media service center.
Adhering to the idea of having content operations as its core, the
Group promoted and launched trial runs of a business operation mode
characterized by online and offline integration and platformization of a
multi-adaptive omni-media product catalogue to continuously enrich
and expand the industrial chain and value chain of the media industry.
Phoenix will also continue to pilot the integration and innovation of
technology and the media. The newly launched program Phoenix
Health has realized the interaction with artificial intelligence on the
theme of medical science. Corresponding to the development trend
of the media vehicle, the Group incubated Fengshows, an integrated
media operating platform, on which it will develop various forms
of content such as short videos, live streaming and an interactive
community, in order to enhance the ability of Phoenix TV in
monetizing the traffic of its contents.

The flagship product ifeng News APP under Phoenix New Media,
the internet media platform of the Group, has always been one of
the most popular news apps in China. The number of active users
grew steadily on the Phoenix New Media portal, which enjoyed
comprehensive developments in different areas including we-
media, live streaming and IP. The Group has constantly enhanced
product experience in various fields including content censorship,
users’ portraits and customized recommendations by integrating
computer algorithm with manual intervention. In 2018, the Group has
strengthened its deployment in the area of payment for knowledge
and strategically invested in the online reading product Tadu, which
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will effectively promote the influence of Phoenix in the field of online
reading. Yidian Zixun, an algorithm-based news feed app in which the
Group strategically invested through Phoenix New Media, provided
considerable valuation gains to the Group in the year 2018. The Group
believes that it will bring significant investment returns to the Group
as well as reflect the successful transformation of the Group after
the strategic disposal of part of the investment subsequent to the
reporting year.

The Group's outdoor media platform, Phoenix Metropolis Media, has
become a large and very influential outdoor LED media operator with
high revenue and profits in Mainland China. Its LED media business
is supplemented and upgraded by two business forms of the Group,
namely, Phoenix LED Alliance which is based on the extensive media
resources, and Phoenix Interaction which is based on leading digital
marketing. In 2018, LED media business recorded a significant
growth in both revenue and profits. Its visual contents and innovative
forms of advertising are highly recognised in the industry.

Various other business segments of the Group also maintained
healthy development. With regard to education, Phoenix Education is
expected to strengthen its fundamental business through the use of
capital operations. Development and breakthroughs were achieved
in terms of the Digital Media Production and Education Integration
business, Adolescent Language Arts training and projects including
International Education. Diversified business layout and development
have laid a solid foundation for the Group's strategic transformation
and upgrade.

With respect to cultural creativity, Phoenix Entertainment owns
the copyright of the comics adapted from Jin Yong's novels, such
as Demi-Gods and Semi-Devils, The Smiling, Proud Wanderer and
Legends of the Condor Heroes which have accumulated a total of
702,000,000 views on Tencent Comics, the largest animation and
comics platform in China. Phoenix Entertainment completed the
first round of financing for a total of RMB90,000,000 in 2018, the
proceeds from which are intended to be used for the improvement
on the market influence of comic IR After several years of business
deployment, Phoenix Culture and Phoenix Art, both serving as the
cultural creativity industry platforms of the Group, have formed a
sustainable and viable business model in the fields of large-scale
performing arts, cross-sector empowerment, cultural creativity towns
and culture-tourism integration. On this basis, new business modes
and new products are continuously explored and developed and the
business will soon enter the growth stage.
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With respect to technology, Phoenix Digital Technology is an important
practice of the Group to represent years of refinement of Phoenix TV
in the fields of humanities and arts. By utilizing digital technologies
such as augmented reality (AR), virtual reality (VR) and mixed reality
(MR), an immersive experience comes into being and attracts a large
audience. Phoenix Cloud, a platform of the Group’s cloud technology
business, is committed to transforming the media technologies and
patents accumulated over the years into digital service products.
iFeng Yun, a transmission tool for large files, Fengyun media asset
management system and Oceans open cloud platform are expected
to contribute significantly to our profit and revenue.

In 2018, Phoenix Digital Technology and the creativity business
segment of Phoenix Culture jointly launched a high-tech interactive
art exhibition Life Along the Bian River During the Pure Brightness
Festival at the Palace Museum. By means of a new media interactive
art form that integrates culture and technology, the scroll painting
Along the River during the Qingming Festival has become a new type
of exhibition, creating an experience which is immersive, shareable
and transmissible, which has drawn extensive attention and
recognition from all sectors of the society. This project has become
a highlight for the Group's business operations and innovations, and
touring exhibitions will subsequently take place in Hong Kong, Japan,
the United Kingdom and other locations.

Due to the influence of the global Chinese community, Phoenix TV
cooperates with the United Nations ("UN") agencies to help spread
and practice the UN's goal of sustainable development, integrate
into and facilitate global development, and contribute the wisdom of
Phoenix to the world with an open and inclusive attitude. In an era of
global turbulence, Phoenix is proud to have accomplished its mission
in promoting corporate transformation and upgrade and cross-sector
integration, as well as building a high-tech media group which is
credible, influential and prominent around the globe. By embracing
the development opportunities of the times, the Group is committed
to return to the capital market for its expectations of Phoenix TV.
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Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited's
(“Phoenix TV") The Belt and Road International
Forum and Seminar on the Second Anniversary
Broadcast of the Programme The Odyssey of the
Dragon was held at the Phoenix Center in Beijing.
With the theme of “"How Do Chinese Infrastructure
Contracting Companies Abroad Combine China's
Development Concepts and Business Models
with the International Sustainable Development
Framework’, the forum attracted the participation
of professionals from international organisations,
government authorities, businesses and industries,
consulting companies, as well as experts and
scholars. The participating guests together explored
the approaches to the cooperation of sustainable
development for Chinese enterprises. Mamdouh
Sallman, the Minister Plenipotentiary of the Egyptian
Embassy in China, Agi Veres, the country director of
the United Nations Development Programme, and Li
Xiaoyun, dean of the China Institute for South-South
Cooperation in Agriculture attended and addressed
the forum.
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With the ever-expanding business scope of Phoenix
Satellite Television Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries and the continuous diversification
of the industry chain, the Company, having obtained
a special resolution from the shareholders and
the approval of the Registrar of Companies of the
Cayman lIslands, officially changed its name to
“Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
EE#ER R E(ER) AR 27" The Company believed
that the new name would convey a more appropriate
corporate image and identity, which would benefit
the Group's future business development and the
interests of its shareholders as a whole.
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Among the winners of the Chicago International
Television Festival 2018, Phoenix TV's promotional
videos, Ocean's Forecast and Weekend Hot Talk
both won Silver Plaques in Art Direction/Production
Design. In Ocean's Forecast, the continuously
changing climate is projected through the
microscopic vision of the ocean from a magic crystal
ball, demonstrating the many faces of the ocean:
from calm and peaceful, through vibrant and lively
to stormy and violent. Through the use of special
visual effects, the mysterious beauty and power
of the ocean are vividly and profoundly displayed,
moving the viewers and attracting their interest in the
programme. Weekend Hot Talk borrows the famous
quote “Be Water” from Bruce Lee, an internationally
renowned Chinese martial art master, as its main
theme. The ever changing nature of water is used




to illustrate the highest realm of Chinese Kung Fu,
which is shapeless and formless, and to bring out
the unique style of the programme which is defined
as not jumping to conclusions, speaking out freely,
thinking with clear minds, embracing diversity and
flexibility, the characteristics for the making of a
carefree talk show.
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At the New York Festivals International TV & Films
Award Gala 2018, which was held in Las Vegas,
Phoenix TV received four awards for its programmes.
These included Decipher News which won a Gold
World Medal in the Best Lighting category, The
20th Anniversary of the HKSAR Reunification
Special which won a Finalist Certificate in the Best
Innovation category, Filler20 Hong Kong which won
a Finalist Certificate in the Best Production Design/
Art Direction category, and Syria: Between Ashes and
Roses which won a Finalist Certificate in the Best
News Documentary/Special category.
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18 May

5H18H

The Palace Museum and Phoenix TV jointly launched a
high-tech interactive art exhibition Life Along the Bian
River During the Pure Brightness Festival in Beijing.
Shan Jixiang, director of the Palace Museum and Liu
Changle, Chairman of the board and Chief Executive
Officer of Phoenix TV attended the ceremony. Shan
Jixiang indicated that the exhibition had showcased
the synthesis of culture and technology and created
endless possibilities. He also thanked Phoenix TV for
its continuing support towards the development of
the Palace Museum. Liu Changle pointed out that this
exhibition was unprecedented in museums around
the world and in the area of cultural creativity.
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The list of Asia's 500 Most Influential Brands in 2018,
compiled and published jointly by the World Brand
Lab and World Executive Group, was released at
the Asia Brand Summit in Hong Kong. Phoenix TV
has been on the list of Asia's 500 Most Influential
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Brands for 13 consecutive years, and its ranking
climbed 2 places up from last year to claim the
117th position, and was once again one of the four
most influential television media brands in Asia. The
Summit also announced the list of Hong Kong's 100
Most Influential Brands in 2018 where Phoenix TV
was ranked number nine and became the only media
corporation among the top 10.
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12 October
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The Chinese and Japanese governments formally
announced that Prime Minister Shinzo Abe of Japan
was going to visit China from 25 to 27 October.
Before the visit, Abe met with Lu Ningsi, executive
chief editor of Phoenix InfoNews Channel and Li
Miao, Phoenix TV's chief reporter in Tokyo, in an
exclusive interview at the Prime Minister's official
residence in Tokyo.
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8 November
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The Phoenix TV Global Brand Conference 2019 was
held at the Phoenix Centre in Beijing. The conference
this year, with the theme “Of China, Of the World’
attracted the participation of guests including
representatives from government institutions and
international organisations, entrepreneurs from China
and overseas, as well as industry leaders and well-
known scholars. Together, they discussed the path to
globalization for the brands of Chinese enterprises, as
well as ways to improve brand competitiveness and the
international discourse power of Chinese enterprises.
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19 November
MA19H

The Company made an announcement that Phoenix
TV entered into a strategic cooperation memorandum
with i EEEE (R ) B PR A 7] (Alibaba (China) Company
Limited*) (“Alibaba"”). Pursuant to the memorandum,
both parties will cooperate under the principles of
“Complementary Advantages, Mutual Benefits and
Co-Development” Through fair and friendly negotiation,
the cooperating parties will pursue the objective of
“Integrating Phoenix's Contents and Ali's Products”
and take advantage of competitive resources from
both parties, to deepen and extend new models
and new scopes for the commercialisation of
content products. With its advantage in the area
of technologies such as cloud computing, big data
and artificial intelligence, Alibaba will cooperate with
Phoenix TV on all fronts to promote Phoenix TV's
transformation towards digitalisation.

ARmBEHRASEMREFREMNEEE (FE) ARA
A ((MEEE)) #FHRMAFRETE - REASE - &
AAREBEER BEAHE  KRER]RA £8F
ERFHE  AELHTBUATRENAS  MENER]
REFERE BRETWEBER  FMUIBERATERRA
FerFE =M - MECEREEAEEHE - AE
B ATERSSRMEENESE  BREFERFAZSU
B HEBREFRNELEE -

*For identification purpose only
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27 December

12 H 27 H

The list of The World's 500 Largest Media Companies
in 2018 compiled exclusively by the World Media
Lab was unveiled. The Company entered the list
once again, and climbed a remarkable 12 places up
from last year to 267th among the top 500 media
companies in the world. The Company led the list of
top 10 in Hong Kong by taking the 2nd place, while
ifeng.com was ranked 7th. The World Media Lab held
the 2018 World Executive Conference and Award
Ceremony in Hong Kong, and the Group's Executive
Vice President and the Group's Chief Financial Officer
Yeung Ka Keung attended on behalf of the Company
to receive the awards.
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ASIA PACIFIC

As a satellite broadcaster, the television programs of Phoenix Satellite
Television Company Limited (“Phoenix TV") are primarily distributed
by AsiaSat 7, which has a footprint covering the Asia-Pacific region.
In Mainland China, Phoenix TV is downlinked to many regional cable
networks by APSTAR-6. In Hong Kong, it is on distribution systems of
i-CABLE and Now TV and in Macau, it is on the distribution system of
Macau Cable TV. In many other countries and regions, Phoenix TV is also
carried by local operators.

MALAYSIA
Phoenix TV is carried by Astro, the major Direct-to-Home (DTH) operator.

SINGAPORE
Phoenix TV is carried by StarHub.

INDONESIA
Phoenix TV is carried by First Media, Skynindo, Big TV
and MyRepublic.

THAILAND
Phoenix TV is carried by True Visions.

PHILIPPINES
Phoenix TV is carried by SKY Cable.

JAPAN
Phoenix TV is carried by Daifu.

KOREA
Phoenix TV is distributed in Korean hotels through Global Reach Korea.

VIETNAM
Phoenix TV is carried by Costaline.

LAOS
Phoenix TV is carried by LAOSAT.

CAMBODIA
Phoenix TV is carried by Costaline and LAOSAT.

MYANMAR
Phoenix TV is carried by Costaline and LAOSAT.

BRUNEI
Phoenix TV is carried by Kristal Astro.

AUSTRALIA
Phoenix TV is carried by TVB Anywhere and is also available
from AsiaSat 7.

NEW ZEALAND
Phoenix TV is carried by TVB Anywhere and World TV.
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AFRICA

Phoenix Chinese News and Entertainment Channel (“Phoenix CNE
Channel”) is distributed to 38 countries in Africa including South Africa
through MultiChoice and StarSat satellite platforms. Phoenix CNE Channel
and Phoenix InfoNews Channel are also transmitted over digital terrestrial
TV network of StarTimes, covering 16 African countries. Phoenix InfoNews
Channel is also distributed through ZTE platform to the whole Africa.

NORTH AND SOUTH AMERICA

Phoenix North America Chinese Channel (“Phoenix NA Chinese
Channel”), Phoenix InfoNews Channel and Phoenix Hong Kong Channel
are carried on satellite, cable, IR OTT and mobile platforms such as ADTH,
Amazon, AT&T (AT&T Uverse + DirecTV), Bell, CableVision, Charming
China, Comcast, ContentPort, COX, CWI, Damai TV, Dish, EnTouch, Flow,
Frontier, Galaxy 3C, Hawaiian Telcom, iTalkTV, Kylin TV, NOVUS, PhoenixTV-
US, Rogers, San Bruno, Shaw, Spectrum (Charter + Time Warner), Telus,
TVBI, Verizon FiOS, Windstream to cover North and South America.

EUROPE

Phoenix CNE Channel and Phoenix InfoNews Channel are carried by
Astra 2G and Eutelsat 9B, which are downlinked to Sky, Free, Sfr, Orange,
Numericable, Bouygues, Kable Deutschland, Telekom Deutschland,
Wilhelm.tel GmbH, Nos, Meo, Vodafone etc. and other mainstream cable,
OTT and IPTV systems in Europe. The two channels also cover the whole
Europe through Huawei inTouch platform.

Furthermore, 210 hotels in Europe with over 42,000 rooms in total, choose
Phoenix CNE Channel as the official Chinese TV channel for their guests.
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Phoenix Chinese Channel
Phoenix InfoNews Channel
Phoenix Hong Kong Channel
Phoenix CNE Channel
Phoenix NA Chinese Channel

Phoenix Movies Channel

PHOENIX GLOBAL REACH

Phoenix TV news bureaux and correspondent stations.
Phoenix TV also uses materials from foreign independent
bureaux based in Brazil, Canada, Mexico, Germany,
Hungary, Pakistan and Spain.

Annual Report 2018

(0)
NORTH AMERICA
dEEM
New York
i)
Washington
Los Angeles @ R
BT

)
CARIBBEAN
P i3 1)

BEREERH XA
BE#RERE
REEEEES
BREREMN A
BEEREMNE

BEREREFZS

REZRARK

BE#GE BN ERL R LB - B
BEEMMEBLRER - MEX - 2F
7m0 - BESE R
TFEEINBL L E VA E KL o

SOUTH AMERICA @
EE



A GLOBAL MEDIA ORGANISATION
BERIR

PHILIPPINES
SERE

19



‘ Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

GLOBAL OUTLOOK

IR EF

Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited
(“Phoenix TV"”) is a Chinese-language
media entity with international coverage,
its programmes are characterized by global
vision and its dedication is to provide the
Chinese-speaking audience with real-time
news and information from around the world.

In 2018, Phoenix TV reported on many
major news stories around the world and
also participated in a number of important
international events. The following provides
a sense of Phoenix TV’s international role as

a news reporter:

BREGERERL2F (TRHRE
ERD) ERBEERMNE
mER HEEAZRE
H Y IREEFERR
REDKZRFEREN -

R2018% - REERBES
HERHFEAE FSES
LEBEEEH - TIAE
EFERESFERELER
R F M EITHTAE -




The situation on the Korean Peninsula has
undergone earth-shaking changes in 2018.
North Korea changed the tough stance it
has taken in the past and attended the 2018
Olympic Winter Games held in Pyeongchang
in February. The relationship between South
and North Korea quickly improved, and leaders
from both sides took part in the inter-Korean
summit at Panmunjom in April. Kim Jong-un
and Mun Jae-in, the President of South Korea,
met again at Panmunjom in May, and Mun
Jae-in even made a visit to Pyongyang in
September. The United States-North Korea
summit, which received worldwide attention, was
held in June in Singapore with a joint statement
issued afterwards. Phoenix TV followed the
evolving situation on the Korean Peninsula and
sent multiple teams of journalists to North Korea,
South Korea and Singapore in order to report the
latest developments as they occurred.
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In September 2018, Super Typhoon Mangkhut
struck Southern China after causing serious
casualties in the Philippines, and did extensive
damage to Hong Kong, Macau and the coastal
areas of Guangdong. In the face of this natural
disaster, our reporters in Hong Kong and Shenzhen
were put on full alert. They ran a live coverage of
the typhoon's damage and impact and reported
the latest news of the typhoon's movement on
16 September, the day on which it landed.
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Russia held its presidential election in March
2018. While it was certain that Putin would serve
another term, the election still captured the
attention of the world, especially on whether the
tense relationship between Russia and the United
States as well as the European Union would
continue, and whether the friendly relationship
between China and Russia would further deepen.
Our reporters stationed in Moscow covered the
whole election process, and the experienced
commentators we sent to Moscow analysed the
subtle changes in Russia and the international
environment using first-hand information.
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US Secretary of State, Pompeo made his first
visit to China since his appointment as the
Secretary of State in June 2018. That was the
time when the United States-North Korea
summit was about to be held, and the world’s
attention fell entirely on America's attitude
towards North Korea and the development
of China-U.S. relations. During this particular
period, Phoenix TV reporter in Washington D.C
Bingru Wang, managed to hold an exclusive
interview with Pompeo, the contents of which
were referenced and reported by various media
agents. This clearly demonstrated the influence
of Phoenix TV on global media.
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Shinzo Abe, the Prime Minister of Japan, visited
China in 2018, seven years after his previous visit,
and this was clearly an event of great importance.
Before the visit, Abe gave an exclusive interview
to Li Miao, Phoenix TV's chief reporter in Japan,
during which he discussed his views on topics
including Sino-Japanese relations, the Belt and
Road Initiative and North Korea at length. The
exclusive interview was widely reported on and
published by the media after being broadcast by
Phoenix TV.
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The United States Midterm Elections in
November 2018 were considered to be the most
attention-grabbing midterm elections in history,
owing to the fact that they represented the first
report card on the Trump presidency. Meanwhile,
the development of China-U.S. relations after
the elections was also closely watched by the
world. During the election, our US correspondent
office dispatched all its team of reporters to a
number of geographical locations, producing in-
depth reports with complete perspectives on the
election process. In addition to live streaming
throughout the day of the elections, the election
terrain and its impact were also extensively
analysed in special programmes broadcast
before and after the elections, reflecting the
distinctive character of “Watch Phoenix TV for
Major Events”

2018 F 11 AMERFHESR - A[HEFRKEXER
MR HERE  NMEFAGRARBRL EaBNER
FREEE - IR EYITIREHRERMENER - X6
FEILEIRERE  HETHAEMNGKE T2
B 2HMRARBERE BRTHEEREREEEH
B g ENEESEY  2ESImMERER
MEE TR [ KEEEE] HEFE -

Taiwan’s nine-in-one elections at the end of
2018 were a major test of public opinion for the
Taiwanese President Tsai Ing-wen. The Taipei
correspondent office closely monitored the
electoral situation before the election. On the
day of the election, it covered first-hand reports
of the election while witnessing the sweeping
change in Taiwan's political scene, together with
the Chinese audience around the world.
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2018 marked the 40th anniversary of China's
reform and opening-up. China had undergone
dramatic changes during this period, and the
world had also become somewhat different due
to the influence of China's reforms. In a year
of such importance, we released an extensive
series of reports on the 40 years of reform and
opening-up. Our correspondent offices around
the globe were mobilised to produce 40 reports,
which included interviews with important
leaders and renowned scholars, reviews on
China’'s remarkable achievements and important
contributions to the world, as well as stories on
how other countries benefitted from learning
China’s experience on reforms.
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The first China International Import Expo (“CIIE")
was held in Shanghai in November 2018. The
CIIE is a major initiative of China in supporting
trade liberalisation and economic globalisation,
as well as proactively opening-up its market
to the world. Amid rising global unilateralism,
China’s position on promoting trade liberalisation
earned great support from many countries. As
such, the first CIIE attracted the participation of
82 nations for the Country Exhibition, and more
than 3,000 companies from over 130 countries
signed up to participate in the Enterprise and
Business Exhibition. Teams of reporters from
Phoenix TV's Shanghai, Beijing and Hong Kong
correspondent offices were sent to the venue
and set up equipment for live broadcasting onsite
and produced comprehensive reports on the
spectacular success of the CIIE.
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To become a global broadcaster, the core team of Phoenix Satellite Television Company
Limited (“Phoenix TV"”) comprises elite presenters, reporters and commentators from
Mainland China, Taiwan and Hong Kong as well as from the global Chinese community
who holds the mission of propagating Chinese culture.
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MAINLAND CHINA
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Many members in Phoenix TV presenter team are from different provinces and cities
in Mainland China, and their extensive experience in television broadcasting has
enhanced the professionalism of Phoenix TV programmes.
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It is the mission of Phoenix TV to communicate with Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Taiwan. Therefore, some Phoenix TV's presenters are from Taiwan. The broadcasting
practices and political views on current affairs of presenters are often unique, and
demonstrate the benefits of gathering expert presenters so that they can complement
each other.
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HONG KONG AND REST OF THE WORLD

With its headquarters based in Hong Kong — Phoenix TV attracts a vast number of local
television specialists, from the presenters, reporters to the production teams, creating
all kinds of advantages for PhoenixTV.
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A GLOBAL TEAM
2 RER

HONG KONG AND REST OF THE WORLD
& EE M

In addition, many Chinese talents in our presenter team are from all over the world and
contribute to the success of today's Phoenix TV with their international perspective
and the voice of Chinese people.
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THE CHINESE GATEWAY

P

According to the China New Rich Marketing
and Media Study (H3) (the “New Rich
Research”)* conducted by SINOMONITOR
in 2018, the programmes produced by
Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited
(“PhoenixTV") have gained popularity among
the social elite class in China and its core
audience was the mainstream population
of highly intellectual and highly influential
individuals.

The New Rich Research showed that enterprise management
and professionals accounted for nearly 60% of the audience of
Phoenix TV, in which enterprise management accounted for 31.6%
and professionals (including technicians/doctors/teachers/lawyers)
accounted for 27.7%.

According to the wealth index of the New Rich Research in 2018,
the audience of Phoenix TV represented the mainstream consumers
in the society, who are richer and have greater consumption power,
stronger bargaining power and more frequent financial activities.
*Note: The database of New Rich Research is the largest multiple client
database related to the high-end population in China to date based
on a single-source continuous research targeting middle-class
consumption (particularly the consumers of luxury products), lifestyle
and media behavior in major cities in China. In 2004, SINOMONITOR
introduced a key phrase of "Three Highs" - "High Income", "High
Education’, "High Perception’, which was fater changed into "New
Rich".

........

SINOMONITOR, Researgh database of
and Media Study (H3), 2018

Source: | New Rich Marketing

BELTHERTSERNES
£ R 2 T (SINOMONITOR)
H2018FETHWHEFMET
SRR (H3) (HEHR
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MNER  ZOBRB/BEHA - 5
HENNERAE
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ABMEEA T FIEERE0%  HPd
¥XERAEMLAIES6% EEAT (B
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277% °

RIL2018FHEAEH FIEE - BEFHR
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THE CHINESE GATEWAY

HEPS P
Core Audience of Phoenix TV: Highly Intellectual and Highly BRESZOER - A - 52N

Influential Mainstream Population FRARE

The high-end audience preferred programs such as news, in- =HEREEER - RERE - HAZHE
depth reports and interviews. Phoenix TV adheres to the vision of HEIE R AT o BUEER BB AKRIA
“Connecting Chinese Worldwide and Promoting Chinese Culture”  [HiiZERE ABE - FHRPEVE] AR
with an edge to attract high-end audience since its establishment. g AREBERSISRERAES -

According to the data of the New Rich Research in 2018, enterprise  RIE2018FHEHEEE - BEARER
management and professionals accounted for nearly 60% of the ' GCEBFRASMEEATHLOIER
audience of Phoenix TV, forming the two largest groups among the  60% ' Z{h L& AR KRR : Hp %
audience, in which enterprise management accounted for 31.6%, BEASMLLAIES1.6% @ 2htE&EAMH—
being the largest group among the audience, while professionals  {E##8E : EXEA LT (RIERMMAE B4E
(including technicians/doctors/teachers/lawyers) accounted for 27.7%. kAl 2A0) BILLBIE 277 % ©

The composition of the occupation of
Phoenix TV audience (%)

REERBRHEENER (%)

Students and others 1.6% Functionaries 7.5%

B4R A 1.6% WEHEEE 75%

Individuals/enterprise owners/freelancers 19.5%

fElpg/ 2/ 5 B 19.5%

Enterprise management 31.6%
PEEEAS 31.6%

General workers 12.1%
—RBT 12.1%

Professionals 27.7%
HEASF 277%

( _j_;tébas_e_.of. China New Rich Marketing — BEXIR -

and Media Study (H3), 2018
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THE CHINESE GATEWAY
hEFIF

The proportions of enterprise management at all levels and
professionals of Phoenix TV audience all exceeded those of

the major channels of CCTV.

Annual Report 2018

REFRERT  SREEEEABR
EXALTHLL TR R T BIAE

The proportion of senior management (including
chairmen/CEOs/presidents or vice-presidents/

enterprise owners/business partners) (%)
EEEE(BRESR/ARYUTE/ARRBER/

B¥E/BESBA) LA (%)

The proportion of middle management
(including marketing/sales directors) (%)

TEEE(BETSEHE/ HERE) LA (%)

Phoenix TV 34 Phoenix TV 75 ——
ElEE18 218
CCTV-1 2.4 CCTV-1 45
hh—F& fh—F
CCTV-2 1.9 CCTV-2 5.5
hR=—E sk —E
CCTV-4 1.8 CCTV-4 5.1
HARNE FRmE
CCTV-5 1.9 CCTV-5 4.7
HARE fRFE
CCTV-NEWS 1.7 CCTV-NEWS 5.1
s 37 s 3 [

The proportion of professionals (including
technicians/doctors/teachers/lawyers) (%)

EEAL(BERIMAS/ B/ AT/ EE) LS (%)

Phoenix TV
V= Keag

CCTV-1
FR—E
CCTV-2
FR-E

CCTv4
PRME

CCTV-5
FRAEE

CCTV-NEWS
PRI

Source: SINOMONITOR, Research database of China New Rich Marketing

and Media Study (H3), 2018
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26.8

24.2

18.9

24.2

23.3

BEAR - FAER o B F 5 HAL R 5
(H3) AE 25 E - 2018



Core Audience of Phoenix TV: High Income, High Consumption
Power and High Purchasing Power

According to the wealth index of the New Rich Research in 2018,
among the audience of Phoenix TV, population from classes 1, 2 and 3
accounted for 12%, 23.8% and 31.5% respectively. The proportions of
these top 3 classes all exceed the respective class proportions of the
New Rich Research which represented the mainstream consumers in
the society, who are richer and have stronger consumption power.

Note: The wealth index is an analytical system based on the data of the New
Rich Research on the wealth and consumption behaviors of the New
Rich in China. This system takes education, housing, investment scale,
expenditure and ownership of durable consumer goods as the analytical
variables to divide the consumers into 5 consumption classes. Class
1 is the highest class with the most wealth; the higher the class, the
higher the consumption potential and consumption power.

The overall proportion of
New Rich in each class (%)
MBBEEREENLA (%)
Class 1 E—F&/E (10%)

Class 2 E—[&/E (20%)

Class 4 FEVUfEE (30%)
Class 5 EAEE (10%)

I .
Class 3 £=R/E (30%) - — 315

The proportion of high income audience of Phoenix TV
exceeded that of the major channels of CCTV.
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THE CHINESE GATEWAY
REIFT P

BEFRZLER A SHE
- =BED

018 FHBEAEH EHEHETR  BEER
BREF—BEIEL12%  F_REENL
23.8% ' F=PEEIHL31.5% * BI=[&ELL
BIHBEHEAERE  ERLEEREE
AB HBEREZHME BB ER -

Mat : BB IEBRERHEREHE  REFEH
MEBBANERE BRI RMEILL
HRE - X WA ERNERIERRS
WEE REBEHE D RBSEDHEEA -
FEEERRENMEREE  FEEYSHE
BENFOBEDBX -

The proportion of Phoenix TV
audience in each class (%)

BEFRBRIGZEENLS (%)

12.0
23.8

25.3
74

RE/MRBERT SR ABRNLIIE
AR EIRE -

The composition of the annual The proportion of audience with an annual
income of Phoenix TV audience (%) income above RMIB300,000 by channels (%)
REEREBEZRFWRANER (%) ZIREFWMAARYEI0E T A LB RAVELA] (%)
Above RMB1M Refused to answer PhoenixTV ~ 28.2 sy
AR 100 & T E JEBEIE %R
2.4 0.9
RMB600K-1M RMBA0K-100K qfﬂ%’ 217
AR 60Z7T-100&7T AR 4ET-1087T
74 21.2 cCcTV-2  26.9
RMB300K-600K RMB100K-300K Fh —F
AR 30&7C-60&E7T 10&7T-30& 7T
o éﬁ% BIr-3087T CCTV5 239
HERE

Source: SINOMONITOR, Research database of China New Rich Marketing
and Media Study (H3), 2018

CCTV-NEWS 233

R [E

BUBRAIR © T o HEIRT = T 5 B AR EEFT T
(H3) AE 25 E - 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
B AT

Comments on Segmental Information

DIERF

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
Segment Segment
Revenue result Revenue result
WA DEHEE ON P2k E
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FAET
Television broadcasting BERERE 1,284,068 254,096 1,336,615 316,022
Internet media EH@‘ e 1,690,804 726,798 1,733,094 453,583
Outdoor media iR 823,084 142,899 721,436 119,524
Real estate EE 68,404 36,193 29,464 (6,818)
Other businesses i 196,456 (99,203) 136,878 (33,490)
Group's total revenue and REBEBUYA R
segment results PaR 4,062,816 1,060,783 3,957487 848,821
Unallocated income AABLULA 6,966 62,143
Unallocated expenses AABLFX (303,697) (286,789)
Profit before share of results BEEEDER
of joint ventures and associates, H@‘?%’A GIES &
income tax and non-controlling (Cy YN El=
interests Hﬂ% Bl g A 764,052 624,175
Revenue from television broadcasting, comprising advertising, EREZRA (BEES - YERTP KEM

subscription and other revenue sources, which accounted for
31.6% of the total revenue of Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “"Group")
for the year ended 31 December 2018, decreased 3.9% to
approximately HK$1,284,068,000 (year ended 31 December 2017:
HK$1,336,615,000). The critical traditional media trading environment
has led to a decrease in the advertising income of the television
broadcasting business. As the cost structure is relatively fixed, the
segmental profit for the television broadcasting business reduced
to approximately HK$254,096,000 for the year ended 31 December
2018 (year ended 31 December 2017: HK$316,022,000).

Revenue from Phoenix Chinese Channel and Phoenix InfoNews
Channel, which accounted for 28.5% of the total revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2018, decreased 4.7% to
approximately HK$1,159,445,000 (year ended 31 December 2017:
HK$1,216,859,000).

42

U A HR) T F£3.9% = #91,284,068,000
BT (E E2017F12A318 It F E:
1,336,615,000 %8 7T) * (HEEERZE (%
) BRAR ([XA8]) REKBA A
(MS%J) HE2018F12 A3 BILEE

BTN 31.6% © EETIEBAEIRIZIANR
ﬂ&% BEE ﬁf%%ﬁ%ﬁ’]fﬁtuﬁz)\ml\ ° [
RAAZRBAEEEE - EREREBRER
20184 12 A 31 EiJJ:iFE’J DEEFRELD
254,096,000 7T (# 22017412 A31H
IF4FE © 316,022,000787T) °

BEAEF A RBREEEEME KA
T F&4.7% Z #71,159,445,00058 T (# &
2017412 A31 8 Ik 4 ¥ : 1,216,859,000
BIL) A EEEZE2018F12 83181t
FERWAR285% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The total revenue of Phoenix Hong Kong Channel, Phoenix Movies
Channel, Phoenix North America Chinese Channel, Phoenix Chinese
News and Entertainment Channel and others increased 4.1% to
approximately HK$124,623,000 (year ended 31 December 2017:
HK$119,756,000).

The revenue of the internet media business for the year ended 31
December 2018 decreased 2.4% to approximately HK$1,690,804,000
(year ended 31 December 2017: HK$1,733,094,000). The segmental
profit of internet media business for the year ended 31 December
2018 was approximately HK$726,798,000 (year ended 31 December
2017: HK$453,583,000) as a result of a significant increase in net gain
related to subsequent measurement of the investment in Particle Inc.

The revenue of the outdoor media business for the year ended 31
December 2018 increased 14.1% to approximately HK$823,084,000
(year ended 31 December 2017: HK$721,436,000). The segmental
profit of the outdoor media business for the year ended 31 December
2018 increased 19.6% to approximately HK$142,899,000 (year ended
31 December 2017: HK$119,524,000).

The segmental gain for real estate business for the year ended 31
December 2018 was approximately HK$36,193,000 (year ended 31
December 2017: segmental loss of HK$6,818,000), which included
the net fair value gain of approximately HK$7533,000, recognized for
the investment properties.

Please refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for a
detailed analysis of segmental information and the section entitled
“Business Overview and Prospects” in this report for commentary
on the core business of the Group.

Dividends

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or “Directors”)
recommended the payment of a final dividend of 1 Hong Kong cent
per ordinary share of the Company (the “Share(s)") (final dividend
for 2017: 1 Hong Kong cent), totaling approximately HK$49,935,000
to be payable to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on
14 June 2019, Friday. Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM"), the final dividend will be payable on or around 24 June
2019, Monday.

EEEFWE DT

BRERESES - BEGERESZS - BEG
BEME - BEBEREMNE REMH B
ASEAN4.1% &= £9124,623,0005 7T (& =
201712 A31 H IE F [ : 119,756,000%
JT) °

O REREEBREE2018F12HA31H
IFFERUATFE2.4% Z471,690,804,000
BT (& E2017F12A318 It F E:
1,733,094,0007% JT) © # £20185F 12 B
3TAIEFEEHBEEERND B FL
726,798,000/% 7T (B £2017F12 A31H
IF4FE : 453,683,000/87T) * TE M E
H 15 S Particle Inc. (9IRE A @8 U=
SRRE RIS ANFTER

HZE2018F12A31B L FE 2 PINE
B2 235 U0 A I8 1 14.1% = #7823,084,000
BT (& E2017F12A318 It F E:
721,436,000/% JT) © & 220184 12 A 31
BIEFE 2 PIMEEE SRR 5 58 5 745 n
19.6% ZE#7142,899,000/8 7T (B £ 2017 £
12 A31 BIEEE 119,524,000 7T) °

HE208F12A3MB L FEZEHE
¥ 09 885 FI 49 436,193,000 7T (&
E207F1N2ANBIEFE: D EEIE
6,818,000/87L) ' EF BIEERAIREY
WA EE FREL 7533,0008 7T °

BRASBRENNFHAD T R AEBZOER
R - BRI 2B A M IRRMTES &
AREN [EEHERRIR] —Ff -

g\

AARESE ([EEE]] N [EE)]) g&&F
20196 148 (2HH) AR A
R (TRR]) Eafmsrs L@ ([
1) REARR BT R% 1 7B (2017 F R B
B 181 - A R A% B 449,935,000
BIL - (FABRBE RN RITHARRQF]
BREAFARE ((RREFAE]) LEBB
% REBRBER2019F6A24H (25
—) SKATRIREE
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Annual General Meeting

The AGM will be held at No. 2-6 Dai King Street, Tai Po Industrial
Estate, Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong on 5 June 2019,
Wednesday at 3:00 p.m.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries
And Affiliated Companies

As at 31 December 2018, as a result of the exercise of share options
by the option holders, the Group’s equity interest in Phoenix New
Media Limited ("PNM") decreased from 54.96% to 54.51% (as at 31
December 2017: the Group's equity interest in PNM decreased from
55.45% 10 54.96%).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The liquidity and financial resources of the Group as at 31 December
2018 remained solid. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash
and current bank deposits totaling about HK$1,665,485,000 (as
at 31 December 2017: HK$2,690,998,000), as well as structured
deposits of approximately HK$1,030,227,000 (as at 31 December
2017: nil) which have been recorded as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. The aggregated outstanding borrowings of the
Group were approximately HK$1,206,367,000 (as at 31 December
2017: HK$1,239,544,000), representing non-interest bearing loans,
non-interest bearing loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries, secured and interest bearing bank borrowings to fund
the investment in Phoenix International Media Centre in Beijing and
other secured and interest bearing bank borrowings. The gearing
ratio of the Group, based on total liabilities to equity attributable to
owners of the Company, was 57.0% as at 31 December 2018 (as at
31 December 2017: 54.6%).

44
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REEFAEETN2019F6 A58 (EH
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B2018F 12 A31 8 AREREFEA
TR - AEBREENIEEERAT
([BEFEEE]) HAR AR 54.96% &
£5451% (R2017F 128318 A%
BBV IR BE B0 AR AN ¥ 25 R 55.45% i D &2
54.96%) °

mEEE LY BEIR

RNEBPR018F12F3MBEHN RS E S
KB i EIR AT - 120184 12 A 31
A A£EBRSREHETERALY
1,665,485,000 %7 (72017412 A31H -
2,690,998,000/8 L) * FREEIE AT EE
BB TRNMEE ENEBIETRELY
1,030,2270004 7T (72017612 A31H -
THL) c AEENHAEEREREY
1,206,36700048 7T (72017612 A31H -
1,239,544,0008 L) * BREREENR - K
BHIE A RMIEERBRERN R BER - AE
BEMPNE R BE BB EEF ORIENE
B ERITEE  UREMFEF SR
IEE - IR A B AR RREE AL E
HETE o REEN2018F12 31BN E
REFELFEREAES70%(FR2017412 4318 ¢
54.6%) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Save as disclosed above, the financial position of the Group
remained liquid. Most of the Group's monetary assets, liabilities
and transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars
("USD") and Renminbi (“RMB"), with minimal balances in Pound
Sterling and New Taiwan dollars. The Group is therefore exposed to
foreign exchange risks arising from currency exposures, primarily with
respect to USD and RMB. The Group manages its foreign exchange
risks by performing regular reviews and monitoring its foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will consider using forward currency
contracts as a tool to manage and reduce such risks. Taking into
account the Group's current operational and capital requirements, the
Directors do not consider the Group is significantly exposed to any
foreign currency exchange risk.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2018, the land and property in Chaoyang Park,
Beijing, with carrying value of approximately HK$96,000,000,
HK$365,000,000 and HK$1,497000,000 (as at 31 December
2017: HK$103,000,000, HK$412,000,000 and HK$1,555,000,000)
recorded in lease premium for land, property, plant and equipment
and investment properties respectively were pledged with a bank
to secure a bank borrowing to fund the investment in Phoenix
International Media Centre in Beijing. Bank deposit of approximately
HK$734,745,000 (as at 31 December 2017: HK$781,666,000) was
pledged with a bank to secure a bank borrowing to optimize return
through interest difference and arrangement of external security
within the loan. The property in the United States with carrying
value of approximately HK$2,720,000 (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$2,751,000) was pledged with a bank to secure a bank borrowing.
No deposits were pledged with a bank to secure banking guarantee
given to the landlord of a subsidiary (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$352,000).

EEEFWE DT

B EXFTIEES  NEBMMBIORDE
MmN - ARAEBAMOEREE - AfF
RZSTIAET - ETRARETHE - Wb
BUARBE R GWRE - ARBRMAXE
ERAETRARBEHINERR - REER
BEHERERINER R - WEEBNAE
HERSOEREELIER  AELSER
B EEAKERFNLEREATE &
RRAEEZINERBRBR o

BE R

P2018F 12 A31 8 Ik R AEMN -
HREYE  REHHAEER - ¥ BE
MR ARIEEMER TS BEEA
& 4996,000,000/% Jt * 365,000,000 T
1.1,497000,0007% 7T ( 74201712 A 31
A : 103,000,000/ Jt * 412,000,000/% JT
% 1,655,000,0007% 70) + B #H# T R1T A
BYSIRTTIEE AL AL R BB B B E
FRORE FRIE o $RIT1F5K40 734,745,000 7
7T ( 722017412 A31 8 : 781,666,000 %
70) BT RITUBRGRITEER M FE
BEZBHRARIMRAERZEHE - (IRERE
[ B #92,720,0007% 7T (722017412 A 31
H :2,751,000870) < MEDERTRT
LB RITRE < S8BT TIRTTIAE
JA—HNEA Rz EEREBITER (B
2017412 A31 8 : 352,000387T) °
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Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other charges
on its assets as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

Capital Structure and Share Options

As at 31 December 2018, the authorized share capital of the
Company was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 Shares
of HK$0.10 each, of which 4,993,469,500 Shares (as at 31 December
2017: 4,993,469,500 Shares) had been issued and fully paid.

There was no option exercised under the Company’'s share option
schemes during the year.

As at 31 December 2018, the operations of the Group were mainly
financed by owners’ equity, bank borrowings, loans from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and banking facilities.

Staff

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 2,869 full-time staff (as
at 31 December 2017: 2,881) at market remuneration supplemented
with employee benefits such as comprehensive medical coverage,
insurance plan, defined contribution pension schemes and employee
share option schemes. Staff costs for the year ended 31 December
2018 increased to approximately HK$1,286,214,000 (year ended 31
December 2017: HK$1,277.283,000).

Significant Investments Held

As at 31 December 2018, the Group invested in listed securities
investments with estimated fair market value of approximately
HK$19,782,000 (as at 31 December 2017: HK$24,406,000) which
was recognized as “financial assets at fair value through profit and
loss’ and the unlisted preferred shares of Particle Inc. held by the
Group were recognized as “financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss” with estimated fair market value of approximately
HK$2,235,585,000 (as at 31 December 2017 recognized as “available-
forsale financial assets”: HK$705,712,000 and “derivative financial
instruments”: HK$721,002,000). Save as disclosed above, the Group
had not held any other significant investment for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Future Plans for Material Investments and Expected
Source Of Funding

The Group will continue to consolidate its existing businesses while
exploring new business opportunities that will complement and
enhance its existing businesses.

Contingent Liabilities

Various companies in the Group are involved in litigation arising in
the ordinary course of their respective businesses. Having reviewed
outstanding claims and taking into account legal advice received,
the Directors are of the opinion that adequate provisions have been
made in the audited consolidated financial information for the year.
(Adequate provisions had also been made in the audited consolidated
financial information for the year ended 31 December 2017).

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities

The Company had not redeemed any Shares. Neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Shares
during the year.

Other Important Events and Subsequent Events

Assignment of Loans Granted to Particle Inc.

On 28 January 2016, 5 April 2016, 10 August 2016, 2 November 2016
and 20 January 2017 PNM, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company granted loans in the principal amounts of US$10,000,000,
US$10,000,000, US$14,800,000 (the “August 2016 Loan"),
RMB46,000,000 and RMB74,000,000 (the “January 2017 Loan")
respectively to Particle Inc.
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On 22 January 2018, PNM extended the terms of (i) the August 2016
Loan for a further six (6) months term to August 2018, and (ii) the
January 2017 Loan to July 2018 after the extension. The expiration
date of PNM'’s right to convert, at PNM'’s option, all or a part of the
August 2016 Loan (including principal and interests) into Series
D1 preferred shares to be issued by Particle Inc. was accordingly
extended to 9 August 2018.

On 29 September 2017 PNM, Particle Inc. and Long De Cheng Zhang
Culture Communication (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“Long De") entered into an
agreement pursuant to which PNM was expected to assign its rights
under the August 2016 Loan to Long De or its affiliates amongst other
matters (the “Previous Agreement”). Given the delay in completion
of the transactions contemplated under the Previous Agreement, on
2 April 2018, the parties agreed to terminate the Previous Agreement
and replace it with a loan assignment agreement, pursuant to which
PNM would assign the August 2016 Loan to Long De or its affiliates
with an assignment price of approximately US$17000,000 amongst
other matters.

On 7 August 2018, Long De's designated affiliate paid the assignment
price of approximately US$17,000,000 to PNM and the loan
assignment was completed.

PNM currently owns approximately 37.64% of the total outstanding
shares of Particle Inc. on an as-if converted basis.

Fund Raising Exercise for Phoenix Entertainment and Game
Company Limited Group

In 2018, Phoenix Entertainment and Game Company Limited
("Phoenix Games"), a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
round of fund raising exercises seeking external funds to support its
business plans in the comic and games industry. Based on the then
valuation of Phoenix Games and its subsidiaries (“Phoenix Games
Group”), the amount to be raised was in a total of RMB100,000,000
in exchange for a total of 5% equity interests in Phoenix Games
Group.
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On 22 January 2018, Phoenix Games entered into a strategic
investment agreement with FZ I T B Z=ZEE BB EBR A F
("GuoHong"), its overseas investment arm China Prosperity Capital
Alpha Limited and various parties. GuoHong invested a sum of
RMB50,000,000 in return for a 2.5% equity interest (on a diluted
basis) in Phoenix Games Group and the transaction was completed
on 2 February 2018 (the “GuoHong Transaction”). GuoHong is a
private investment fund specializing in the mobile internet and pan
entertainment industries of the Greater China region.

On 26 February 2018, Phoenix Games entered into another strategic
investment agreement with AR B Z Z R Al £ R E H R A 7
("MingXi") and various parties, the terms of which were similar
to those of the GuoHong Transaction. Pursuant to the agreement,
MingXi would invest a sum of RMB30,000,000 in return for a
1.5% equity interest (on a diluted basis) in Phoenix Games Group
(the “MingXi Transaction”), and an injection of RMB20,000,000
had been completed by the end of 2018. MingXi is a subsidiary in
an investment fund focusing on new technology and innovative
enterprises with sustainable growth, high competitiveness and good
corporate governance.

On 16 March 2018, Phoenix Games entered into another strategic
investment agreement with ZE)F{ZEEEIGEBR A (“XinDa"), its
overseas investment arm China Cinda (HK) Asset Management Co.,
Limited and various parties, the terms of which were similar to those
of the GuoHong Transaction and the MingXi Transaction. Pursuant to
the agreement, XinDa invested a sum of RMB20,000,000 in return for
a 1% equity interest (on a diluted basis) in Phoenix Games Group and
the transaction was completed on 18 April 2018. XinDa is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of China Cinda Assets Management Co., Limited,
one of the most prestigious investment brands in China.
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Change of Company Name

On 25 January 2018, the Company announced the proposal to change
the Company’s English name from “Phoenix Satellite Television
Holdings Limited"” to “Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited”
and to change the dual foreign name in Chinese from " [Bl/E &7 1%
RBERAE" to " BlLEBGHRIEE (3ZEKR) BR A A" in line with its
business directions. The proposed change of company name was
subject to: (i) approval by a special resolution of the shareholders
at an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM") to approve the
proposed change of company name; and (ii) approval by the Registrar
of Companies of the Cayman Islands by issuing a certificate of
incorporation on change of name.

The EGM was held on 6 March 2018 and a special resolution of the
Shareholders was obtained. The Company received the certificate of
incorporation on change of name from the Registrar of Companies of
the Cayman Islands and the change of name was made effective from
7 March 2018. The Certificate of Registration of Alteration of Name
of Registered Non-Hong Kong Company issued by the Registrar of
Companies in Hong Kong was also obtained on 19 March 2018. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 21 March
2018.

Continuing Connected Transactions with CMCC Group

On 4 October 2018, the Stock Exchange granted to the Company
a waiver from strict compliance with the requirement under Rules
14A.34 and 14A.51 of the Listing Rules to enter into a framework
agreement with the CMCC Group at the outset covering all the
transactions in relation to provision of website portal and value-added
telecommunications services between PNM and its subsidiaries
(collectively “PNM Group”) and CMCC Group (the “New Media
CCT") for the three years from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021,
subject to the conditions disclosed in the Company’s announcement
and the circular dated 16 November 2018 and 22 November 2018
respectively.

On 17 December 2018, the Shareholders other than China Mobile
(Hong Kong) Group Limited and its associates approved and
confirmed the New Media CCT and the relevant annual caps of
RMB181,000,000, RMB200,000,000 and RMB216,000,000 for each
year ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 respectively at the
EGM.
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Strategic Cooperation Memorandum with FIEEE () &
R 72 7] (Alibaba (China) Company Limited*) (“Alibaba”)

On 16 November 2018, Phoenix TV, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a strategic cooperation
memorandum (the “Memorandum”) with Alibaba. Pursuant to the
Memorandum, both parties expressed their intention to explore
opportunities for possible cooperation in the areas of programme
contents, products, platforms, internet technologies such as cloud
computing and big data, as well as in fields such as cross-sector
innovation, capital investment, middle-tier technology and data
sharing, technological innovation transformation of Alibaba DAMO
Academy and in the broadcast sector and to enter into binding
strategic cooperation agreement(s) within the one-year validity of the
Memorandum.

The Board is of the view that the possible cooperation with Alibaba
will benefit the implementation of the Group's strategic goal of
“leveraging the Company's brand influence and professionalism to
build an internationally leading high-tech omni-media group focused
on content operations and driven by cross-sector integration” For
details, please refer to the Company’'s announcement dated 19
November 2018.

Continuing Connected Transaction between &/ ER AR A A
(Shenzhou Television Company Ltd.) (“Shenzhou”) and CNHK
Media Limited (FEEEAR 2 R]) (“CNHK Media”)

On 30 November 2018, Shenzhou, acting as the PRC advertising
agent of Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited (“Phoenix
TV"), and CNHK Media entered into an advertising contract relating
to the purchase of advertising airtime by CNHK Media (the “2019
Contract”) for the ultimate benefits of the Group and Bl # &) i@
1= £ B A R A 7 (China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd.*,
“CMCC") and its associates (collectively “CMCC Group”).

Pursuant to the 2019 Contract, CNHK Media agreed to purchase
advertising airtime at the Phoenix Chinese Channel and the
Phoenix InfoNews Channel for the period from 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2019 for the sum not exceeding RMB40,000,000 for
promoting the CMCC Group. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, CNHK
Media has entered into contract(s) with a subsidiary of CMCC in the
PRC relating to and including the purchase of advertising airtime from
Phoenix TV on behalf of CMCC Group covering the aforementioned
period. As such, the entering of the 2019 Contract by CNHK Media is
for the ultimate benefits of the CMCC Group.

* For identification purpose only
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.20(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company considered
CNHK Media a deemed connected person of the Company. As
the transactions contemplated under the 2019 Contract constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under the Listing
Rules and all of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
annual cap for the transactions are more than 0.1% but less than
5%, the transactions are subject to the reporting, announcement and
annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 30
November 2018.

Discloseable Transaction regarding the Acquisition of Interest
in 4t R 5 X3 &) 48 48 Bt B R 2 7] (Beijing Yitian Xindong
Network Technology Co., Ltd.*) (“Yitian Xindong")

On 18 December 2018, 4t FEE E &I & A R A & (Beijing Chenhuan
Technology Co., Ltd.*) (“Chenhuan Technology”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share
purchase and option agreement (the “SP and Option Agreement”)
with X & 8 12 & BB 2 7l (Tianyin Telecommunication Co., Ltd.*)
(“Tianyin”) and R 3JI| T RIx £ B R 2 7 (Bingruixin Technology
Co., Ltd.*) (“Bingruixin Technology”). Pursuant to the SP and
Option Agreement: (i) Tianyin agreed to sell and Chenhuan Technology
agreed to purchase 25.5% of the equity interest in Yitian Xindong
at a consideration of RMB144,100,000 (the “Initial Acquisition");
(ii) Tianyin provided certain undertakings on the operation and
financial performance of the Yitian Xindong to Chenhuan Technology.
Should Yitian Xindong’'s performance fail to meet any of the
performance targets in either 2019 or 2020, Chenhuan Technology
will be entitled to a refund of RMB85,300,000 (the “Performance
Target Undertakings”). As security to the said refund, Tianyin will
provide security fund or bank guarantee to Chenhuan Technology;
(i) Bingruixin Technology agreed to grant a call option to Chenhuan
Technology to acquire a further 25.5% of the equity interest in Yitian
Xindong at a consideration of RMB 144,100,000 (the “Call Option”).

On 1 March 2019, Chenhuan Technology exercised the Call Option
and entered into a second share purchase agreement with Tianyin,
Bingruixin Technology and Yitian Xindong (the “Share Purchase
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement: (i)
Bingruixin Technology agreed to sell and Chenhuan Technology
agreed to purchase 25.5% of the equity interest in Yitian Xindong at a
consideration of RMB144,100,000 (the “Second Acquisition”); and
(ii) Tianyin provided undertakings identical to the Performance Target
Undertakings for the Second Acquisition and will provide security
fund or bank guarantee for the said refund.

* For identification purpose only
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Upon the completion of the Initial Acquisition, Chenhuan Technology
obtained control over Yitian Xindong. Chenhuan Technology will hold
an aggregated 51% of the equity interest in Yitian Xindong when the
Second Acquisition is completed. Yitian Xindong owns and operates
Tadu, a leading online reading mobile application in China that serves
more than 1,000,000 daily active users, and it is expected that the
acquisition of Tadu will provide synergy to the Group's business.

Major Transaction regarding the Disposal of Interest in Particle
Inc.

On 22 March 2019, PNM, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, and Run Liang Tai Management Limited (the
“Purchaser”), an independent third party, entered into a formal
agreement regarding to the sale and purchase of 32% equity interest
in Particle Inc., on an as-if converted basis (the “Formal Agreement”)
which superseded the letter of intent previously entered into by
the parties. Pursuant to the Formal Agreement, PNM agreed to
sell and the Purchaser agreed to purchase 32% equity interest on
an as-if converted basis held by PNM in Particle Inc., comprised an
aggregate of 199,866,509 shares of Particle Inc., and 37.169% of the
equity interest of b X —ZH M B B B R A 7 (Beijing Yidianwanju
Technology Co., Ltd.*) held by a nominee of PNM on behalf of 4t /= —
ZHPEX{Z BRI R A T (Beijing Particle Information Technology Co.,
Ltd.*) under a series of contractual arrangements, at a consideration
of US$448,000,000 and RMB3,719,167 in cash respectively (the
"Disposal”).

Upon completion of the Disposal, the equity interest held by PNM in
Particle Inc. will represent approximately 5.63% of the entire equity
interest on an as-if converted basis in Particle Inc.

The principal business activities of Particle Inc. and its subsidiaries
are the operation of Yidian Zixun, a personalized news and life-style
information application in China that allows users to define and
explore desired content on their mobile devices.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. LIU Changle, aged 67 is the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer ("CEO") and executive director of Phoenix Media Investment
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) since 2 February 2000, and
is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He founded
Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited (“Phoenix TV") in
1996. The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “Phoenix”),
now operating six satellite TV channels, is a globally renowned
trans-national multimedia group and a listed company on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Phoenix
has expanded into other areas of business, including internet media,
outdoor media, weekly magazine, social media, APP publication and
education etc.

Mr. LIU gained widespread recognition both locally and overseas for
his enthusiasm for and achievements in the media industry. Mr. LIU
is the recipient of numerous titles and awards, among which include
Wiseman of the Media Industry, Leader of Global Mandarin TV
Program Providers, the Most Innovative Chinese Business Leaders
in the Asia Pacific Region, Chinese Business Leader with the Utmost
Social Responsibility in the Asia Pacific Region, Outstanding Figure
in Media Branding, Top 10 Most Entrepreneurial Chinese Business
Leaders, Top 10 Most Innovative Media Entrepreneurs in Mainland
China, Person of the Chinese Charity and Ten Most Successful
Men in China. Mr. LIU has also been awarded the Robert Mundell
Successful World CEO Award, the Media Entrepreneur Award in Ernst
& Young's China Entrepreneur Award and the Man of Year for Asia
Brand Innovation Award. He is also the recipient of the Top 10 Figures
in 2009-2010 Media Convergence in China award, the Outstanding
Media Management Award of the Chinese Society in the Truth, Virtue
and Beauty Media Award initiated by Buddhist Master Hsing Yun, the
Person of the Year award of the Chinese Business Leaders Annual
Meeting, the 2001-2010 Outstanding Contributor to the Chinese
Media by the China Media Annual Meeting, the Business Person of
the Year Award by the DHL/SCMP Hong Kong Business Awards 2012
and the Outstanding Contribution to Asian Television Award by the
Asian Television Awards 2015.

Since 2005, Mr. LIU has been the Chairman of the iIEMMYs Festival,
which is run by the International Academy of Television Arts &
Sciences. In November 2008, Mr. LIU received the International
Emmy(r) Directorate Award.
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Mr. LIU is a visiting professor at a number of Mainland China
universities and a PhD supervisor of the Communication University
of China. He has been appointed to the board of directors of
Nanjing University, Tongji University and Huagiao University. He
was also conferred an honorary doctoral degree in literature by City
University of Hong Kong and was appointed the chairman of the
College International Advisory Board by the College of Business of
City University of Hong Kong. In June 2015, Mr. LIU was appointed
as honorary academician of United International College founded
by Beijing Normal University and Hong Kong Baptist University. In
May 2017 Mr. LIU was conferred an honorary degree of Doctor of
Philosophy by Nanhua University.

Mr. LIU was also appointed as Honorary Chairman of World Chinese-
language Media Co-operation Alliance, Honorable Director of the
Buddhist Association of China and Deputy President of BLIA World
Headquarters board of directors.

Mr. LIU has been appointed a Justice of the Peace by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region since
2004. In July 2010, Mr. LIU was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star by
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
In July 2016, Mr. LIU was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Mr. LIU is a Standing Committee Member of the Thirteenth National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
He was a member of the Tenth and the Eleventh National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the vice
chairman of the Subcommittee on Education, Science, Culture, Health
and Sports, of the Eleventh National Committee of the Chinese
People's Political Consultative Conference and a Standing Committee
Member of the Twelfth National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. LIU was previously an independent non-executive director of
China Southern Airlines Company Limited from December 2011 until
December 2017.
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Mr. CHUI Keung, aged 67 has been appointed as the executive
director and deputy CEO of the Company since 5 June 2000. He is
also a member of the nomination committee and risk management
committee of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. CHUI graduated from the department of journalism
of Fudan University in Shanghai and served in the China Central
People’s Radio Station for over 10 years. Since the establishment
of Phoenix TV in 1996, he has been in charge of the overall daily
operations, the public relations and promotion strategies of Phoenix
TV, and the coordination of the relationships with PRC government
entities. He also assists in establishing and implementing the
corporate development strategies of the Group.

Throughout the term of office with Phoenix, Mr. CHUI has been
instrumental in Phoenix’s PRC domestic business development,
programme production, advertising operation, marketing network
and public relations. In 1996, he was in charge of the production of
Flying over the Yellow River, a major television programme of Phoenix
TV, which achieved popular success and heightened the popularity of
Phoenix TV in the PRC and overseas Chinese communities.

Prior to joining Phoenix, Mr. CHUI was a director and the general
manager of Tianhua International Culture and Art Company Limited in
Beijing focusing on developing various cultural, arts and publication
businesses.

Mr. WANG Ji Yan, aged 70, has been appointed as executive director
of the Company since 29 September 2006 and is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. WANG joined Phoenix TV in March
1996 and taught in Beijing Broadcasting Institute (now known as the
Communication University of China) for more than 20 years.

Mr. WANG is one of the leading television programme producers in
China and participated in the direction and production of a number
of television programmes in early years. His television programme
productions have won numerous domestic and overseas awards.

Mr. WANG is also a scholar in the television industry and has been
the panelist of various international television festivals. He is also a
renowned media educator and has a professor title. During the two
decades of teaching in the Beijing Broadcasting Institute, he was
the head of the television department for over ten years and was
the deputy dean of the Beijing Broadcasting Institute for six years.
Currently, he is also the PhD supervisor in Communication University
of China (formerly known as Beijing Broadcasting Institute).
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. JIAN Qin, aged 52, has been appointed as the non-executive
director of the Company since 16 November 2018. He is currently
the vice president of China Mobile Communications Group Co.,
Ltd. and the director and deputy general manager of China Mobile
Communication Company Limited. Mr. JIAN is principally in charge of
marketing, customer service, corporate customer management and
IT management matters of China Mobile.

Mr. JIAN previously served as deputy director of Jiangxi Nanchang
Telecommunications Bureau, general manager of China Mobile
Nanchang Branch, director and deputy general manager of China
Mobile Jiangxi Branch, chairman and general manager of China
Mobile Jiangxi Branch, China Mobile Sichuan Branch and China
Mobile Guangdong Branch.

Mr. JIAN graduated from Beijing University of Posts and
Telecommunications, received a master’'s degree from School of
Management, University at Buffalo and a doctoral degree from
Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics. He is a senior engineer
with over 29 years of experience in the telecommunication industry.

Mr. XIA Bing, aged 46, has been appointed as a non-executive
director and member of remuneration committee of the Company
since 20 August 2016. He is currently the general manager of
marketing department of China Mobile Communications Group Co.,
Ltd. and a director and member of the finance committee of True
Corporation Public Company Limited, the securities of which is listed
on The Stock Exchange of Thailand. Mr. XIA previously served as
deputy general manager and general manager of China Mobile Group
Qinghai Co., Ltd, and as general manager of marketing department of
China Mobile Group Jiangxi Co., Ltd.

Mr. XIA graduated from Beijing University of Posts and
Telecommunications with double bachelor degree of Communication
Management Engineering and Telecommunication Engineering, and
received an MBA and a doctoral degree in Industrial Economy from
Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics. Mr. XIA has more than
20 years of experience in the telecommunication industry.
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Mr. GONG Jianzhong, aged 56, has been appointed as non-
executive director of the Company since 12 January 2007 and is a
member of the audit committee and risk management committee
of the Company, and also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. GONG is currently a chairman of the board, executive
director and CEO of Bank of China Group Investment Limited
("BOCGI") and a director of a number of companies controlled by
BOCGI or in which BOCGI has an interest.

From 2002 to 2005, Mr. GONG was an alternate director and deputy
CEO of BOCGI. From 2001 to 2007, Mr. GONG was a non-executive
director of China Merchants China Direct Investments Limited. Mr.
GONG has over 20 years of experience in banking, administration
and management. He graduated from Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics in the PRC in April 1991 with a master degree in
economics.

Mr. SUN Yanjun, aged 49, has been appointed as non-executive
director of the Company since 5 November 2013, and is an
independent non-executive director and a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of China National Building
Materials Company ({FBIZEM &K BRAF]), the securities of which
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. He is also a
senior advisor to TPG Capital. Mr. SUN also worked in the Principal
Investment Area (PIA) of Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (“Goldman
Sachs”) from 2006 to 2011, where he was a managing director
focusing on private equity investment in the Greater China region.
Before Goldman Sachs, Mr. SUN was a vice president at Morgan
Stanley in Hong Kong from 2004 to 2006. Prior to that, he worked
for General Electric and Citigroup Inc. in the United States. Mr. SUN
previously served as a non-executive director on the board of Xinyuan
Real Estate Co., Ltd., a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, until May 2018.

Mr. SUN obtained a Bachelor of Economics degree from Renmin

University of China and a Master of Business Administration with
high distinction from the University of Michigan.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim, aged 83, has been appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company since 21 January 2005,
and is also a member of audit, nomination, remuneration and risk
management committees of the Company. Mr. LEUNG is a fellow
member of CPA Australia, a member of the Macau Society of
Certified Practising Accountants, a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. LEUNG is the founder and
senior partner of PKF, Accountants and Business Advisers, and a
director of PKF Hong Kong Limited. Mr. LEUNG is the independent
non-executive director of S E A Holdings Limited and High Fashion
International Limited. Mr. LEUNG was previously a non-executive
director of Beijing Hong Kong Exchange of Personnel Centre
Limited until January 2017, an independent non-executive director
of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and YGM Trading Limited until
September 2017 and an independent non-executive director of Fujian
Holding Limited until December 2018.

Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK, aged 68, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company since 11 March
2005. He is also the chairman of audit and nomination committees,
and a member of remuneration and risk management committees of
the Company. Mr. BECZAK is currently an independent non-executive
director of Singapore Exchange Limited (also acted as member of its
risk management committee and regulatory conflicts committee) and
Pacific Online Limited (also acted as member of its audit committee,
nomination committee and remuneration committee). Mr. BECZAK is
also an independent non-executive director of MUFG Securities Asia
(Singapore) Limited and MUFG Securities Asia Limited.

Mr. BECZAK was previously an independent non-executive director
of China Minsheng Financial Holding Corporation Limited (also acted
as chairman of its nomination committee and member of audit
committee and remuneration committee) until 13 July 2017, and the
vice chairman of China Renaissance Holdings Limited and chairman
of China Renaissance Securities (Hong Kong) Limited until June 2014.
Mr. BECZAK was a senior advisor to Nomura International (Hong
Kong) Limited and non-executive chairman of Nomura Asia Holding
N.V. From September 1997 until December 2003, Mr. BECZAK was
a director of Kerry Holdings Limited. During this period he also held
various board and operating positions within the group including
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deputy chairman of SCMP Holdings Limited and publisher of South
China Morning Post Publishers Limited, deputy chairman of Shangri-
La Asia Limited, deputy chairman of Kuok Philippines Properties, a
director of China World Trade Center Limited and a director of Kerry
Properties Limited.

From November 1997 until December 2002, Mr. BECZAK was
chairman of the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange and a
member of board of directors of the Stock Exchange from 1998
until 2001. From June 2001 until May 2007, he was a member of the
Advisory Committee of the Securities and Futures Commission in
Hong Kong. Currently, he is a member of the international advisory
committee of the China Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC).

Prior to joining the Kerry group, Mr. BECZAK was a managing director
of J.R Morgan Inc., and president of J.P Morgan Securities Asia from
1990 until 1997 While at J.P Morgan, Hong Kong, he was a director
of the Bank of the Philippine Islands and a committee member of the
Hong Kong Association of Banks.

Mr. BECZAK is a graduate of Georgetown University (B.S.FS.) and
Columbia University (M.B.A.). He is a member of the Board of
Advisors of the School of Foreign Service at Georgetown.

Mr. FANG Fenglei, aged 67 has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 13 March 2013, and
is currently a non-executive and non-independent director and
member of the Investment Committee of Global Logistic Properties
Limited, the securities of which are listed on the Mainboard of
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. Mr. FANG is also the
chairman of HOPU Investment Management Co., Ltd. and chairman
of Goldman Sachs Gaohua Securities Company Limited. Mr. FANG
previously served as a deputy CEO of China International Capital
Corporation Limited and CEO of both BOC International Holdings
Limited and ICEA Finance Holdings Limited. Mr. FANG was also a
non-executive director of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited and
an independent non-executive director of Central China Real Estate
Limited. Mr. FANG holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Sun Yat-sen
University.
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Mr. HE Di, aged 71, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company since 20 August 2016. He was
appointed as the chairman of the board of directors of UBS Securities
Company Limited in May 2015. After joining UBS in 1997 Mr. HE
acted as the vice chairman of UBS Investment Banking and the
Head of CCS China. He has participated and led most of the firm's
milestone transactions such as restructuring and IPOs of SOEs,
including Bank of China HK, Bank of China, China Merchants Bank,
China Pacific Insurance, China Merchants Securities, New China Life,
China Everbright Bank, COSCO, China Communications Construction
Company Ltd, China Railway Engineering Corp etc. He also led the
IPOs of private companies including Mindray, SOHO, BYD Company
etc., RT-Mart, Hon Hai/Foxconn Technology Group. In addition, he led
the merger and acquisition of, and financing for PCCW, China Mobile,
China Telecommunication, SINOPEC and etc.

Mr. HE has also been deeply involved UBS initiatives in China,
including setting up the first fully licensed joint venture Securities firm
— UBS Securities, as well as the first and largest QFIl quota for UBS
Equity and Asset Management.

Prior to joining UBS, Mr. HE was the co-founder and president of
Standard International Investment and Management Co, a leading
PRC consultancy and investment firm based in Beijing since 1993. He
was a research fellow and assistant director of Institute of American
Studies of CASS and studied Sino-U.S. relations for more than 10
years. He was also a visiting scholar at Stanford University, University
of California Berkeley and Brookings Institution. Mr. HE graduated
from the People's University of China with a Bachelor of Arts in
History and Law in 1982 and later a Master of Arts in International
Politics from John Hopkins University. He is co-founder and Director
General of Boyuan Foundation, which was established in 2008.
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Alternate Director

Mr. LAU Wai Kei, Ricky, aged 49, has been appointed as an alternate
director to Mr. SUN Yanjun, a non-executive director of the Company
since 5 November 2013, and is a senior advisor of TPG Capital where
he has over 20 years of investment experience. Mr. LAU also serves
as a director of Ingham Holdings I. Pty Limited and a director of
WTT HK Limited. Mr. LAU was a director of China Grand Automotive
Service Co. Ltd. until 16 July 2015 and an alternate director of
Daphne International Holdings Limited until 24 April 2015 when his
resignation took effect. Before joining TPG, Mr. LAU was responsible
for the corporate and project finance division of Hopewell Holdings
Limited (“Hopewell”), a regional infrastructure project developer.
He joined Hopewell in 1993 and spearheaded the development and
financing of several power and transportation projects in China, India
and Thailand. Mr. LAU obtained an Executive MBA from Kellogg-
HKUST and graduated from the University of British Columbia and he
is a CFA charterholder.

Senior Management

Mr. LIU Shuang, aged 49, has been appointed as the chief operating
officer of the Company on 18 February 2014 and is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is currently a director and
the CEO of the Phoenix New Media Limited (“PNM"), a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, whose shares are listed by way of
American Depository Shares on the New York Stock Exchange in the
United States.

Mr. LIU has served as a director and CEO of PNM since its inception
in 2007 Mr. LIU has also served the Group from 2001 to the present
in various management positions, including chief operating officer,
vice president and director of business development in charge of new
media investment, investment, finance, investor relationships, legal
affairs, public affairs and development of the finance channel. Before
joining the Group, Mr. LIU worked at Simpson Thacher & Bartlett
LLP Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP and Morrison & Foerster
LLP from 1996 to 2001. Mr. LIU is qualified in the New York State
Bar, and received a J.D. degree from Duke University Law School,
and a Bachelor’s degree from University of International Business &
Economic.

Mr. LIU is a nephew of Mr. LIU Changle, being the chairman and CEO
of the Company.
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Mr. YEUNG Ka Keung, aged 59, is the company secretary and a
member of the risk management committee of the Company. He
is the executive vice president and chief financial officer of the
Group, a qualified accountant and a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. YEUNG joined Phoenix TV in March 1996 and
is in charge of all of Phoenix TV's internal and external financial
management and arrangements as well as the supervision of legal,
administration and personnel matters.

Mr. YEUNG graduated from the University of Birmingham and
remained in the United Kingdom until 1992 after obtaining his
qualification as a chartered accountant. Upon returning to Hong Kong,
he worked at Hutchison Telecommunications and Star Television
Limited in the fields of finance and business development.

Mr. HE Daguang, aged 61, is a member of the risk management
committee of the Company and is a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. HE has been appointed as the executive vice
president of the Group since 10 October 2015 and is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. HE joined Phoenix TV in
2001, since then he served as the chief financial officer (mainland
China) and vice president of the Group. He currently is responsible
for the Group's departmental coordination and daily affairs, the
Company's daily operation as well as finance, human resources and
administration affairs. Mr. HE graduated from Shaanxi Institute of
Finance and Economics in 1983. Since his graduation, Mr. HE worked
for China International Water & Electric Corporation as the deputy
chief accountant and the managing director subsequently. During
such period, Mr. HE was mainly responsible for business and financial
management in respect of investment and development projects in
collaboration with various international financial institutions.
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is
committed to ensuring a high standard of corporate governance in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and devotes considerable effort to identify and formalise best
practices.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company adopted its own code on corporate governance which
combined its own existing principles and practices with most of the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) — with the objective of
taking forward a corporate governance structure which builds on
the Company’s own standards and experience, while respecting the
benchmarks set in the Code.

The Company has an in-house audit function to assist the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board” or the “Director(s)”) in
monitoring and advising on the effectiveness of the Company and
its subsidiaries’ (the “Group”) governance, risk management and
internal control processes. The risk management committee of the
Company (the “Risk Management Committee”) also monitored the
progress on corporate governance practices, risk management and
internal control systems of the Company throughout the year under
review. The following summarises the corporate governance practices
of the Company and the explanations of deviations from the Code.

Save as disclosed below, the Company has, throughout the year
ended 31 December 2018, complied with the Code.

(1) Distinctive Roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

Code Provision

Under code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive officer should be
clearly established and set out in writing.
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Deviation and its Reasons

Mr. LIU Changle has been continually serving as both the
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company since its incorporation. He is responsible for managing
the Board and the business of the Group.

On 26 November 2008, Mr. LIU entered into a non-competition
deed (the “Non-Competition Deed”) in favour of the Company
which took effect on 5 December 2008 in order to manage
any potential competing interest with the Group. Details of the
Non-Competition Deed are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 26 November 2008.

Mr. LIU has also unconditionally and irrevocably undertaken
to the Company that he shall use his best endeavours to
ensure that his associates and the respective employees of
his associates (except for those within the Group) observe the
restrictions and undertakings contained in the Non-Competition
Deed.

The Board considers that Mr. LIU’s invaluable experience in the
broadcasting industry is a great benefit to the Group. Through
the supervision of the Board and the Board committees,
balance of power and authority can be ensured and therefore,
there is no imminent need to change the arrangement.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal

Code Provision

Under code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election; and
under the second limb of code provision A.4.2, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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Deviation and its Reason

(a)

(b)

The chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), namely
Mr. LIU Changle, is not subject to retirement by rotation,
which deviates from code provision A.4.2.

The reason for such deviation was due to the provision of
the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”), which provided that the Chairman and/
or the managing director shall not, whilst holding such
office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken
into account in determining the number of Directors to
retire each year. The Board considers that consecutive
appointment of the Chairman is beneficial to the direction
and implementation of the Company's long term business
planning and strategy, and as such, the Board is of
the view that the Chairman should not be subject to
retirement by rotation.

None of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors are appointed with specific terms,
which deviates from code provision A.4.1. However, under
the Articles of Association, with the exception of the
Chairman, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their numbers is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting
(the “AGM"). The Board considers that the rotation
requirements in the Articles of Association are sufficient
to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

In 2017, a Director determined by lot to retire was
prevented from doing so due to the provision in the
Articles of Association which limited the number of
retiring Directors at each AGM to “not greater than
one-third (of the Board)" As a result, the said Director
held office for more than 3 years without retirement by
rotation which deviated from code provision A.4.2. The
said Director eventually retired and stood for re-election at
4-years interval at the AGM held on 6 June 2018.
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To prevent future deviation from code provision A.4.2, the
Company revised the relevant provision relating to rotation
requirements of the Directors from “not greater than one-
third” to “not less than one-third (of the Board)” at the
extraordinary general meeting (the "EGM") held on 17
December 2018. For details, please refer to the Company's
announcement and circular dated 16 November 2018 and
22 November 2018 respectively.

(3) Effective Communications

Code Provision

Under code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the Board should
attend the annual general meeting. He should also invite the
chairmen of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any other
committees (as appropriate) to attend.

Deviation and its Reason

The Chairman, Mr. LIU Changle was absent from the AGM held
on 6 June 2018 due to a conflicting business schedule, and he
invited Mr. CHUI Keung, executive Director and the chairman
of the Risk Management Committee, to chair the AGM on his
behalf. Mr. LIU also invited Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK, the
chairman of the audit committee and nomination committee of
the Company (the "“Audit Committee” and the “Nomination
Committee”) to attend the AGM.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set
out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, it was confirmed that
the Directors have complied with the above-mentioned required
standards of dealings regarding Directors’ securities transactions
throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Company has also adopted a code of conduct governing
securities transactions by the employees of the Group who may
possess or have access to the inside information in relation to the
Group or its securities.
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Board of Directors
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs such
as approval of financial results, significant financial transactions,
appointment of Directors and appointment and removal of the
Company's auditor, etc. The Board is also responsible for reviewing
and monitoring corporate governance functions including the
effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control
systems. It should be noted that the Company's risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The management of the Company is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group and the development and implementation
of corporate strategies. For significant matters that are specifically
delegated by the Board, the management of the Company must
report back to and obtain prior approval from the Board before making
decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Group.

Composition

As at 31 December 2018 and as at the date of this report, the Board
comprises three executive Directors, four non-executive Directors
and four independent non-executive Directors. The Board composition
is well balanced with an appropriate mix of skills, experience and
expertise contributing to the effective functioning of the Board and
development of the Group. The brief biographical details of all the
Directors are set out in “Corporate Information” and “Directors and
Senior Management Profile” of this report.

The Board has also adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 1 September
2013. Please refer to the “Board Committees — Nomination
Committee” section of the “Corporate Governance Report” for
details.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors their annual confirmation of independence. During
the year, the Nomination Committee has assessed the independence
of each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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The Company has maintained liability insurance for the Directors
and senior management officers of the Company with appropriate
coverage for liabilities which may arise in the course of performing

their duties.

Board meetings and general meetings

The Board meets at least four times a year to review the financial and
operating performance of the Group. The Company held four Board
meetings (“BMs"), one AGM and two EGMs in the financial year

ended 31 December 2018.

Details of individual Director’s attendance at the BMs, the AGM and

the EGMs are as follows:

TEERREE

ARREREZELSREEABERITRS
RARELREREERBEENEEIR
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EMNEEREFEEH  BRBFRE MK
REFRBIAE EMEALFEFBNT

Attended or eligible to attend

BHE/SEREE
Name of Directors BMs AGM EGMs
BEENE EEZegR BRRBERE BREREBHAE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. LIU Changle BRETE 2/4 0N 0/2
(Chairman and CEO) (EEHRITBEE)
Mr. CHUI Keung (Deputy CEO) st (BITTHAER) 4/4 17 1/2
Mr. WANG JiYan FaREEE 3/4 0/1 1/2
Non-executive Directors HHTEE
Mr. SHA Yuejia (Resigned on PRREE (R2018F 0/4 0/1 0/1
16 November 2018) 11 .4 16 HEHTE)
Mr. GONG Jianzhong g el 3/4 0/1 0/2
Mr. SUN Yanjun BEERE 4/4 17 112
Mr. XIA Bing BikEAE 1/4 on 0/2
Mr. JIAN Qin (Appointed on BEE (R2018F - - 0/1
16 November 2018) 11416 HEZT)
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE
Directors
Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim RERESEA 4/4 m 2/2
Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Thaddeus Thomas 3/4 1M 2/2
BECZAK BECZAK 4
Mr. FANG Fenglei FRELE 3/4 11 0/2
Mr. HE Di Al S 4/4 0N 1/2
Alternate Director EHE®
Mr. LAU Wai Kei, Ricky (alternate ML (BFRE - - -
to Mr. SUN Yanjun) TENBAES)
Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below): et (TEAR TXER)
- = not applicable - = TEA
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During the year, the Board held four regular Board meetings to
discuss and formulate the Group’s overall strategies, to review and
approve the Group's business performances including interim and
annual results as well as other operating performances including
material transactions, corporate governance, risk management,
regulatory compliance and other significant matters.

Directors’ induction and professional development

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a comprehensive
package to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Group's
business and his/her role and responsibilities as a Director under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Each Director is required to provide the Company with his
training records on an annual basis. During the year, the Company had
also provided in-house training and from time to time sent reference
materials on updates of the relevant laws and Listing Rules to the
Directors.
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Summary of the Directors' training records for the year are as follows:

Attended
seminars
conducted by

TEERREE

BEEENAFEIFREMAMT -

Read materials

relevant to

the Company’s

business or

update on legal
and regulation

professional BMEEAAT Attended
parties KR in-house
Name of Directors HESEAL EERBEMN trainings
EEpg HEHPHTHE EFHENER R
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. LIU Changle RS E Vv Vv -
(Chairman and CEO) (EFFRITIHBE)
Mr. CHUI Keung (Deputy CEO) Bt (RITTEERL) V v -
Mr. WANG JiYan THRFHRE - N N
Non-executive Directors FEHITEE
Mr. SHA Yuejia (Resigned on DRI (R20184F - V -
16 November 2018) 11 .4 16 HEHT)
Mr. GONG Jianzhong BEpR S - v -
Mr. SUN Yanjun BIRE L - V
Mr. XIA Bing BEkEs - v -
Mr. JIAN Qin (Appointed on NS4 (R2018F - v -
16 November 2018) 11916 HEZ(E)
Independent non-executive BUIHBITEE
Directors
Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim RERRSE Vv Vv -
Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Thaddeus Thomas V N -
BECZAK BECZAK %4
Mr. FANG Fenglei FRERE - v -
Mr. HE Di a5t 4 - v -
Alternate Director BFEE
Mr. LAU Wai Kei, Ricky BUEH S E - v -
Remarks #it
V = attended V=HE

71



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERREE

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee (collectively referred as the “Board Committees”)
each with specific written terms of reference in alignment with the
relevant code provisions as set out in the Code to assist the Board
to discharge its functions. The terms of reference of the Board
Committees are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and advise
on the Company'’s interim and annual results and financial reports,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and to
discuss auditing, risk management and internal control and financial
reporting matters.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised one
non-executive Director, namely Mr. GONG Jianzhong and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Thaddeus Thomas
BECZAK (chairman) and Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year and had
reviewed the Group's interim and annual results in year 2018 with the
Company's management and external auditor and recommended their
adoption to the Board, discussed key risk and internal control and risk
management matters, reviewed the independence and engagement
of the external auditor, audit plans, internal control performance as
well as effectiveness of the internal control system. Details of the
attendance record of the Audit Committee meetings are as follows:

Name of Directors
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ARRIEKRIERRES®  FHERE® 1=
FZREeLREBRERLZE® (G [EEE
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Bs - EE R B e BIERE TIBNEBA
R AR

M
10
I8

/

BEZLBE

ERZEEIEAETSARANTHERE
FEE MRS RAAREERRRH &
RAIREPIIREER - YEIEZ  BRE
2 RN RPE AN TS R EH

NAREDH  BREECH —RIFENT
EEEEPEERMEBIUERNTES
Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK 5%c4 (/%) &
PR S A AARK

ERZBERAFERTTMASH O&
ARREERE RIMNEZBE — R ER LR
EEGRAAEBN2018FNR L2 F
¥4 ST EER M ARBEENEREIE
£H  BEIMNERBMABILIERERE - &
TZETE) - WERERIERIR DA K AR ER % R Y
R - BERZBEGHENBEEBERNT

Attended/Eligible to attend

EEHSR BHESEREE
Independent non-executive Directors BUHNTESE

Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK (chairman) ~ Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK 5t & (&) 2/2
Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim RESEE 2/2
Non-executive Director FHTEF

Mr. GONG Jianzhong BeErh s 1/2
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Remuneration Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
and reviewing the specific remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and members of senior management of the
Company with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies,
the Board's corporate goals and objectives, time commitment and
responsibilities of the individual. The emolument particulars of
individual Directors and members of the senior management for
the year are set out in notes 8 and 45 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
comprised one non-executive Director, namely Mr. XIA Bing and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim
and Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year to
make recommendation to the Board regarding the renewal of the
service contracts of two executive Directors, the directors’ fees of the
independent non-executive Directors, and to review bonus payments
for year 2018 and the increment in salary for year 2019. During
the year, the Remuneration Committee had also considered the
remuneration package of Mr. JIAN Qin as the newly appointed non-
executive Director and made recommendation to the Board based
on its findings. Details of the attendance record of the Remuneration
Committee meeting are as follows:

Name of Directors

TEERREE

¥oEES
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BARBIFMEEZE R REEABH MK
RREENES  T2EULR AR
WEH - EESHCEBEERTRE - UREA
NPT RO R I B B T AR a AR R Rl BT
EEZNEREERABNEEHESES - AF
EEEELSHEEAEMESNFE O BIH
RERE B SRR MIFES [ 45 ©

RARELR  HFNEESh—BIEWNITE
FEKEENRMEGB Y IERITEERLER
%4 & Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK &4 48
B o

FHNZESRAFERITT —XAEH  E
BEMZNTEZNRISE N RIBILIERNITE
EMEFHERETSREESR - WEEE
f2018 FEEICALA N 2019 F FEH T HY
B MAEE  HFWEZES N EEIZE
EAFNTESNEHEYEENHESHES - I
BEEBERESSRLESR FTHEES
CEOHFEERAT

Attended/Eligible to attend

EEng Bl EERLE
Independent non-executive Directors BUIHNTEE

Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK 5E 4 11
Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim REFRTE 7
Non-executive Director FEHITEF

Mr. XIA Bing BikkAE 11
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Nomination Committee

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size, composition (including the Directors’ skills, knowledge
and experience) and diversity of the Board annually, to assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors, to identify
qualified individuals suitable to become Director in accordance with
the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy and to make
such recommendations to the Board when necessary.

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted with an aim to achieve board
diversity with consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural, educational background, professional
experience, merit and contribution to the Board as well as other
factors based on the Company’s business model and specific needs
from time to time. The Nomination Committee is delegated with the
responsibility to review at least annually on the Board’'s composition
under diversified perspectives and monitor the implementation of this

policy.

A Nomination Policy was adopted on 16 November 2018 which
sets out the selection criteria (reputation for integrity, merits and
professional experience, skills, length of service in industries in line
with the Company’s corporate strategy, time commitment in Board
matters and contribution to the diversity of the Board), procedure
for nomination of suitable director candidates to the Board for
considerations, and make recommendations to Shareholders for
election as directors at general meetings or appoint directors to
fill casual vacancies.The Nomination Committee is delegated with
the responsibility of identifying suitably qualified candidates to
become Board members with adequate consideration this policy.
The Nomination Committee is also responsible for monitoring the
implementation of this policy and reviewing the policy as appropriate
to ensure its effectiveness.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprised
one executive Director namely Mr. CHUI Keung and two independent
non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK
(chairman) and Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year and
had reviewed the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
recommended to the Board the retiring Directors standing for re-
election at the AGM held on 6 June 2018, reviewed the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board. During the year, the
Nomination Committee had also considered and recommended to
the Board the appointment of Mr. JIAN Qin as non-executive Director.
During the year under review, the Nomination Committee considered
the Board's current composition was adequately diversified. Details
of the attendance record of the Nomination Committee meeting are
as follows:

Name of Directors
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TEENBUE  AMESCERE2018F
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Attended/Eligible to attend

EEHE EHE SEREE
Independent non-executive Directors BUIHNTEE

Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK (chairman) Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK 74 (£ /&) 11
Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim RERFTE 171
Executive Director HITEE

Mr. CHUI Keung BSR4 11

Risk Management Committee

The primary functions of the Risk Management Committee are to
review the Company'’s risk management policies and monitor the
implementation and development of the risk management system,
assess the strategic, financial, operational, compliance and other
risks of the Company, annual review of the risk management and
internal control systems including the change in nature and extent of
significant risks, the scope and quality of management’s monitoring
of the Company's internal audit function, the communication of
monitoring results to the Board, identification of significant control
weakness and effectiveness of the procedures on financial reporting
and compliance of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, the Risk Management Committee
comprised one executive Director, namely Mr. CHUI Keung (chairman),
one non-executive Director, namely Mr. GONG Jianzhong, two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Thaddeus Thomas
BECZAK and Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim, two executive vice presidents,
namely Mr. YEUNG Ka Keung and Mr. HE Daguang.
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The Risk Management Committee held one meeting during the
year and had discussed the risk mitigating measures in response to
the emerging regulatory risks regarding online media in China and
strategized risk mitigating measures including diversification, as
well as and the subsequent risk investment management over the
Group's business units and risk management assurance matters.
The management of the Company had also submitted to the Risk
Management Committee a written confirmation on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, which
was considered and accepted by the Risk Management Committee.
Details of the attendance record of the Risk Management Committee
meetings are as follows:

Name of Directors/Senior Management

RBRERZEENAFRERITT —REH
& P Bl AR E RS RE AR AR M AL
HHERIETE - NREZ TR AR &
ERAAEEEXBEMNARKREETER
RBRERRERENER - AAREEEN
ERRREEZESEEER  ARENE
fERENIEERRAN - AREELZE
EENHLFERAMT

Attended/Eligible to attend

BEE EREBASESR BHEEEREE

Executive Director HITEF

Mr. CHUI Keung (chairman) BT E (FF) 0N

Independent non-executive Directors ~— BU I TEE

Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK %4 11

Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim RERRSEE 171

Non-executive Director HNTEF

Mr. GONG Jianzhong B A 0N

Senior Management EBREEAS

Mr. YEUNG Ka Keung e Vit 171

Mr. HE Daguang AR EE 0/1

Mr. SHI Ningning AEERA N/A N6 A
(Resigned on 16 January 2018) (R20184 1 A 16 HFHT)

Ad Hoc Committee

The Company adopted the terms of reference of the ad hoc
committee to deal with ad hoc matters, which sets out detailed
directions as to the powers delegated to the ad hoc committee. Any
two Directors shall form a quorum for the transaction of business.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements for each financial year end, which gives a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group in accordance with all
relevant statutory requirements and suitable accounting standards.
The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial
statements and the independent auditor's responsibilities are set out
in the "Independent Auditor’s Report” of this report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance and implementing sound risk management and internal
control systems to achieve sustainable long-term growth.

Managing risk is an integral part of the Group’s business strategies.
The Group’s risk management philosophy and approach aim to
enhance shareholder value and achieve balance between risks and
rewards, maximizing business opportunities while minimizing adverse
outcomes.

The Board acknowledges that its overall responsibility includes
ensuring that the Group has established and maintained appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing the effectiveness of the systems at least once annually.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses. The Board evaluates and determines the
Group's risk appetite in different aspects including sustainability,
strategic, financial, operational, compliance, reputational, legal, IT and
cyber risks, and media credibility, ethical, social and environmental
responsibility. The Board has approved and issued a Group Risk
Management Policy which sets forth the risk management principles,
approach and procedures of the Group and is formally communicated
to all executives within the Group.

The management is fully aware of its responsibilities for the design
and implementation of robust risk management and internal control
systems across the Group, and the responsibility to continuously
monitor such systems. The management grasps risks the Group is
facing and endeavors to ensure the risk mitigation strategies could
bring the residual risks in line with the Group's risk appetite.
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The management is committed to creating and maintaining a risk
management culture in the Group and continuously manages risks
in daily business and operation. The management stays alert to
emerging risks and uncertainties arising from economic, political,
market or social changes, collects and analyzes market intelligence
and data which may adversely impact the Group’s operation.

The executive management meetings, chaired by the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and with attendance of senior management
and executives from operational and supporting functions, are
regularly held to discuss major issues in the areas of strategy,
business and operations, finance, regulation, compliance and other
administrative matters in which any significant emerging risks or
risk changes are identified, evaluated and timely addressed. Another
important meeting is the programme executives meetings, chaired by
the Chief Operating Officer of the Company and with attendance of
executives mainly from programme production and sales functions,
which are bi-weekly held to discuss and manage issues and risks
from programme production.

On top of these two regular management meetings, at the corporate
level, as an important line of defense, the management with
corporate Finance, Legal and Business Development functions
together work as a risk management team to identify and manage
major risks in their day-to-day collaboration and act as gatekeepers
against strategic, financial, operational, regulatory and compliance
risks in the Group’s daily operation and business development
process. Risk information is shared transparently between
management and headquarters functions.

To continuously monitor risks and performance of the Group's
business units, the Company assighs members of its senior
management to sit on the Board of all major subsidiaries. Also,
the Group has established and implemented standard periodic
operational and financial reporting mechanisms which strictly request
all business units of the Group, in the form of reporting package,
update the headquarters in the areas of their business and financial
performance, major investments and transactions, major projects and
events, material risk and control matters, etc.
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As to the internal controls and procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, in order to mitigate the risk of
leakage of inside information which may result in insider dealing and
violation of the relevant statutory and regulatory requirement, the
Group has implemented Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information.
The Policy provides guidelines to Directors, executives and all relevant
employees of the Group to ensure inside information of the Group
is properly handled and disseminated to the public in an equal and
timely manner. The Policy also includes a spokesperson arrangement
and clearly sets out the reporting lines for employees who become
aware of any non-public price-sensitive information. Besides, the
headquarters Legal Department ongoingly maintains a full list of
relevant employees to whom memorandum must be sent to remind
them about prohibition on dealing in securities of the Company during
the black-out periods. The Group has also adopted Shareholders’
Communication Policy which is approved by the Board and aims to
ensure the Shareholders, both individual and institutional, are provided
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company, and allow Shareholders to engage
actively with the Company. Both policies are under regular review by
the Board to ensure their adequacy and effectiveness.

The main feature of the Group’s risk management and internal control
system is its ability to dynamically and effectively capture and evaluate
significant emerging risks and risk changes, both quantitatively
and qualitatively, and to timely manage risks by appropriate risk
responses and mitigation strategies. The source, trigger, event and
consequences of risks are analyzed and documented in the Group
Risk Register. The Group has developed its own risk management
framework, which is designed in reference to the internationally
recognized Enterprise Risk Management Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO) and Internal Control and Risk Management Basic Framework
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA).
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Phoenix Group Enterprise Risk Management Framework
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risk management and internal
control systems
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The Board, through its Audit Committee and Risk Management
Committee, oversees the Group's risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis. Both Committees report to the
Board material weaknesses and significant deficiencies identified and
their impact on the Company’s financial performance and condition.
The primary functions and compositions of the Audit Committee
and the Risk Management Committee are set out in the “Board
Committees” section on page 72 and pages 75 to 76 respectively of
this report.

To assist the Board in monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems, the Group has an internal audit department (“Internal
Audit”) in place to provide independent and objective appraisal and
assurance in the areas of corporate governance, risk management
and internal control for the Group.

The Internal Audit Charter and annual internal audit plans are duly
approved by the Board. The Internal Audit reports functionally to
Audit Committee and Risk Management Committee to preserve
its independence. The Group internal auditors possess sufficient
expertise and professional qualifications in the areas of risk
management and internal control assurance.

The Internal Audit evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems with a risk-
based audit approach, covering major processes, activities and
changes which are quantitatively or qualitatively significant to the
Group. Internal Audit identifies and evaluates key risks which affect
the achievement of business objectives, and review if management
has implemented appropriate and effective risk mitigation strategies
and control measures in response to the risks. Internal Audit provides
practical and value added recommendations on the identified internal
control weaknesses and deficiencies, among which the significant
issues and irregularities would be timely reported to the management
and the relevant board committees for assessment and rectification.

To comply with the risk management and internal control code
provisions under the Listing Rules, the Board, through the Audit
Committee and the Risk Management Committee together with the
assistance of the Internal Audit, conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 December 2018, covering all major
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions. The Directors particularly considered
the changes, since the last annual review, in the nature and extent
of significant risks, and the Company's effectiveness to respond to
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such changes. Besides, the Directors reviewed the scope and quality
of the management'’s ongoing monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems with reference to the assurance results
provided by the Internal Audit. The Directors also reviewed the extent
and frequency of communication of monitoring results to the Board
committees to facilitate their review of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems.

As a conclusion, in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Board, with written confirmation from the management, considered
the Group's risk management and internal control systems as
adequate and effective. The management’s confirmation was
endorsed by the Company’s Risk Management Committee. Details
of the major risks the Group is facing are set out on pages 105 to 107
of this report, under the section “Business Review” in “Report of
Directors”

The Board, through the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, also assessed in the aforementioned review the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions and considers that they are adequate.

External Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"”) was appointed as the external
auditor of the Company by Shareholders at the AGM held on 6 June
2018. A statement by the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report of this
report. The remuneration in respect of services provided by PwC
(including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management) for the Group is analysed as follows:
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Company Secretary

Mr. YEUNG Ka Keung has been appointed as the company secretary
of the Company (“Company Secretary”) since 25 April 2000. All
Directors have access to the advice and service of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures, all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. Mr. YEUNG has confirmed that he had
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to professional
training during the 2018 financial year.

Articles of Association

The Company obtained approval from the Shareholders at the
EGM held on 17 December 2018 regarding amendments to its
Memorandum and Articles of Association to reflect the change of
Company name which came into effect on 7 March 2018, the update
of the address of the registered office of the Company and the
revision of the relevant provision relating to rotation requirements
of the Directors. For details, please refer to the Company's
announcement and circular dated 16 November 2018 and 22
November 2018 respectively.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholder(s) to propose the convening of
extraordinary general meeting(s)

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholder(s) to propose a person for election
as a Director

Pursuant to article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Board for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any
general meeting unless a notice signed by a Shareholder (other than
he in person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at
the AGM for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at the Company's head office for a minimum period of seven (7)
days. The minimum period of seven (7) days for lodgment of the
aforementioned notice will commence no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the AGM appointed for such election
and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such AGM.

Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than
a retiring Director for election as a director of the Company at the
AGM, the following documents must be lodged at the registered
office or head office of the Company to the attention of the Company
Secretary for a minimum seven (7) day period commencing no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the AGM.

For further details of the procedures, please refer to the
announcement published on the websites of both the Company and
the Stock Exchange on 28 March 2012.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Board has a high regard for investor relationship in particular, fair
disclosure, comprehensive and transparent reporting.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM and other general
meetings of the Company and the Board always seeks to fully
address any questions raised by the Shareholders at each AGM and
general meeting.

A Shareholders’” Communication Policy was adopted by the Company
to ensure the Shareholders, both individual and institutional, are
provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company, in order to enable
the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and
to allow the Shareholders and the investment community to engage
actively with the Company. The Board will review the Shareholders’
Communication Policy from time to time in order to ensure its
effectiveness.
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Dividend Policy

The Company adopted a Dividend Policy on 12 February 2019 to
allow Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits whilst
retaining adequate reserves for the Company’s future growth. The
policy sets out the consideration factors for recommendation and
declaration of dividend payment, such as the Group's business and
financial performance, retained earnings and distributable reserves
of each member of the Group, working capital requriements, capital
expenditure and future development plans and other factors that the
Board deems relevant. The payment of the dividend is also subject
to approval by the Shareholders and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations including the laws of Cayman Islands and the Articles
of Association.

Investor Relations

The Company provides extensive information about the Company
to the investors and potential investors through the Company's
professional investor relation website on www.irasia.com/listco/hk/
phoenixtv. Hard copies of the annual report and interim report are
sent to all Shareholders, which are also available on the Company’s
professional investor relation website.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries either by post, by
facsimiles or by email, together with their contact details, such as
postal address, email or fax, to the head office of the Company at the
following address, facsimile number or via email:

No. 2-6 Dai King Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate, Tai Po,
New Territories, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2200 8340

Email: hkcss@phoenixtv.com

Conclusion

The Company strongly believes that good corporate governance
can safeguard the effective allocation of resources and protect
Shareholders’ interests and the management tries to maintain,
strengthen and improve the standard and quality of the Group's
corporate governance.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) and the
management of Phoenix Media Investment
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) firmly
believe that, as an enterprise develops, in
addition to its economic value, it must also
give even more consideration to its value to
the society. And an enterprise must fulfill its
social responsibilities and uphold its standard
of morality and conscience so as to stay in
a strong position. This is the mission and
objective of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) concerning its corporate social
responsibilities.
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The Board and the management of the Company firmly believe
that, as an enterprise develops, in addition to its economic value,
it must place even more emphasis on its value to the society.
And an enterprise must fulfill its social responsibilities and uphold
its standard of morality and conscience so as to stay in a strong
position. This is the mission and objective of the Group concerning its
corporate social responsibilities.

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group’s environmental,
social and governance strategies and reporting. In terms of policy,
the Group has implemented a Board-approved Corporate Social
and Environmental Responsibilities Policy. The policy sets out
the tone and direction, and provides guidelines for the social and
environmental protection activities of the Group, so that the Group
can fulfill its responsibilities in a more effective way, and also comply
with the disclosure requirements under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

In terms of strategy, leveraging its own advantages as a media
company and its brand influence, the Group provides public welfare
information and organises charity events through its omni-media
platform to pool together resources from charitable organizations,
media partners and caring enterprises, with the aim of promoting
charity, facilitating public welfare and environmental protection
projects and making a contribution to the society.
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To effectively manage the social and environmental risks arising
from the course of business operations, the Group has set up
a mechanism for each business unit to report regularly to the
headquarters on public welfare and environmental issues, and
has incorporated such risks into the corporate risk management
and internal control systems. In terms of staffing, a function in
corporate social responsibility is in place to assist the Board and the
management in the identification, assessment, prioritization, effective
control and on-going monitoring of social and environmental risks,
and the writing of the annual Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the corporation.

This report is the seventh corporate social responsibility report
published by the Group since 2012. The Group adopts balanced,
objective, consistent, prioritized and quantifiable reporting standards
when making disclosures on the work of the Group in public welfare
activities, employment relationship and environmental protection.
This report documents the Group’s performance of its principal
businesses (television broadcasting, internet media and outdoor
media business) in undertaking corporate social responsibilities in
2018, and represents an opportunity for the Group to communicate
with its Shareholders concerning its philosophy, practices and
achievements on corporate social responsibilities.
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Community, Charity and Sustainable Development

In the areas of community involvement and charity, the Group makes
active efforts to understand and cater to the needs of the community,
and focuses on alleviating poverty, helping underprivileged children in
China, raising concerns about social phenomenon, and environmental
protection. It promotes charity out of corporate social responsibilities
by capitalizing on its advantages as a media company and its brand
influence. Through its omni-media platform, the Group produces and
broadcasts objective, just and credible programs on public welfare,
environmental protection and social phenomenon, and reports on
public welfare activities to reveal social phenomenon. The Group
also makes substantial contributions to the society by organizing and
participating in various charity events.

The Climate Reality Project initiated by Mr. Al Gore, the former U.S.
Vice President, aims to facilitate the formulation of a global solution
for countering climate crisis by the participation of all parties in
taking urgent climate measures at different levels in the society.
In December 2018, as the exclusive Chinese media partner of the
project’s global live broadcast, at Phoenix Center in Beijing, Phoenix
TV produced the one-hour Voices from China, which was one of the
episodes of 24 Hours of Climate Reality, a global live program on
environmental protection. The program was connected live to the
main hosting venue in New York, and demonstrated to the world the
action plans and work directions of the Chinese government, Chinese
enterprises and individuals in countering the climate problems. Mr.
Al Gore, the President of the Climate Reality Project, hosted the live
broadcast, and together with global political leaders, business tycoons
and renowned artists, called for awareness on the climate crisis and
to explore the way forward. Mr. Al Gore, in an exclusive interview
with Phoenix TV, expressed his thanks on behalf of all his staff for the
contributions made by Phoenix TV in countering the climate change
problems, which has set an example in the media industry.
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With regard to the Chinese government’s pledge to eradicate poverty
by 2020, in 2018 Phoenix TV spent more than one month visiting
Fujian, Guangxi, Sichuan, Guangdong and Beijing and produced a
series of extensive reports on poverty alleviation known as Ongoing
Poverty Eradication in China. The reports were broadcast during
news hour in two programs, Phoenix Morning Express and China
News Live. The reporters of Phoenix TV also visited poor villages,
and produced and broadcast a public welfare program Journalist on
the Spot: China Poverty Elimination in Progress, which witnessed
the process of overcoming poverty, documented the new mode of
poverty alleviation through China’s local industrial development and
explored new plans for the balanced development of these regions.

The production team of Panoramic Eyeshot of Phoenix of Phoenix
Chinese Channel made in-depth visits to various places in Nanbu
County of China, including Baerhu Town, Dongba Town and Tiefotang
Town. They interviewed poor families, wealthy households of the
local industries and heads of villages and towns, and discovered
many touching stories behind the successful removal of poverty
in Nanbu County. A special program Removal of the Poverty Cap -
Documentary for China’s Poverty Alleviation - Southern China was
produced and broadcast, featuring reports of the excellent methods
and experiences in improving the county’s infrastructures and
profiting local industrial developments.
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On the 10th anniversary of the Wenchuan Earthquake, in 2018
Phoenix TV's program Starface initiated and organized an event
Barrier Free e Actions of Love jointly with the China Disabled Persons’
Federation and other disability organizations across the country,
addressing the daily needs of the disabled from the angle of barrier
free environment. With the support and participation of well-known
celebrities and figures from different fields, the program Starface
went into the lives of the disabled to experience the inconveniences
that can be caused by the lack of barrierfree facilities, and explored
the possibilities of a barrier-free environment from six different
dimensions including daily travel, education, employment, technology,
prevention of sexual assault and social security. An experiential
documentary serial Barrier Free e Actions of Love was produced and
broadcast.

Leveraging its advantage as a media company, Phoenix TV has
entered into strategic cooperation with a number of subordinate
organizations under the United Nations, through which platforms are
established jointly to facilitate the promotion and implementation of
the Sustainable Development Goals of the United Nations in China,
and to provide assistance to Chinese enterprises for their sustainable
development and overseas expansion.
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On 24 October 2018, Phoenix TV joined hands with the United
Nations in China (“UN China") and organized a celebration event
for the 73rd United Nations Day at Phoenix Center in Beijing. As
the strategic media partner of the UN China, Phoenix provided
enormous support for the event. The theme of the event was to
highlight the importance of partnerships in achieving the 2030
Agenda for Sustainable Development of the United Nations and to
showcase the contributions from partners in facilitating the realization
of the Sustainable Development Goals and addressing the various
challenges of the world today. In the event, the management of
Phoenix TV also introduced the efforts and contributions made
by Phoenix for the Sustainable Development Goals of the United
Nations. Over 400 representatives from the UN China, the Ministry
of Foreign Affairs of the PRC, the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC,
diplomatic representatives from different countries, international
organizations, enterprises and media bodies attended the celebration.

Phoenix TV has entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with
the United Nations Development Programme (the “UNDP") for a
term of three years (i.e. from November 2016 to November 2019). As
the strategic media partner of the UNDP in China, Phoenix TV assists
the UNDP in collecting first-hand cases to establish a database for
cases of overseas sustainable development of Chinese enterprises.
Selected cases will be included in the Report on the Sustainable
Development of Chinese Enterprises Overseas, so that successful
experiences and lessons of the overseas development of Chinese
enterprises can be learnt from by other developing countries. Phoenix
TV is also responsible for the production of the video version of the
report. Successful cases of the relevant Chinese enterprises will
be broadcast in the program The Odyssey of Dragon produced by
Phoenix TV for global promotion.
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In August 2018, Phoenix TV donated RMB2 million to the UNDP for
its China Human Development Report Project which is carried out
within China. In addition, Phoenix TV and the UNDP entered into a
cooperation agreement with regard to the China Human Development
Report and the Progress Report on the Implementation of the UN's
2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development by Chinese Enterprises
(2018 Version). Phoenix TV will assist the UNDP in finding suitable
cases of the successful experiences of China human development
and sustainable development of Chinese enterprises, participate in
the production of the video version of the report, organise forums
and roundtable discussions, and promote the relevant reports and
successful cases in the program The Odyssey of Dragon.

During the strategic cooperation with the United Nations, Phoenix TV
also entered into a trilateral agreement with the United Nations Office
for South-South Cooperation and the Finance Center for South-South
Cooperation in November 2018, to jointly conduct research, compile a
collection of cases and prepare report on the Modes of Involvement
of Chinese Stakeholders in South-South Cooperation. As the strategic
media partner in this cooperation, Phoenix TV will produce the video
version of the report. Successful cases of Chinese enterprises will
also be presented in the program The Odyssey of Dragon.

On 19 December 2018, the 13th Compassion Award Ceremony,
organized by the Hong Kong and Macau Taiwanese Charity Fund
and co-organized and produced by Phoenix TV, was held in the Hong
Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre, Wan Chai, Hong Kong. The
participation of caring people from different sectors in Mainland
China, Hong Kong, Taiwan and Macau, who exchanged their charity
experiences, has made the charitable event a great success. The
Compassion Award was set up in 2006 with the aim of spreading
kindness, encouraging acts of charity, promoting filial piety, reinstating
social morality and building a harmonious society. Each year, role
models of compassion from Mainland China, Hong Kong, Taiwan and
Macau are selected through several rounds of rigorous evaluation.
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Since 2008, Phoenix TV and the National Centre for the Performing
Arts have been jointly organizing the yearly Dragon and Phoenix
Bringing Auspiciousness ® Spring Festival Music Gala for Chinese
around the World to make Chinese people's beautiful vision of
social harmony known to the world. Each year, all ticket revenue is
donated to the Phoenix Charity Caring Fund managed by the China
Charity Federation for organizing charitable and welfare activities. In
2018, the donated ticket revenue of the concert amounted to around
RMB330,000 (approximately HK$371,078).
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Phoenix New Media, the business unit of the Group principally
engaged in internet media, also implements the Group's beliefs on
corporate social responsibilities. Through a series of charity projects,
it has unleashed the power of charitable acts and kept putting into
practice its beliefs on public welfare with the creation of a number of
branded charity projects including Forever Happiness, Benefiting the
Children and Activist League, etc.

Forever Happiness is a large-scale branded charity event organized by
ifeng.com, the web portal of Phoenix New Media. It aims at uniting
Chinese all over the world for their attention to the survival, health,
education and future development of underprivileged children in
China, calling for contributions from all sectors of society, reinforcing
the idea of public welfare, and creating a better future for the children.
Since 2007, Forever Happiness has organized charity events for 12
consecutive years, and has held Charity Night for 8 consecutive years.
Footprints of Forever Happiness were left across three continents in
seven cities. Through on-site and off-site auctions as well as specified
donations, funds are raised for charity projects for children.
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In 2018, Forever Happiness hosted three charity nights. The ifeng.
com Forever Happiness 2018 Xiamen Charity Night, which was held
in Xiamen on 10 May, raised more than RMB11.24 million in total, of
which RMB780,000 was donated specifically to the ifeng.com Special
Charity Fund for the Benefiting the Children project. The remaining
will be used completely in charity projects managed under China
Charity Federation, China Charities Aid Foundation for Children, China
Social Assistance Foundation and Adream Foundation for the survival,
health, education and future development of underprivileged children
in China, so that philanthropic and caring supports could be gathered
for these children in distress. The ifeng.com Forever Happiness
2018 Australia Charity Night, which was jointly organized by ifeng.
com and Half the Sky Foundation Australia Limited in Melbourne on
8 September, raised a total of approximately AUD820,000. With an
international perspective, Forever Happiness has once again stepped
out of China and gathered charity support from both within China
and overseas to fulfill the social responsibility for the physical and
emotional health of orphans and disabled children. On 19 October, the
ifeng.com Forever Happiness 2018 Beijing Charity Grand Ceremony,
organized by ifeng.com and co-organized by the China Charities
Aid Foundation for Children, was held in Beijing. The event raised a
total of over RMB18.43 million. The proceeds will be used in charity
projects for medical assistance, student assistance and orphans.
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The Benefiting the Children project, another branded charity
project of Phoenix New Media, is a charity project under the
ifeng.com Special Charity Fund which provides medical care and help
to underprivileged children in need in terms of medical aids, educational
development, mental health and standards of living. The project aims at
providing necessary opportunities and conditions for children’s survival,
development, protection and growth with the best effort, satisfying
their development needs to the greatest extent, calling on all sectors of
society to make contributions to their growth, and striving to let every
child have equal growth opportunities. In 2018, Benefiting the Children
project mainly carried out large-scale medical assistance projects for
underprivileged children focusing on the screening of critical illnesses,
through which it aims to gradually enhance the overall medical service
capability for children in impoverished regions in China, and to improve
the medical and sanitation conditions of these children. In 2018, the
ifeng.com Special Charity Fund raised a total of RMB910,000 for the
Benefiting the Children project. In addition to offline fund raising,
donation portals have also been set up on the ifeng.com webpage and
in the ifeng News App. In June 2018, Benefiting the Children project
established a volunteer service team together with Aramco Asia and
medical supporting entities including Capital Institute of Pediatrics,
Beijing Tongren Hospital and Beijing Tiantan Hospital to carry out medical
assistance in Xi Achao Township in Longhua County of Chengde City
which is in Hebei Province. During the same month, Benefiting the
Children project together with the volunteer team of Operation Smile
carried out medical aids in the People's Hospital in Meigu County of
Liangshan Yi Autonomous Prefecture which is in Sichuan Province,
providing free repair surgery to children with cleft lips and cleft palates.
In September 2018, Benefiting the Children volunteer service team
and the Beijing Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine Affiliated
to Capital Medical University jointly provided medical assistance to
more than 200 children in Shaling Town in Panshan County of Panjin
City which is in Liaoning Province. The medical assistance included
disease screening, setting up medical records for children, and lectures
popularizing basic medical knowledge. In November 2018, Benefiting the
Children project formed a volunteer service team together with Aramco
Asia and the medical supporting entities including Capital Institute of
Pediatrics, Beijing Tongren Hospital, Beijing Tiantan Hospital and Beijing
Stomatological Hospital, and provided medical assistance in Fenggang
County in Zunyi City of Guizhou Province.
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The Activist League launched by ifeng.com in 2016, aims at
establishing a charity event platform for the mutual aid and
cooperation among charitable organizations, creative industries,
celebrities and caring companies, and through the platform providing
extra media resources and corporate support to the charitable
parties. Meanwhile, the platform also gathers and selects from all
sectors of society innovative charity projects which are suitable for
dissemination through new media, covering a multiple of areas such
as caring for autistic children, environmental protection and animal
protection, etc. In the past 3 years, the Activist League has launched
a series of solutions focusing on wildlife protection and child safety
issues, such as The Tape Pledge and Brave Kids, which not only won
awards both at home and abroad, facilitated the spread of the social
design concept in China, but also earned high recognition from the
United Nations. On 9 December 2018, the 2018 Activist League
Charity Grand Ceremony, comprising a summit in the afternoon and
an award presentation ceremony in the evening, was hosted by ifeng.
com in Beijing. At the ceremony, six prizes were awarded including
Top Ten People of the Year for Charity, Top Ten Charity Projects of the
Year, Top Ten Innovative Charity Ideas of the Year, Top Ten Companies
of the Year for Charity, Award for the Most Popular on Internet and
Special Contribution Award to recognize the individuals and events
that contributed to the advancement of society and development of
social charitable undertakings over the past year. More than 1.7 million
people watched the event online through Feng Live, an internet live
broadcast platform operated by Phoenix New Media.
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The charity channel (http://gongyi.ifeng.com) on the Group's internet
portal ifeng.com is an online charity platform for the continuous
broadcasting of public welfare information. It features news on major
charity events, interpretation of public welfare policies in the form
of salons and forums, and the organization and promotion of charity
events.
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Since 2016, the charity channel of ifeng.com has launched a major
poverty relief campaign called War Declaration 2020: China’s Poverty
Alleviation, Contribution to the World, featuring extensive reports on
educational support for Xinjiang, targeted poverty alleviation, poverty
relief through healthcare and education, with an aim to introduce
China’s poverty alleviation experience to countries and regions where
poverty relief is necessary.

In December 2018, ifeng.com was awarded the title of the China
Philanthropic Enterprise of the Year 2018 by China Philanthropy
Annual Conference for its active practice of corporate social
responsibility. The China Philanthropy Annual Conference was hosted
by China Philanthropy Times, with an aim to recognize individuals
and enterprises with remarkable contributions in 2018. A number of
outstanding philanthropic enterprises as well as charitable individuals
and journalists, who have made remarkable contributions in the
areas of public welfare and philanthropy, such as poverty alleviation,
education, medical care, disaster relief, assistance for seniors and
people with disabilities, orphan assistance, environmental protection
and culture, were commended and honored as spokespersons of the
year for China's charity sector.
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Employment and Labor Practices

In terms of employment and labor practices, the Group adopts a
people-oriented strategy where it attracts and retains talents by
offering reasonable employment terms, a safe and healthy work
environment, a wide range of employee benefits and trainings for
staff development while maintaining strict compliance with the labor
practices.

Employment

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 2,869 full-time staff
members. The Group has strictly abided by the employment and labor
laws and regulations in the countries of operation. It also emphasizes
equal opportunities and workplace diversity. The Group opposes
discrimination and undertakes that the employment, remuneration
and promotion of its employees are determined irrespective of
their political stance, gender, age, sexual orientation, marital status,
religion, race, nationality or other social factors.

The remuneration packages of the employees are determined with
reference to the business results of the Group and the performance
of individual employees and are in line with market rates. The Group
also provides various benefits to employees, such as medical and
other types of employee insurance coverage, a defined contribution
pension scheme and employee share option schemes to attract
and retain competent staff members. Details of the employee
remuneration, recruitment, termination of employment, working
hours and holidays are set out in the staff manual distributed to
employees.

Health and Safety

The Group has placed great emphasis on workplace safety so as to
prevent occupational hazards. Phoenix TV has established a set of
technical guidelines and codes on the safe operation of machineries
and electronic equipment for program production. Fire suppression
systems which are in compliance with the local requirements are
also installed in each of the office buildings of the Group. In addition
to providing a safe workplace and raising safety awareness, Phoenix
TV also maintains labor insurance and business travel insurance
for its employees, and promotes work-life balance. The Group's
headquarters in Hong Kong is equipped with comprehensive sports
and recreational facilities such as a basketball court, a tennis court, a
gymnasium, a table tennis room and a snooker room to encourage
staff members to exercise and engage a healthy life style. Health
talks are also provided to employees from time to time.
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Development and Training

The Group offers occupational training to its employees to enhance
their knowledge and skills for performing job duties. Phoenix has in
place a Staff Training and Sponsorship Program to subsidize full-time
employees who attend courses, seminars and workshops that are
beneficial to their work performance or future career development.

Labor Standards

The Group forbids employment of children or forced labor such as
compulsory labor or bonded labor.

Operating Practices

The Group is principally engaged in television broadcasting,
internet media and outdoor media business, hence corporate social
responsibilities in relation to supply chain management and physical
products are not relevant to the Group’s core activities. Despite
this fact, the Group emphasises that it should not broadcast media
content that is detrimental to the community on its media platforms,
and should firmly uphold the code of conduct of the media industry
to safeguard the independence, diversity and morality of media
content, and also to protect intellectual property rights. The Group
has also set forth clear principles and guidelines on how to fulfill its
social responsibilities in relation to media content.

The Group is dedicated to its social responsibilities of anticorruption.
To achieve its goal, it has established and implemented the Phoenix
Corporate Governance Code and Procedures to help its employees
to develop a clear understanding on the Company's code and
procedures in relation to contract execution, conflict of interests,
solicitation, acceptance or offer of advantages and entertainment,
dealing with confidential information and insider dealings. In addition,
the Group has also set up a formal communication channel through
which its employees may directly contact the independent internal
audit department of the Group in the event of concerns about
financial reporting, internal control, risk management and other
matters, or in the case of employee misconduct that may harm the
interests of the Group (such as offering and accepting bribes, conflict
of interests, insider dealings, blackmail, fraud, money laundering,
disclosure of confidential information and violation of professional
ethics).
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Environmental

In the area of environmental protection, the Group maintains
compliance with the environmental laws and regulations in the
countries of operation. Although the Group’s businesses are not
energy intensive or natural resources based, the management closely
monitors key environmental performance indicators, which include
those of energy consumption and waste air emission, so as to
continuously enhance its performance in environmental protection.

The management of the Company emphasizes cultivation of
environmental awareness and has implemented a series of measures
at the Phoenix Center, the Group’s headquarters and program
production base in Hong Kong, to protect the environment, increase
efficiency in energy use and reduce indirect greenhouse gas
emissions. Such measures include maintaining large areas of green
space, reengineering of air conditioning and lighting systems for
higher energy efficiency, waste separation for recycling incentives,
and the provision of charging devices for electric vehicles in the car
park to support low-carbon emission. Regarding water consumption,
the Group has no need to source water and continues to encourage
employees to be aware of the importance of water saving. In
addition, the Group also pays close attention to the consumption of
electricity, gas and water in the course of daily operations to ensure
it is at a reasonable and environmentally friendly level, thereby
minimizing energy waste.
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Details of energy consumption and carbon dioxide emission at & /&4&EERELE 0L IRMFE R ik HE A BE 1
the Phoenix Center, the Group’s headquarters in Hong Kong, are 20T :
disclosed as below:

Electricity consumption and the resulting carbon dioxide emissions:

BOER RAREROBRIEN -

kWh (' 000) Electricity consumption Tonne Carbon dioxide emission arising from electricity consumption
TR G AER . RAE TR = BB E
12,000 6,000
10,000 5,000
8,000 4,000
6,000 3,000
4,000 2,000
2,000 1,000
B 2015 2016 2017 2018 - 2015 2016 2017 2018

Gas consumption and the resulting carbon dioxide emission:

BRSRUE AR e AR R EO BB IR

Megajoule Gas consumption Tonne  Carbon dioxide emission arising from gas consumption

- REmE . EEARATERN = SRR
1,100,000 70
1,000,000 60
900,000 50
800,000 40
700,000 30
600,000 20
500,000 10
400,000 -

2015 2016 2017 2018 2015 2016 2017 2018

Water consumption:
KAE

m? Water consumption
YHK P
50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000

10,000

2015 2016 2017 2018
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In addition, Phoenix Metropolis Media Technology Company Limited
("Phoenix Metropolis Media"), a subsidiary of the Group engaged in
the outdoor large LED screen advertising business, has implemented
the following environmental protection measures:

In order to reduce light pollution from screens, screens installed by
Phoenix Metropolis Media are all equipped with an outdoor light
assessment system, so screen brightness can be automatically
adjusted to accommodate the surrounding environment. Phoenix
Metropolis Media also introduces new LED screens that adopt a
color depth of 16 bit, thereby producing softer colors and helping to
alleviate discomfort from bright lights.

For the purpose of saving energy, Phoenix Metropolis Media uses
screens with energy-saving LED light tubes which automatically
adjust brightness when in use, cutting electricity consumption for
normal use to approximately 40% of the designed peak consumption
level, thereby saving energy. Apart from that, it uses axial fans instead
of air conditioning for ventilation, which further reduces energy
consumption while ensuring the normal operation of screens.

In terms of the recycling and reuse of dismantled screens, Phoenix
Metropolis Media cleans and modifies components that are still
useful and reuses them as spare parts for newly built or modified
screens or for repairing screens.

Compliance Status

The management confirms to the Board that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems on environmental, social
and governance issues are effective, and the Group has complied
with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange for the financial year
of 2018, and in 2018, there were no major environmental, social and
governance risks across the Group.

Looking Ahead

The Group will continue to fulfill its beliefs on corporate social
responsibilities while pursuing higher business performance and
value maximization for the Shareholders. Capitalizing on its media
advantages, the Group will strive to exert its influence as a role
model in society, better undertake its obligations on public welfare
and environmental protection, and create excellent media credibility
through its care for humanity and sense of social responsibilities.
This report was prepared in strict compliance with the disclosure
requirements under Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide of the Main Board Listing Rules of the
Stock Exchange. Any feedback regarding this report is welcome and
could be sent to csr@phoenixtv.com.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors (the “Board” or "“Director(s)”) of Phoenix
Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to
submit their report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

Business Review

A review of the Group's business is set out on pages 8 to 11 of this
report titled “Business Overview and Prospects” (the “Business
Overview"”). The Board is satisfied that the Business Overview
together with the financial and non-financial information contained
in this section is a fair description of the Group’s business and the
external environment in which the Group operates, consistent with
the scope of the consolidated financial statements and dealing even-
handedly with both the favourable and adverse factors. To summarise
the Business Overview, the financial condition of the Group is sound
and healthy owing to the omni-media strategy actively implemented
by Phoenix TV in the early years and the omni-media business
structure being continuously integrated with innovative development.
Determined to upgrade its strategies, the Group has carried out the
transformation of program operation, focused on content innovation
and channel expansion, and emphasized mobile traffic monetization
and brand monetization. On the basis of continuing to adhere to and
maintain the position of being a leading provider of Chinese-language
media content, and based on the Phoenix brand and high-end media
content, the Group has leveraged leading-edge digital technologies
and continuously incubated and invested in projects with value and
sustainable business models. The relevant diversification of the Group
has included digital technology, cultural creativity, animated comics,
games, cloud technology services, education, exhibitions and other
fields. In the process of innovative development, Phoenix will, as
always, safeguard the core competitiveness of its brand and content,
and adhere to the spirit of journalistic professionalism in order to
maximize the value of the Group.

The “Comments on Segmental Information” set out on pages 42 to
43 and “Liquidity and Financial Resources” set out on pages 44 to 45
of this report provide analysis of the amounts of revenue, the results
of business segments and gearing ratio of the Group. The operating
loss of the Group, based on the loss from operations to revenue,
was 1.6% as at 31 December 2018 (as at 31 December 2017:
operating margin of 3.2%). The current ratio of the Group, based
on current assets to current liabilities, was 3.1 as at 31 December
2018 (as at 31 December 2017: 2.5). The Group's earnings before
interest expenses, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA)
was HK$1,028,051,000 as at 31 December 2018 (as at 31 December
2017: HK$867,186,000).
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The “Chinese Gateway” set out on pages 38 to 41 of this report
provided an analysis of the popularity of Phoenix TV programs and the
composition of its audience.

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include the PRC
regulatory restrictions on the reception and rebroadcasting of foreign
satellite television programs and PRC regulatory controls on foreign
media content and transmission modes. The Group has implemented
measures such as enhancing content diversification and developing
new transmission channels to mitigate the aforesaid risks as risk
responses. In addition, if PRC regulatory authorities implements
prohibition against the variable interest entity structure in Mainland
China, the internet media, education, animated comics, games and
cloud technology services operated by the Group through the variable
interest entity structure in China will be affected. Please refer to page
147 of this report for the description of the major risks associated
with the variable interest entity contractual arrangements within the
Group.

The Group's business performance and business risks arising from
the challenges of internet and media evolution are discussed in the
section of “Business Overview” of this report. Besides, the Group's
day-to-day activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, pricing
risk, significant fluctuation in fair values, etc.), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's financial risk management and controls are set out
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 237 to
258 of this report. The above is not intended to be an exhaustive list
of all principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group. The risk profile
may change over time as new risks and uncertainties emerge and
others cease to be of concern.

The Board closely monitors the above risks and uncertainties in view
of the fact that any adverse change of these risks and uncertainties
would have a material negative effect on the Group’s business,
financial condition and the results of operations. Discussion of
the Group's systems of risk management and internal control is
presented in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 77 to 82
of this report.

Particulars of the major suppliers and customers of the Group are set
out on page 139 of this report. Key performance indicators in relation
to the popularity of Phoenix TV programs are set out on pages 38 to
41 of this report.

Details of the Group’s relationship with its staff are set out on page
46 of this report.
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Regarding corporate social responsibilities, in terms of environmental
protection, the Group maintains compliance with the environmental
laws and regulations in the countries of operation. Although the
Group’s businesses are not energy intensive or natural resources
based, the management closely monitors key environmental
performance indicators, which include those of energy consumption
and waste air emission, so as to continuously enhance its
performance in environmental protection. Detailed discussions on the
Group’s environmental policies, performance and KPIs are contained
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 86
to 104 of this report.

In addition to the compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code"), the Company is committed to duly observing
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) and the Codes
on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs published by the
Securities and Futures Commission. The Group has complied with the
Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562), the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391) and the related subsidiary
legislation. The Group has also observed the terms of the Non-
Domestic Television Programme Service Licence granted to Phoenix
TV and the relevant sections of the Codes of Practice from time to
time issued by the Communication Authority. Since the enactment of
the Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619), the Group was mindful not to
contravene the first conduct rule of the Competition Ordinance while
continuously assessing its market power under the second conduct
rule of the Competition Ordinance.

Particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of the financial period are set out in the paragraph
titled “Other Important Events and Subsequent Events” on pages
47 to 53 of this report and on Note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Principal Activity and Geographical Analysis of
Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by reportable
segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 161.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of 1 Hong
Kong cent per ordinary share of the Company (the “Share(s)")
totalling approximately HK$49,935,000 to be payable to shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 14 June 2019. Subject
to the passing of the relevant resolution at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “AGM"), the final dividend will be payable on or
around Monday, 24 June 2019.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 31 May
2019, Friday to 5 June 2019, Wednesday (both dates inclusive), during
which period no share transfer will be effected. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM, all share transfers
must be lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no
later than 4:30 p.m. on 30 May 2019, Thursday.

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from 12
June 2019, Wednesday to 14 June 2019, Friday (both dates inclusive),
during which period no share transfer will be effected. In order to
qualify for the proposed final dividend (subject to shareholders’
approval at the forthcoming AGM), all share transfers must be lodged
with the Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Hong Kong
Registrars Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m.
on 11 June 2019, Tuesday.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Movements in
the reserves of the Company during the year are set out in Note 44
to the consolidated financial statements.

Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$3,362,000 (2017: HK$1,341,000).
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Investment Properties

Details of the movement in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Capital and Share Options

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of
the Company during the year are set out in Note 31 and Note 32,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) and there
was no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2018,
calculated under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$1,000,815,000 (2017:
HK$1,052,130,000).

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 376.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities

The Company had not redeemed any Shares. Neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Shares
during the year.

Equity-linked Agreements

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year
of the Group are set out in Note 32 of the consolidated financial
statements and “Share Option Schemes"” section contained in this
"Report of Directors”
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Share Option Schemes

(A)  Share Option Schemes of the Company

(1) Summary of 2009 Share Option Scheme

On 19 June 2009, the Shareholders approved and adopted
a share option scheme of the Company (the “2009 Share

Option Scheme”).

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the scheme is to retain and provide
incentive to the employees of the Group to achieve its

business objectives.

The participants of the scheme

Any full-time employees of the Group, including any
director of the Group, may take up options to subscribe

for the Shares.

The total number of securities available for issue

The total number of the Shares in respect of which
options are issuable under the scheme is 495,441,200
Shares, representing 9.92% of the issued share capital of

the Company as at the date of this report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the

scheme

No option may be granted to any eligible person which,
if at the relevant time exercised in full would result in the
total number of the Shares the subject of such option,
when added to the number of Shares which may be
subscribed by that eligible person under any outstanding
options granted to that eligible person, and to the number
of Shares previously subscribed by the eligible person
under any options granted to the eligible person under
the 2009 Share Option Scheme exceeding 25% of the
aggregate number of Shares available for subscription

under the scheme at that time.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number
of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to any eligible person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in

issue.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(A)

Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued)

(1)

Summary of 2009 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the 2009 Share Option Scheme at any time during the
period commencing one (1) year from the date of grant
of the option and expiring ten (10) years after the date
of grant of the option in accordance with the following
vesting schedule:

Date of exercise of an option
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following the date of grant of an option
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Between the period falling 24 months or more but less than
36 months from the date of grant of an option
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Between the period falling 36 months or more but less than
48 months from the date of grant of an option
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Any time falling 48 months from the date of grant of an option and thereafter

KRB B e 48 (6 A R HAR (E IR

up to 25%
&% 25%

up to 50%
&% 50%

up to 75%
&% 75%

up to 100%
=% 100%

111



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2018

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEgREE

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(A)

12

Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued)

(1)

Summary of 2009 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
Minimum holding period

As stated above, no option can be exercised within the
first 12-months following the date of grant of an option.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

Upon acceptance of the option, the option holder shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration of the grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price for the Shares under the scheme
shall be determined by the 2009 Share Option Scheme
Committee and will be no less than the highest of (a)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
which must be a business day, (b) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant and (c) the nominal value of a
Share.

The remaining life of the scheme

The 2009 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of ten (10) years commencing on the date of the
adoption of the scheme. Upon termination, no further
options may be granted under the scheme.

On 7 February 2017 the Shareholders approved the
cancellation of the outstanding share options granted to
Directors and employees of the Group under the 2009
Share Option Scheme which have not been exercised or
lapsed.

mERcERT 2 (8)

ARBHBEAER S (8)

(A)

(1)

2009 SFBRCEH BIMEE ()
RAZFF B A

R EXCFRB - 3 4R A T R
REREREEHESE12EAN
It -

BB EET950R

PR ER - IBIERS
ABZ1.00BLTFARA
EBETHRE -

EETRENEE

RBFFENROBEEZRH
2000FHERENBLZESE
E U RPRAT=Eh0&
2E @QBRORREAS (A
REER) EMXIE R ®RE
RFTFIHUTE © (o) IR E
BERHASAM LG EEXA7E
B 2 P B B R P55
WifE Rl BmEE -

st EIER TFH

2009 FRERAERT Bl A M
PR E BES RE1(0)
FotEIRIEE  BARRE
FTEIBE - SREBRE

R2017E2 878 BRI E
FESHAR 1B 2000 FF BEASAE AT 21X
FTEERAEEEBNHARTT
{3 B R BB AR A -



(A)

(1)

35 2018

BEFREE (125 BRAR

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

EEERES
Share Option Schemes (Continued) RERRAERTEI (48)

Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued) (A ARBWEERETE (8)
Summary of 2009 Share Option Scheme (Continued) (1) 2009 FHEMRETEIMEE (48)
The remaining life of the scheme (Continued) AR TR ()

The details of share options granted by the Company ARARIRIER 2009 F AR iR 2
under the 2009 Share Option Scheme to the employees MASERERHARBELA
of the Group to acquire the Shares of the Company were AR BB IR FFIB N
as follows:
Number of share options
BREHA
Balance Balance
Exercise asat  Granted Lapsed  Cancelled  Exercised asat
Type and number of  Date of Vesting Exercise price 1 January during during during during 31 December
remaining grantees  grant period period per Share 2018 theyear  theyear  theyear  the year 2018
Ra08E R8s
BTREAN SR 1818 RER RER RER RER  12A31R
EEIEE] RiAS BES 2] e i R Sl 2 i i)
HKS
AT
1 employee 2009.0722 2009.0722t0  2010.0722 to 117 250,000 - (50,000) - - 200,000
14E8 2013.0721 2019.0721
2009.0122%8 201007222
2013.0721 2019.0721
Total:
i 250,000 - (50,000) - — 200,000

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 50,000 options
granted to 1 employee were lapsed when he/she ceased
his/her employment with the Group.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted,
exercised, lapsed or cancelled during the year. No
option was granted to the Directors, chief executives
or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their
respective associates, or to the suppliers of goods or
services under the 2009 Share Option Scheme. No
participant was granted any option in excess of the
individual limit as set out under the 2009 Share Option
Scheme.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(A)

114

Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued)

(2)

Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme

On 7 February 2017, the Shareholders approved and
adopted the 2017 Share Option Scheme (the “2017 Share
Option Scheme”) and the cancellation of the outstanding
share options (the “"Existing Options”) granted to
directors and employees of the Group to subscribe for a
total of 95,894,000 Shares under the 2009 Share Option
Scheme which have not been exercised or lapsed, subject
to the Existing Options being surrendered and cancelled.
The 2017 Share Option Scheme is administered by the
Remuneration Committee.

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the scheme is to enable the Company to
grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or
to enable the Group to recruit and retain high caliber
employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group and any invested entity of the Group.

The participants of the scheme

Any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or
invested entities in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest; or any non-executive Director
(including independent non-executive Directors) of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or invested entities; or
any other person (including any employee or director of
any business counterparty) whom the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the
Group.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(A)

Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued)

(2)

Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The total number of securities available for issue

The total number of the Shares in respect of which
options are issuable under the scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company is 500,099,950
Shares, representing 10.02% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
scheme

No eligible participant shall be granted an option if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to such eligible participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
exceeding 1% of the total number of Shares in issue.

Any further grant of options to an eligible participant which
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such
eligible participant under the 2017 Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of
the Shares in issue shall be subject to the Shareholders’
approval in general meeting with such eligible participant
and his close associates (or his associates if the eligible
participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing the information required under the Listing
Rules. The number of Shares subject to the options to be
granted and the terms of the options to be granted to such
eligible participants shall be fixed before the Shareholders’
approval and the date of the Board meeting for proposing
such further grant should be taken as the date of grant for
the purpose of calculating the subscription price.
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(2)
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Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
Time of exercise of option

An option is exercisable as set out in the offer of the
option, which shall, at the discretion of the Directors,
commence at any time on or after the offer date and
expire no later than the tenth (10th) anniversary of such
offer date.

Minimum holding period

The scheme does not contain any such minimum period.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

Upon acceptance of the option, the option holder shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration of the grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price in respect of any option under
the 2017 Share Option Scheme shall be such price as
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the
time of the grant of the relevant option but in any case
shall be at least the highest of (a) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the offer date, which must be a business day; (b)
the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the
five (b) business days immediately preceding the offer
date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share.
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(A) Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued) (A ARABMERETE (B)
(2)  Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued) (2) 2017 FEERFERTEINME (&)
The remaining life of the scheme FTEIer T F A
2017 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a 2017 FHERR AT IR B A B
period of ten (10) years commencing on the date of the FrEIFNE AR AT (10
adoption of the scheme. Upon termination, no further F o FTEIRIERE - BARRE
options may be granted under the scheme. The details of FrEIBE—SELERE - K
share options granted by the Company under the 2017 NAEIRER 2017 FHERER S
Share Option Scheme to the Directors and employees of EERAEEEERTETRE
the Group to acquire the Shares were as follows: AR EBAR R RFIB AT -
Number of share options
BREHA
Balance Balance
Exercise asat  Granted Lapsed  Cancelled  Exercised asat
Type and number of  Date of Vesting Exercise price 1 January during during during during 31 December
remaining grantees  grant period period per Share 2018 theyear  theyear  theyear  the year 2018
Ra08& Hav18E
BTRRAR SR 1818 RER RER RER RER 128318
BAR%E RiLBH b ki it TR figh R b3l 2 % i)
HK$
A
3 Executive Directors
3LHTES
LIU Changle 201703.21 2017032110 2018.03.211t0 141 4,900,000 — — - — 4,900,000
YRy 20180320 20270320
01703212 201803212
20180320 20270320
CHUI Keung 201703.21 2017032110 2018.03.211t0 141 3,900,000 — — - — 3,900,000
E% 20180320 20270320
01703212 201803212
20180320 20270320
WANG JiYan 201703.21 2017032110 2018.03.21 10 141 3,900,000 — — - — 3,900,000
gz 20180320 20270320
01703212 201803212
20180320 20270320
LIU Diandian® 201703.21 2017032110 2018.03.21 10 141 120,000 - - — - 120,000
Bles 20180320 20270320
01703212 201803212
20180320 20270320
406 employees 201703.21 2017032110 2018.03.21t0 141 75,484,000 — (2,320,000 - — 73,164,000
106 % ER 20180320 20270320
01703212 201803212
20180320 20270320
Total:
&t 88,304,000 — (2,320,000) — — 85,984,000
# LIU Diandian is a daughter of LIU Changle. # PR REIREZ X5 o
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Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued)

(2)

Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)

During the year, 2,320,000 share options granted to
16 employees were lapsed when they ceased their
employment with the Group.

Save as disclosed above, no share option had been
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled during the year.
No option was granted to the Directors, chief executives
or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their
respective associates, or to the suppliers of goods or
services under the 2017 Share Option Scheme. No
participant was granted any option in excess of the
individual limit as set out under the 2017 Share Option
Scheme.

Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme

On 20 June 2008, the Shareholders approved the share
option scheme of Phoenix New Media Limited (“PNM"),
a subsidiary of the Company (the “PNM Share Option
Scheme”).

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme
Purpose of the scheme

The purposes of the PNM Share Option Scheme is to
recognise the contribution or potential contribution of the
executives, employees, directors, consultants, advisers,
agents, business partners, joint venture partners, service
providers and contractors of PNM and/or its affiliates by
granting options to them as incentives or rewards.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B)

Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The participants of the scheme

Subject to the terms of the PNM Share Option Scheme
and the Listing Rules and for so long as PNM remains a
subsidiary of the Company, the board of directors of PNM
(the “PNIM Board") may, at its absolute discretion (subject
to any terms and conditions as it may think fit) during
the scheme period, make offers to any eligible persons
to take up options. The eligibility of the eligible persons
is determined by the PNM Board with reference to their
past and expected commitment and contribution to PNM
and/or its affiliates.

The total number of securities available for issue

The total number of shares of PNM (the “PNM Shares")
available for issue under options which may be granted
under the PNM Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of PNM shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of 320,000,000 of PNM Shares in issue on 20 June
2008, being the effective date of PNM Share Option
Scheme.

On 8 June 2012, the Shareholders approved to refresh
and renew the scheme mandate limit of the PNM Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of PNM to enable grant of further options to subscribe
for up to 31,410,107 Class A ordinary of PNM Shares,
representing 10% of Class A ordinary PNM Shares in
issue on 8 June 2012.
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Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The total number of securities available for issue
(Continued)

On 5 June 2014, the EGM of the Company passed the
refreshment of scheme mandate limit under the PNM
Share Option Scheme. Based on 284,014,925 Class A
ordinary PNM Shares in issue, the scheme mandate limit
has been “refreshed” to enable grant of further options
to subscribe for up to 28,401,492 Class A ordinary PNM
Shares, representing 10% of the Class A ordinary PNM
Shares in issue as at the date of the EGM.

On 20 October 2016, the Shareholders approved the
refreshment of the scheme mandate limit under the
PNM Share Option Scheme. Based on 256,335,266
Class A ordinary PNM Shares in issue, PNM may grant
further options to subscribe for up to 25,633,526 Class A
ordinary PNM Shares, representing 10% of the Class A
ordinary PNM Shares in issue on 20 October 2016, being
the date of the EGM at which the Shareholders approved
the above refreshment of mandate limit and the grant of
replacement options as set out in the Company's circular
dated 23 September 2016 (see also “Grant of replacement
options” below).
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
scheme

Unless approved by the Shareholders and shareholders of
PNM (the “PNM Shareholders”) in the manner set out in
the PNM Share Option Scheme, the total number of PNM
Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to any eligible person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period up to and including the offer date shall
not exceed 1% of the PNM Shares in issue as at the offer
date.

Time of exercise of option

Pursuant to the PNM Share Option Scheme, options may
be exercised with its terms at any time during a period
as notified by the PNM Board to each eligible person in
the offer, provided that such period shall not be longer
than ten (10) years from the date of offer. The PNM Board
may also impose restrictions on the exercise of an option
during the period an option may be exercised.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

Pursuant to the PNM Share Options Scheme, HK$1.00
(or foreign currency equivalent) is payable to PNM by the
eligible persons by 5:00 p.m. on the date specified in the
offer letter as the latest date for acceptance.
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Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The basis of determining the exercise price

The option price shall be determined by the PNM Board
on a fair and reasonable basis, taking into consideration
the prevailing market condition, performance of PNM and
after having assessed the efforts, performance and/or
future potential contribution of the eligible person to the
success of the business and operations of PNM (and its
affiliates from time to time), which shall be no less than
the nominal value of the PNM Shares on the date of offer.

The remaining life of the scheme

The PNM Share Option Scheme will remain valid for
a period of ten (10) years commencing on 20 June
2008 save that PNM, by an ordinary resolution of
PNM Shareholders and an ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders (for so long as PNM remains a subsidiary
of the Company) in general meetings may at any time
terminate the operation of the PNM Share Option
Scheme.

Grant of replacement options

At the EGM of the Company held on 20 October 2016,
the Shareholders approved the proposed grant of options
under the PNM Share Option Scheme to holders of
existing options as replacement options beyond the
refreshed limit (i.e. 10% of PNM Shares in issue as at
the date of EGM on 20 October 2016). For details, please
refer to the Company'’s circular dated 23 September 2016.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B)

Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the

Company (Continued)

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Grant of replacement options (Continued)

With the approvals of the board of directors and
shareholders of PNM, an option exchange program was
implemented from 21 October 2016 to 1 November 2016
whereby the directors, employees and consultants of
PNM exchanged options to purchase 21,011,951 Class A
ordinary of PNM Shares granted under the PNM Share
Option Scheme with various exercise prices greater
than US$0.4823 per share (or US$3.8584 per American
Depositary Share) for new options granted under the
PNM Share Option Scheme with a new exercise price of
US$0.4823 per share and a new vesting schedule that
generally adds 12 months to each original vesting date,
and the new options would vest no sooner than 1 May
2017

The remaining life of the PNM Share Option Scheme after
grant of replacement options

The PNM Share Option Scheme expired on 20 June 2018
and thus no further options will be granted thereunder, but
the provisions of the scheme in all other respects remain
in full force and effect, and the options granted during the
life of the PNM Share Option Scheme may continue to be
exercisable in accordance with the terms of issue thereof.
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(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the (B) AARIMERRRERETE
Company (Continued) (%8)
(1) PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued) (1) BEFEEERETE (8)
Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued) BT R AR 2 2
(#&)
The remaining life of the PNM Share Option Scheme after B E AR IEE BT IR 2
grant of replacement options (Continued) FBIREFEIBR T2 FH ()
During the year ended 31 December 2018, 3,704,500 HZE2018F 12 A31 BHIEFE
options were granted to eligible persons consisting of 3,704,500 17 & R AR 15 B 2L
staff of wholly-owned subsidiaries of PNM under the HEEREASmaERAL
PNM Share Option Scheme; 4,823,106 options granted (PIERENEHEEEWNE AR
to 67 employees were exercised at a weighted average FET) & 4,823,106 17 %
market price of US$0.12; 3,933,599 options granted to T 67 %1E BRI RERER INET
42 employees lapsed and were cancelled. Details of the HMEI12ETTETE : BT
options granted under the PNM Share Option Scheme to 42 % {§ B 93,933,699 & A% 1Z
the employees of the Group are as follows: B AR FE8H o AR IR BB BT K
BERETEIRNAEEESR
HEEREENT
Number of share options
BREHR
Balance Balance
Type of Exercise as at Granted Lapsed  Cancelled  Exercised as at
remaining  Date of price per 1 January during during during during 31 December
grantees grant Exercise period PNM Share 2018 the year the year the year the year 2018
Bk R R2018%
BTARAL BBHER 1818 RER RER RER RER  12A318
F] RHRH 6 RATEE &8 b b3 e i &
US$
T

1,998,477
3375
16,500
4,000

Employees ~ 2008.0704  2008.0704-2018.05.25 0.03215
R 2008.0704  2008.08.28-2018.05.25 0.03215

2008.0704  2008.09.17-2018.05.25 0.03215

2008.0704  2008.10.22-2018.05.25 0.03215
2008.0704  2008.10.23-2018.05.25 0.03215 6,750
2008.0704  2008.12.24-2018.05.25 0.03215 3,750
2008.0704  2009.03.10-2018.05.25 0.03215 5,500
2008.0704  2009.03.17-2018.05.25 0.03215 2475
2008.0704  2009.03.31-2018.05.25 0.03215 3,000
2008.0704  2009.04.01-2018.05.25 0.03215 450
2008.0704  2009.04.07-2018.05.25 0.03215 3,000
2008.0704  2009.04.09-2018.05.25 0.03215 3,000
2008.0704  2009.05.19-2018.05.25 0.03215 7313

124

- (1,998477) -
- (3,375) -
- (16,500) -

(4,000) -
- (6,750 -

(3,750) -
- (5,500 -
- (2,475) -
- 3,000 -
- (450) -
- (3,000 -
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Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the (B) AARIMERRAERETE
Company (Continued) (%8)
PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued) (1) BEFEEERETE (8)
Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued) BT R AR 2 2
(&)
Number of share options
L HE]
Balance Balance
Type of Exercise as at Granted Lapsed  Cancelled  Exercised as at
remaining  Date of price per  1January during during during during 31 December
grantees grant Exercise period PNM Share 2018 the year the year the year the year 2018
Bk R R2018%
BTARAN BBHER 118 RER RER RER RER  12A318
£5l RHRH 6 RBEE g g 3 i il ge
US$
%
2008.0704  2009.05.26-2018.05.25 0.03215 33,087 - - - (33,087) -
2009.0731  2010.01.04-2018.05.25 0.03215 781,250 - - - (781,250) -
2009.0731  2010.02.16-2018.05.25 0.03215 100,000 - - - (100,000) -
2009.0731  2010.04.27-2018.05.25 0.03215 5,250 - - - 5,250) -
2009.0731  2010.05.18-2018.05.25 0.03215 96,001 - - - (96,001) -
2009.0731  2010.0710-2018.05.25 0.03215 61,600 - - - (61,600) -
2009.09.15  2010.09.15-2018.05.25 0.03215 441,800 - - - (441,800) -
2010.0108  2011.01.08-2018.05.25 0.03215 104,400 - - - (104,400) -
2010.0701  2008.03.05-2018.05.25 0.03215 111,000 - - - (111,000 -
20100701 2010.09.15-2018.05.25 0.03215 26,000 - - - (26,000) -
2010.0701 2011.0701-2018.05.25 0.03215 52,000 - - - (52,000} -
2013.03.15  2014.03.15-2023.03.14 0445925 4,156,100 — - - (250,000 3,906,100
2013.05.23  2014.05.23-2023.05.22 046565 2,900,000 - - — — 2,900,000
20131001 2014.10.01-2023.09.30 0.78670 6,082 - - — - 6,082
2016.10.17  201710.17-2026.10.16 047340 7288972 —  (1,660,495) — (3475000 5,280,977
2016.10.21  201705.01-2020.07.06 048230 13,912,807 — (818,104) - (310,628) 12,784,075
201709.14  2018.09.14-202709.13 041490 6,617000 —  (1,205,000) — (45,0000 52367000
201711.24 2018.11.24-202711.23 0.53440 538,000 - (50,000) - — 488,000
2018.01.03  2018.01.03-2028.01.02 048230 — 2,134,500 - — — 2,134,500
2018.0103  2019.01.03-2028.01.02 0.63260 — 1,180,000 - — — 1,180,000
2018.04.02  2019.04.02-2028.04.01 0.75130 — 390,000 (200,000) — — 190,000
Total:
&5 39,288939 3704500  (3,933,599) —  (4,823106) 34,236,734
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B)

126

Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

(2)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, no option was granted to the
Directors, chief executives or substantial Shareholders,
or their respective associates of the Company, or to the
suppliers of goods or services under the PNM Share
Option Scheme during the year.

2018 PNM Share Option Scheme

On 6 June 2018, the Shareholders approved the 2018
PNM Share Option Scheme (the “2018 PNM Share
Option Scheme”).

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme is to
recognise the contribution or potential contribution of the
executives, employees, directors, consultants, advisers,
agents, business partners, joint venture partners, service
providers and contractors of PNM and/or its affiliates by
granting options to them as incentives or rewards.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(2)

2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The participants of the scheme

Subject to the terms of the 2018 PNM Share Option
Scheme and the Listing Rules and for so long as PNM
remains a subsidiary of the Company, the PNM Board
may, at its absolute discretion (subject to any terms and
conditions it may think fit) during the scheme period,
make offers to any eligible persons to take up options.
The eligibility of the eligible persons is determined by the
PNM Board with reference to their past and expected
commitment and contribution to PNM and/or its affiliates.

The total number of securities available for issue

The total number of PNM Shares available for issue under
options which may be granted under the 2018 PNM Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
PNM shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of 264,335,266
of PNM Shares in issue on 6 June 2018, being the
effective date of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
scheme

Unless approved by the Shareholders and PNM
Shareholders in the manner set out in the 2018 PNM
Share Option Scheme, the total number of PNM Shares
issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the options
granted and to be granted to any eligible person (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the offer date shall not exceed
1% of the PNM Shares in issue as at the offer date.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(2)

128

2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Time of exercise of option

Pursuant to the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme, options
may be exercised with its terms at any time during a
period as notified by the PNM Board to each eligible
person in the offer, provided that such period shall not be
longer than ten (10) years from the date of offer. The PNM
Board may also impose restrictions on the exercise of an
option during the period an option may be exercised.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

Pursuant to the 2018 PNM Share Options Scheme,
HK$1.00 (or foreign currency equivalent) is payable to PNM
by the eligible persons by 5:00 p.m. on the date specified
in the offer letter as the latest date for acceptance.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The option price shall be determined by the PNM Board
on a fair and reasonable basis, taking into consideration
the prevailing market condition, performance of PNM and
after having assessed the efforts, performance and/or
future potential contribution of the eligible person to the
success of the business and operations of PNM (and its
affiliates from time to time), which shall be no less than
the nominal value of the PNM Shares on the date of offer.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)
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mERcERT 2 (8)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the (B) AARIMERRAERETE
Company (Continued) (%8)
(2) 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued) (2) 2018 FREFIEEREAREE
(%)
Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued) 2018 R B s e Mg et &
BWIEE (&)
The remaining life of the scheme T8I N FE
The 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme will remain 2018 F BB\ ¥ B B B i 5t £
valid for a period of ten (10) years commencing on 1483 2018 4F 6 H 6 H#E&T1(10)
6 June 2018 save that PNM, by an ordinary resolution FRN—EHBW  EERBEFE
of PNM Shareholders and an ordinary resolution of the EREAREBARERIRR
Shareholders (for so long as PNM remains a subsidiary RIRRAE ERBEBRER
of the Company) in general meetings may at any time (REBEFHEENARARN
terminate the operation of the PNM Share Option BT - BB R EE Tk
Scheme. Fra LR ST se A i st & -
During the year ended 31 December 2018, 15,000 options HZE2018F 12 A31HILFE -
were granted to 1 employee. Details of the options B[4 & 8 # 15,0001 i
granted under the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme to the AR o RIE 2018 F Bl B FTiE 88
employees of the Group are as follows: BRETE AR EERD
BIRBARESFIBLA T -
Number of share options
L HE]
Balance Balance
Type of Exercise as at Granted Lapsed  Cancelled  Exercised as at
remaining  Date of price per  1January during during during during 31 December
grantee grant Exercise period PNM Share 2018 the year the year the year the year 2018
Bk R R2018%
BTARAN BBHER 1818 RER RER RER RER  12A318
F] RHRH 6 RBEE &8 b b3 e i &
US$
T
Employee
EE 2018.0712  2019.07.12-2028.0711 0.63060 — 15,000 — — — 15,000
Total:
st — 15,000 - — - 15,000

Save as disclosed above, no option was granted to the
Directors, chief executives or substantial Shareholders,
or their respective associates of the Company, or to the
suppliers of goods or services under the 2018 PNM Share
Option Scheme during the year.
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Directors
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

LIU Changle (alternate director to CHUI Keung)

CHUI Keung (alternate director to LIU Changle)

WANG JiYan (alternate director to LIU Changle and CHUI Keung)

Non-executive Directors:

SHAYuejia (Resigned on 16 November 2018)
GONG Jianzhong

SUN Yanjun

XIA Bing

JIAN Qin (Appointed on 16 November 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
LEUNG Hok Lim

Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK

FANG Fenglei

HE Di

Alternate Director:
LAU Wai Kei, Ricky (alternate director to SUN Yanjun)

Retiring Directors

Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim, Mr. FANG Fenglei, Mr. HE Di and Mr. XIA Bing
are nominated by the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) to stand for re-election at the 2019 AGM
in accordance with Article 87(1) & (2) of the Articles of Association.

The nominations were made in accordance with the selection criteria
and objectives set out in the Nomination Policy and Board Diversity
Policy. With regard to the independence of Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim
who has served the Board as an independent non-executive Director
for more than nine years and has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to the
Board, both the Nomination Committee and the Board are satisfied
with the valuable independent judgement, advice and objective views
given by Mr. LEUNG over the years. The Board is not aware of any
circumstance that might influence Mr. LEUNG's independence. Mr.
LEUNG, who is a member of the Nomination Committee, abstained
from voting at the committee meeting when his own nomination was
being considered.
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Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim, Mr.
Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK, Mr. FANG Fenglei and Mr. HE Di their
respective annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules as at the date of this report and the
Company considers them to be independent.

Update on Directors’ Information Under Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

Changes of Directors’ information which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below:

LEUNG HOK LIM
Resignation
Fujian Holdings Limited — Independent non-executive director

SUN YANJUN

Redesignation

China National Building Materials Company — member of nomination
committee and remuneration and performance appraisal committee
TPG Capital — senior advisor

LAU WAI KEI, RICKY
Redesignation
TPG Capital — senior advisor

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. LIU Changle and Mr. CHUI Keung, the executive Directors, each
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 1 July 2018 subject to termination by either
party giving to the other not less than three months' written notice.
None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has entered into any service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation.

The terms of office of each of the executive Directors (other than the
chairman of the Board), non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the Company’s own
code on corporate governance.
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or
its parent company was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Permitted Indemnity Provision

As permitted by the Articles of Association, every Director is entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties
of his office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such
indemnity does not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty by such Director. Such provision has been in force for the
benefit of the Directors throughout the year and up to the date of this
report.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover to
the Directors.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Securities

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"))
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which such Directors or chief
executives were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or which
were required, pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in BENERETHABN:
Securities (Continued) = (8)

(1) Long position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the (1)  RARRFIRMN RABBRDETE

Company (excluding share options) (T BIEERE)
Ordinary shares of the Company ZN/NSIE LS
Number of ordinary shares held
FEEBEREA

Approximate
shareholding
percentage
as at
Personal/ Corporate Total 31 December
Name other interest interest interest Position 2018
R2018 F
12A3182
BA BEA IR RE

& HibfEz= ATFERE RDEE B¥e B

LIU Changle (Note 2) 2,688,000 1,854,000,000 1,856,688,000 Long 37.18%

BIRE (Hi:t2) HE

Notes: Bat -

1. As at 31 December 2018, the number of the issued Shares was 1 F2018F 12 H31 H - KA FAE#
4,993,469,500. 7TRR 17 21 H /3 4,993,469,500 /%

2. As at 31 December 2018, Mr. LIU Changle was the beneficial 2. K2018F 12 A31H » BIRZ ;£
owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Today's Asia A5 HEMNERARI100% 2 #7T
Limited, which in turn had an interest in approximately 3713% of BRANERHEABA » Mz 2 A A
the issued share capital of the Company. BHI3713% B9 RN R]E BITHRAHE
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in BEENEETBABRESFNRE
Securities (Continued) @ (48)
(2) Long position in the shares and underlying shares of an (2) RARREEEEBR RS RAEER
associated corporation of the Company MEEFE
PNM BlE e
Number of class A ordinary of PNM Shares
BEFERBAEZERER
Approximate
shareholding
percentage
as at
Personal/ Corporate Total 31 December
Name other interest interest interest Position 2018
2018 F
12A31H
BA~ ZEA IR
i HithigEzs ARER PR B¥e Bkt
LIU Changle (Note 3) — 1,483,200 1,483,200 Long 0.56%
2IREE (K757 3) e
Notes: Bifa
1. As at 31 December 2018, the number of the issued Class A 1. R20184F 12 A31H + EIAFEEE
ordinary PNM Shares was 264,335,266. 7T AKX E AR B B /264,355,266
o
2. PNM is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. 2. BEFIREAARNAFEENBE L
7o
3. As at 31 December 2018, Mr. LIU Changle was the beneficial 3. R2018F 12 A31H » BIR&% %4
owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Today's Asia #SHEMBERAA100% B #FH7T
Limited, which in turn had an interest in approximately 0.56% of BANEGHEBA - Mz A8
the issued class A ordinary of PNM Shares. BEENIREE BFTAEETBRAY

0.56% 1z ©
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(3) FEAHE

Underlying
Shares
pursuant

to the share

Exercise options as at
price per 31 December
Name Date of grant Exercise period Share 2018
#2018 F
12A31H
BEBREN
®E RHEAH 1T BRITEE R
HK$
BT
3 Executive Directors
SHBHITES
LIU Changle 2017.03.21 2018.03.21 to 2027.03.20 1.41 4,900,000
ZIRE 2018.03.21 & 2027.03.20
CHUI Keung 2017.03.21 2018.03.21 to 2027.03.20 1.41 3,900,000
E 2018.03.21 & 2027.03.20
WANG JiYan 2017.03.21 2018.03.21 to 2027.03.20 1.41 3,900,000
THE 2018.03.21 & 2027.03.20
LIU Diandian* 2017.03.21 2018.03.21 to 2027.03.20 1.41 120,000
2% 2018.03.21 & 2027.03.20

# LIU Diandian is a daughter of LIU Changle

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as at
31 December 2018, none of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company had any interest or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which the
Directors or chief executives were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code of the Listing Rules to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Under the terms of the 2009 Share Option Scheme and 2017 Share
Option Scheme, the relevant committee responsible to administer the
share option schemes may, at their discretion, invite any employee of
the Company or any of the Group companies, including any executive
directors, to take up options to subscribe for Shares. The maximum
number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted under
the share option schemes must not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, and other than those in connection with
the Group reorganisation scheme prior to the Company’s listing of
Shares, at no time during the year was the Company or any of the
companies comprising the Group a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of
the Company

As at 31 December 2018, so far as is known to the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company, the interest of the Shareholders
(not being Directors and the chief executive of the Company) in the
Shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and required to be entered in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO or entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, were as follows:

(1) Long positions of substantial Shareholders in the Shares
of the Company
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PRSI B A R A B R a2 8
FISEMREE  BEEEHFEENHBEAR
BBBARRRSHALMEA A BB
BRI o

T E2RRNAR RN MARRIR
VR Kox =R

R2018F 12 A31H AR R EE K
BITBRABMHA  BE (TBEARRES
ME&EEITBAE) R a) s H A iEE
B (TERFHRBEKOIEXVED) BRH
KRB P A R IEE H KA E 501 5
XVEEIE 2 REIDHE MR E KR
BT A MBERNARRIRIEE 5N S %
BIEE 336 IFIF BB LML AR A RIIRE
BH RS SN 362 ETFE B MR
T

(1) EERRAAAFEBRTLT
B

Approximate
shareholding

percentage

as at

Number of 31 December

Name of substantial Shareholders Shares 2018

A 2018 &

1283182

FTERRER ROEE HAREEIL

Today's Asia Limited (Note 2) SBIMNERAT (Hit2) 1,854,000,000 37.13%
Extra Step Investments Limited  Extra Step Investments Limited

(Note 3) (B15£3) 983,000,000 19.69%

TPG China Media, L.P. (Note 4) TPG China Media, L.P (#7371 4) 607,000,000 12.16%
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of
the Company (Continued)

(1) Long positions of substantial Shareholders in the Shares (1) EZRENAQ T EBLF LT
of the Company (Continued) B (&)
Notes: BaT -

As at 31 December 2018, the number of issued Shares was
4,993,469,500.

Today's Asia Limited is 100% beneficially owned by Mr. LIU
Changle.

Extra Step Investments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of China Mobile (Hong Kong) Group Limited (“CMHKG") which
in turn is a subsidiary of China Mobile Communications Group
Co., Ltd. (“CMCC"). By virtue of the SFO, CMCC and CMHKG
are deemed to be interested in the 983,000,000 Shares held by
Extra Step Investments Limited. Mr. JIAN Qin and Mr. XIA Bing,
both non-executive Directors, are respectively vice president of
CMCC and director and deputy general manager of China Mobile
Communication Company Limited, and general manager of the
Marketing Department of CMCC.

TPG China Media, L.P is controlled by TPG Asia Advisors VI
DE, Inc., which in turn is ultimately controlled by Mr. David
BONDERMAN and Mr. James G. COULTER. By virtue of the
SFO, TPG Asia Advisors VI DE, Inc., Mr. David BONDERMAN
and Mr. James G. COULTER are all deemed to be interested
in the 607000,000 Shares held by TPG China Media, L.R Mr.
SUN Yanjun and Mr. LAU Wai Kei Ricky, being the non-executive
Director and alternate Director respectively, are both senior
advisors of TPG Capital.

=

H2018F 12 A31H » ARAZE
BEITHR 17 21 B #34,993,469,500/% °

2. SHEMNERAGIREIRELLE
B 100% 1S ©

3. Extra Step Investments Limited
RPBEIBE (F¥) £EHRAA
([FEHEEER]) WEENE
QA MHBBEEEERFER
BB EEERAR ([HEBEHE
=EE]) B E LA o IRIRFF
REGIED - P B EEEERT
BEEEEE WL RV B Extra
Step Investments Limited BT # &
983,000,000 I8 IR 17 # 75 o K21
AT EFERE) S £ R Bk
7351l 737 B B i (5 5 B B 4R A HE B
HEBERIEARA FEEREIE
I U RAPBE G EE T IS
EEPAEAETE -

4. TPG China Media, L.P #1 TPG Asia
Advisors VI DE, Inc. #£ #l - i TPG
Asia Advisors VI DE, Inc. Bl/# David
BONDERMANZE 4 J}James G.
COULTER st AE B 485 1] » 1R 15 3%
% R EIEEH] - TPG Asia Advisors
VI DE, Inc. ~ David BONDERMAN
5 4 K James G. COULTER %t 4
18 BB B TPG China Media,
L.P AT %/ #9607,000,000 A2 & 17 9

Eon o ANAIFERITEFHRIE L
FERETEFZERLEHYBTPG
Capital Z iR EfH o
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of
the Company (Continued)

TERRNAA R MAEREIR

g NokRE ()

{0 EY

2)  Long position of other person in the Shares of the (2) HiATRAQRERBRF LT
Company 2
Approximate
shareholding
percentage
as at
Name of other person who Number of 31 December
has more than 5% interest Shares 2018
#2018 F
BFHEEIB5%EREM 12A3182
Hih A+ A8 ROBE HBMAREEIL
China Wise International Limited ZEEEIR AR A F]
(Note 2) (Biat2) 412,000,000 8.25%
Notes: Bifat -
1. As at 31 December 2018, the number of issued Shares was 1. H2018F 12A31H  XAalE#
4,993,469,500. 771721 B /3 4,993,469,500 % °
2. China Wise International Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 2. # 55 B B A R 2 & JiCultural

Cultural Developments Limited, which in turn is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Bank of China Group Investment Limited. Bank of
China Group Investment Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Bank of China Limited, which in turn is a subsidiary of Central
Huijin Investments Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Central Huijin
Investments Limited, Bank of China Limited, Bank of China
Group Investment Limited and Cultural Developments Limited
are all deemed to be interested in the 412,000,000 Shares held
by China Wise International Limited. Mr. GONG Jianzhong,
non-executive Director of the Company, is a chairman of the
board, executive director and chief executive officer of Bank
of China Group Investment Limited and a director of a number
of companies controlled by Bank of China Group Investment
Limited or in which Bank of China Group Investment Limited has
an interest.

Save as disclosed above, there was no person (other than the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company) known to the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company, who, as at 31
December 2018, had an interest or short position in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and were required to be entered in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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Limited 73 70 iR 5 [E 12 & A IR 22 7]
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2EMBEAR] - MHAERTRGE
BRI AP REZREBGREF
NAIBIHT B A~ Al - IRIEES KA
B850 FRIESIREFREF
nal PERITRHBRAA]
HIREE R E H R 2 A K Cultural
Developments Limitedtg # 8 74
FEEHEABARBRARIAIFER
412,000,000 R B& 17 6 K 22 = AN 2
AIFEHITE FEEE R SRR
EREFRABIMEER - I7TE
FEFPTHE - NEEZETIREE
REBRA BT H R
ANEIMEE -

B EXFTIEEEIN  BARREETRESTT
BAERE - H2018F12 A31 8 » #fEH
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Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Major Suppliers and Customers

The percentages of programme purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and advertising end-
customers are as follows:

F$7 2018 BEFREE (125 BRAR

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEREE

R
HE
op>
2F

N ERT L TS RARBE

RE
A EARNMNEEREENS

ZAN/NC
il

N

TRHERLERP

AEENTEHEALESRREPEEF
NEERBRIEEFOLLMT ¢

2018 2017
20185 2017 &

Programme purchases &nE RS
— the largest supplier — BAHER 15% 25%
— five largest suppliers — ERHEER 38% 66%

Sales HE

— the largest advertising end-customer — RRNEERKREP 2% 3%
— five largest advertising end-customers — BEREERKREP 8% 9%

None of the Directors, the chief executives, or their close associates,
or any Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the major suppliers or customers mentioned
above.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had conducted
certain continuing transactions with connected persons of the Group
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules to be reported in this
section.

The following transactions constituted non-exempt continuing
connected transactions subject only to the reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

EE  BeTRABSRESENERHEANR
Efé%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ 5% LA 7R A R B B TR AR
AR R ERES bl BHEFKES
BB mER o

RS

REZE2018F 12 A31 BILFE - KAEED
mAEEEEALT (EXE LETREIFE14A
) EITAMRENE THERS -

THRZBERTEREBEBEETHE
ERFERERTE (EERLLEMREE 14A
) WEBERERS
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
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LED Panel Advertisement Agreements

B EETEEREARMNBR AR (Phoenix Metropolis Media
Technology Company Limited) (“Phoenix Metropolis”),
entered into various agreements relating to the continuing
connected transactions (the “PMM CCT") in relation to the sale
of advertising airtime on the LED Panels operated by or licensed
to Phoenix Metropolis and/or its subsidiaries in the PRC with
CMCC and its associates (collectively the “CMCC Group”) for

promoting the CMCC Group covering various periods.

FERERS (B)

|.  LEDZETRREEWZ

BESHEEROERRR (TR
BE W) mhBEmE s L e
A (S [HBBEE]) T2

ETRF O

NEEBLER

ERERT K, ok EL BB R R BT AR
B IR LED BUR ST B S B ERAT
Y FERERS ([REESHFERE
BEXS]) NEEHETBHEES

B -
Agreement &
The Other Announcement Actual Usage Annual/
Contracting Party Agreement Date Term in 2018 Term Cap
R2m8% £/
HATTRTE ] BERAERH HIR ERBATE HAR LR
RMB RMB
AEH ARH
MIGU Cultural and Technology ~ MIGU Advertising 201703.21 2017.03.21 to 0 3,800,000
Co., Ltd. ("MIGU") Contract 2018.03.20
BRI SUE R BR A REESER 201763A 218 201743A210%
([mRmE 1) 20183 4208
2nd MIGU Advertising 2017.09.26 201709.26 to 1,090,000 8,540,000
Contract 2018.09.25
FIREESAR 201769261 2017F9H26R%
201879 4258
2018 MIGU 2018.03.19 2018.03.19 to 2,712,300 14,520,000
Advertising Contract 2019.03.18
2018 FREESER 2018F3 A 19H 2018F3F19R%
201963 A 18H
China Mobile Communication 2017 CMC Outdoor 201705.18 2017.05.18 to 3,130,000 13,130,000
Co., Ltd.) ("CMC") Advertising Contract 2018.03.31
HEBHBREFRAR 2017 FHREBHFI 201795 H 181 20175 18AE
((HEBD]) EEER 20183 A31H
China Mobile Group Device 2017 CMGD Outdoor 201707.06 2017.07.06 to 1,060,000 5,970,000
Co., Ltd. ("CMGD") Advertising Contract 2018.03.31
HEBHEEEESRERAT  2017FRBBKSPN  2017F7H6H 2017F7A6BE
((HBBRIE]) EEER 20183 A31H

(The Annual/Term Cap and the Actual Usage in 2018 displayed

herein are all sales tax inclusive)

(bt EXRBRHFE, B LR R
2018 FERBRHBIEHER)
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued) FHERERS (BB)
I.  LED Panel Advertisement Agreements (Continued) |.  LEDFETRRESHE (8)
As announced on 28 May 2018, the Company considers that 20185 A28 A EFrl - AR
the transactions between Phoenix Metropolis and the CMCC AR AREE TR EEE 2 F
Group constitute an important and integral part of the business RGEKRET 2 EFBBENEE LT
alliance between them and the operation of advertising airtime Al MAEK D - MEEPEP
and placing of advertisement on the outdoor LED panels SNEDBETRZEERBRRENES
services in the PRC would strengthen the Group’s competitive XA YR RN EEN TS S
position in the market. The Company therefore applied for and Lo B ARBIE MR FTERBR
the Stock Exchange granted to the Company a waiver from % MEERMINE S TR - AER
strict compliance with the requirement under Rule 14A.34 and DA EBEEST LT AR RIEE 14A.34
Rule 14A.51 of the Listing Rules to enter into a framework 16 X2 3 14A B IR R #R 7E T 4 — B gA
agreement with the CMCC Group at the outset covering all ThE RS B R B RT L AE LR W LA 4B IS
PMM CCT from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. For the 201841 A1 H #& £20204 12 A 31
year ended 31 December 2018, the advertising sales between Bit2HERESTmBERERS - &
Phoenix Metropolis and the CMCC Group amounted to Z2018F 12 A3 HIEFEE © BRA#
approximately HK$27687207. mERBE SRR HNESHEOE
27687207 & 7TT °
Agreement &
The Other Announcement Actual Usage 2018 Annual
Contracting Party Transaction Date Term in 2018 Cap
R2018 % 2018
HtiTa A b BERAEEA HR EREHATE FELR
RMB RMB
ARH ARH
CMCC Group PMM CCT 2018.05.28 2018.01.01 to 27687207 40,000,000
2020.12.31
mEEEE BE#THERERS 2018554280 2018F1A1HE
2020512 A31H
[l. TV Channel Advertisement Agreement . ERBPEES R
Phoenix TV, through Shenzhou Television Company Limited EEERE B MNERBRAT ([
(“Shenzhou"”) acting as its agent, entered into a framework M) (HERRIE) B EEEERAT
agreement with CNHK Media Limited (“CNHK Media’ acting (ThBEE] REFBBEEDOF
for the benefit of the CMCC Group) for the sale of advertising =) Rl ER B - AR AL EE
airtime at the Phoenix Chinese Channel and the Phoenix BERP XA REEFEEMANE
InfoNews Channel for the promotion of the CMCC Group for ERE - NEEHEETBHEE - B
the period from 2 February 2018 to 31 December 2018. [R 3201842 A2 H # £20184F 12

A31HIE-
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

[I. TV Channel Advertisement Agreement (Continued)

FERERS (B)

Il BERBEERSHHE (B)

Agreement &

The Other Announcement Actual Usage
Contracting Party Agreement Date Term in2018  Annual Cap

R2018 5
HiTTRA E BERAERH B ERBATE FELR
RMB RMB
ARE ARE
CNHK Media 2018 CNHK 2018.02.02 2018.02.02 to 16,806,895 40,000,000

Advertising Contract 2018.12.31
B 018FHEERESAR 20182 A2H 201852H828%

The following transactions constituted non-exempt continuing
connected transactions subject to the reporting, independent
shareholders’ approval and annual review requirements as defined
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

[lI.  New Media Platform Services Transactions

The Company expected PNM and its subsidiaries ("PNM
Group”) would, in the ordinary and usual course of business,
enter into continuing connected transactions (the “New Media
CCT") in relation to provision of website portal, value-added
telecommunications, promotional and ancillary services by and
to PNM Group to and by CMCC Group for the three years from
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018. The Company applied
for and the Stock Exchange granted to the Company a waiver
from strict compliance with the requirement under Rule 14A.34
and Rule 14A.51 of the Listing Rules to enter into a framework
agreement with the CMCC Group at the outset covering all of
New Media CCT. Independent shareholders’ approval for the
New Media CCT was also obtained at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 4 December 2015.

201812 A31H

T S1EH T2 ARG THE - B
REMERFRFECHT (EERLTHA
F14AE) MIFHEBER S °

. FEBYEaRBERS

RARFEEAE BT EE R E B A ]
((BEFREER]) TAE L —MKE
HBEFR - B 2016F1 A1 HRR
Z2018F 12 31 HIE =% - BLEH
HEEEERT e BERE T RRE
AP - BAIGE - HEMETR
I IHERER S ([ #iREISERS
EX5]) o AQEE MBRFTHGBR
% MERFINE4 TEAR - BN
NEVERIEEST AR R 14A. 34 1%
K2 14A 51 (ERIFRTE Mt —FAsa Rt
PEEEER LIERBEABE Y
IR HERERS - BUBREINE
R2015F 12 A4 B BT AR A
REFRARE IR ERHERER

5
Agreement &
The Other Announcement Actual Usage 2018
Contracting Party Transaction Date Term in2018  Annual Cap
R2018 58 2018
2t TRA x5 BERAERS HR BEAME FELR
RMB RMB
ARH ARE
CMCC Group New Media CCT 2015.11.06 2016.01.01 to 153,699,722 315,000,000
2018.12.31
hESREEE MEBRERERS 20155 11 A6 B 2016F1A1HZ

142

201812 A31H



Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

The Connected Relationships

1.

CMHKG, a subsidiary of CMCC, is a substantial shareholder of
the Company holding approximately 19.69% of the issued share
capital of the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary
Extra Step Investments Limited. Therefore, the CMCC Group,
including MIGU, CMC and CMGD are connected persons of
the Company under the Listing Rules. As such, the transactions
respectively contemplated under the MIGU Advertising
Contract, 2nd MIGU Advertising Contract, 2018 MIGU
Advertising Contract, 2017 CMC Outdoor Advertising Contract,
the 2017 CMGD Qutdoor Advertising Contract and the PMM
CCT as well as the New Media CCT are continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CNHK Media entered into contracts with a subsidiary of CMCC
in the PRC relating to and including the purchase from the
Group of advertising airtime at the Phoenix Chinese Channel
and the Phoenix InfoNews Channel for the benefit and on
behalf of the CMCC Group covering the period under the
2018 CNHK Advertising Contract. CNHK Media is therefore
considered a deemed connected person of the Company under
Rule 14A.20(1) of the Listing Rules. As such, the transactions
contemplated under the 2018 CNHK Advertising Contract are
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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RAERAR

1.

PREESEE (WRBEENM
BAR]) BBE2EN B A A Extra
Step Investments Limited# & &~ &
AR BITRAL19.69% + BAAF
WEZERR - B - RIELETRE -
FRBEE (BIEKY - PEBE) -
PR ERE) RAAFIEATLT - )
gt RIE LR 4AE - K ES
& B_HREESEER - 20184
BKIEEEAR - 2017 FHRRBEH I
BEAR - 2017 FHBEKm P INE
HERREBEITRHEBRERS -
MR ERER S SE N

hEEHEEEPBEEETTHM
—BWB AR AR REE
(L eE) ARBHEEMNF &L
REFBHEERBBEREFTRET XA
FERHEREMENESRKE - RE
2018 F AR BEMES A R T AR -
Eitt - RIE_ETRAIE 14A.2001) 6 -
FAEEER AR ABBEAL - ]
It - 2018 FHRBEEESA R TH#
IR GEX ETRAE VAERFE
RER S o
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that:

1. the transactions were entered into by the relevant member of
the Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

2. the transactions were entered into either on normal commercial
terms or better, on an arm’s length basis or terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

3. the transactions were entered into in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter to the Board
of Directors containing the findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on
pages 139 to 144 of this report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
the Company to the Stock Exchange. The Company confirmed that
during the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no continuing
transaction which could become a continuing connected transaction.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions (as
defined in HKAS 24 — Related Party Disclosures) entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2018 disclosed in Note
41 to the consolidated financial statements falls under the scope of
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which is subject to the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Contractual Arrangements of PNM Group

Foreign investment in the internet and mobile services industries is
currently prohibited or restricted in China. The internet business of the
Group in China is operated by PNM through contractual arrangements
with the legal shareholders of its variable interest entities, among
others, Beijing Tianying. The Group does not have equity interests in
Beijing Tianying or its subsidiaries. However, as a result of a series of
structured contracts (the “Structured Contracts”) entered into on 31
December 2009 by a subsidiary of PNM, Fenghuang On-line (Beijing)
Information Technology Company Limited (“Fenghuang On-line"),
the Group has become the primary beneficiary of Beijing Tianying
and its subsidiaries and account for them as its indirect subsidiaries
under Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (the “HKFRS").
As at the date of this report, Beijing Tianying is 51% owned by
Mr. QIAO Haiyan and 49% by Mr. GAO Ximin respectively, and
the permitted business items of Beijing Tianying includes: internet
information services (excluding information on news, publishing,
education, medical health, medicine, medical devices); internet
advertising via www.ifeng.com; information services of category
Il value-added telecommunications services (excluding fixed line
telephone information services and internet information services);
production and publishing of animation, television entertainment,
feature; distribution of published books and journals via internet
(including mobile network), publishing of internet game and mobile
game; performance agency; retail of books, newspaper, journals,
electronic publications and audiovisual products. Whereas the general
business items of Beijing Tianying includes: technology development,
technology consulting; design, production, agent, publishing of
advertisement; organizing cultural exchange activities; organizing
exhibitions; enterprise planning; economy and trade consulting; lease
of computer and communications equipment (excluding those items
without the administrative licensing).

The Group has consolidated the financial results of Beijing Tianying
and its subsidiaries in its consolidated financial statements in
accordance with HKFRS. In 2018, Beijing Tianying and its subsidiaries
accounted for 14.9% of the total revenues and 10.7% of the total
assets of the Group.
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S STER KB REBHEE GRIUST
BRET A RIIE B BRAN) ©

REBDRIBEEEVEREERNEEZAM
BHREAPHILRREREWNE QB 2875
EEEAEARER - R2018F - bmRB LA
MEBARMEAEENAKRARBEED R
14.9% 5.10.7% °
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Contractual Arrangements of PNM Group
(Continued)

The Group has evaluated the relationship among PNM, Fenghuang
On-line and Beijing Tianying in accordance with HKFRS. Pursuant
to the Voting Right Entrustment agreement, PNM has obtained
power, as granted to the legal shareholders by the applicable PRC
law and under the articles of association of Beijing Tianying, to direct
all significant activities of Beijing Tianying, which include but are
not limited to budgeting, financing, and making other strategic and
operational decisions, and will significantly impact Beijing Tianying's
economic performance. Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical licensing
and service agreements and other agreements, PNM has the right
to receive benefits of Beijing Tianying in the form of technical service
fees, which could potentially be significant to Beijing Tianying's net
income. In addition, PNM has the right to receive all the residual
assets of Beijing Tianying through exercise of the Exclusive Option
agreement. As a result, the Group, through PNM and Fenghuang On-
line, is considered the primary beneficiary of Beijing Tianying and
therefore includes Beijing Tianying's assets, liabilities and operating
results in its consolidated financial statements. With the contractual
agreements with Beijing Tianying, the Group has the power to
direct the activities of Beijing Tianying, and can freely have assets
transferred out of Beijing Tianying’s without any restrictions.

Details of the Structured Contracts and the related information were
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 9 November 2009 (the
“Company’s Announcement”).

There were no material changes to the Structured Contracts and/or
the circumstances under which they were adopted, nor was there
any unwinding of them or of a failure to do the same due to the
restrictions that led to their adoption being removed.
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Contractual Arrangements of PNM Group
(Continued)

The reasons for using the Structured Contracts were disclosed in the
sub-section headed “Reasons For And Benefits Of The Acquisitions”
under the section headed “Reasons For And Benefits Of The
Transaction” of the Company’s Announcement.

The major risks associated with them include, among others:

1.

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating its businesses in China
do not comply with PRC governmental restrictions on foreign
investment in internet businesses, or if these regulations or
the interpretation of existing regulations change in the future,
the Group would be subject to severe penalties or be forced to
relinquish its interests in those operations.

The Group relies on contractual arrangements with Beijing
Tianying in China, and their legal shareholders, for its business
operations, which may not be as effective in providing
operational control or enabling us to derive economic benefits
as through ownership of controlling equity interest.

The legal shareholders of Beijing Tianying may have potential
conflicts of interest with the Group.

For details of the above-mentioned risks during the reporting
period, please refer to “ltem 3. Key Information — D. Risk
Factors — Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure” of
the 2016 Annual Report of PNM disclosed on its website
ir.ifeng.com.

The Group also noted on 19 January 2015, the Ministry of
Commerce of the PRC released on its website for public
comment a proposed PRC law (the “Draft FIE law") that
appears to include variable interest entities within the scope
of entities that could be considered to be foreign invested
enterprises that would be subject to restrictions under existing
PRC law on foreign investment in certain categories of industry.
The Group is not aware of any progress of legislation of the
Draft FIE law but will continuously closely monitor any progress.
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Competing Business

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors had any interests in a business which
competes or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group and which was required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Advances to an Entity

Details of the relevant advances to an entity from the Group are set
out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out on pages 64 to 85 of this report.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has, during
the year and up to the date of this report, maintained a public float of
not less than 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group's annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and provided advice and comments
thereon.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

LIU Changle
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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To the Shareholders of Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings)
Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
\What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Phoenix Media Investment
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 161 to 375, which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended,

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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o BEZALFENGASEYNE
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EFHE

BMRE  ZEREUNBHRREBEELES
IR AEBRMNCEEYBHREEN) AR
mAstRET EEEMN 2018412 A 31
ARERAE TR R EHEZ A L FEHER
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPAs
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
o Valuation of the investments in Particle Inc. (“Particle”)
° Accuracy and recoverability of the receivable from Shenzhou

Television Company Limited (“Shenzhou”)

° Recoverability of the accounts receivable of the Group
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Key Audit Matters

Key Audit Matter
BREEE
Valuation of the investments in Particle

M Particle Inc. 2R ENEE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMMET AR EBEETSR

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of the
investments in Particle included:

H B RN Particle IR EMHEZEEFR1E

Refer to Notes 2(n), 3(c), 4(a)(i), 26, 37 and 42 to the
consolidated financial statements
ELHRA Y BIREMEE2(0) ~ 3(c) ~ 4a)) ~ 26 + 37 %42

Phoenix New Media Limited (“PNM"), a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, owns a
number of convertible redeemable preferred shares
(“Preferred Shares”) issued by Particle, which
operates Yidianzixun, a personalised news and life-
style information mobile application in The People's
Republic of China (“PRC").

BEFEEARAR ([BEMEE]) (Br EAF—MH
JE2EMBAR]) BB Particle 1T 2 & T AR AT E D
B ([EHRAL]) o Particle /& & —ZHE - HAREA
REFME ([FE]) A—REAEFERRESEFTED
BEEAIER -

The Group's investments in the Preferred Shares
were classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and carried at fair value of HK$2,235
million at 31 December 2018 based on the valuation
report prepared by an independent professional
valuer (the “Valuer”). Changes in the fair values of
the Preferred Shares during the year of HK$802
million were recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
EEENEBERZEREDERZATEERERLER
ER-_ZT—N\F+ZA=+—H22AY¥E2,235000,000
B (HEERBLEEMHERM ([HEM]) BRI
BERE) JIRNMBEE - BERRFAZATFEEZSY
802,000,000 7L E iR e Wk HER o

Understanding, evaluating and testing, on a sample
basis, management’s control procedures over
reviewing the fair value of investments in Particle;
AR - APl R ORI B 1 B E B AR Particle 218 &
B A EFTERE 2 BEPERE IT

Evaluating the Valuer's independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity, and reading their
valuation reports prepared for financial reporting
purposes;

b ER 2B - A8 RO REBIE - UREE
(BRI SRS TRE 2 (hERS

Involving our in-house valuation experts in
assessing the appropriateness and consistency of
the methodologies used in the valuations;
BEMHRNSBEESRT AEERERGEERERE
A

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
underlying calculations in the valuation models;
ZREMERA T OREE  ENEmt

Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of input data used by the Valuer;
RIS EAN(E A < A SR 2 YR AR

Assessing the reasonableness of revenue growth
rate assumptions by comparing it to the approved
budgets, actual results of the prior periods and
comparable entities;

BREOHEZTEE  WABEZEREERAIEERE
BBIELLE - SRS REET AR
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Key Audit Matter

BEETER

The Valuer adopted the discounted cash flow (“DCF")
method and market approach to first estimate the
equity value of Particle, which was then allocated to
Particle’s common shares and Preferred Shares using
the option-pricing and the binomial models.
HEMERMRReRE (MRRERE]) ERTHE
LA e {f 5t Particle 2 BB - AR ERABETERER
§ — B S B E Particle 2 @A R E LAY -

We focused on this area because the valuation
of the investments in Particle involved significant
judgements and estimation uncertainties with key
assumptions for revenue growth rate, terminal growth
rate, discount rate, lack of marketability discount and
volatility, control premium and the carrying values of
the investments in Particle were significant, which
accounted for approximately 21% of the total assets
of the Group at 31 December 2018.
B FREE - REZR Particle 2 % E Ml B &
é%‘%%ﬁﬁ&fﬁ%‘ﬂ?ﬁZ?ﬁﬁil%jﬂ RAEBRWEER
CEREIERE  BRIREK - B DUSHE AUITRE RO 1R DA K4
%HTE)MEZEKTE"” MM Particle 2 12 EWERHEE B E
My BEER2018F 12 A3 B2 BEEN21% °
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BMMETNAREBEETER

° Assessing the reasonableness of terminal growth
rate, discount rate, lack of marketability discount
and volatility and control premium by comparing
those to the market data, including risk-free rates
and discount rate of comparable companies in the
same industry provided by our in-house valuation
experts;
BRETISEE (BRAMNABEEERREZRE
AL A Rz R AR R BEIR R ) (ELLER M A E R 4K
ERE - BRIRE - B UASHE 60 HTRR ROR MR DA R i R

BREOAE

o Assessing the reasonableness of the valuation with
reference to the most recent transacted and bid
prices for the investments in Preferred Shares of
Particle made by third parties;

BEE=ZFR Partlclefgf‘EHxZF FERIRE R
B UFHEBEEREAE

5 MRE A

° Considering the results of sensitivity analysis on
reasonably possible downside changes in the key
assumptions adopted; and
%FFﬁ?m%ZEyTE"“ZAIET
EDER

NTEML T 2 U

° Assessing the appropriateness of the relevant
disclosures made in the Group's consolidated
financial statements.

il BERESEMBHRRT ERRERLAE -

Based on our work summarised above, we found
the valuation methodologies were appropriate and
consistently applied, and the key assumptions adopted
were supportable in light of available evidence and the
current market environment.
BEEM 2 ITE (R Exxzit)
NEBER - MERAE
FEBIRER

BMBEREEREEEE
SEBRENMBTMSREMRACEEZR
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Accuracy and recoverability of the receivable from
Shenzhou

Ly ek SRR TR Sz R I AT W B

Refer to Notes 3(a)(ii), 4(a)(ii) and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements
BB A VIS REMEE 3@ ~ 4()i) & 22

At 31 December 2018, the Group had a receivable
balance from Shenzhou, the Group's advertising agent
in the PRC, of HK$375 million which was included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables. This
amount represented the net balance from advertising
revenue collected by Shenzhou, net of agency
commission and service fee earned by Shenzhou and
various expenses incurred and payments made by
Shenzhou on behalf of the Group.

R2018F 12 A31H - EEEENESMN (KA EEER
iy BENIR) 2 FRIAA /375,000,000 7T + Tt
AFERTFRIE ~ 12E REAREKEIE  ZEFRKREMUER
ZEEWAFESR - MBRSMNERIR 2 RIEME RRGE
KLk BEEBEMEGECSEERARIMNZHIE -

The receivable balance is unsecured and repayable on
demand. Pursuant to the service agreement signed
between Shenzhou and the Group dated 5 June 2015,
Shenzhou agreed to deposit the advertising revenue
collected on behalf of the Group in designated bank
accounts in the PRC, which together with any interest
generated from these accounts would be held in trust
on behalf of the Group and handled according to the
Group's instructions. No additional interest would
be charged by the Group on the receivable balance
from Shenzhou. Management is of the opinion that
the balance is fully recoverable and no provision is
required based on their collectability assessment.
FEUWFIRSE R AR R AREREE - RiBEMNE &
SEFZFETABAA201546 A5 2 RS - WINRE
HEAKX BEBURNESRATARTEZFERT
RPEA - ZERBZERFPEEZARMFEKRE E&E
IEEERRFE Wik BEXEZERERE - BX5E
1&g BRI AR N 2 FRIBAE SR AT RSN, - BIRE
RABBERAT2HRE - BEREFEATKREIMEPEZ
FHEREBRIFL S -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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Our audit procedures in relation to the accuracy and
recoverability of the receivable from Shenzhou included:
AP FE U R I FRIE 2 SRR K AT UR Bl 1 2 BRI B A

° Understanding and evaluating how management
assessed and monitored the credit quality of
Shenzhou and the recoverability of the outstanding
receivable with reference to Shenzhou's financial
position, payment trends and subsequent
settlements;
BRETEEEETERERWINEEEZARKRER
EWRIB 2 AT B 2 750% - &2 E @M 2 Mgk
T BB RHEEERBZIER

° Agreeing opening balance of the receivable from
Shenzhou to the prior year audited accounts and
performing analytical procedures on the movements
in the balance with Shenzhou during the year to
identify if there were any unusual items;

1 FE MR N FRIB 2 BRI A R L F BB AZARE 2 BB
YELLETLAS A2 & IEHE - (¥ BN 2 11 2R A 8R A0
SEHEITHOMEF  HEEETEETIER

° Agreeing the amounts of cash collected for
advertising revenue by Shenzhou recorded in the
Group's accounting system to the collection reports
submitted by Shenzhou and sales contracts on a
sample basis;

1 BEfEEEHESTRSCHMNBERESKRAZES
SREESINRRZ 2 W R E R E & REmELLL G
HELIERE

° Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of commission and service fee paid to
Shenzhovu;

BREB I TMN M KRS BT HE 2 EITERE
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Key Audit Matter

BEETER

Due to the arrangements with Shenzhou described
above, there is a risk that the receivable balance at
31 December 2018 may not be accurate, and the
outstanding amount accounted for approximately
3.5% of the total assets of the Group. The nature
and size of this balance together with the significant
judgements exercised by management in their
collectability assessment warrant specific audit
attention.

A Pt e 2 e ZHE - 720185 12 A31 H 2 JE
WHIBZEMRAR VN ER B - MABRSENE E5ER
BEX35% AR AEHRZEERREEREEBER
2 AR EIME R R B 2 ERHIE - BN E 2 |Et

=
e e
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RSN AEERREEIEE

Agreeing, on a sample basis, the expenses and
payments made by Shenzhou on behalf of the
Group to the instructions given by the Group or
other relevant supporting information;

P ArAeNRE EEEIN 2RI RAR
0 EEEELN BT H MBS ERELLEAS
HELIERE

Checking to the bank advices for cash remitted
to the Group by Shenzhou during the year and
subsequent to the yearend; and
ERBBSINNFERARFEER
RITAAME &

BEREERZBREH

Comparing the year end receivable balance
recorded in the Group's accounting system to
the external confirmation obtained by us from
Shenzhou.

1 BEBEI R EUGRIBAREE MImS
NIERS 2 SN ERHERAETTLLER ©

We found management’s assessment on the
recoverability and accuracy of the receivable from
Shenzhou was supportable by the available evidence.
AR E IR E A M UK 2 AT B R Bt 2 AT A AT LA
MBEAEETUASR -
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Key Audit Matter

BERETEE

Recoverability of the accounts receivable of the
Group

BEfEERERERERZTRE %

Refer to Notes 3(a)(ii), 4(a)(ii) and 21 to the
consolidated financial statements
BLERA VI REM 3@ -~ 4(a)i) & 21

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’'s accounts
receivable balance amounted to HK$919.1 million
comprising gross accounts receivable of HK$1,056.2
million net of provision for impairment of HK$137.1
million.

R2018F12A31H BEXSE s EKERGSEH R
919,100,000 7T - H3 FEUL AR FR42%E 1,056,200,000 7 7T
FRIBL{E B 155 137,100,000 & TTAEAK,

Management has performed an assessment on the
recoverability of the accounts receivable balance as at
31 December 2018 based on the expected credit loss
model. In performing the assessment, management
also considered a number of factors including but
not limited to the debtors’ current and expected
financial positions, business environment and
industry performance, current and forward looking
economic factors, collection history, past experience
and subsequent settlements. Management is of the
opinion that the provision for impairment of accounts
receivable was adequate but not excessive at 31
December 2018.
EEEREEBEEBEEALEE2018F12 431 H
B BR R A eR 2 AT B » FEETTRIERS - BIREENE
BT ZERE  BFETRREBEA R XTEHRE B
Mo BERIE RITERR - B RATBEEERZ - KK
i BEKRREBREEREBEZER EEERE
2018412 A 31 A2 EUERFUR BB E REHMIERE -

B ZBERE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMMETNAREBEETER

Our audit procedures in relation to management'’s
assessment on the recoverability of the accounts
receivable included:

AR E IR E E E AR SR AT U Bl 1 3T 2 BRI P B4

° Understanding, evaluating and testing, on a sample
basis, management'’s credit control procedures and
their basis and methodology of estimation of the
amount of impairment provision of the expected
credit losses required for the accounts receivable
balance;

B ARG EEB EEERREF REEE
HEH RN RN ESRTREREEEERAERESECE
ERFTE

o Testing post-year end settlements of accounts
receivable on a sample basis;

RSB RR  FREREFER

° Obtaining confirmations for a sample of the
balances as at 31 December 2018 directly from the
debtors and testing the reconciling items. Where
a response to the request was not received, we
agreed the relevant receivable balances to the
underlying sale contracts or supporting information
or post year end cash receipts;
MEEENEBARESEHE2018F 12 A31 B2 &#H
ZHER - WARHRIER - TEMERARWEIEEZIE
A RIS EGR B AR AR E ARSI E
RIS S WKL S AS AR & IR #E

o Testing the accuracy of aging profile of the accounts
receivable at the year end, on a sample basis,
against sales invoices and related sales contracts or
billing records; and
BIRHERER RBAEE S R R Es Mz a
IR 4 2 BRI 2 RN - %
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Key Audit Matter

BEETER

This is considered as a key matter to our audit
because of the judgements involved in management'’s
assessment and the financial significance of the
receivable balance to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

AR EREFMHTS &2 E 12 E R A K B U GRIE 4 6
¥ BEBRGEUBRERCHUBEZN  AUZFEERA
ERMETTR 2B EE -
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RSN AEERREEIEE

Discussing with management to assess the
recoverability of significant and aged accounts
receivable balances by corroborating management'’s
explanations with relevant supporting
documentation and market information, including
external payment schedules from the customers,
supportable credit risk information, and financial
information of the customers
HEREETImUTEERRRERREBRRES®RZ
e - FRAUBEZHEXHRTSER (BEE
PRZNBNFEERE AREZEERBEMEEFPZ
BISERL) RIEREIEE 2 o

We found the judgement and assumptions used by the

management in determining the provision for accounts
receivable to be supportable based on available evidence
ERAERE - BRMBERERELETRIRTE@ERTEL
FIET R B BREERER
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. VWe have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Nga Kwan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE2018F 12 A3 BILFE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIERF RIS - BB TIE)

2018 2017
20185 2017 F
Note $'000 $'000
g Fr Tt
Revenue @N 5 4,062,816 3,957487
Operating expenses KREEH (2,976,886) (2,817,858)
Selling, general and administrative  $5& - —RRITHEH
expenses (1,152,628) (1,011,700)
Other gains, net Hihlh 5258
Fair value gain on investment WEYELNFENE
properties 15 7533 44,868
Other operating gains, net HE s F5E 6 799,839 300,219
Interest income FIEWA 61,422 195,465
Interest expense FMEREX (38,044) (44,306)
Share of profits less losses of BEEEoERTIRER
joint ventures 17 3,427 6,145
Share of profits less losses of BEEBE D RDEFIRUES R
associates 18 10,632 (19,888)
Profit before income tax RSB AT R 7 778,111 610,432
Income tax expense Frigdip 9 (216,768) (89,579)
Profit for the year FERA 561,343 520,853
Profit attributable to: T 5 & EEMLEF
Owners of the Company NAREB A 243,790 286,248
Non-controlling interests FEFERR A 317,553 234,605
561,343 520,853
Earnings per share for profit BEREDQTEE AEGER
attributable to the owners HWERER
of the Company for the year
Basic earnings per share, FREEARZF] - B
Hong Kong cents 10 4.88 5.73
Diluted earnings per share, SREEZR - B
Hong Kong cents 10 4.88 5.73

The notes on pages 169 to 375 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statement.

HRE 160 B EFE I H 2 MF B%EHRE
BT SRaR 2 4R EMD -
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HZE2018412 A31 HILFE
(BRIEFFRIEIRA - ©ELUBTHIE)

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Profit for the year FERA 561,343 520,853
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2wk :
Items that have been/may be BAAEF I HiE
reclassified to profit or loss REEH S E B o HH
Currency translation differences ElmE s (183,006) 171,984
Fair value loss on available-forsale A HLHE TS E E
financial assets NHERE - (28,635)
Total comprehensive income FEZEWGZHEE
for the year 378,337 664,202
Attributable to: T 5l EpES
Owners of the Company KNAREBA 128,931 377835
Non-controlling interests eI 249,406 286,367
378,337 664,202
The notes on pages 169 to 375 are an integral part of these EHRE169BEEFI76BE 2 EAZSHA

consolidated financial statement.
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REBEERER

2018412 A31H
(BRIERERIRRA - £BLETTIIE)

As at 31 December 2018
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2018 2017
2018 2017 F
Note $'000 $'000
BaE Fr FiT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Purchased programme and film rights, BA&IB &
net BRI F R 12 10,772 11,800
Lease premium for land TiHEER 13 198,636 208,619
Property, plant and equipment, net Y - B REEFE 14 1,045,483 1,080,274
Investment properties "EYE 15 1,512,304 1,570,414
Intangible assets BEEE 16 190,471 26,960
Investments in joint ventures REEDENRE 17 56,723 40,027
Investments in associates REFE R TINIRE 18 89,734 78,503
Available-forsale financial assets ARHENGEEE 26 — 725,395
Financial assets at fair value through BATEERERRR
profit or loss RIS E E 25 18,909 —
Conversion options for convertible AJ AR A B [B1E 5T A%
redeemable preferred shares B HA AR 1 37 - 721,002
Options for long-term investments REIIE R RARE 37 — 17702
Other long-term assets HivREEE 22 79,299 52,380
Deferred income tax assets BEFBREE 35 72,332 76,925
Pledged bank deposit BEBIRITIFER 36 - 200,000
3,274,663 4,810,001
Current assets MENEE
Accounts receivable, net FEUBR R F R 21 919,122 940,240
Prepayments, deposits and TERE - ke Rk
other receivables HAth fEMGRIE 22 858,652 814,524
Inventories FE 23 10,114 7493
Amounts due from related companies  FEUAE BE A FIFKIE 24 90,834 333,610
Conversion options for convertible AR E R R AR i
loans 37 - 19,513
Self-produced programmes BRETE 8,434 12,112
Purchased programme and film rights, BB ASSE MTZRiEF4E
net 12 163 147
Financial assets at fair value through BN EERIERRCER
profit or loss TS A E 25 3,285,594 24,406
Prepaid tax TERTHLIR 13,662 8,971
Pledged bank deposits BIRAIRI TR 36 734,745 581,666
Bank deposits IRITHER 27 419,305 470,970
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 28 226 587
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EFEEE 29 1,246,180 2,220,028
7,587,031 5,434,267
Total assets nEE 10,861,694 10,244,268

HNE 169 AEEI75 A2 M RZEHFE
BT RER 2 ARER D ©

The notes on pages 169 to 375 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statement.

163



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REEEREX

As at 31 December 2018

Annual Report 2018

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

©2018412 A31 A

(BRIEFF RIS - BB TIE)

2018 2017
2018 F 2017
Note $'000 $'000
FI5E Fr T
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners KATEEBA
of the Company FEfhfER
Share capital [ 31 499,347 499,347
Reserves 5 4,979,582 4,876,121
5,478,929 5,375,468
Non-controlling interests IR AR 19(e) 2,257,223 1,937.120
Total equity R 7,736,152 7312,588
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities FEREEE
Secured bank borrowings BEBIRITEE 34(a) 92,221 329,215
Interest rate swap contracts FIRBEIE L) 37 — 698
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEEBIEELCE
through profit or loss RS Al 25 5,363 —
Other long-term liabilities HEERHEE 4,672 4,876
Loans from non-controlling BB A RIFEHEARAR R
shareholders of subsidiaries REER 34(b) 235,428 251,252
Deferred income tax liabilities RSB EE 35 337,183 185,976
674,867 772,017
Current liabilities RBAE
Accounts payable, other payables FEISERRR ﬁﬁﬁ)gﬁm
and accruals M IEETHR 33 1,324,125 1,336,620
Secured bank borrowings ﬁ%fﬁ#ﬁﬂ%mﬁ“‘ 34(a) 732,967 596,507
Deferred income PEIELA 192,436 109,029
Loans from non-controlling —FEIFfT B A A FETE A%
shareholders of a subsidiary RRIBHER 34(b) 141,079 57694
Current income tax liabilities ERMERAE 59,213 58,823
Interest rate swap contracts FIRBHIE 4 37 = 990
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEEBIESLE
through profit or loss plEup 3= R 25 855 —
2,450,675 2,159,663
Total liabilities weE 3,125,542 2,931,680
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 10,861,694 10,244,268

HNE169EE %37552%57% ZRE
BT 3RER 2 4R AR 1D

The notes on pages 169 to 375 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statement.

HRE 161 EEFE 375 ENGETBHRER
2019$3ﬂ265ﬁ§$A B WAHLT

The consolidated financial statements on pages 161 to 375 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2019 and were

signed on its behalf. EERREFTEEE
LIU Changle CHUI Keung
ZR% =37
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HZE2018412 A31 HILFE
(BRIEFFRIEIRA - ©ELUBTHIE)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRAEE A
Employee
share-
Treasury based Non-
Share share Share  Statutory Capital  Exchange Revaluation ~ payment  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  eamings  interests equity
EENRS
ERRH XA
e fE ROEE HERE  EREE  ENRE  EGBE  FERE  REEA  FERER fER
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $/000 §000 §000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
L T T i i i i T Tr Tr T T
(Note)
(&)
Balance at 31 December 2017 R2017512 331 BAIER 499,347 - 149,155 144,693 1,515,136 (38,032) 815 50694 3,044,660 1937120 7312588
Change in accounting policy & HXEH o)) - = - - - - (815) - 815 - -
Balance at 1 January 2018 R20BE1F1AHER 499,347 - 149,155 144,693 1515136 (38,032) - 59694 3045475 1937120 7312588
Profit for the year FERR - - - - - - - - 43790 317553 561,343
Other comprehensive income 2 EHE
Currency translation differences ~ E%HEZE - - - - - (114:859) - - —-  (68147)  (183,006)
Total comprehensive income ~ £E2AUHAE
for the year - - - - - (14859 - - 3790 249406 378,337
Transactions with owners HEFALRS
Share option scheme EDvSE]
— value of employes services - BIfRKEE - - - - - - - 8573 - 16,512 25,085
— lapse of share options - BRELY = = 908 = = = = (908) = = =
Dividends related to 2017 B0 FRBNRE 11 - = - - - - - - (49,935 - (49935
Dividends paid to noncontroling B fFEERERARS
interests - - - - - - - - - (52,044)  (52,044)
Alocation to statutory reserve AR EATEE - - - 15,506 - - - - (15506) - -
Acquisition of nterest It -HHBARER
in a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - 90,002 90,002
Deemed disposal of partial interest  RIRHEAMRIELE
in a subsidiary arising from —EMBRA R
issue of shares - - - - 25,101 - - - - (314) 2,781
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HKEAA - - - - - = = = = 498 498
Deemed disposal of partialinterest  REEIER{TEME(EHE
in a subsidiary arising from —EMBRA R
exercise of share options 3 - - - - 4,966) - - (4,243) - 16,043 6,834
Total transactions with owners ~ EEAETHRZ4E - - 908 15,506 20,135 - - 3422 (65,441) 70,697 45,221
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018E12 A 31 BIES 499,347 - 150,063 160,199 1535271 (152,891) - 63116 3223824 2251223  7736,152

Note: The statutory reserve of the Group refers to the PRC statutory reserve i)

R

fund. Appropriations to such reserve fund are made out of profit
after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements of the PRC
subsidiaries. The amount should not be less than 10% of the profit
after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements unless the
aggregate amount exceeds 50% of the registered capital of the PRC
subsidiaries. The statutory reserve fund can be used to make up prior
years' losses of the PRC subsidiaries.

CAREEERBETEEIERBES -

FIZFEEBESE LB E BB
RAVEE M B REK IR BR IR G R
ZHRIA N D IOETE M MR A8 R
Bz s FIE 10% @ FRIFEEB AT B E
NAFEME R E0% < EFERHLS A A
R EMEARBEFENESE -

165



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2018

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HZE2018412 A31 HILFE
(BRIEFFRIEIRA - ©ELUBTHIE)

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATRBAEL
Employee
share-
Treasury based Non-
Share share Share  Statutory Capital ~ Exchange  Revaluation ~ payment  Retained  controlling Total
captll  reseve  premium  reserve  reserve  feserve  reserve  feserve  eamings interests equity
EENRH
ERRH F33:
e G BDEE  iEEE O ATEE  EXHE  EREE  UERE REEN  JERER BiEn
Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $/000 $000
i3 i i I I i i i i v i i
(Note)
(M)
Balance at 1 January 2017 R0 E1F1AMNER 500,100 (5,042) 51,658 141239 1503315 (145,513) 16,709 151,204 2811801 1603304 6628775
Profit for the year FERER - - - - - - - - 286248 234605 520853
Other comprehensive income 2 EHE
Currency translation differences ~ EEHEEEE - - - - - 07481 - - - 64503 171,984
Fair value gain on available-forsale  IEHHEHEEELTEER
financial asset - - - - - - (15,8%4) - - (12,741)  (28,635)
Total comprehensive income  EE2AUHAE
for the year - - - - - 107481 (15,8%4) - 286,248 286,367 664,202
Transactions with owners REEAZRS
Share option scheme BRERE
— value of employee Services - BIRKEE - - - - - - - 31648 - 23828 55,476
— lapse of share options - BIREXR - - 106328 - - - - (10639 - - -
Repurchase of share BERR - (4512) (30) - - - - - - - (4,542)
Cancellation of repurchase share  ESEFTEER kM) (753) 9554 (8,801) — = - - - -
Dividends related to 2016 220165 AMEMRE 11 - - - - - 4993 - (4993%)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 23R ERHRE
nterests - - - - - - - - - (18931 (18931
Alocation to statutory reserve  HREETEE - - - 3454 - - - - 3,454) - -
Capital contribution from FERERTE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 407 407
Deemed disposal of partialinterest - RI( X/ IMRIELE
in a subsidiary arising from —ERELE SR
issue of shares - - - - 7090 - - - - 15,625 22615
Deemed disposal of asubsidiary ki E—RHBAT - - - - - - - - 844 844
Deemed disposal of partialinterest - REETR (T MR (I
in a subsidiary arising from A
exercise of share options 39 - - - - 4731 - - (16,830) - 25,776 13,677
Total transactions with owners ~ EEFARTHRALE (753) 5,042 97497 3454 11,821 - - @150 (338 47449 19,611
Balance at 31 December 2017 R201TE12 731 BHES 499,347 - 149,155 144693 1,515,136 (38,032) 815 59694 3044660 1937120 7312588
The notes on pages 169 to 375 are an integral part of these #HNFE169BEFI75H ZMHEAZESHEA

consolidated financial statement.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REREREBR

HZE2018412 A31 HILFE
(BRIEFFRIEIRA - ©ELUBTHIE)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2018 2017
2018 F 2017
Note $'000 $'000
PisE Fr v
Cash flows from operating activities EEEKIHNELSHRE
Cash generated from operations CEERTSRIRS 38(a) 191,134 260,499
Interest received BHFIE 57,033 51,153
Interest paid EAAFR (38,044) (44,306)
Hong Kong taxation paid EANESCETEE (11,031) (22,155)
Overseas taxation paid EEINRIA (55,906) (52,574)
Net cash generated from operating AR E NG
activities K3 F R 143,186 192,617
Cash flows from investing activities REZTENRERE
Decrease in restricted cash WAOZBRHIERS 361 —
Decrease in pledged bank deposit PR i
RITEN 36 46,921 25,496
Decrease/(increase) in bank deposits BITFERURAD, (38h0) 27 51,665 (76,304)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEFEE 16 (18,081) (9,355)
Purchase of property, plant AV - BE K&E
and equipment 14 (131,378) (92,009)
Purchase of programme and H8 A BN B R EFhE
film rights 12 (8,645) (9,842)
Net cash outflow from acquisition Wi — B A FAY
of a subsidiary IREm %5a 43 (70,056) —
Net cash outflow from disposal HE—fET B AR
of a subsidiary VIR &M R 38(c) - (6,086)
Capital contribution to various MATREZEEHE
investments (19,647) (35,607)
Loans to a related company M—EAEEEARBRTER 42 — (83,835)
Repayment of loan and interest W e — A BEAR]
from a related company MEZ LT E 42 102,362 —
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment RAFTSRIE 6,700 8,937
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFEBBERTEREN
assets at fair value through B EEMETAE
profit or loss 133,115 —
Investment income from financial BAFEEBIESLE
assets at fair value through KBTS B ERIRE WA
profit or loss 1,221 1,212
Investment income from EHEFEITERD
pledged bank deposits SEUA 9,237 6,230
Purchase of financial assets at BEEATESEAERLEN
fair value through profit or loss BI R EE (1,025,818) —
Capital return from an associate M — g E R B E 18 — 13,927
Net cash used in investing activities S EEBFTRIR S F 5 (922,043) (257,236)
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HZE2018412 A31 HILFE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIEFF RIS - BB TIE)

2018 2017
2018 2017 F
Note $'000 $'000
g Fr FiT
Cash flows from financing activities BEEZENRERE
Dividends paid to owners of the BENTFARREE AR
Company A% & 1 (49,935) (49,935)
Proceeds from exercise of share 1TE— KB A R A AE
options of a subsidiary FriS5KI8 6,834 13,677
Drawdown of secured bank RAEEARRITEE
borrowings 38(b) 509,590 604,116
Repayment of secured bank EERAERIRITEER
borrowings 38(b) (611,064) (685,806)
Loans from non-controlling M8 ARl 2 FEFERRAR R
shareholders of subsidiaries RIEER 38(b) 80,933 11,137
Capital contribution from JEERER TN E
non-controlling interest - 407
Deemed disposal of partial interest ER D EITMARIEL S
in a subsidiary arising from — R B ARz B n RS
issue of shares 25,285 22,615
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT RERRAR S
interests (52,044) (18,931)
Payment for repurchase of shares BRI 2 R - (4,542)
Net cash used in financing activities REREFT AR S FE (90,401) (107262)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReERREEBEER R FE
equivalents (869,258) (171,881)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUReEREFEER
beginning of year 2,220,028 2,283,990
Net exchange (losses)/gains on cash ReMReFEBEEMNER
and cash equivalents (B18) ka3 (104,590) 107919
Cash and cash equivalents at FrReRREEFHEER
end of year 29 1,246,180 2,220,028

The notes on pages 169 to 375 are an integral part of these HNFE169BEEI75 B 2T RZZLE
consolidated financial statement. BA SRR 2 MR ER D ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

General information

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) engage principally in
satellite television broadcasting and provision of internet media
services.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and domiciled in Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of The People’s Republic of China (“PRC").
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated. These financial statements
were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 March
2019.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for the revaluation of investment
properties and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

170

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group.

(i)

Effect of adopting new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations effective in 2018

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

HKFRS 4 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 15 (Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) 22

HKAS 40 (Amendments)

Annual Improvements

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Transfers of Investment Property

Annual Improvements 2014-2016
Cycle
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Effect of adopting new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations effective in 2018
(Continued)

Except for HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15, the adoption of
the other new or revised standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations of HKFRS stated
above did not have any significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements in the
current and prior periods. The impact of the adoption
of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 is disclosed in Note 2(b)
(iii).

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted by the Group

The following new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year ended 31
December 2018 and have not yet been adopted by
the Group:
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(ii)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted by the Group

(Continued)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9 (Amendments)

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
(Amendments)

HKAS 19 (Amendments)

HKAS 28 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

(Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) 23

Annual Improvements

Definition of Business ®

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Leases "

Insurance Contracts

Definition of Material @

Plan Amendment, Curtailment for
Settlement "

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments "

Annual Improvements 20152017
Cycle
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Effective for the Group for annual period beginning
on 1 January 2019

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning
on 1 January 2020

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning
on 1 January 2021

Effective date to be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(ii)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted by the Group
(Continued)

The Group will apply the above new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations
from 1 January 2019 or later periods. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the
likely impact of adopting the above new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations, for
which the preliminary assessment of HKFRS 16 is
set out below.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being
recognised on the balance sheet, as the distinction
between operating and finance leases is removed.
Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use
the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals
are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term
and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
the Group's operating leases. As at the reporting
date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of approximately HK$858,103,000.
However, the Group has not yet determined to
what extent these commitments will result in the
recognition of an asset and a liability for future
payments and how this will affect the Group's profit
and classification of cash flows.
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ERETHRME (&)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2
(Continued)

SRR ER MK EE
(%)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b)
disclosures (Continued)

174

(ii)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted by the Group
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The new standard is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2019. The Group
intends to apply the simplified transition approach
and will not restate comparative amounts for the
year prior to first adoption.

There are no other standards that are not yet
effective and that would be expected to have a
material impact on the Group in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

(ii)
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(iii) Changes in accounting policies (iii) BETBREH
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HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and HKFRS 15 WMEERFEIRME T A

(A)

Revenue from Contracts with Customers on the
Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39
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e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)

Summary of significant accounting policies 2 ZFEEZSTTBEME (&)
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) &aFER K EE
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (iii) ESBOREH (&)
(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued) A BEIHEHEERIZE IR

—HBEILR (&)

Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018: E20184F 1 A 1 BEHM
RIS ETCR -
(a) Investments and other financial assets (a) RERHMBBE
=3
Classification baks|
From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies B20185F1 A1 H
its financial assets as either those to be iR AR E G H A
measured subsequently at fair value (either BEEDHERERE
through other comprehensive income (“OCI"), EZRAYEGEBRA
or through profit or loss), or those to be A E R E ([E M
measured at amortised cost. The classification 2EWE]) SLIRK
depends on the entity’'s business model FEimE L iR) 5
for managing the financial assets and the R SHRCR T 2 8
contractual terms of the cash flows. For assets MGEE - ZD8
measured at fair value, gains and losses will BURMNE S EE
either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For BEEMFEBER
investments in equity instruments that are not RIRERENELD
held for trading, this will depend on whether -3 /NS =]
the Group has made an irrevocable election at AEMNBEEMmMS -
the time of initial recognition to account for the W K BB g ET A
equity investment at fair value through other Bas H it 2 EI
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"). o WHRIEEE
B AT EBAEE
RILEERE
e R 1R
TR HE R
AR A EE B
Hth2mEk=a ik
([BAFEERBE
b2 AR])
BIRR AR BB
The Group reclassifies debt investments EREEAREEE
when and only when its business model for BREEENER
managing those assets changes. RARER - Tg
HEBREETE
MO8 o
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

()  Debtinstruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
()  Debtinstruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “Other gains, net”, together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.
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e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
(i) Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except
for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest revenue and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised
in "Other gains, net” Interest income
from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective
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e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
()  Debtinstruments (Continued)

interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in “Other
gains, net” and impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit
or loss and presented net within “"Other
gains, net” in the period in which it
arises.
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e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
(i) Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all
equity investments at fair value. Where
the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses
on equity investments in profit or loss
there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as “Other gains, net” when
the Group's right to receive payments is
established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
(i) Equity instruments (Continued)

Changes in the fair value of financial
assets at FVPL are recognised in “Other
gains, net” in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on
a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk. For trade receivables, and contract assets
the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Impairment on financial assets measured at
amortised cost other than trade receivables is
measured as either 12-month expected credit
losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit
risk or the proceeds receivable are not settled
in accordance with the terms stipulated in
the agreements, management considers
these receivables as underperforming or non-
performing and impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit loss.

When management considers that there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery, the
financial assets measured at amortised cost
will be written off.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

ERETHRME (&)

(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) &aFER K EE
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (iii) ESBOREH (&)
(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued) A BEIHEHEERIZE IR

—HBEILR (&)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of (b) ERUBREER
adoption FIR M T A-
Range

The total impact on the Group's retained

H2018%F1 A1H

earnings as at 1 January 2018 is as follows: HAEBRE BN
AR EBINT -
Impact of application of HKFRS 9 on EWERBVMBRE
consolidated statements of changes in ERAFIRHERE
equity: EEEHRNEY
& .
Revaluation Retained
reserve earnings
EhEE REBER
‘000 ‘000
T T
Closing balance as at RIEEBSTER
31 December 2017 39552017 F
under HKAS 39 12 A 31 B Z Rk ah 84 815 3,044,660
Reclassify investments B E R A HIEE
from available-for-sale EFOBEERATE
to FVPL BidiBmai ik (815) 815
Opening balance as at RIEE B HEEmE LR
1 January 2018 F 95N 20184
under HKFRS 9 1 R 1 Bz B9 - 3,045,475
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2 EESHHEREE (8)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and b) ETHR LI EEE
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (iii) EFBOREH (&)
(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued) A) BB BHREERZEIY
— BT A (&)
(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of (b) EBUBREER
adoption (Continued) MM I A-
RHnee (|
(i) Classification and measurement iy PERFE
On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial R 20184 1
application of HKFRS 9), the Group's A18 (Bx
management has assessed which fER & BN
business models apply to the financial IR E R
assets held by the Group and has Fo% B A
classified its financial instruments into ) - AEHE
the appropriate HKFRS 9 categories. EBEEDRT
The main effects resulting from this HEMAE
reclassification are as follows: Fris B
M5B ERK
SERCIREE
A )
1 E BT
R
B E
ERIZE QR TH
T#EE NS
Bl o Uk & ¥
DEMNEE
EnT
Derivative
Amortised Derivative financial
cost financial ~ instruments
(Loansand ~ instruments (Assets)
Available- ~ Receivables Assets) (Non-
Financial assets FVPL forsale 1) (Current) current) Total
BEAx  FAMRIR  fEYHBIA
RATER (2o E&3 (§E) (§E)
hEE BEEEE THHE  REYEE) (78) (#58) it
Notes HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
it i i i 1 i i
Closing balance RONE1ANEL
31 Dec 2017 Bhen By
~HKAS 39 ElE30% 406 % 188980 19573 TR 3307908
Recassfyinestments ~ FRARAEHER
from avaltle-forsale ARBTEER
and derivative
financial instruments
fRL fl o 1483612 (72539) (19513 (738, 704)
Reclassify investments
from Loans and
Receivables to FVPL ] 115,752 (115,752
Opening balance RBE1R1RZ
1Jan 2018 BEs-ERy
-HKFRS 9 BRERNZ0R 163770 1T858 3397908
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of
adoption (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement
(Continued)

Note:

(a) Reclassification from “available-for-sale
financial assets” ("AFS") to FVPL

Included in AFS were investments in
convertible redeemable preferred shares —
debt component and investment in unlisted
equity securities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)

Summary of significant accounting policies 2 ZESTTBEME (&)
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) EEFER &I EE )
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (iii) ESBOREH (&)
(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued) A BEIHEHEERIZE IR

—HBEILR (&)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of (b) ERUBREER
adoption (Continued) FIR M T A-

Rp e (&)

(i) Classification and measurement iy PBERFT=E
(Continued) (%8)
Note: (Continued) MisE - (48)
(a)  Reclassification from AFS to FVPL (Continued) (a) HAHEES
FHBERD
FEEBIER
FOAR (48)
Investments in convertible redeemable A $2 % 7] & [
preference shares were reclassified from AFS 2 5% B m
to financial assets at FVPL (as at 1 January ﬁgﬁﬁﬂﬁ\fﬁ%
2018: HK$705,712,000). They do not meet BMOBRR
the HKFRS 9 criteria for classification at NEEFEBE

amortised cost, because their cash flows do
not represent solely payments of principal
and interest. In accordance with HKFRS 9,
the Group shall apply the requirements in
HKFRS 9 to the entire contract and present
the derivative component of convertible
redeemable preferred shares (as at 1 January
2018: HK$738,704,000) with the host contract
in FVPL.
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e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of
adoption (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement
(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(a) Reclassification from AFS to FVPL (Continued)

The related fair value gains of HK$815,000
were transferred from the revaluation reserve
to retained earnings on 1 January 2018.

Investment in unlisted equity securities (as
at 1 January 2018: HK$19,683,000) were
reclassified from AFS to financial assets at
FVPL as the Group elected to present fair
value gain or loss on equity securities in profit
orloss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)

Summary of significant accounting policies 2 ZESTTBEME (&)
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) EEFER &I EE )
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (iii) ESBOREH (&)
(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued) A BEIHEHEERIZE IR

—HBEILR (&)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of (b) ERUBREER
adoption (Continued) FIR M T A-

Rp e (&)

(i) Classification and measurement iy PBERFT=E
(Continued) (&)
Note: (Continued) MisE - (48)
(b)  Reclassification from loans and receivables to (b) BERKEK
FVPL RIEEM DL
BRAFES
ok Entie
Investments in convertible loan to Particle #f Particle &9
were reclassified from loans and receivables AR E RIS
to financial assets at FVPL (as at 1 January EmEARR
2018: HK$115,752,000). They do not meet FE W GRIE B HT
the HKFRS 9 criteria for classification at DPEEERN
amortised cost, because their cash flows do FEEBIE
not represent solely payments of principal and A0 BR B0 B 7
interest. In accordance with the arrangement & E (7R2018
in HKFRS 9, the Group shall apply the F1A18:
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the entire 115,752,000
contract and present the derivative convertible Bot) e B R
option of convertible loan (as at 1 January BERNRSR
2018: HK$19,513,000) with the host contract EWIEEES
in FVPL. K& k7
B HEIWE
"HEeEBABH
% 8 & A
FEO R ET
DA R
RAGE R
BEBIMBER
HERIEIWR
W& A&
& e & B S B
% & % Al
FEIWR MR TE
FERREEE
B WHEE
LW LTE B
L=l
fig # (72018
F1A18

19,513,000 %
TT) IR A
BFEBERD
BRE7 -
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(B) HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The HKICPA has issued a new standard for the
recognition of revenue. This has replaced HKAS 18
which covers contracts for goods and services and
HKAS 11 which covers construction contracts and
the related literature. The new standard is based
on the principle that revenue is recognised when
control of a goods or service transfers to a customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
services may transfer over time or at a point in time.
The classification is disclosed in Note b.

The Group engages principally in satellite television
broadcasting and provision of internet media
services, which are mainly rendered over time. The
Group adopted a modified retrospective approach
for transition to HKFRS 15.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
— Impact of adoption

Accounting for incremental costs incurred for
obtaining a contract

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, costs such as
sales commission incurred directly attributable for
obtaining an advertising and subscription contract
were charged to profit or loss as incurred. Under
HKFRS 15, if recoverable, they should be capitalized
and recorded as assets. However, as the advertising
and subscription contracts of the Group are within
one year (i.e. the amortisation period that the Group
will otherwise recognise would be one year or less),
the Group has applied the practical expedient to
expense the cost off through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e IR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii)

(B)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
— Impact of adoption (Continued)

Accounting for costs incurred for fulfilling a contract

Following the adoption of HKFRS 15, certain
production costs incurred in fulfilling a contract with
a customer amounting to approximately HK$177000
as at 31 December 2018 (as at 1 January 2018: HK$
Nil) were capitalised and amortised over the period
when the related service was transferred to the
customers.

The effects of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on the
consolidated statement of financial position at 1
January 2018 are as follows:

2

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

EESTBOREE (&)
(b) & &TBUK M i R &
(%)
(i) EHEE2D (8)
(B) BAMBHEEAE5
%#- EFAMZ M
()

BB B EAE 15
HEFAMZ WS —
RS ()

BITEHMEERANE
BpZS

HME B ®RE %R
155518 - R 20184 12
A31HEITEFAHM
EEHmETRERELD
177000% 7T (A 2018 4
118 EBx) BHE
N R B RGER T
BRI

RNE BT HREERE
1558 ¥ 201841 A1
A a MBI R 2%
2

At 1 January 2018
R2018F 1 A1 H

As previously

Reclassification

stated under HKFRS 15 Restated
RIEE I
HE%ER
£ 155
LUEIEIIN MO8 &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F T T
Consolidated statement of FEBMBEMRRE
financial position (extract) (F8)
Accounts payable, other payables  JEfTEBRFR  HAbER
and accruals FOA R TR 1,336,620 (76,807) 1,259,813
Deferred income IEIEUA 109,029 76,807 185,836
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(B)  HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
— Impact of adoption (Continued)

Accounting for costs incurred for fulfilling a contract
(Continued)

The amount by each financial statements line items
affected in the current year by the application of
HKFRS 15 as compared to HKAS 18 that were
previously in effect before the adoption of HKFRS 15

ERETHRME (&)

SRR L WER
(#&)

(iii) BFBER2D (H)

(B) EEMBEIHEERE 15
k- FEPAEMNZ Wz
(#&)

BRI B WG ERFE 15
REFENZ e — F
P E (')

BITEHAMEERANE
R (&)

RAFEXERE LN
BELEREBRTELZ
BB MAIAR - ERR
MEBMBREERS

is as follows: 155881 - BA TR
FI8RIBE AWM Z I
LN
At 31 December 2018
A 2018 12 A31H
Amounts before
the adoption Reclassification Amounts
of HKFRS 15 under HKFRS 15 as reported
RNE BT RIBEE B
EAER AR
%155k £ 15358
HIZ &% BMOE E2WmeE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt Tt Tt
Consolidated statement of SFEBMRRE
financial position (extracted) (H8)
Accounts payable, other payables ~ FEfTBERR « HAb (S
and accruals TRIE N FEET R 1,387,061 (62,936) 1,324,125
Deferred income FEIEIA 129,500 62,936 192,436
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii)

(B)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
— Impact of adoption (Continued)

Contract liabilities

As at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018,
deferred income amounting to approximately
HK$185,836,000 and HK$192,436,000 respectively,
represented contract liabilities in relation to advance
payments made by the customers while the
underlying services are yet to be provided under
HKFRS 15.

Other than the above, the adoption of HKFRS 15
did not have significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries

(i)

194

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(a)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

ries(Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either
fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at
the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EESTERHE (&)

196

39 either in profit or loss or as a change to
other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not

(Continued)
(c) Subsidiaries(Continued) (c) MBRA (&)
(i) Consolidation (Continued) (i) #HEAR(E)
(a)  Business combinations (Continued) @) FEEEU(E)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred REBEFFEENET
by the Group is recognised at fair value at RIS AR B R EW
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to 8 A B A T ERE
the fair value of the contingent consideration RoWRAB—IHE
that is deemed to be an asset or liability EXBENIAR
is recognised in accordance with HKAS BEAFEREY

B BRREES
FTERISE 395 HIAR
E o MIBEERRK

remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is HWRIEHMEEK
accounted for within equity. mEE) - DIE AR
mZ IAREDA

The excess of the consideration transferred,

BHEE - MARK
BEREmAR -

PrEgemfE ~ Bk

the amount of any non-controlling interest in BB 2 TR FE4E A%
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value R REME
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree AR U B 77 2 AR
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets AHE A UE B
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total 2N TFEBBMR
of consideration transferred, non-controlling AR EEFE
interest recognised and previously held ZRFEZEBA

interest measured is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

ries(Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary
in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries(Continued)
(i) Consolidation (Continued)
(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

(ii) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(d)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’'s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount in the
consolidated income statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

200

(d)

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associates are recognised in the Group's financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Joint ventures

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractual rights and obligations each
investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensive income. \When the Group's share of losses
in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the
joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Joint ventures (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company'’s
functional and the Group'’s presentation currency.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

202

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at yearend exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and
other assets and liabilities are presented in the
consolidated income statement within “Other gains,
net”

Until 31 December 2017 changes in the fair value
of debt securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as available for sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes in the
amortised cost of the security and other changes
in the carrying amount of the security. Translation
differences related to changes in amortised cost are
recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and other changes in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on
non-monetary financial assets such as equities
classified as available for sale are included in other
comprehensive income.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(a)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

2 EESHHEREE (8)

(9) MBI E (F)

(iii)

KEDF

DR EZ2 5 TR
MMEAKEER (BE
BOESSARSELR
B BRE R
IR T ERERE
FIEH

@ SHEEAGEXAM
2FIEER A &
iR A K
ERBE

b)  BiylmROEA
KX R R &RFG
RS E (BRIFZ
FHEXHZHA
RITE XN R
ZUFE—HLIE
MBI IE R - )t
BER AR X H
TIRAR 5 BHER
BE) R

) FTEHH—IER
ZRINEMBEE
W ER TR o

WESINERELNHE
RAHERBZSINER
MWEENRBERE AR
W RIS o FRELN
R EBRIN AR

R ©

203



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iv)

204

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture entity that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the equity
holders of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control) the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to profit or loss.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged in the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

No depreciation is provided on assets under construction
until they are completed and are available for use.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives at annual rates, as follows:

2.05-3.33%
shorter of 6.67%-33.3% or
over the terms of the leases

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

15%-20%
10%-33.3%

Furniture and fixtures

Broadcast operations and
other equipment

Motor vehicles

LED panels

Aircraft

20%-25%
10%-11.1%
71%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting period.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

206

(h) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2(m)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “Other gains, net’ in the consolidated
income statement.

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied
by the Group. It also includes properties that are being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
properties. Land held under operating leases are
accounted for as investment property when the rest of
the definition of an investment property is met. In such
cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted
for as if they were finance leases. Investment property
is initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined at
each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is
based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If the information is not available, the
Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent
prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow
projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the
consolidated income statement as part of a valuation gain
or loss in “Other gains, net”
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(). Intangible assets

(i)

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of
the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the
non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in “intangible assets” Goodwill is tested
annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses
on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose identified according to operating segment.

Licences

Separately acquired licences are shown at historical
cost. Licences acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of licences over their estimated useful lives
of two to ten years.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of two to
four years.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

() Intangible assets (Continued)
(iii) Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. The contractual customer
relations have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over the
expected life of the customer relationship of three
years.

(iv) Club debentures

Acquired club debentures are intangible assets with
an indefinite useful life. They are therefore shown
at historical cost and are not amortised. Impairment
assessments on club debentures are carried out
by comparing their recoverable amounts with their
carrying amounts annually and whenever there is an
indication that the intangible assets maybe impaired.

(v) Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer
software programmes are recognised as an expense
as incurred.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as
part of the software product include the software
development employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs previously recognised
as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised

as assets are amortised over their estimated useful
lives, which does not exceed three years.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k)

Purchased programme and film rights

Purchased programme and film rights are recorded at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Cost of film rights is expensed in the consolidated income
statement on the first and second showing and cost of
purchased programme is expensed in the consolidated
income statement by amortising the cost over the licence
period on a straight line basis.

Purchased programme with licence period of 12 months
or less and film rights with economic lives of 12 months
or less are classified as current assets.

Self-produced programmes

Self-produced programmes are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct production
expenditures and an appropriate portion of production
overheads. Programmes in production that are abandoned
are written off in the consolidated income statement
immediately, or when the revenue to be generated
by these programmes is determined to be lower than
cost, the cost is written down to recoverable amount.
Completed programmes will be broadcast over a short
period of time and their costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement in accordance with a
formula computed to write off the cost over the broadcast
period.
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(m) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,

associates, joint ventures and non-financial
assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary,
associate or joint venture in the period the dividend is
declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee's net assets including goodwill.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments
Financial assets

Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018

Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income (“OCI")
or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL’), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EESTERHE (&)
(Continued)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued) (n) BHIA (&)

Financial assets (Continued) MKEE (&)

Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018 E2018F1H1HERHBZ &

(Continued) TR ()

Measurement (Continued) = (')

Debt instruments BEFETA

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends BERTEMNBETEBRNA

on the Group's business model for managing the asset EEEBEENEBREARE

and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are ENRERERE - AEEE

three measurement categories into which the Group HEEBIASHEA=EFEH

classifies its debt instruments: Al
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(n) Financial instruments (Continued) (n) BT A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) MgEE (#)
Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018 H2018F1 A1 HEFRHFZ &
(Continued) FHEE (&)
Measurement (Continued) e (8
Debt instruments (Continued) EHITA (B)
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FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in “Other
gains, net”. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in “Other gains, net".

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within “Other gains,
net” in the period in which it arises.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as "Other gains, net” when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in “Other gains, net” in the consolidated
income statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised
cost other than trade receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit losses, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
proceeds receivables are not settled in accordance with
the terms stipulated in the agreements, management
considers these receivables as underperforming or non-
performing and impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit loss.

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off.

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

The group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has
elected not to restate comparative in formation. As a
result, the comparative information provided continues to
be accounted for in accordance with the group’s previous
accounting policy.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(1) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivable and available-for-sale. The
classification depends on the purposes for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition.

(a)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are financial assets held for trading, and
those designated at fair value through profit or
loss at inception. A financial asset is classified
in this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term or if so
designated by management. Derivatives are
also categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges (Note 2(p)). Assets
in this category are classified as current assets
if expected to be settled within 12 months;
otherwise, they are classified as non-current
assets.
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(Continued)
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(i) Classification (Continued)

(b)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of reporting period. These are
classified as non-current assets. The Group'’s
loans and receivables comprise bank deposits,
accounts receivable, other receivables,
amounts due from related companies,
restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents
in the consolidated balance sheet (Notes 2(r)
and 2(s)).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in
this category or not classified in any of the
other categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless the investment matures
or management intends to dispose of the
investment within 12 months of the end of
reporting period. Available-for-sale financial
assets represent unlisted securities of private
issuers outside Hong Kong.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(ii)

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date — the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised at fair value and transaction costs are
expensed in the consolidated income statement.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership. Available-forsale financial assets and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the "Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss” category are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “Other gains, net’ in the
period in which they arise. Dividend income from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated income statement as
part of “"Other gains, net” when the Group's right to
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of securities classified
as available for sale, except for impairment losses
and relevant foreign exchange gains and losses,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in “Revaluation reserve” within equity.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

When securities classified as available for sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
consolidated income statement.

Interest on available-for-sale financial assets
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the consolidated income statement
as part of “Interest income” Dividends on available-
for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the Group's
right to receive payments is established.

Impairment

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(iii)

Impairment (Continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

For loans and receivables category, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment has a variable interest rate, the discount
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s
fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognized impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(iii)

Impairment (Continued)

Assets classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is
removed from equity and recognised in profit or
loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of
a debt instrument classified as available for sale
increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment
loss is reversed through the consolidated income
statement.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its
cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired.
If any such evidence exists the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognized in the consolidated income statement
on equity instruments are not reversed through the
consolidated income statement.

(o) Offsetting financial instruments

222

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the Group or the counterparty.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(p)

Derivative financial instruments

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

Derivative financial instruments are classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. All derivatives are initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at their fair
value.

If the fair value of the derivatives at initial recognition
differs from the transaction price and the fair value is
not evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for
an identical asset or based on valuation technique that
uses only data from observable markets, such difference
between fair value at initial recognition and the transaction
price is deferred. After initial recognition, the Group
recognises that deferred difference as a gain or loss
only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor
(including time) that market participants would take into
account when pricing the derivatives.

Embedded derivatives are derivatives embedded within
other non-derivative host financial instruments to create
hybrid instruments. Embedded derivatives are treated as
separate derivatives when their economic characteristics
and risks are not clearly and closely related to those of
the host contract; the terms of the embedded derivative
would meet the definition of a stand-alone derivative
if they were contained in a separate contract; and the
combined contract is not held for trading or designated
at fair value. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes therein recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

All derivatives are carried as assets when the fair values
are positive and as liabilities when the fair values are
negative.
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(@)

(n

Inventories

Inventories, comprising decoder devices, satellite
receivers and merchandised goods, are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of inventories
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses.

Accounts and other receivables

Accounts receivable are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of accounts and other receivables
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Accounts and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses
on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its financial assets. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(r)

Accounts and other receivables (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.

The Group's other financial assets carried at amortised
cost include other receivables and amounts due from
related companies. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on
the twelve months expected credit loss. The twelve
months expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime
expected credit loss that results from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within twelve
months after the reporting date. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected
credit loss. See Notes 21 and 22 for further information
about the Group's accounting for accounts and other
receivables and note 3(a)(ii) for a description of the
Group's impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.
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(t)

Deferred income

Deferred income represents contract liabilities in relation
to advertising revenue, subscription revenue and
promotion service revenue received in advance from third
party customers while the underlying services are yet to
be provided under HKFRS 15.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

When the Company reacquires its own equity
instruments, the amount of the consideration paid, which
includes directly attributable costs, is recognised as a
deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified
as treasury shares and are presented in the treasury
share reserve. No gain or loss shall be recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments. Such treasury shares
may be acquired and held by the Group. Consideration
paid or received shall be recognised directly in equity.

Accounts payable, other payables and
accruals

Accounts payable, other payables and accruals are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured of amortised cost using effective interest
method.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(w) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company,
its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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(x)

228

Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(y) Employee benefits

(i)

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
schemes for the Hong Kong employees based on
local laws and regulations. Contributions to the
schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries.
The retirement benefit schemes' costs expensed
in the consolidated income statement represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the
funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution
retirement schemes are expensed as incurred and
are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid.

Pursuant to the relevant local regulations of the
countries where the overseas subsidiaries of the
Group are located, these subsidiaries participate in
respective government retirement benefit schemes
and/or set up their own retirement benefit schemes
(the "“Schemes"”) whereby they are required to
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions
made to the Schemes are calculated either based on
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs
or fixed sums for each employee with reference to a
salary scale, as stipulated under the requirements in
the respective countries. The Group has no further
obligation beyond the required contributions. The
contributions under the Schemes are expensed in
the consolidated income statement as incurred.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(y) Employee benefits (Continued)
(i) Bonus plans

The expected bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within 12 months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

(iii) Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense with a corresponding
credit to the employee share-based payment
reserve. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions;

° excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(y) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)

Share-based compensation (Continued)

The fair value of options, at the time of grant is
expensed over the vesting period of these share-
based awards based on an accelerated graded
attribution approach. Under the accelerated graded
attribution approach, each vesting installment of
a graded vesting award is treated as a separate
share-based award, which means that each
vesting installment will be separately measured
and attributed to expense, resulting in accelerated
recognition of share-based compensation expense.

Cancellation of share options accompanied by the
grant of replacement share options is accounted for
as a modification of the terms of the cancelled share
options. The compensation costs associated with
the modification are recognised if either the original
vesting condition or the new vesting condition has
been achieved. Such compensation costs cannot
be less than the grant-date fair value of the original
share options. The incremental compensation cost
is measured as the excess of the fair value of the
replacement share options over the fair value of
the cancelled share options at the cancellation
date. Therefore, in relation to the modification, the
Group recognises share-based compensation over
the new vesting periods, which comprises (i) the
amortisation of the incremental portion of share-
based compensation over the remaining vesting
term and (ii) any unrecognized compensation cost
of original share option, using either the original
term or the new term, whichever is higher for each
reporting period.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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(y)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Share-based compensation (Continued)

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(aa) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied and services rendered, stated for the
sale net of value-added tax, related agency commission
expenses and discounts and after eliminating sales within
the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the performance
obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a
promised good or service to customer.

(i) Advertising revenue

Advertising revenue, net of agency deductions
is recognised upon the broadcast or posting of
advertisements. This performance obligation is
satisfied over time as the advertisers receive and
consume benefits simultaneously provided by the
Group when the advertisements are broadcasted
or posted. The Group applies output method to
measure the revenue. To apply the output method,
the transaction price specified in each contract is
allocated into different advertising timeslots. Each
timeslot has its value determined in the rate cards.

(ii) Mobile, video and wireless value added services
income

Mobile, video and wireless value added services
income are recognised in the period in which the
performance obligation is satisfied by transferring
control of a promised service or recognised evenly
in the subscription period.

(iii) Subscription revenue

Subscription revenue received or receivable from
the cable distributors or agents is amortised on a
time proportion basis to the consolidated income
statement. The unamortised portion is classified as
deferred income.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(aa) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(iv) Magazine advertising revenue

Magazine advertising revenue net of commission
expense is recognised when the advertisements are
posted in accordance with the contract advertising
period. The Group applies output method to
recognise revenue.

(v) Magazine subscription/circulation revenue

Magazine subscription or circulation revenue
represents subscription or circulation money
received or receivable from customers and is
recognised when the respective magazine is sold.

(vi) Sales of decoder devices and satellite receivers

Revenue from sales of decoder devices and satellite
receivers is recognised on the transfer of control on
the goods, which generally coincides with the time
when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title has passed.

(vii) Barter revenue

Barter revenue is recognised at the fair value of
goods or services received or receivable in the
transaction upon the broadcast of advertisements,
the publishing of the magazine or the provision of
promotion services to be provided by the Group in
the barter transaction.

(viii) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is
recognised in the consolidated income statement on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(ix) Tuition revenue

Tuition revenue for educational programs and
services is recognised when the performance
obligation is satisfied by transferring control of
promised services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(aa) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(x)

(xi)

IT consultancy service revenue

The Group provides business IT management,
design, implementation and support services under
fixed-price contracts. Revenue from providing
services is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered. The revenue is
recognised based on the actual service provided to
the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the
total services to be provided because the customer
receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This
is determined based on the actual labour hours
spent relative to the total expected labour hours.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

(ab) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

(i)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in the consolidated income statement on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

ERETHRME (&)

(aa) WA FER (4B)

(x)

(xi)

(ab) HHE

BB EARBERA

REBAEER AT AR
HEREMBXEE - &
it TR SRR - 1R
ARG EL 2 WA FE
RISz @5t IR - /
KRB R YR R e A A
g7 HRASREBEEER
FHREREN 2 REE
AR 2 P AR TS H
— B HER o UL TIRIEE
BRFTE TR TRRT AR TR
ZELBIFREEE

BB AR D

EREPEBDARED
FIRB 2 RE PR
RRERE—F  A&E
WEARMEEEEMNS
#) e Hitt - AEEYER
B E R E(E M EE A
RHEFE °

HERBERKEL KA
2z — IRk K B EE % A7
ARFERMERS - Hit—
DHERBAKEHEE -

(i)

FEBERHBEA

RETHE PSR ERAI
BARRABERESS
WEn R R © ER R L
PR EBNRELE NS
BEERAMINEEEE
ZEREE - WIREAER
HHBNER R -

235



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BLBTTIIE)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EESTERHE (&)
(Continued)

(ab) Leases (Continued) (ab) AE (48)
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(i) The Group as lessee

Payments made under operating leases (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) including
upfront payment made for lease premium for land,
are charged to the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(ac) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

(ad) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management

(a)

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, PRC
regulatory risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Risk management is mainly carried out by the finance
department (the “Finance Department”) headed by the
Chief Financial Officer (“CFQO") of the Group. The Finance
Department identifies and evaluates financial risks in close
co-operation with the Group’s operating units to cope with
overall risk management, as well as specific areas, such
as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative
financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity.

(i) Market risk
(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the Renminbi (“RMB") and
US dollar ("US$"). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

3 HERMRERE

(a)

B 5 B R 2=

REBM R AR S TRE
R 5 E R (81 IME R
B MBEDERER  ReRE
K RHER R BB R B R
®) EERBEABEZR
B AEENEREAREIER
AT BHYSRTIZHN AR
JAINE I 5 5K B3 A £R 18 B 7
RENBETNZERERK -

R E IR B AN SR BB S 4R
E(UHRE]) A8’
BBPT (TRA A5 REPT D) #1717 - B4
BEF AR EEEL B ER
BF - BERFEMBERE
NEBEEERREETEER
ERE (WSMNERR - FI XA
% EERR - ERITEMBE
TARFNMEMBTARKE
RpRBDER) °

(i) THiEER
(@)  SMEE

RN A E TR
2iE - WARHET
RE® (E2ARA
RETARKED
KZET (M%)
Fff 2 £ &Y 51 [ R
% o SME R IR B
HEERERS B
HREEREE
KR IME & 7%
HCE S

237



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

238

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

To manage their foreign exchange risk arising
from future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities, entities in
the Group engage in transactions mainly in
HK$, RMB and US$ to the extent possible. The
Group currently does not hedge transactions
undertaken in foreign currencies but manages
its exposure through constant monitoring
to limit as much as possible the amount of
its foreign currencies exposures. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity's functional currency.
The Finance Department is responsible for
monitoring and managing the net position in
each foreign currency.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed
to foreign currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the
Group's operations, such as those in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
United Kingdom and the United States is
managed primarily through operating liabilities
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e IR

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

If the functional currency of the group entities
had weakened/strengthened by 5% (2017:
5%) against the foreign currency of the net
monetary assets of corresponding group
entities, with all other variables held constant,
aftertax profit for the year would have been
HK$98,755,000 (2017: HK$114,800,000) higher
or lower.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to listed securities
price risk because certain investments held by
the Group are classified on the consolidated
balance sheet as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. The Group has
investment in the equity of a publicly traded
entity. For further details of price risk exposed
by the Group, please refer to Note 25.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(c)

240

PRC regulations

The Group is exposed to certain
macroeconomic and regulatory risks and
uncertainties in the Chinese market. These
uncertainties affect the ability of the Group to
provide online advertising, mobile and Internet
related services, and educational programs
and services through contractual arrangements
in the PRC since these industries remain
highly regulated. The Chinese government
may issue from time to time new laws or new
interpretations on existing laws to regulate this
industry. Regulatory risk also encompasses
the interpretation by the tax authorities of
current tax law, the status of properties
leased for the Group’s operations and legal
structure and scope of operations in the PRC,
which could be subject to further restrictions
resulting in limitations on the Group's ability
to conduct business in the PRC. The PRC
government may also require the Group to
restructure its operation entirely if it finds that
the Group's contractual arrangements do not
comply with applicable laws and regulation.
It is unclear how a restructuring could
impact the Group’s business and operating
results, as the PRC government has not yet
found any such contractual arrangements
to be in noncompliance. However, any such
restructuring may cause significant disruption
to the Group's business operations.
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(d)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

The Group's cash flow and fair value interest-
rate risks primarily arise from bank deposits,
amount due from Shenzhou (Note 22), amount
due from a related company (Note 24) and
bank borrowings. Bank deposits placed, bank
borrowings and amounts due from Shenzhou
issued at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest-rate risk whereas bank
deposits placed, and amounts due from a
related company at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The
Finance Department’s policy is to maintain
an appropriate level between fixed-rate and
floating-rate deposits and use interest rate
swap contract to manage certain cash flow
interest rate risks (Note 25).

At 31 December 2018, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rates of interest-
bearing assets had increased/decreased by
1%, aftertax profit for the year would have
been HK$25,488,000 (2017: HK$31,663,000)
higher or lower.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) HEREZE (8)

242

(i)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

(d) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
(Continued)

At 31 December 2018, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rates of interest-
bearing liabilities had increased/decreased by
1%, aftertax profit for the year would have
been HK$8,252,000 (2017: HK$9,257,000)
lower or higher.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, amounts due from related companies,
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as
well as credit exposures to advertising agents
and customers, including outstanding receivables
and committed transactions. The Group has a
receivable from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC amounting to HK$374,690,000 (2017:
HK$432,203,000) representing approximately 4%
(2017: 4%) of the total assets of the Group as of 31
December 2018. The Group manages its exposure
to credit risk through continual monitoring of the
credit quality of its customers and advertising
agents, taking into account their current and
expected financial positions, business environment
and industry performance, current and forward
looking economic factors, collection history, past
experience and subsequent settlements of debtors
and Shenzhou. For banks, financial institutions and
issuers of derivative financial instruments, only
reputable well established banks and financial
institutions are accepted.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has put in place policies to ensure that
the sales are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers.

Most of the payment terms for advertising revenue
are agreed between the Group and the customers
at the beginning of year. Customers make payments
in accordance with the contract terms. The Group
generally requires its advertising customers in the
television broadcasting segment to pay in advance.
Customers of other business segments are given
credit terms of 30 to 180 days.

To measure the expected credit losses, accounts
receivable are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected
loss rates are based on the historical payment
profiles and the corresponding historical credit
losses. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors and industry trends affecting
the ability of the debtors to settle the outstanding
balance. The Group has assessed the expected
credit losses for these trade receivables.

Management considered the credit risk of trade
receivables, other receivables and amount due from
related companies as low as counterparties have
a strong capacity to meet their contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term. The Group has
assessed the expected credit losses for these other
receivables and amount due from related companies
under 12 months expected losses.

See Note 20 for further disclosure on credit risk.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

244

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed banking facilities and the ability to
close out market positions. Due to the dynamic
nature of the underlying businesses, the Finance
Department aims to maintain flexibility in funding
by keeping committed banking facilities available.
Details of cash and cash equivalents and banking
facilities are set out in Notes 29 and 30 respectively.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)

(@) FBRAREE (&)

(iii)

RBEEEM

RERDETRBRERE
wrRrrnRE RS
BIRE @ LRITEGER
MERTTEEREME TS
BRTEMEE - ANIE
MEBHREIEE - 875
HRPTE BB R B ARTT
EERBESZORDIE -
RelkReFEBRBAR
RITEEFHE D BB
FT29 )30 e

TRIZEMIHRAS S
FAREERIEITEN B A
& DIRERGEERESR
#EH AT MR E
8o ZRARENSEY
REHRBRASRE -

More than More than
one year two years
but not but not
Within exceeding exceeding More than
one year two years five years five years
—F#%E ME#RE
—FR TRBME THRBLE HBRF
$000 $'000 $000 $'000
T T T T
Group N
At 31 December 2018 20185 12A31H
Accounts payable, other R - EffEft
payables and accruals HEREE 1,310,725 = = =
Secured bank borrowings RIERGTHEE 753,445 72,778 31,932 2,528
Loans from non-controlling (NGB ED
shareholders of subsidiaries REER 141,079 78,889 133,961 22,578
At 31 December 2017 R2017%12831H
Accounts payable, other R - EffEft
payables and accruals HEREE 1,322,624 - - -
Secured bank borrowings BEMRITEE 620,102 243,292 104,729 2,629
Loans from non-controlling (HEUNGIE 228
shareholders of subsidiaries ~ JEHLEN 57694 77163 155,239 18,850
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown
in the consolidated balance sheet plus borrowings.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, adjust the
amounts of borrowings or issue new shares.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have
been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted pries included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

The Finance Department reviews the valuations of the
Group's financial instruments. The Finance Department
holds discussion with the independent valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed at each interim and annual
reporting dates.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)

(b)

(c)

BEARER

AEENEAREEBRRERE
AEBOFELLEEN - U@
RREH OISR - WHEFREE
RIEBABDEARHKA - 48
BAERGEAREERBRMD
Z [#ez ] I EEEMTE -

REFHRAERERRE A%
BRI S HEC N T ERRD
BEe®E REBEARTEER:
HEEEZ RN BEITHRL ©

AT

TRABEED W IR FET
EOMHBTE TRFRZE
FWT

«  RARAEERABNER
MHZME CREHE)
(B14R) -

o BEBRE1RNBREIN -
BEERBETEERME
EHENBABRE (F2
) e

. WIEE R I R TS 2R
(B =8 = A %)
HEERBENRAZSE
(FE3H) -

MG ERAEREMBETA
BfEE - EREHHARFER
& A BEITRER - BT
BB A ER A R AEERR
HEER -
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value at
31 December 2018. See Note 15 for disclosures of the
investment properties that are measured at fair value.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
(c) ~FEfH (B)

T&RE2%M20185%E12A31H
BATENFENTAEENBE
ERVBEARE  BREATE
FTEZIREMENEE  #2
BIFIEE15 o

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F14 #28 #34 @it
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr Fr Fr
Financial assets BREE
Financial assets at fair value RATEERER
through profit or loss TENNHEE
-Trading equity securities - HEENRAES 19,782 - - 19,782
- Convertible redesmable preferred shares - AT AR Al BB 218 % ik - - 2,235,585 2,235,585
- Options for long-term investment - RERA R Bt - - 18,909 18,909
- Structured deposits - BEHER = 1,030,227 = 1,030,227
19,782 1,030,227 2,254,494 3,304,503
Financial liabilities g 3=
Financial liabilities at fair value ROTEERER
through profit or loss TENGBEE
- Interest rate swap contracts - MEEBHEH - 855 - 855
- Cross-currency interest rate - RXEHHEERAL
swap contracts - 5,363 - 5,363
- 6,218 - 6,218
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Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets

that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2017.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
(c) ~FEfH (B)

TRE7R2017F12 A31 8
BAFEFENEAEBPBE
g °

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F15& Fo F34 et
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T Fr T
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value BRAFEEBBETR
through profit or loss WERBEE
~Trading equity securities —HEBENRAES 24,406 - - 24,406
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHERBEE
— Preferred Shares —BER
- debt component —EBER - - 705,712 705,712
~ Equity securities SRAEH - - 19,683 19,683
Derivative financial instrument TERBIA
— Conversion options for convertible ~ —RI ¥k Al B [E 5L
redeemable preferred shares gty - - 721,002 721,002
— Conversion options for convertible R AR & FRHY &
loans - - 19,513 19,613
- Options for long-term investments ~ —R % &R0 HiE - - 17702 17702
24,406 - 1,483,612 1,508,018
Liability =X
Derivative financial instruments fTERBIA
- Interest rate swap contracts —MERHE K - (1,688) - (1,688)
- (1,688) - (1,688)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or

out of Level 3 (2017: Same).

REZ2018F 12 A31H IEF
[§ - WHESE1ARMEE 2K 2 HEA
o A\ 5 34 (2017
F - MER) -
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

248

(c)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm's length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1. As at 31 December 2018,
instruments included in level 1 comprise shares
of HSBC Holdings PLC (“HSBC"), an entity
listed on the Stock Exchange, of approximately
HK$19,782,000 (2017: HK$24,406,000) (Note 25).

Financial instrument in level 2

The fair values of structured deposits are determined
by valuation techniques that use observable inputs
such as the price of gold in London Gold Market and
London Interbank Offered Rate that are observable
at commonly quoted intervals while the fair values
of interest rate swap and cross-currency interest
rate swap contracts are determined by valuation
techniques that use observable inputs such as
interest rates, yield curves and foreign currency
rates that are observable at commonly quoted
intervals.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

3

BHERERE (&)
~NHERGE (8)

(c)

(i)

(ii)

E1RANEBETR

EERMISH R HH
TEMAFERERGEE
HETISRESE - AR
ZIREAILAA Stk HA
RRFHHE - LHmE -
KA EXER K
1B AR M ok BS B i i h
ES THELREBE
EREERAFETIER S
PR - ZmisRIER A
TEIR o ANEEF A MG
BEFANTISHRERE
THE - ZETEBRNE
14 72018412 A 31
H WASZ1HFHT
A BIEELERAERA
A (DEL ] —BERER
FTEmREE) MK -
{E & #719,782,0007 7T
(2017 4F : 24,406,0005
7o) (MisE 25) °

E2RANMBETE

HEBEERHATEZA
HERNETE - BRI
FTREFEEMENES
EE - mBERITRIZER L
ZRE R RER M
EERMEREAH
B mAEEARZXE
R R EBE AN ATE
AILAMEERMEE - B4
B AR - sl
BRINEERZATRER
KR (B R T R B SR 0 AT
B0 A BUR -
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(1)

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) R¥EMET (8)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (iii) FEIZANHBIA
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HEEHEZER
measurements using significant unobservable #F ZEA 20751
inputs (Level 3) N FEFE(E3

K BIEZER

Value of Relationship of

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable  unobservable unobservable

Description 31 December 2018 technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value

Ra0sE iy S miBEm

12A318 BiBg fEAgE BABEH

fit HATE BT Mg HEE ATERBE
($000)
(fr)

Convertible 2,235,585 Discounted Discount rate 17%-22.5% The lower the
redeemable cash BRE discount rate, the
preferred shares flow method higher the fair value

AaRTEDELR and market approach FRREE ATEER

ERREREER
5 Lack of marketability 16%-20% The lower the
discount ("DLOM") DLOM, the higher
e  the far value
([ZsEiE)) RHEMRREL
ATEHE
Volatility 44.5% The lower the
IR volatilty,
the higher
the fair value
REME  ATEER
Revenue growth rate 4%-76% The higher the
WRERE revenue growth rate,
the higher
the fair value
WeESHE
ATEER
Terminal growth rate 3% The higher the
SRERE terminal growth rate,
the higher
the fair value
FREREHR
NTEHE
Control premium 30% The higher the
BlERE control premium,
the higher
the fairvilue
BHELRIS
ATEHE
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(c)

(iii)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()

Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) R¥EMET (8)
Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) FE3IFAMPKEITE (H)
(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HFEEHELEE

measurements using significant unobservable M FEZ 8 A B
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B FlEFE (F
3K) HE E & H
(&)
Value of Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable  unobservable unobservable
Description 31 December 2018 technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
R2018 & BEEZ BEEEN
12A31H BEEZ LEDN -] BABES
it HATE TR HagE HEE ATENEBR
(§'000)
()
Options for long-term 18,909 Various techniques Discount rate 35% The lower the
investments (including discounted cash §Rx discount rate, the
RERARDE flow method, and higher the fair value
option-pricing method) BRI -
MARE LTS
(BEHRRZREER
BEEEL
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(1)

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) R¥EMET (8)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) EIRAMMKETE ()
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HFEEHELEE
measurements using significant unobservable M FEZ 8 A B
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B FlEFE (F

3R B EZEEH

(#)

Value of Relationship of

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable

Description 31 December 2017 techniquels) inputs inputs inputs to fair value

RN7E BEER BEBEN

128318 BEER HEARE AHEE

it MATE EIEE MBEABE GEE NTENBE
(§'000)
(F)

Preferred Shares 1,426,714 Discounted cash Discount rate 23% The lower the
(comprising debt flow method i3tk discount rate,
component of ERRSNER the higher
HK$705,712,000 and the fair value
derivative component BIREHIE -
of conversion options e
of HK$721,002,000)

B (BEEIH
705,712,000 LR
BRETETES R
721,002,000
BT

Lack of marketability 2% The lower the
discount DLOM, the higher

["DLOM") the fair value
e B EENTELE
([Eo#EmTE)) AHEER
Volatility 45% The lower the

il volatlty,

the higher

the fair value

RIS -

SRS
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) AFEMET (8)
(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) FEIMAMBBEITA (&)
(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HFEEHELEE
measurements using significant unobservable M FEZ 8 A B
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B FlEFE (F
3K) HE E & H
(&)
Value of Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable ~ unobservable unobservable
Description 31 December 2017 techniquels) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
VIS b BiBEN
128318 b MEAHE BAYER
it HATE G IEPN 4 HEE ATENEE
(§'000)
(1)

Revenue growth rate 5%-94% The higher the
WEERE revenue growth rate,
the higher
the fair value
WasRks
ATEEE
Terminal growth rate 3% The higher the
BIERR terminal growth rate,
the higher
the fair value
SREREER
NTEHE
Options for long-term 17702 Various techniques Discount rate 35% The lower the
investments (including discounted cash BRE discount rate, the
REBRARDE flow method, higher the fair value
option-pricing method B
and binomial mode) TR

MEFE

(BEERRSREE

PerRihElES)
Conversion options for 19,513 Various techniques Discount rate 12.7% The lower
convertible loans (including discounted cash i3 b the discount rate,
ARREAARE flow method, the higher
option-pricing method the fair value
and binomial model) HREWE
AR LTS

(AEHRRRREE
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

(1)

Quantitative information about fair value
measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

The Preferred Shares represent investments
in Series B convertible redeemable preferred
shares, Series C convertible redeemable
preferred shares and Series D1 convertible
redeemable preferred shares (as at 31
December 2017: Series B convertible
redeemable preferred shares, Series C
convertible redeemable preferred shares and
Series D1 convertible redeemable preferred
shares) of Particle Inc.("Particle”) by the Group
(see Note 42 for details).

An independent professional valuer adopted
the discounted cash flow (“DCF"”) method
and market approach (2017: DCF method)
to first estimate the equity value of Particle,
which was then allocated to Particle’'s common
shares and Preferred Shares using the option-
pricing and binomial models.

3 MBEREE (&)
() AFEMF (8)

(iii) HFE3IPANHMKETE ()

(1)

BB A4 BIEE
EE-X N &3
#) R FlEqTE (F
3R) HEZEEH
(%)

BERRELASE
% Particle Inc.
(IParticle]) 2B
RN A A% AT HE ]
BR - CRHTA
2 A% A B B2 5% %
&D1% % a] # ]’
o] i BB e B 1E
2B (R2017F
12A318 : BEJ
A] 4 0% A] fE BB 5T
& X C & 51| 7] #2 jg
AEEELR) (FF
BB A HEE42) °

B B E G EME
AR REERE
([MRB\eRE))
=R 5% (2017
F:MBRE LR
2)5) NELME
Particle 2 &% 7~ (&
B #EimAETE
BERZBERELH
2 9 B2 & Particle
2w R E K

P e
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

254

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii)

(1)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)
() AFEMF (8)

Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) FE3IFAMPKEITE (H)
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  FEEHELEE
measurements using significant unobservable M FEZ 8 A B
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B FlEFE (F

3R B EZEEH
(#)
The following table presents the changes in TREJEIRT
level 3 instruments during the year ended AN # =2018F
31 December 2018. The carrying value of 12A318 IEFE
derivative component of the Preferred Shares REE) - NIZEE
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet EBBERERNE
is net of deferred day one gain, which arose R ZOTETEE
from the difference between its fair value at MWEEHERE
initial recognition and its transaction price. The MBEELEE B
deferred day one gain is amortised over the @m(DhREEER
term of the Preferred Shares. TR R A (A
EXGERZE
) EIEH A
@ MBS IR
Equity Convertible
securities and Options for redeemable
convertible long-term preferred
loans investments shares Total
BRAESR RERE TRR
TARER fEE TREELR @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i i i Fr
(Note 25)
(K& 25)
Opening balance on R2018E1A18
1 January 2018 LENES
(restated) (15531 154,948 17702 1,426,714 1,599,364
Fair value (loss)/gain MERPBR L ATE
recognized in (Bi8) /Mt
profit or loss (1,900) 2,053 802,877 803,030
Disposal loss HEBE (690) - - (690)
Disposal HE (152,798) - - (152,798)
Currency translation ERREEE
differences 440 (846) 5,994 5,588
Closing balance on #2018 12 A31H
31 December 2018 LR - 18,909 2,235,585 2,254,494
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) AFEMET (8)
(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) SE3RMANMBIA (H)
(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HFEEHELEE
measurements using significant unobservable M FEZ 8 A B
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B FEGE (F
3K) HE E & H
(#)
Convertible
options for -~ Options for
Equity convertible long-term
Securiies loans ~ investment Preferred Shares
CowmER REREM
REEE  HikE i BER
Derivative
compongnt
[convertible
options)
Debt Deferred
component Gross  day one gain Net Total
RETAZS
(A )
. I
EBR ek ey 8 a
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
fn v v T v v 7 T
[Note 26) (Note 37)
(H326) (K37
Openingbalancson~~ K2017E1A18
1 January 2017 LS 11,986 10860 17812 605,849 444,615 (4,354) 440,261 1,086,768
Additing HE 7088 - - - - - - 7088

Gansrecognised i~ REMZERS
other comprehensive B ZUE
income - - - 28,635) - - - (28,635)

Gains and losses NERHED
recognised in

profit or loss - 91 (856) - 275,299 - 275,299 282,420
Interest income kA - - - 124529 - - - 124529
Amortisation of HEREHE

defereddayone gain -~ L AKE

in profit or oss - - - - - 2075 207 2075
Curencytranslation ~ SEAEEE

differences 629 676 746 3,969 3,367 - 3,367 9,387
Closing balance on kPRI

31 December 2017 LERER 19,683 19513 17702 705712 123,81 2279 721,002 1483612
Changesinunrealised  INERGFABEZ

gainsfllosses) for EERERNE/

theyearincludedin  (E) 288

profit orloss at the

end of the year - 977 (856) - 275,099 2075 130 284,4%
Changes inunrealised ~ REKAR B2

gains for the year ENEEERE

included in other Fh&E58

comprehensive income

at the end of the year - - - 28,635) - - - (28,635
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3

256

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

2)

Quantitative sensitivity analysis

A quantitative sensitivity analysis is shown
below:

Revenue Terminal

growth rate growthrate  Discount rate

10% increase 1% increase

or decrease or decrease or decrease

biaERE  RAERE

EiEES 0% EMEES 1% ENEEDH 3%

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
~NHERGE (8)

E3RMANMB IR ()

TEEHBEE T
EERREITER
AT

Control
Volatility ~ premium 5%

5% increase increase or

or decrease decrease

BE BRE
BiEHDS BRIEADS
$000 $000
i #

(146,042)/2,707  22,430/(22,509)

DLOM \olatility

3% increase 5% increase

or decrease or decrease

B BERnE itz
EMEE3% B D 5%
$000 $000

fr e

Year ended HE018% $'000 $'000
31December 2018 12A31RALEE r r
Preferred Shares Bk 272,616/(244,651)  82,472/(75,586) (361,310)/525,164
Revenue Terminal
growth rate growth rate
10% increase 1% increase
or decrease or decrease
higgs  BuEE
EMEED0%  ENEE1%
Year ended HEATE $000 $000
31 December 2017 12A31BLLER i T
Preferred Shares Bxk 312,676(283332)  61,185/(54,649)

No sensitivity analysis for options for long term
investments amounting to HK$18,909,000 at
31 December 2018 (2017: options for long term
investments amounted to HK$17702,000) is
presented as a reasonably possible change
in key assumptions used in the sensitivity
analysis would not result in any significant
potential financial impact.

(63,903)/64,281 (3,958)/111,205

I 2572018
F12A318HA
18,909,000/ 7T
2 RH% & 2 B
(20175 REARE
#)EA#E 17,702,000
BIL) ZHRERED
i REARRE
AMPFAEER
R AEAREE L
BreEETHE
ENBEY B
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(d) Offsetting financial assets and financial (d) WEMKEEHEMFE
liabilities &
The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, LATNBI 7S E E S8 AJ o8
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar WITH—FREAEE T AU
agreements. AR o
Gross amounts Related amounts

of recognised ~ Net amounts of  not set off in the
Gross amounts  financial liabilities  financial assets balance sheet

of recognised setoffinthe  presented in the Cash collateral
financial assets balance sheet balance sheet received Net amount
YR
BESERA
REE REE ik P
BERAESR BERMEZS k2
CERHE ZEEREH ZEBEE BlRe
BELE BE4E 8 il it
As at 31 December 2018 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
R2018512A318 T r n r T
Accounts receivable, net EUERFE
- Subject to master netting -RE-FEEEREER (W)
arrangement (Note i) 549,096 - 549,096 (15,669) 533,427
- Not subject to master -ITRE-FREERERR
netting arrangement 370,026 - 370,026 - 370,026
919,122 - 919,122 (15,669) 903,453
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(d) Offsetting financial assets and financial (d) WEMKEEHEMFE
liabilities (Continued) & (&)
Gross amounts Related amounts
ofrecognised ~ Netamountsof  not set off in the
Gross amounts financial liabilities financial assets balance sheet
of recognised setoffinthe  presented in the Cash collateral
financial assets balance shest balance sheet received Net amount
TR
BEBERA
WEE REE el
BERNEH BERNES ]
ERRAE L ERTHE LEIEE Bl
AEEE afeE it i ]
As at 31 December 2017 $'000 $000 $000 $000 $000
201751231 H i T v T o
Accounts receivable, net EUERFE
- Subject to master netting -RE-FREETHAR (i)
arrangement (Note i) 540,446 - 540,446 (16,866) 523,580
- Not subject to master -ITRE-FREERERR
netting arrangement 399,794 - 399,794 - 399,794
940,240 - 940,240 (16,866) 923374
Notes: FisE
(i) Internet advertising customers have provided cash collateral (i) EM@ERERPEMAS

to the Group of HK$15,669,000 (2017: HK$16,866,000) as
protection for payment and contractual obligations under
the terms of advertising sale agreements. The Group has
the right to invoke the collateral if a customer has failed to
settle outstanding payments or full contractual obligations.

12 £ 15,669,000 JT (2017
£ 116,866,000/ 7T) 2
SEAR  FAEEHER
FEFETHONRIRERE
EZIRME - B P ReEREE
EARFIERE A REL
AEEE EIE BB RRKIR

=)
om °
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

(a) Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(i)

(ii)

Fair values of financial assets/liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (2017: available-
for-sale financial assets and derivative financial
instruments)

The fair values of financial assets/liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (2017: available-
for-sale financial assets and derivative financial
instruments) that are not traded in an active market
are determined by using valuation techniques. The
Group uses its judgement to select a variety of
methods and make assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of
each reporting period. For details, refer to Note 3 (c)
(iif).

Provision for impairment of receivables

Significant judgement is exercised in the
assessment of the collectability of accounts
receivable, other receivables, amounts due from
related companies and the receivable from an
advertising agent, Shenzhou. In making such
judgement, management considers a number of
factors including but not limited to the debtors’
current and expected financial positions, business
environment and industry performance, current and
forward looking economic factors, collection history,
past experience and subsequent settlements of
debtors and Shenzhou.

BE

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

ERERAET R A

SETAET MR

HRKR  AEBEEEL G
KRR - B E - FRELN
SR ELBARNERE

R7E

2EEF - BEXERMNE
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BREEFIEARERTONMGT R
RERFE N X m A

(i)

(ii)
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WERARERMEZEER
IR A EEBER LR
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EREREEENZHE
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(iii) ©
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4 Critical accounting estimates and 4 EEETHHFTRAE (E)
judgements (Continued)
(a) Critical accounting estimates and (a) Eoit st ARE

assumptions (Continued) (#8)

(iii) Income taxes (iii) FE®t
The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous RNEER R BB R AR
jurisdictions, including Hong Kong and the PRC. @ (BEEERPE) f
Significant judgement is required in determining MATET - FEEHEE
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are FIET AR E 2 IREE A EY
many transactions and calculations for which the FRiGTiEHE - RE T ER
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the o RERHRAENR
ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes BIRIBTSETE - A5H
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on AR HIEE LR
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. HAifn MERR TR AR S B AT IE
Where the final tax outcome of these matters BEBE - ERETIES
is different from the amounts that were initially RESVIEENTIBREE
recorded, such differences will impact the current GHEZER - ZEZHRY
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the e bl T R E
period in which such determination is made. For the BN RIEPRIS B E K E
Group's tax exposure in the PRC, please refer to & - BRANSRE B
Note 9. B - BREWT9 -

(iv) Fair value of investment properties (iv) BREVMENDIFE
The fair value of investment properties is determined WEMENNTHERER
by using valuation technique. Details of the HERETE © A8REHIER
judgement and assumptions have been disclosed in RBREHFEDERME
Note 15. 153K 5% °
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Critical accounting estimates and 4 EEETHHFTRAE (E)
judgements (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting estimates and @) EEGHAE ARE

assumptions (Continued) (#8)

(v) Recognition of share-based compensation (v) FERURGDAREEER
expense *

The Group adopts the Black-Scholes option pricing AEERFERAB R - &F

model to determine the fair value of share options RHTERRE E EE A AEE

at the grant date. Significant estimates and BN L B EIR AT

assumptions are required to be made in determining B - EETEARR -

the parameters for applying the Black-Scholes FRATEAN2HE - F

model, including estimates and assumptions ZEHEZNHE AR

regarding the risk-free interest rate, expected HBREERERREF

dividend yield and volatility of the underlying shares % - TR B Es G

and the expected life of the share options. Changes R AR 17 B 82 1 DA K% s A e

in these estimates and assumptions could affect the TE BRI ER R (A R AR 3% o

determination of the fair value of the options, and I EEFT IR A B (L AT

the amount of such share-based awards expected grE R BEREN A TE

to become vested, which may in turn impact the EENARERGTHEN

determination of the share-based compensation {17 2ZENERE - MUt AT &E

expense. [ 3B A 2 2 AR A 1< FRAD

HERINET -
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)

262

(b) Critical judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies

(i)

Control over Phoenix Metropolis Media
Technology Company Limited (“PMM Beijing”)

Management considers that the Group has de facto
control of PMM Beijing even though it has less
than 50% of the voting rights. Management has
exercised its critical judgement when determining
whether the Group has de facto control over PMM
Beijing by considering the following, amongst others:
(i) the Group has obtained effective control over
majority of the board of PMM Beijing; and (ii) the
Group has the ability to direct the relevant activities
of PMM Beijing, i.e. the activities that significantly
affect PMM Beijing; and (iii) PMM Beijing and other
shareholders highly rely on the Group’s industry
expertise, brand, network, and reputation.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

4 EERETHEFIRAE (&)
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WARTEER

Revenue and segment information 5

The Group is principally engaged in satellite television

AEENEIZEBRAFEERERER

broadcasting and the provision of internet media services. An IREEERE - HUEE S ENARE
analysis of the Group's revenue by nature is as follows: BERADTT
2018 2017
2018 F 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Advertising sales BEEHE
Television broadcasting BRERE 1,176,750 1,242,914
Internet media BB SRR 1,453,183 1,468,037
Outdoor media P Ess 823,084 710,921
Mobile, video and wireless value i) « 1848 M B 4RI (E AR
added services income WA 237,621 265,057
Subscription sales G E=LUN 75,444 73,664
Magazine advertising and MHES ML
subscription or circulation BT 34,669 37797
Rental income iEE A ON 68,404 29,464
Others Al 193,661 129,633
4,062,816 3,957487
The operating segments have been based on the reports LE D IHRERAITESEHIA
reviewed by executive directors that are used to make strategic NEESRRIMEMETE « AITESE
decisions. The executive directors consider the business from a NEGREBMOTEERS -

product perspective.
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Revenue and segment information
(Continued)

The Group has five main operating segments including:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Television broadcasting — broadcasting of television
programmes and commercials and provision of promotion
activities;

(@) Primary channels, including Phoenix Chinese
Channel and Phoenix InfoNews Channel

(b)  Others, including Phoenix Movies Channel, Phoenix
North America Chinese Channel, Phoenix Chinese
News and Entertainment Channel, Phoenix Hong
Kong Channel and others

Internet media — provision of website portal and value-
added telecommunication services;

Outdoor media — provision of outdoor advertising services;

Real estate — property development and investment
(mainly Phoenix International Media Centre in Beijing); and

Other activities — programme production and ancillary
services, merchandising services, magazine publication
and distribution, and other related services.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

WARDEER ()

AEESRIBETERENHE B
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0]

((ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BERERE - ERHAMESE
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Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018
HENBE12A31ALEE
Television broadcasting
ERRE Inter-
Primary Internet ~ Outdoor Real Other  segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media gstate  activities elimination Group

IRfE Eft Mt EBERE PR BHE  RBXE SEEHE  25E
§000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T fn T T T fn T T

Revenue WA

External sales g 1159445 124623 1284068 1690804 823084 683404 196,456 - 4062816

Intersegment sales Note ¢) 7 ERIE (Mizkc) - 35,799 35,799 15,208 3,876 43,926 13635  (112,534) =
Total revenue TN 1,159,445 160422 1,319,867 1,706,102 826,960 112,330 210,091 (112,534) 4,062,816
Timing of revenue recognition WARIEH

At point in time e - 48 48 174782 - - 11,433 - 186,263

Over time RERH 1,159,445 124575 1,284,020 1,516,022 823,084 3170 185,023 - 38m319
Revenue from other source  EHRFEIRA - - - - - 65,234 - - 65,234

1,159,445 124,623 1,284,068 1,690,804 823,084 68,404 196,456 - 4,062,816

Segment results nEEE 319,521 (65,431) 254,096 726,798 142,899 36,193 (99,203) - 1,060,783
Unallocated income (Notea) ~ RATMA (ista) 6,966
Unallocated expenses (Noteb) ~ RARR (HizEb) (303,697)
Profit before share of #hagny/

results of joint ventures/ N

associates, income tax B REE

and non-controling interests R E2AI AR 764,052
Share of profits less losses ~~ B{EAELE

of joint ventures aiREE 3421
Share of profits less losses ~~ E{FEEAR

of associates aiREE 10,632
Income tax expense FERER (216,768)
Profit for the year &R 561,343
Non-controlling interests FrRER (317553)
Profit attributable to owners ~~ KATHBA

of the Company il 243,790
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5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018
HZ2018F 12831 ALLER
Television broadcasting
ERRE Inter-
Primary Internet ~ Outdoor Real Other  segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate  activities elimination Group
IERE At Nt OEBRER  FORE EiE  EtER SERHE 158
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000
n n n n n n n n rn
Depreciation Vit (16,836) (15,269) (32,105) (38,413) (31,780) (35,570) (8,382) - (146,250)
Unallocated depreciation FolE (40,129)
(186,379)
Interest income fEMA - 937 937 44,011 3,563 83 374 - 48,968
Unallocated interestincome  AAEFIBMA 12,454
61,422
Interest expenses HEES - (70 (100 (16,210) - (1,90 - - (28,180)
Unallocated interest FARHERT
expenses (9.864)
(38,044)
Reversal of provision for R REAR
impairment of accounts &
receivable - - - 1,470 - - - - 11,470
Provision for impaiment BN ERE
of accounts receivable - - - (38,087) (3,187) - (12.418) - (53,692)
Provision for impaiment El-Bagtx
of amount due FERERE
from a joint venture - - - (3,133) - - - - (3,133)
Reversal of provision for A=
impairment of amount FERERERD
due from an associate - - - 1199 - - - - 1,199
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Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017
HENTF1ANBLFE
Television broadcasting
ERER Inter
Primary Intenet ~ Qutdoor Real Other ~ segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate  activities  elimination Group

IZEE f U BEHE  EbXE SREEE KEE
$000 $000 §000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T v T T T T

Revenue WA

External sales g 1216859 119756 1336675 1733004 721436 29464 136878 - 3957487

Intersegment sales (Note )~ ERIHE (Hiskc) - 3919 39199 6,160 - 9,685 5927 160.971) -
Total revenue TN 1,216,859 1895 1375814 1739254 721,436 39,149 142,805 (60971) 3957487
Segment results PEEE 38532 (325100 316022 453583 119524 (6818)  (33.490) - 388
Unallocated income (Notea) ~ RAFMA (HisFa) 62,143
Unallocated expenses (Note b  &AER (Fizth) (266,789)
Profit before share of results ~ Z{EAL0%E/

of joint venturesfassociates,  BFEARIEE -

income tax and R RIERR

non-controlling interests ERAIEA 624,175
Share of profits less losses AL LEEH

of joint ventures HEE 6,145
Share of profits less losses ~~ E/EBENAEH

of associates HEE (19,888
Income tax expense FERER (89,579)
Profit for the year L3yl 520,853
Non-controlling interests FRER (234,605)
Profit attributable to owners KRR AL

of the Company gl 286,248
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5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2017
HENTF1ANBLFE
Television broadcasting
ERER Inter
Primary Intenet ~ Qutdoor Real Other ~ segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate  activities  elimination Group

IZEE f U BEHE  EbXE SREEE KEE
$000 $000 §000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T v T T T T

Depreciation nE (24.810) (15,882) (40,692) (40,839) (31,279 (36,286) (3548) - (152,644)
Unallocated depreciation i (41,822)
(194,466)
Interest income V0N - 414 414 182,495 3,069 % 309 - 186,382
Unallocated interestincome  AAEFIBMA 9,083
195,465
Interest expenses eSS - ) (1) (25461) - (13552) - - (39,084
Unallocated interest expenses R ARCRIBF% (5,222)
(44,306)
Impairment of property, % BRRE
plant and equipment HE - - - - (4,367) - - - (4,367)
Unallocated impairment % BRRE
of property, plant and BARSERE
equipment -
4,367)
Reversal of provision for UG HERE
impairment of accounts &E
receivable - - - 32,691 876 - - - 33,567
Provision for impaiment UG HERE
of accounts receivable - (176) (176) (22,1%) (1,974) - - - 24,345)
Provision for impaiment of  ER—FAEME
amount due from a FERERE
joint venture - - - (17328) - - - - (17328)
Provision for impaiment EY-FEERR
of amount due from FERERE
an associate - - - (1,199 - - - - (1,199
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Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)

Notes: MI3E
(a)  Unallocated income represents exchange gain, interest income, @ AOBBAEER K= FEK
investment income and other income. A BERAREAMYA o
(b)  Unallocated expenses represent primarily: b)) AOEAZEER:
- corporate staff costs; - SEETHA :
- office rental; - WAEMS
- general administrative expenses; - —RITREM :
- marketing and advertising expenses related to the Group - MAEEEEEHENTISH
as a whole; and BERESER &k
- exchange loss - T i E51a
(c) Sales between segments are carried out based on terms ©) HDEMEEDNKRERELEMSE
determined by management with reference to market prices. TEEETE 2 GRUHETT ©
Revenue from external customers by country, based on the destination RENARFPHBAZBER (REREFPZ
of the customer: B &thimE) 250 -
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
The PRC H 3,874,755 3,819,941
Hong Kong &5 110,428 50,557
Others A 77,633 86,989
4,062,816 3,957487
Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and deferred FRBEE (MBITARBECHEREAE
income tax assets, by country: AN IRERZF) T -
2018 2017
2018 2017 &
$'000 $'000
Fr T
The PRC A 2,523,741 2,351,641
Hong Kong BB 617,085 864,360
Others A 42,596 52,976
3,183,422 3,268,977
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6 Other operating gains, net 6 HMtKEWRFHR
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
Exchange (loss)/gain, net FEH (F18) /et FH (17,906) 8,083
Investment income FEWA 10,458 7442
Gain on deemed disposal RIELE—RB AR Z WS
of a subsidiary - 5,007
Fair value gain on financial BATEBBEETCERNIBEE
assets at fair value through KA ERE
profit or loss
Investment in Particle Inc. & Particle Inc. 802,877 -
Other financial assets Hih B EE 1,148 5,403
Net fair value gain on derivative  $TAEM ST A A FEWEFEE
financial instruments - 284,609
Provision for impairment of JEWE & RIBRE R
amounts due from joint
ventures (3,133) (17,328)
Reversal of/(provision for) JE Uk — B & 1 R ROB R (B B
impairment of amount due BBl (BH)
from an associate 1,199 (1,199)
Others, net H b F5 5,196 8,202
799,839 300,219
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Profit before income tax

The following items have been (credited)/charged to the profit
before income tax during the year:

BR A5 Bt Al 7

THIBBED ERFE ARG TS BAT

wERA GEA) /Hk

2018 2017
2018 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Crediting A
Reversal of provision for JE U BR SR (B B )
impairment of accounts
receivable (11,470) (33,567)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWZE « BE REEN S
plant and equipment (1,801) (5,517)
Charging e
Production costs of B 257 B BUERCA
self-produced programmes 197,568 203,163
Commission expenses ez 403,341 370,055
Bandwidth costs WREAA 67,2274 63,439
Provision for impairment of JE U BR SR (B B
accounts receivable 53,692 24,345
Employee benefit expenses EERNER (BRESZME)
(including Directors’
emoluments) 1,286,214 1,277,283
Operating lease rental in THEEHERS
respect of
— Directors’ quarters -EEFE 1,872 1,882
~ Land and buildings - B=FH L REF
of third parties 70,953 62,521
— LED panels - LED# T 251,063 200,954
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BELK&ENEIE
plant and equipment 2,543 4,905
Depreciation of property, M - WEREEITE
plant and equipment 186,379 194,466
Amortisation of purchased BEAETE RERhRER
programme and film rights 9,306 12,256
Amortisation of lease T FHE B A Y
premium for land 5,833 5,725
Amortisation of intangible assets & E# 10,377 9,073
Impairment of intangible assets & ERIE 10,277 -
Impairment of property, plant M - BE KEERE
and equipment - 4,367
Auditor’s remuneration ZEENE S
— Audit services - ZEURTE 15,663 13,930
- Non-audit services - RS 1,156 1,051
Outgoings for investment WEMEZ X
properties 6,001 5,604
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8 Employee benefit expenses

272

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

8 EERNEH

2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
Wages, salaries and other TE& - e kEAMER
allowances 1,238,784 1,200,629
Unutilized annual leave RAAFER 589 (295)
Pension costs — defined RS - FERE NG S
contribution plan, (M2 U300 (Mista)
net of forfeited
contributions (Note a) 21,756 21,473
Share-based compensation LARR D ki E (MiEE32)
expense (Note 32) 25,085 55,476
1,286,214 1,277,283

Pensions — defined contribution plans

The Group operates a number of defined contribution
pension schemes in accordance with the respective
subsidiaries’ local practices and regulations. The Group is
obligated to contribute funding to these plans based on
various percentages of the employees’ salaries or a fixed
sum per employee with reference to their salary level. The
assets of these schemes are generally held in separate
trustee administered funds.

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with a defined
contribution provident fund scheme and the Group is
required to make monthly contribution to the scheme
based on 10% of the employees’ basic salaries. Forfeited
contributions are used to offset the employer’s future
contributions. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
aggregate amount of the employer’s contributions was
approximately HK$18,820,000 (2017: HK$18,670,000)
and the total amount of forfeited contributions was
approximately HK$1,418,000 (2017: HK$1,520,000).

Since 1 December 2000, the employees in Hong Kong
can elect to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme"”). The MPF Scheme was introduced
pursuant to the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation
introduced in 2000. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
and each of the employees make monthly contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income as
defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.

(a)

BIRE - ERHEGTE

NEBERBEHBE QR MED
BB G| KA R B S EER
HFGR K& T8 - REBEAR
BEF SN TR RLZEBEH
LREBEEBEZREEBUE TS
S EREES - 255
EMEE—MABGETABILE
EHESFEE -

B EEERBETERRARE
©FTE MAKSEESTALE
BEANF S H10%IA =&
PR B3R o QU R T AR
HEEETORRMET BHE
2018F 12 A3 AL FE - B
F R AR A% 18,820,000
77T (20174 : 18,670,000
Bor) o g MR R e
/491,418,000 7T (2017 4F -
1,520,000 7T) °

B2000F12 A1 B - FHE
BrEEMASMEARESE
Bl ([RBEETE]) - fEDET
EIT51RIE R 2000 F 8 R H9 98 HI
MRS EGIH L - BRIE®RTE
T8 AREREREESR
AZREEHBERANLEYS (E&
Rea bl REE AP MZat
BIELHER -
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8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

(a)

Pensions — defined contribution plans
(Continued)

Both the employer’s and the employees’ contributions
are subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000 from 1 June 2014 onwards for each employee.
For those employees with monthly relevant income less
than HK$7100, since 1 November 2013, the employees’
contributions are voluntary.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate
amount of employer’s contributions made by the Group
to the MPF Scheme was approximately HK$2,638,000
(2017: HK$2,579,000) and the forfeited contributions was
HK$99,000 (2017: HK$44,000).

Five highest paid individuals and senior
managements’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 included two Directors (2017:
three) and three members of senior management (2017:
two). The aggregate emoluments paid/payable to the five
highest paid individuals during the year are as follows:

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

8 EE®NEH (8|

(a)

(b)

BIRE - ERRHE S
(#&)

B2014F6A1HE  EEXE R
EEMHIHEXEGREES
A #EE YA 30,0008 7TH) LR
Fr#MR - 2T AMRBEKA LD
71008 T fE & - 52013
FMNA1TBR ZFEETE
FAVEH HEER -

HZE2018F 12 A31 AILFE -
AEEMRESTEELNRE
TR B42,638,0008 7T
(20174 : 2,679,000 7T) * #
S8 U i 7k £ 99,0005 7T (2017
£ 1 44,000787T) °

hE&EHIHALTESH
BEABZME

NEBEE E2018F12A31H
HFEZREERRFATEE
MZEE (2017F : =8) b=
LB EEAB (2017F W
Z)  FRNEN /B FHRER

SEATHAMSIT
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Salaries e 18,489 18,768
Discretionary bonus BI5 8 BATEAT 3,195 846
Housing allowance B E=ERL 4,588 5,786
Pension costs RIRE AR 1,164 1,388
27436 26,788
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8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

274

(b)

Five highest paid individuals and senior
managements’ emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals (2017:
five highest paid individuals) fall within the following

bands:

Emolument band

MEgEE

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

8 EE®NEH (8|

hEaEmTm AT RS
EBEABZHE (8)
hEmReHFAL (2017F: &

AREFAL) O EN T
T#E -

Number of individuals

HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000
HK$9,000,001 — HK$9,500,000

3,500,001 /7T —4,000,000 7T
4,000,001 87T —4,500,000/87T
4,500,001 87T —5,000,000/87T
5,000,001 # 7T —5,500,000 % 7T
9,000,001 /&7T —9,500,000 7T

During the year, no emoluments or incentive payments
were paid or payable to the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join the Group or as compensation for
loss of office except as disclosed above (2017: Nil).

AE
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 4
1 2
1 —
1 1
1 1
1 1
5 5
br XX ETRESN - FALER

hEmREHFALTINRENE
(A B < 3k 22 RBh 7 18 - LAYE /3N
AR E 0 R AR DB
18 (2017 4F : M%) o
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Income tax expense

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year.
Taxation on PRC and overseas profits has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

FreHiEHN

EBNEBHEAFE G ERF S
FI LA16.6% (2017 4F : 16.5%) B &
B - P EREINE FIRIIE TR EA
FEMGTERBET - HAE@mME
BRI RROBRITIHENE -

2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Current income tax & EIFTS
— Hong Kong profits tax - BBNEH 3,628 26,071
- PRC and overseas taxation - PR B HNMRIA 59,987 57568
— Under/(over) provision of tax -RBEFETRE
in the prior year (HEgE) BIERHHE 2,134 (1,396)
Deferred income tax (Note 35) EIEFTSH 151,019 7336
216,768 89,579

On 20 January 1998, the PRC State Administration of Taxation
granted a Tax Ruling of Business Tax and Foreign Enterprise
Income Tax on certain of the Group's advertising fees collected
from an advertising agent, Shenzhou in the PRC (the “Ruling”).
The Group has dealt with the aforementioned taxes according
to the Ruling in the consolidated financial statements. However,
PRC tax laws and regulations and the interpretations thereof
may change in the future so that the Group would be subject to
PRC taxation on certain income deemed to be sourced in the
PRC other than Hong Kong. The Group will continue to monitor
developments in the PRC tax regime in order to assess the
ongoing applicability and validity of the Ruling.

A deferred tax provision of approximately HK$149,300,000 has
been recorded in the Group’s consolidated income statement
during the year ended 31 December 2018. The tax provision is
related to the Group’s investment in convertible redeemable
preferred shares which the Group now expects to recover
through sale.

19984 1 208 » BB R %
BEALE AT ESNKEE T E
HERHEAEBRINGREDCEMS
MBMBEE ([ZHE]) - AEBEDR
BZHERERAMIBSRENERE Filt
FIE - A PEBEBBCEZRE
MRREBEEAEES  ARAEE
AR ETHEEAENFEH (FERIN)
SRR A SN R B I8 - AL @S
HEBRPEPEE AR
ZHTERIERARESE -

HE2018F12A31TB It EE - &
HE 7 T8 B 4% #9 149,300,000 7 7T 2 51
AREB 7 REWERA - BITEREE
THRERA A £ [ 7 AT 44 0% ] B (B (B S AR
Z2EE AEBEBREERBBEER
|§| °

275



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

9 Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of the
location in which the Company operates as follows:

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

9 MEHEAR (F&H)

REBIRARRR TS B AT S FFT E AT
18 - EIRAAR RS TR H AR
KMELRIEMAENEZRIOT

2018 2017
2018 F 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Profit before income tax bR 1S AR A 778,111 610,432
Calculated at a taxation rate BIEFE16.5% 5TH (20174 : 16.5%)
of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) 128,388 100,721
Income not subject to taxation BAERBUA (22,036) (136,637)
Expenses not deductible for TR B R R A B A
taxation purposes 24,479 55,099
Tax losses not recognised RERRIBEE 16,831 20,447
Effect of different tax rate in HEmERGEEENTE
other countries 76,086 62,940
Effect of tax exemptions and BT BB A R IR e R e R R 2
concessions granted to
PRC subsidiaries (5,703) (6,996)
Utilisation of previously R LRI ARER B TIRESE
unrecognised tax losses (3.411) (4,599)
Under/(over) provision of tax in the FMBEFEHRIBEETE,
prior year (fBzERHE) 2,134 (1,396)
Income tax expense FrSHiER 216,768 89,579
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
10 Earnings per share 10 SRER
(a) Basic (a) EA
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit BRERZRFTIRE AR R HE
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted BABGERENBRAFERE T
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the LB IETFIHEEE -
year.
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
Profit attributable to owners NAREAR AEIEET
of the Company ($'000) (F7T) 243,790 286,248
Weighted average number BT S mRAINiET 5
of ordinary shares (FB)
in issue ('000) 4,993,470 4,993,803
Basic earnings per share BRRERZEF] (FBI)
(Hong Kong cents) 4.88 5.73
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10 Earnings per share (Continued)

278

(b)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Group has dilutive potential ordinary shares
which comprise share options of the Company and a
subsidiary (2017: share options of the Company and a
subsidiary).

A calculation is done to determine the number of the
Company's shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average annual market share
price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary
value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options of the Company. The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options. Where the number of
shares so calculated is smaller than the number of shares
that would have been issued assuming the exercise of all
the outstanding share options, the difference represents
potential dilutive shares and is added to the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue to arrive at
the weighted average number of ordinary shares for
diluted earnings per share. There was no dilutive potential
ordinary shares in existence during 2018. The impact of
the dilutive instruments of the subsidiaries is not material
to the Group's diluted earnings per share.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

10 BRER (&)

(b)

BE

BREERNDERKME#
SRR AR RBRERT
BB EEITEING BEAN
BYPHEGE - AKEEHE
BELBE  EERARAR
— B 2 B e B Rk (2017
F:ARARAR—HEMBRRN
FERE) -

AR TR AR A AR AT R AR
RTINS R E B E T
FE UEBEEARATE (&
AARRMDOEBFFEHTES
EEMmE) BANAQRKRG
EE o Ll E TS MR B
B RERZEEREEITE
BEEHITHRMEE L -
IR FTE R R M E B DR
BT M ARITE BT (E
BESETHRGOEE - BlE
B E R EEE gAY - N
AZBBHITLBARA T
B NERARETCEREE
BFE @A INEFIIE o R
2018 FWEFEHEBL LR
B ZHBAREEETE Y
TAHASESRESRFT
mEAE -

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
Profit attributable to owners RARER ARG
of the Company ($°000) wR (Fz) 243,790 286,248
Weighted average number [REEERRES D)
of ordinary shares in I8 (FR)
issue (‘000) 4,993,470 4,993,803
Adjustment for share AR R EREED
options of the FE (Fr)
Company ($°000) = 10
Weighted average number SREE R TR B
of ordinary shares for IREFHE (FAR)
diluted earnings per
share (‘000) 4,993,470 4,993,813
Diluted earnings per share SRRESERF) (L)
(Hong Kong cents) 4.88 5.73
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
Dividends 11 RE
2018 2017
2018 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
Proposed final dividend of BN EANR S
1 Hong Kong cent BAR 1B
(2017: 1 Hong Kong cent) (2017 4F = 1784L)
per share 49,935 49,935
The 2017 final dividends paid during the year ended 31 HE2018F 12 A31 AL FEZHH
December 2018 were approximately HK$49,935,000 (1 Hong 2017 FF R BA IR & /3 4949,935,000 7
Kong cent per share). The Board of Directors of the Company 7T (BB - ARAEEE ([E
(“Board"”) recommended the payment of a final dividend for Fg)) BRI 2018FRBREE
2018 of 1 Hong Kong cent per share, totalling approximately A& 174 (L - 42 %8 49 /49,935,000 7%
HK$49,935,000. Such dividend is to be approved by the Lo BARBEKN2019F6 A5 HE
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 5 June 2019. TZBRRBEFRE EHRERE o Ut
These consolidated financial statements do not reflect this FARE P WFR I R R R IRFERAR
dividend payable. B

Purchased programme and film rights, net 12 BAGEHREZWMEFE

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr T

Balance, beginning of year FHHERR 11,947 15,117

Additions A= 8,645 9,842

Amortisation B (9,306) (12,256)

Others EAfth (351) (756)

Balance, end of year FIREERR 10,935 11,947
Less: Purchased programme B BEAETE REME

and film rights
— current portion - BPEREL D (163) (147)
10,772 11,800
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13 Lease premium for land

The Group's interests in leasehold land and land use rights

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

13 tHHEEER

REBNEE T30 &+ 3t BEY 1

represent prepaid operating lease payments and their net book =IETEMGCEHENR - BREFE
values are analysed as follows: DT -

2018 2017

2018 F 2017

$'000 $'000

Fr v

Balance, beginning of year FHHER 208,619 210,179

Amortisation s (5,833) (5,725)

Currency translation differences  E¥ B ZE (4,150) 4,165

Balance, end of year FIREER 198,636 208,619

(@) Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2018
is an amount of HK$95,995,000 (2017: HK$103,235,000)
which represents land use rights held by the Group for a
piece of land situated in Beijing for development of the
Phoenix International Media Centre.

(b)  Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2018 is
an amount of HK$13,126,000 (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$13,531,000) which was paid by the Group pursuant
to notification from the Shenzhen Municipal Bureau of
Land Resources and Housing Management (“Shenzhen
Land Bureau”) to the Shenzhen Land Bureau to obtain a
title certificate in the name of Phoenix Satellite Television
Company Limited (the “Phoenix Subsidiary”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, for the Group's upper
ground space entitlement of approximately 8,500 square
metres in China Phoenix Building in Shenzhen (“Shenzhen
Building”). As of 31 December 2018, the Group was still
awaiting the issuance of the title certificate to the Phoenix
Subsidiary by the Shenzhen Municipal Government. The
Directors are of the opinion that the title certificate of the
Shenzhen Building will be issued in the near future.
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(a)  H2018F 12 A31 H W ER M F
BB —2 A#95,995,000
7T (2017 4F ¢ 103,235,000
o) RIE - HRERAEEEE
— B 7 4 5 LA 2% R B 2L B
(ES SN Ol i b i = -

(b) H2018F12A31H W B @
FEER BEASERE
AYTE T ERMEEE R
BUFRINBLRB] wBEAMA
AYNE £ B = 89 13,126,000
# 9T (201712 A31 8 -
13,631,000/8 Jt.) * VA gt &K &
B ROR N B B R ETR K
(DRIMEF]) M9t L EEER
#18,600F H KK AT A # - &
BUAEEZ2EWNB R —
BEAERERAR ([BEMEB
NE) BERBLHEREE - R
201812 A31H » KR&EE)
FEEFFRYI TR R B RN B
NEVEHERESE - EERAF
IEFHEREB R T AARK
B o
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
14 Property, plant and equipment, net 14 Y% - BERRERE
Broadcast
Leasehold ~ Furniture  operations Construc-
Freehold improve and  and other Motor LED tionin
land  Building  -ments fixtures equipment  vehicles panels Aircraft  progress Total
XX g BiR EEEER

RELS BT MEME #E SMRE A IDERF R ERIE g4
$000 §000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 §000
7o % " " " " B 7 TR

(Note a) (Noteh)  (Notec)

(Hika) (Mb) (o)
Year ended BZ218%128
31December 2018 31ALEE
Openingnetbook  FAIEEFA
amount 12019 567618 163,455 6,097 185,556 6,118 94,733 40819 3,859 1,080,274
Acquisition of WE-HNBAR
a subsidiary
(Note 43) = - - 25 54,618 129 - - - 54,772
Additions AE - = 3,197 1170 106,768 1,047 793 - 18,403 131,378
Disposals & - - (95) (4) (573) (187) (6,583) - = (7442)
Depreciation g = (36,133) (27855) (2,522) (81,064) (3,420) (28,085) (7300) - (186379)
Transfers £ - - - - 1,386 - 16587 - (179m) -
Curency translation ~ EMAZEE
differences (52) (14,945) (1,282) (78) (7172) (51) (2,905) - (35) (27120)
Closingnetbook ~ FXERHE
amount 11967 516540 137420 4688 258919 3,636 74540 33519 4254 1,045,483
At 31 December 2018 120185

128318

Cost A 11967 694045 499,885 30470  1,027978 45813 232,400 88,871 4254 2,635,683
Accumulated ZHNERARE
depreciation
and impairment - (177505)  (362465)  (25782)  (769,059)  (42177)  (157860)  (55,352) - (1,590,200)
Net book amount BEEE 11967 516,540 137420 4,688 258919 3,636 74,540 33519 4254 1,045,483
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14 Property, plant and equipment, net

282

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

14 Y% BERREZRE (&)

(Continued)
Broadcast
Leasehold ~ Furniture  operations Construc-

Freehold improve and  and other Motor LED tionin

[and Buildng - ments fixtures  equipment  vehicles panels Aircraft — progress Total

KA HE Kk EREEER

FELH BF  WERE KB EMEB A& LEDETR A EEIE @it

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 §000 $000 $000

i T R T i i S S i T

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(Mista) (Mstp)  (Wstc)
Year ended HETE
31 December 2017 12A31H
58
Openingnetbook ~ FAIGEFE
amount 1,718 579,551 181,39 8,045 198,232 9,852 122,161 48118 1769 1,160,842
Additions AE - - 14,766 479 57551 648 1,308 - 17267 92,009
Disposals i - - 2,067) il (1,270 (188) (4,809) - - (8,325)
Depreciation Vil - 35032 (32430 (2593 (86,184) (4278 (26,650 (7299) - (194 466)
Impairment A - - - - - - (4,367) - - 4,367)
Transfers &% - - - - 12587 - 2809 - (15,366) -
Currency translation ~ EMHEEE
differences 301 23,099 1,780 167 4670 84 4,281 - 199 34,581
Closing net book FRERTE
amount 12,019 567618 163,455 6,097 185,556 6,118 94,733 40819 3859 1,080,274
At31 December 2017 520174
127318

Cost B 12019 715835 500,971 29,597 927456 4,m 264,610 88,871 3859 2588329
Accumulated ZHAERAE
depreciation
and impairment - (148217)  (337616) (235000 (7419000 (38993  (169.877)  (48,062) - (1,508,055
Net book amount BEE 12,019 567618 163,455 6,097 185,556 6,118 94,733 40819 3859 1,080,274
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Property, plant and equipment, net
(Continued)

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$116,447.000 (2017:
HK$120,133,000) has been charged in “Operating expenses’,
and approximately HK$69,932,000 (2017: HK$74,333,000) has
been charged in”Selling, general and administrative expenses”

(a)

(c)

Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2018
is an amount of HK$22,684,000 (2017: HK$23,384,000)
which relates to the Group’s entitlement to use 10,000
square meters in the Shenzhen Building. As at 31
December 2018, the cost was HK$30,848,000 (as at
31 December 2017: HK$30,848,000) with a net book
value of HK$22,684,000 (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$23,384,000). As at 31 December 2018, the Group
was still in the process of obtaining the title certificate to
the 8,500 square metres of the entitled areas through the
payment of land premium and taxes (see Note 13(b)).

As of 31 December 2018, the Group was still in the
process of renewing and obtaining certain licences of
LED panels. The Directors are of the opinion that the
licences will be obtained in the near future and the risk of
noncompliance with laws and regulations is remote.

Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2018
is an amount of HK$33,519,000 (2017: HK$40,819,000)
which relates to the aircraft for operation use.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

14 Y% BERREZRE (&)

E B A 4116,4470007% 7T (2017
% 120,133,000 7t) B &t A&
Z®A] N M #469,932,000% T
(2017 % : 74,333,000 7t) Tyt A
[fH% - —MERITERERIA -

(a)

(b)

(c)

R2018F 12 A31 B M BR & /%
EREASEAEERRINIE
510,000 75 K BT % I B9 3K
%422,684,0007% 7T (2017 4 :
23,384,000 JT) © 1A 20184F
12 A31 8 * B4 %30,848,000
# T ( R2017F12 8318 ¢
30,848,000/ L) * BREF(E
Bl 522,684,000 7% 7T (722017
12 A31H : 23,384,000/
JC) e 2018F 12 A31H » A&
EEBEBT N HELFE MU
FIEEE8,600F oK A] HE A
Ry (RKIEE13(0)) ©

MR2018F 12 A31H » A& &
MFEEF L EDBRRENE
BRFA R - EER AR
RAAAGRIEZBRETA - i
REGBTAEERNARTS o

A#133,5619,000/8 7T (20174 -
40,819,000/ 1) 2 & BB &
AR2018E12 A B 2@\
FE DAERNESERRY
ek o
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

15 Investment properties 15 REWE

2018 2017

2018 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr T

Balance, beginning of year FEXEEER 1,570,414 1,464,088

Fair value gain N ERE 7533 44,868
Currency translation differences ~ E¥ B ZZE (65,643) 61,458
Balance, end of year FIREER 1,512,304 1,570,414

(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) EMEHATESE

properties

The Group applied the fair value model for the accounting
of investment properties. Independent valuations of
the investment properties were performed by the
valuers, Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited and
Lambert Smith Hampton, to determine the fair value of
the properties as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Same).
Fair value gain of approximately HK$7,533,000 (2017:
HK$44,868,000) is included in the “Other gains, net” in

the consolidated income statement.
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AEBERAAFEEXGHE
BYEANR - REVEHRGE
eI EETGERERA
Al K& Lambert Smith Hampton
ETBLEE NEBETZSE
¥ % R2018F 12 A31H &
N FE(017F: R -
497,533,000/ 7L (2017 & :
44,868,000/ 7T) &) A F1E W
mEFTAGERERPHH
Uz FEE ] -
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(a)

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Fair value hierarchy

15 REW* (&)
(a) WEWMEHNATETE
(&)

(i) 2DFEER
Fair value Fair value
measurements measurements
at 31 December at 31 December
2018 using 2017 using
significant significant

unobservable

unobservable

inputs (Level 3)  inputs (Level 3)
FREE fF F 0%
BENTE BIRMEE
BWABE 8 A BUE
FTER T2
2018 2017 4
12A318H 12431 8K
Description AFE NYE
it (E34%) (FB34)
$'000 $'000
Fr v
Recurring fair value ~ &EMAFAEFE
measurements
Investment properties &Y%
— Phoenix — BB EEF L (FE)
International
Media Centre
(The PRC) 1,496,921 1,555,092
- Commercial (UK)  — B3 (3EE) 15,383 15,322
Valuation processes of the Group (i) FEENGERRF
The Group's investment properties were valued REENIREYFEHE L

at 31 December 2018 and 2017 by independent
professionally qualified valuers who hold a
recognized relevant professional qualification and
have experience in the locations and segments of
the investment properties valued. For all investment
properties, their current use equates to the highest
and best use.

HELEWRIGHERIT 2018
ER2017E12 A31 B 14
B HERSE R
AEEER - WHATHE
B E W) EE ) D B AN B I,
BHES - RETEIREY
¥ HBRMNEASHE
B EER o
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15 Investment properties (Continued)

286

(a)

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

The Finance Department, headed by CFO, reviews
the valuations performed by the independent valuers
for financial reporting purposes. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between
the Finance Department and valuers at least once
every six months, in line with the Group’s interim
and annual reporting dates.

At each financial year end, the Finance Department:

o Verifies all major inputs to the independent
valuation reports;

o Assess property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation reports;
and

° Holds discussions with the independent
valuers.

Valuation techniques

For the investment property in UK with a carrying
amount of HK$15,383,000 (2017: HK$15,322,000),
the valuation of the investment property held directly
by the Group is made on the basis of the “Market
Value" adopted by The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (“RICS”). It is performed in accordance
with the RICS Valuation Standards on Properties
published by RICS. The valuation is reviewed at least
once every six months by a qualified valuer using
income capitalisation approach.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

15 BREWE (&)
(a) HEWMENLAFEFT=E

(#8)

(ii)

(iii)

REFENGERF ()

i Y B4R B R G RO B T 7
WES=:pc VAR )
B3RE B PR b (E3E
TR - RELAAEEN
PEAMEE RS AR - B
BE PR ER R D =R

ARG —X - HHEE

RETEBESR -

S AR A

BITSEPIE

. BREWBUEER
ERMEEAHA
B

.« AR E
R ERE LB
Teo®s : &

. RETEERET
SEE

B

RN EHE@mER
15,383,000/ T (2017
£ 115,322,000 7T) Z
WEMEMS - A5EEH
ERBIREMEZIME
TR 2R 2
MEe ((REESRET
BlERESE]) PREEMZ
[M{E] E£ - REREES
EXS D= i
HEERFTIEMES
YL ELERHETT o [H{E
& B ERME R UA
AR ERLERERR
=K e
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15 Investment properties (Continued)

(a)

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(iii)

Valuation techniques (Continued)

Income capitalisation approach is based upon
estimates of future results and a set of assumptions
specific to the property to reflect its tenancy and
cash flow profile. The fair value of the investment
property reflects, among other things, rental income
from current leases and assumptions about rental
income from future leases in light of current market
conditions including open market rents, appropriate
capitalisation rate and reversionary income potential.

In addition, for the investment property in the
PRC, which represents gross floor area of Phoenix
International Media Centre held for rental income,
has a carrying value of HK$1,496,921,000 (as at 31
December 2017: HK$1,5655,092,000). The fair value
of this investment property is determined using the
information from the valuation performed by external
professional valuer using the direct comparison
method. However, given the heterogeneous nature
of this property, appropriate adjustments are made
to allow for any qualitative differences that may
affect the price likely to be achieved. There were no
changes in valuation techniques during the year.

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

15 BREWE (&)

(a)

A A FAEH B

(#8)

(iii)

fhERM (&)

WABAREETIRIBARK
ES LTI VEAEYE ke
FOVEFREBRRIA RBR AT
HRREREMRN ° %
HREMEZRAFER
B (ERaiE) RERE
HEZHS WA AR ARE
BTN (BRAFHMS
HE  ERZEMEERR
WAKE 2 & S) $RE
ARMEE 2 H2RANR

BEoh - LA B 2 & E Y
¥ (REABBIAES KA
Fr 578 /9 Bl 2\ B B 43
ORI EEEE) MERE
& /5 1,496,921,00078 JT
(RA2017%F12 8318 :
1,555,092,0003 7T ) °
IS EMEN AT ENE
ERE - RINBEEMGE
BlA B B2 L EOA MR A1
BEFT R ER A -
ER LB E 2 S
& BRI AT RE R R G
ERCERNERERE
HiEE R -
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15 Investment properties (Continued) 15 REYE (&)
(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) BEVENRNFET=Z
properties (Continued) (8&)
(iv) Information about fair value measurements (iv)] ERCRELIBENEE
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) WMAHBNAFETNE

288

(£3/;) HEHR

Relationship

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable of unobservable

Description 31 Dec 2018 technique(s) inputs  inputs to fair value

EEEEN

R2018%12 8 EEEEN BARBHE

R 3ANATE ERER BARE DNRENEE
($'000)
()

Phoenix International 1,496,921 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the
Media Centre B price of HK$34,271 adjusted average
-The PRC per square metre price per square

B BB L - LRI metre, the higher

BRATTHK the fair value
MIMETL  BFHAKNEHE
FHESRES
AEERR
Commercial - UK 15,383  Income capitalisation Estimated rental The higher the
B - HE approach  value of HK$4,053 rental value,
WAB LA per square metre the higher
hEHER the fair value
(SRR MEs
4,053 7T NBERTS
Reversionary yield The higher the
of 7% reversionary yield,
WAKE 2 the lower the
WA 7% fair value
WAME 2 Wz

Hs o RHERE
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(iv)

15 BREWE (&)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) WEYWENAFET=E
properties (Continued) (&)

Information about fair value measurements (iv) EREERELEENEE

using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) WMAHBNAFETNE

(Continued) (3% MER (&)

Relationship

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable of unobservable

Description 31 Dec 2017 techniquel(s) inputs inputs to fair value

BEEER

2017412 A BEEEN BARIERE

fEit STAHATE fhERA BARE ATEMER
($'000)
()

Phoenix International 1,555,092 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the
Media Centre B price of HK$35,602 adjusted average
-The PRC per square metre price per square

B BB L - LRI metre, the higher

BRABTAK the fair value

3b.602T  BFHRNLHEE

FHESRES

ATEES

Commercial - UK 15,322  Income capitalisation Estimated rental The higher the
[EEE 5 approach  value of HK$4,048 rental value,
WAB LA per square metre the higher

HEHEAR the fair value

(SRR MEdS

4,04838 7T AEERR

Reversionary yield The higher the

of 7% reversionary yield,

WASE 2 the lower the

WA 7% fair value

W Ak 2 W

Hs o RHERE
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15 Investment properties (Continued)

290

(a)

(b)

Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(v) Quantitative sensitivity analysis

The major sources of estimation uncertainty of
investment properties are mainly contributed by
the Phoenix International Media Centre and the
quantitative sensitivity analysis is shown as below:

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

15 BREWE (&)

(a)

A A FAEH B
()

v) EEHBRESIN

BREWMEGF I EL
IBRRAIERARE
Bl B RO E B0
EoMrEsIamT

Adjusted average
price per

square metre

5% increase

or decrease
BYRKRZ
RARFIGER

B insE 4 5%
$'000

Tt

At 31 December 2018 }A2018 512 A 31H
At 31 December 2017 72017412 A31 H

Deferred tax

The Group's investment properties in the PRC are held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties through use. The Group has
measured the deferred tax relating to the temporary
differences of these investment properties using the
tax rates and the tax bases that are consistent with
the expected manner of recovery of these investment
properties (Note 35).

(b)

74,846
77,755

EXETRIR

REEBRFPENEEDERR
B-EmERXEE Mz
A2 BB BFEAMERR
BYEFTEEIRNBE RN
Mo NEBFERLERE
MERNERFEREEBNELTR
TERF - P AAR R R B A e
TEERUR B SR E R
— B (M97E35) °
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Intangible assets 16 EEEE
Contractual
customer Club
Goodwill Licenses relationship debentures Software Total
BHEF
wE R B BHES BH b
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i i T i S aw
Year ended HZ2018512A31H
31 December 2018 JI2:355
Opening net book amount ~ FAEEFE 8,733 14,060 - 2,065 2,102 26,960
Addition NE - 18,081 - - - 18,081
Acquisition of a subsidiary  KE—EHBA A
[Note 43) (M3 43) 11,310 - - - 55,368 166,678
Amortisation B - (8,645) - - (1,732) (10,377)
Impairment WE - (10,277) - - - (10,277)
Currency translation EHHEER
differences - (589) - - (5) (594)
Closing net book amount ~ FAREEEFE 120,043 12,630 - 2,065 55,733 190,471
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12A31A
Cost AR 120,043 39,309 1,924 2,065 139,445 302,786
Accumulated amortisation ~ 25HE SR {E
and impairment - (26,679) (1,924) - (83,712) (112,315)
Net book amount FHEE 120,043 12,630 - 2,065 55,733 190,471
Year ended HZ2017512A318
31 December 2017 J12:355
Opening net book amount 4R Z(E 8,733 11,254 - 2,085 3,820 25,872
Addition AE - 9,355 - - - 9,355
Amortisation g5 - (7335) - - (1,738) (9,073)
Currency translation EHBEES
differences - 786 - - 20 806
Closing net book amount ~ FREEEFE 8,733 14,060 - 2,065 2,102 26,960
At 31 December 2017 R2017512R 318
Cost R 8,733 23,883 1,924 2,065 10,035 46,640
Accumulated amortisation  ZxHE#RAE
and impairment - (9,823) (1,924) - (7933) (19,680)
Net book amount FHFE 8,733 14,060 - 2,065 2,102 26,960

291



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16

17
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

Intangible assets (Continued) 16 BEEEE (&)
Amortisation of approximately HK$8,645,000 (2017: F N 498,645,000/ T (2017 4F -
HK$7335,000) is included in “Operating expenses’ HK$1,732,000 7335,0007870) 2 BT A &R
(2017: HK$1,738,000) is included in “Selling, general and 1 M#91,732,0007% 7T (2017 4F -
administrative expenses” during the year. 1,738,000 7T) < BESHET A [$HE -
—MRITRER] -
An impairment review of the carrying amount of goodwill at 31 CEZE 2018412 A31 B Z &R
December 2018 was performed and no impairment provision EEEITREEE M BAELRE R
is required. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill & LRERmE - fTKERED
acquired has been allocated to individual cash-generating DEREERBELEDBERNERRE
units (CGUs) identified according to operating segment. The EEEN ReEEEM) - AllEe
recoverable amount is based on a value in use calculation. There BIRBERAEETE - FRLERE
was no impairment charge recognised during the year (2017: BRI (20174 « &) -
Nil).
Certain of the Group's new media subsidiaries are in the AR EE T AE T B A B IE IR R
process of applying for certain licenses for the operation of HRELIAIENTFE  UEEEE
their businesses, including internet audio-visual program ¥ BRECEEPKNEEGSESBT
transmission license and internet news license. AJRE R ANER R EIRT AT EE o
Interests in joint ventures 17 REELENER
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Unlisted investments, net EEMREFR 56,723 40,027

The Group's investments in joint ventures are analysed as
follows:

AEBREELENRENNAT

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr Fit

Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE - AR 87,979 79,367

Capital contribution L& 14,676 8,612

Provision for impairment RIERE (4,326) (4,326)
Share of profits less losses BiEe g R aTRERE

of joint ventures (40,743) (44,170)

Currency translation differences ~ E¥HBRE =% (863) 544

Unlisted investments, net FEETIREFEE 56,723 40,027
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

Details of the joint ventures which are accounted for by the
equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2018 were as

17 REELENER (F)

M 20184 12 A31 B AR EHEA
BERAEOEMFEBNT

follows:
Percentage of Issued and fully
Place and date of Place of equity interest paid share capital/
Name incorporation Operation Principal activity held by the Group registered capital
KEBBERN BREIRAR
&8 AR B EEBE TEXE REESEN A/ ERER
Beijing Simulcast Communication The PRC, 7 January 2005 The PRC Advertising business 45% RMB30,000,000
Co. Ltd. * HEl - 2005F1 /70 #El  inradio broadcasting, AK30,000,0007
FRRASEEERERAR and media marketing
industry in the PRC
hEERERES
EIIIE i
AITEG U EEERAT The PRC, 15 December 2010 The PRC Radio Broadcasting 50% RMB10,000,000
ME 20106128 158 el in the PRC A&H10,000,0007C
NEERERER
Huabao Phoenix Beijing Cultural The PRC, 2 September 2013~ The PRC  Provision of promotional 65% RMB2,000,000
Communication Co., Ltd.* FE - 2013F9A2H el related services AR2,000,0007
ITREBBEULERERAT R EIRRRY
Phoenix Culture Property Hong Kong, 19 June 2017 The PRC Cultural promotion 40% HK$10,000,000
Investment Management Limited &5 + 2017456 5 198 i MR 10,000,000/ 7
BB EXRAEEERAR
ERBREROESERRAR The PRC, 4 March 2015 The PRC Internet media 2730% RMB500,000
ME - 2015F3A4H el BRI AR¥E500,0007
BESRESHA (LX) BRAR  The PRC, 15 June 2015 The PRC Internet media 2730% RMB1,000,000
WE 2015568158 el BRI AR1,000,0007C
Beijing Fenghuang Tianbo Network The PRC, 31 May 2013 The PRC Internet media 2730% RMB1,960,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* E 2013558318 HE BHEE AEH1,960,0007
T REEXEREEIERAT
Phoenix FM Limited Cayman Islands, Cayman Islands Internet media 54.51% US$560
29 August 2013 HEHS GEERE 560ETT
FEHE
20135 8A29A
* For identification purpose only * EHEE
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17 Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

17

Details of the joint ventures which are accounted for by the
equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2018 were as

follows: (Continued)

REERENES (&)

M 20184 12 A31 B AR EHEA
ERAEENFBOT « (8)

Percentage of Issued and fully
Place and date of Place of equity interest  paid share capital/
Name incorporation Operation Principal activity held by the Group registered capital
) TREREN BETRAR
&R HMRLHR A EEBE TEXH RAEZEAL BE/HRELR
Phoenix FM (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, 24 October 2013 Hong Kong Internet media 54.51% HK$1
Company Limited BE - 2013F10A 240 BB DHmEeE 1B
BEEHE (B4) BRAF
Phoenix FM (Beijing) Information The PRC, 24 January 2014 The PRC Internet media 54.51% US$1,700,000
Technology Co. Ltd. * W 2014F1R24H R DHRRE 1,700,000 T
FEZE (bR) BRRMERAT
Beijing Fengming Jiutian Network The PRC, 28 February 2014 The PRC Internet media 54.51% RMB1,000,000
Technology Co. Ltd. * WE 2014528285 i BHEE AREH1,000,0007C
I REENRBE R ERAF
Shenzhen Fenghuang Jingcai The PRC, 1 April 2014 The PRC Internet media 1719% RMB71,428 571
Network Technology Co. Ltd. * HE - 2014F481H H DHEReE ARET1,428571 7T
RYTEBRET AR B ERAE
BEBENS (58) BRAR The PRC, 30 March 2015 The PRC Data technology 51% RMB2,000,000
RE 20155 3A30A e E ARH2,000,0007C
BEME B AB R SR The PRC, 30 October 2012 The PRC Education 36% RMB10,000,000
BRAA ME 2012510 A30 F el #E AR 10,000,000
FREREEREERBRAT The PRC, 27 July 2016 The PRC Technical consulting 30% RMB1,000,000
BB 201657 /278 el R AR 1,000,0007C
QTR (LF) BEXRRARDA The PRC, 9 October 2016 The PRC Cultural promotion 40% RMBG60,000,000
MEl 2016510 A9H e peigid AR60,000,0007
International Chinese Medicine Hong Kong, 11 January 2017 Hong Kong Cultural promotion 50% HK$10,000
Cultural Festival B 207E1R11A 2 peigid 10,0007
Company Limited
RRBEL S BR AT
ERAEUR I RRER AR The PRC, 10 January 2017 The PRC  Tourism and cultural 40% RMB100,000,000
BE - 2017F 15108 H development AR 100,000,000 7
MR
BRERLEEERAF The PRC, 26 September 2017 The PRC  Programme production 65% RMB10,000,000
WE 201749 F 26 F el SRR AR 10,000,000
BB () BRAE The PRC, 31 August 2017 The PRC Big Data 10% RMB5,555,560
ME 2017468 F31 B el K& AR5,555,560 70
* For identification purpose only * EHEE

294



4R 2018

BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17 Interests in joint ventures (Continued) 17
(@ JERIBRERXEEZHABR QA in which the Group (a)

previously held 40% equity interests, was liquidated on
20 June 2018.

by HEEHERK(LEE) AR 2 A, in which the Group (b)
previously held 51% equity interests, was deregistered on
2 January 2019.

(c)  Aggregate information of joint venture that are individually (c)
immaterial

The Group has interests in a number of individually
immaterial joint ventures that are accounted for using the
equity method.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

REERENES (&)

I RERBE IR E LS
ERAR (AEEBEHEH
40% A% #E) B 7201846 A 20
A58 -

EEHBERR (E8) BRATR
(REEBTHBEEST%RE)
BR201941 A2 Bl -

ERILFEBHAHOEN
SR

A B B R AR B EHEA
EMERL S BNAELE
h A -

2018 2017
2018 F 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
The Group's share of profits REFEE(RRTREE &
less losses and total 2HKZEEE
comprehensive income 3,427 6,145
Aggregate carrying amount AEERUHEEEDE B
of the Group's interests K& ETERAE
in these joint ventures 56,723 40,027
(d) As at 31 December 2018, there are no commitments and d H2018F 12 A318  AEEW

contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interests in
joint ventures (2017: Nil).

EHEENAEDEOEDRA RN
EfAERSA B E (20174
&)
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18

296

Investments in associates

The Group's investments in associates are analysed as follows:

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

18

REERRNRE

REBRBERBMRENTAT

2018 2017

2018 2017

$'000 $'000

Fr T

Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE + AR 128,454 118,270
Fair value of non-controlling FriR 88 FE1E R e 2 2 A B

interests retained - 4,184

Capital contribution HE 4,971 19,927

Capital return from an associate [ —RIE& QA EHE - (13,927)

Share of profits less losses BB R R AR FREE

of associates (37,850) (48,482)

Currency translation differences ~ E¥mEZE (5,841) (1,469)

Unlisted investments, net FEETIREFEE 89,734 78,503
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Investments in associates (Continued)

Details of the principal associates which are accounted for by
the equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2018 are

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

18 RBERRANRE (&)

R2018F 12 A31 HA X BHE A7)
(igEmesEAAR) SHBM T -

as follows:
Percentage Issued and fully
of equity paid share
Place and date of Place of Principal interest held capital/
Name incorporation Operation activity by the Group registered capital
EEEREN BRTRAR
L MRt B EEE TEXR RABEESHL B/ EMER
SinoPac Venture Capital Corp. Taiwan, Taiwan Cultural 30% NTD20,000,000
Bl gl $RERNBRAR 11 September 2013 aig development 20,000,000 7 & %
28 2013F9A 118 XAHEE
BEAREE (tR) HERHEEBRAR  The PRC, The PRC Education 30% RMB6,000,000
2 August 2012 H #E AR 6,000,0007T
HE - 201258A2H
FEREERETLERABRAF  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 42.75% RMB10,526,300
3 December 2015 R development AR 10,526,300 7T
HE - 2015%12 838 peidid
Sky Fame Business Limited British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Investment 25% uSD100
REEZBRAR 8 August 2016 BB holding 100%7T
RBREIRES - REER
201648 A8H
Beijing Phoenix Li LiTa Information ~ The PRC, The PRC Provision of 8.54% RMB10,653,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (“LLT") 22 August 2014 F financing AEK#10,653,0007T
(Note ) HE 201468 A22AH platforms
TRBEEERTESRMERAR REAE
(122w ])(MEc)
Sky Fame Co. Ltd.* Taiwan, Taiwan Programme 25% NTD500,000
REBRAF 11 May 2017 RE production 500,000 7 &
A% 2017F5A 1A 8B BHF
* For identification purpose only * EHEE
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18 Investments in associates (Continued) 18 REFEQNRINIRE (&)
Details of the principal associates which are accounted for by R20184F 12 A31 HME BH# L A A
the equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2018 are (LAE=ERHEAR) 80T - (&)

298

as follows: (Continued)

Percentage Issued and fully
of equity paid share
Place and date of Place of Principal interest held capital/
Name incorporation Operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEEREN ERITRBRE
£ MR A EE TEER RAEZESL BRA/SWER
EESE(LR)HERBAERAA  The PRC, The PRC Education 40% RMB10,000,000
6 May 2016 i technology AR 10,000,000 7T
ME 201645768 HERE
EFEEER U ERER LA The PRC, The PRC Cultural 35% RMB146,153.85
29 December 2016 R development AR 146,153.85 7T
HE 2016912 A29H XiHEE
BREREMAEHARMARRAR  The PRC, The PRC Internet 16.35% RMB2,000,000
19 April 2017 R technology AE#2,000,0007T
B 2017F4 A19A development
BHERRRE
AR AEEHARMAERAR  The PRC, The PRC Internet 16.35% RMB1,500,000
24 July 2017 I technology AR 1,500,000 7T
mE 201757 A 248 development
BRI AR
BEEZ R (ER)ERAF  The PRC, The PRC Technology 42.75% RMB2,000,000
8 March 2017 HE development AR 2,000,0007T
ME - 201743A8H IR
AIEEREERAR The PRC, The PRC Game 19.29% RMB10,418,750
8 March 2017 F development AE#10,418,750 T
mE - 201743A8H R
B RRGREREER AR The PRC, The PRC Technical 21.80% RMB5,000,000
4 December 2018 I consultation AR5,000,0007T
ME 20185 12 A4H SRR
IrHEBRERREER AT The PRC, The PRC Cultural 23.67% RMB500,000
22 June 2017 HE development AR 500,0007C
ME - 201756 A 220 XHE
BrAsEE R EEBR AT The PRC, The PRC Digital Media 10.26% RMB500,000
30 October 2017 H Y AR 500,0007T
ME 2017410 A30 8
* For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

18 Investments in associates (Continued) 18 REFEQNRINIRE (&)
Note IE
(@) Aggregate information of associates that are individually @ ERNIFEEMHERTNNETE
immaterial *
The Group has interests in a number of individually immaterial REBERZHE N ESEHEARM
associates that are accounted for using the equity method. AR IEE B/ EE A QR P A
2018 2017
2018 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr v
The Group's share of NEBB(RTREE
profits less losses and ReERS B
total comprehensive
income 10,632 (19,888)
Aggregate carrying amount  AREEBEA I EEE SN A
of the Group's interests 2w (BEEE)
(including goodwill) VEFHEREE
in these associates 89,734 78,503
(b)  As at 31 December 2018, there are no commitments and (b)  H2018F 12 A31H » AEE W &

contingent liabilities relating to the Group'’s interests in associates
(2017: Nil).

SLE OB A R A B RO
EERKBEE Q0T74F &) -
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Investments in associates (Continued)

Note (Continued)

(c)

The Group held equity interest in LLT amounting to
RMB1,000,000 (approximately HK$1,212,000) as at 31 December
2015. On 20 May 2016, Beijing Huibo Advertisement Media
Limited Company (1t 7 ERE E & EH AR 2 7)) (“Huibo”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. He Xin,
Mr. Zhang Zhen (together “Major Shareholders”) and LLT entered
into an investment agreement (“Agreement”), pursuant to which
Huibo has conditionally agreed to make a capital contribution of
RMB38,136,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$45,607,000)
to subscribe for an additional of approximately 1.25% equity
interest in the enlarged capital of LLT. At the same time, other
investors also agreed to subscribe an aggregate of approximately
4.88% equity interest in LLT for RMB165,000,000 (approximately
HK$197.324,000).

Under the Agreement, Huibo and other investors were granted
both call options and put options (“Options”) with the same
exercise terms. The call option enables the holder to further
acquire a maximum of 8.75% additional equity interest in LLT
at RMB1 per share from the Major Shareholders in the event
that LLT cannot achieve the expected transaction amounts or
revenues for the years ending 31 December 2016 and 2017
The put option grants the holder the right to request LLT to
repurchase those equity interest acquired by Huibo on or after
the date of the Agreement for a consideration equivalent to the
aggregate of the initial investment costs of the relevant equity
interest and the return of investment based on an annual rate
of return of 10% should LLT fail to list, or decide not to list, on
a recognised stock exchange in or outside the PRC before 31
December 2020.

The aforesaid capital increase was completed during the
year ended 31 December 2016 and the Group indirectly held
approximately 8.54% effective equity interest in LLT. The directors
of the Company considered that the Group now has significant
influence over LLT through its representative on the board of
directors of LLT, LLT's reliance on the branding of Phoenix, and
the relationship of the controlling shareholder of LLT with the
Group. The total investment costs in LLT have been separated
into (i) “investments in associates” which are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting; and (i) “financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss” (2017: “derivative financial assets”)
for the call and put options (Notes 25 and 37).

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

18 RBERRANRE (&)

Wi

(c)

(#)

R2015%12 A31 8 AEEHE
A R 1,000,000 7T (471,212,000
BIL) 2R RE - R20164F
5A208 kR EEESEER
BAR ([EHE] EARARAZ

—EHEEEMNBAR) HESE
E-REEE(HEBAIARRK

R REEEIIVRERZE (%
&l - Eit  ERE KGR E
& AR #538,136, ooofz (FBER
#945,6070007%% 70) UREEETD
%&%}EKﬁZﬁZ%‘EM\L%%Hﬂ%o
£t [ B - ﬁﬁm&ﬁ%ﬁﬁféu
A R #165,000,0007T (1% 7%
197,324,000 1) %ﬁdﬁ%ﬁi@?é#\
#494.88% AR HE ©

BEZ W% EFREMEEER
R R A R ROG AR ([
1) TEIEFAER - IRIERE R
- HEEE T AREEDEE2016
FR2017F12ANBIEFEZE
R SeER A - HHAGEN
BRARE1TAARRE—FK
BEET 2 5%8.75% BINRAE
RERL AN - WEIRET R
2020 12 A31 BRTE R BIE Rk
BINORAIBHF R S EsRE
MELET - BB ABRERIERE
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries

BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IR

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

19 KEBAQTE]

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: BATIRBAT
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
MY IR AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, limited Hong Kong Provision of 100% HK$20
Company Limited liability company &%  management and 0%
BEFRARAR A BREEAR related services
RIUERR
BRRS
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% US$1
(Chinese Channel) Limited limited liability company B television (EFD
BEGRFXABRAR RBRIES broadcasting
BRELRA GREERERE
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong  Satellite television 100% US$1
(Movies) Limited limited liability company B broadcasting (EFD
BEREYAEROA" EBRNES BRERER
BRELRA
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin -~ Trademark holding 100% US$1
Trademark Limited limited liability company Islands HEEE 1%7T
BEARARERAR EBRUES RERAEHS
BRELRA
Phoenix Chinese News & The United Kingdom, The United Satellite 70% £9,831,424
Entertainment Limited limited liability company Kingdom television 9,831,424 55
5B BREMAF it broadcasting
BRERER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin Investment 54.51% US$1
Information Limited limited liability company Islands holding (3
BEENERAR EERAES EERNES RERKR
BRELRA
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

302

(a)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BRARFEET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin Investment 100% US$1
(B.V.) Holding Limited limited liability company Islands holding (0
(Note a i) RERLEE EBRENAE REER
BEEREERRAR" BRELRA
Hong Kong Phoenix Weekly Hong Kong, Hong Kong Publishing and 77% HK$100
Magazine Limited limited liability company B distribution of 100787T
EBERANBRAF &5 BREMLARF periodicals
AR R AT
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong  Satellite television 100% US$1
(InfoNews) Limited limited liability company B broadcasting (EFD
BEFRAAAERAR EERARS GREERERE
BRELRA
Phoenix Film and Television The PRC, The PRC  Ancillary services 60% HK$10,000,000
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* limited liability company HE for programme 10,000,0007&7C
BEZ%E (R) BRAR T ARERLAT production
BEEIE
Phoenix Satellite Television United States, The United Provision of 100% US$1
(U.S), Inc. limited liability company States of  management and (EFD
X8 BERRAAT America promotional
ZB  related services
RIUERR
HEEARBIRRTS
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Taiwan Programme 100% US$1
(Taiwan) Limited limited liability company A production (EFD
BREERAERAR * EERAES HilEESE
BRELRA
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2018: (Continued)

R MR
(R IEABIE - SEBUBTFIE)
19 MEQE (&)

(@) M2018F12A31AMEBH
BARGBWT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Hong Kong Phoenix Satellite Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$2
Television Limited limited liability company B holding 28
EAEEERERAR A BREEAR RERKR
Fenghuang On-line (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.51% US$31,850,000
Information Technology limited liability company e consulting 31,850,000% T
Company Limited * T ARERAT B
BEER (L) EERMBRAR
Hong Kong Phoenix Books Culture  Hong Kong, The PRC Publication 100% HK$1
Publishing Company Limited limited liability company e AR 187
ERBEEMUCRERLE A BREEAR
Phoenix Metropolis Media Hong Kong, The PRC Outdoor 100% HK$400
Holdings Limited limited liability company Izl media business 40078 7T
BE#TEEERERAR FE BREERA POMiERH
Phoenix New Media Limited Cayman Islands, The PRC Investment 54.51% US$2,643,353
BEFREER AR limited liability company HE holding (Class A
HEHE  ARALAT REER Ordinary shares)
US$3,173,254
(Class B
Ordinary shares)
2,643,353 %7
(ABEER)
3,173,254 %t
(BELER)
Phoenix Pictures Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
BEFRUERRAF limited liability company a5 holding 15T
A BREEAR RERKR

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

304

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BRARFEET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/

Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital

EMRIBER AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEEH RARZEA ZMER

Phoenix Centre (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Property holding 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company e VeSS 15T

BEHL (BE) BRARA A BREEAR

Green Lagoon Investments British Virgin Islands, The PRC Property holding 100% US$1

EHRABRAR limited liability company HE VeSS 15T

EERAES  FREALT

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor media 45.54% RMB154,000,000
Technology Company Limited* limited liability company e business AR 154,000,000 70
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMiERT

BEHTEERERNERAR
(Fitzte)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB22,072,992
(Shanghai) Company Limited * limited liability company BB media business ARE22,072,992 7T
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMiRERS

BEGRSTEE (L8) BRAF
(Fitzte)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB8,857320
{Hangzhou) Company Limited * limited liability company mE  mediabusiness AR%8857320 7T
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMERERT

EEERATEE (M) BRAF
(Fitzte)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB35,000,000
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* limited liability company B media business AR35,000,0007
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMERERT

EE#TEE (RY) BRAF
(Fitzte)

# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2018: (Continued)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2018F12A31AMEBH
BARGBWT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/

Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital

EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEEH  RNEZESN ZMER

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB3,000,000
(Guangzhou) Company Limited * limited liability company HE media business ARH3,000,0007C
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMEERER

BE#HTEE (BN) ERAF
(Misc)

Jiangsu Phoenix Metropolis The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB15,000,000
Media Company Limited * limited liability company e media business AR 15,000,0007C
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMEERER

IHEEEBTEEERARA
(Mic)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMBB8,795,328
(Sichuan) Company Limited * limited liability company HE media business AR#8795328 70
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMEERER

EESmER (W) BRAR
(Mic)

Phoenix Oriental (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Property holding 70% RMB300,000,000
Properties Company Limited * limited liability company mE VeSS AE%300,000,0007T
(Note d HE - BREAAT

BERH (7)) EXERAH
(Mtza)

PNACC Television (Canada) Inc. Canada, Vancouver, Satellite 100% CAD100

limited liability company British television 100417
mex - ERAFAH Columbia, broadcasting
Canada BEEEEE
mex
EETRILDE
BEED
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2018F 12 A3 B EEM
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December 2018: (Continued)

BARFBET : (&)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
MY IR AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Phoenix Metropolis Media Hong Kong, The PRC Outdoor 100% HK$10,000
Company Limited limited liability company HE media business 10,0007
BEHTEEERAR FE BREERA POMiERT
Phoenix Radio Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong  Investment holding 100% HK$1
EREEBRAA limited liability company &E RERKR 1T
A BREEAR
Phoenix Satellite Télévision (France)  France, France Satellite 100% EUR500,000
SAS limited liability company EE television 500,000 E(T
B BRAREAF broadcasting
BRERER
Beijing Tianying Jiuzhou The PRC, The PRC Advertising, 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Network Technology limited liability company B mobile value-add AR#10,000,0007
Co. Ltd.* (Note afi) T ARERLAT service, games
FRRBAMNBERIBRAR and others
(tsZali) BERE
BELERT -
BESHEREM
Yifeng Lianhe (Beijing) Technology The PRC, The PRC Mobile value-add 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Co. Ltd.* (Note ali) limited liability company Izl services AR#10,000,0007
REHA (tR) BEERERARA B BREEAR BEEER
(FizE i)
Beijing Tianying Changzhi The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.51% RMB5,000,000
Advertising. Co. Ltd. (Note i)} limited liability company e L5 AR%5,000,0007

SRRBEIEEEERAT
(BizEalii)

ME - BREMLA

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 HBLATE (&)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW ZMER
PSTV, LLC United States, The United  Property holding 100% US$5,000,000
limited liability company States of nEEE 5,000,000
B BREMATF America
e
Phoenix Metropolis Communication ~ The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 100% RMB76,922,334
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* limited liability company B mediabusiness ARH76922,334 T
BEHTXER GLR) BRAF B BREEAR POMiRERT
Phoenix Cultural Consult (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Radio 100% RMB1,000,000
Co., Ltd. * limited liability company e broadcasting ARH1,000,0007C
BEMEX#R LR) BRAF B BREEAR ZaER
P RERBEEEERAR The PRC, The PRC Radio 100% RMB19,000,000
limited liability company HE broadcasting AK#19,000,0007
HE - ARELAA ZaER
Phoenix (UK) Properties Hong Kong, Hong Kong Properties 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company B holding 18
BB (£B) B2ERAR FE BREERA NERE
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Television 100% HK$1
{Hong Kong Channel) Limited limited liability company B broadcasting 18
BE&R (B5a) BRAF A BRRAAT SHRER
Phoenix New Media (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Advertising 54.51% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company e BERE 18T
BETEE (B%) BRAA A BRRAAT
Peak Apex Limited British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Aircraft 100% US$1
BEFRAF limited liability company B chartering services (EFD
EERAES R SRR
BREFLF
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

308

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2018: (Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2018F12A31AMEBH
BARGBWT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEEH  RNEZESN ZMER
Phoenix Research & Development  British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Research and 100% US$1
Limited limited liability company BE development (EFD
BERERERERAT EERAES WrRFEE
BREFLF
Phoenix Industrial Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Research and 100% HK$1
Centre Limited limited liability company BE development 18
BEEXERTLOERAA A BRRAAT HRkR%E
Phoenix Research Institute Limited ~ Hong Kong, Hong Kong Research and 100% -
BEHRERER AR company limited B development
by guarantee WEREE
A ERERAR
Phoenix Culture Industrial Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company B holding 18
BEXEEERERAT 4 BREEAR RERKR
Phoenix Culture Creation Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company BE development 18
BEXEERERAT % BRRAAT MR
Phoenix Culture Creation Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Management Company Limited limited liability company BE development 18
BEXEIEBERAR A BREEAR TR
Phoenix Culture Creation Industrial ~ Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Investment Management limited liability company BE development 18
Company Limited &5 BREMLAF WILHEE
BEXEIEEREERERLE
Beijing Fenghuang Yutian The PRC, limited The PRC Software 54.51% RMB5,000,000
Software Technology Co., Ltd. * liability company e development ARH5,000,0007C
FRBERREERIERAR HE - ARELRA BHRE

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 KELF (&)
(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B

December 2018: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/

Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital

HMALBER FEEREN BETRBRRAE/
£ EEERER BERY FTEERK RABHRED amER

S RERBE B RRAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.51% RMB10,000,000
(formerly known as/ 3178 limited liability company e consulting AR#10,000,0007
IR EEEBIREES HE - BREAAT R
RITERAR
(Note i) (fzEafii)))

Phoenix Culture Industrial The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB25,000,000
Development (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*  limited liability company e development AR 25,000,000

BEGSESER (LF) HE - BREAAT MR
BRAT]

Tianjin Fenghuang Mingdao The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.51% RMB2,000,000
Culture Communication limited liability company mE RERE AE%2,000,0007T
Co., Ltd. * (Note ali) HEl - BREEAR

REBRBEERERAT
(Fit&E alii)

Shanghai Yixi Network The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.51% RMB100,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note afii) limited liability company HE consulting AKH100,000,000 70

LBERBERIERARA HE - BREAAT R
(Fir&E alii)

Beijing Fenghuang Convergence The PRC, The PRC Financial 54.51% RMB400,000
Investment Co. Ltd.* (Note alii) limited liability company M consulting services ARE400,0007

IREEREREERAT HE - BREAAT SRFARE
(Fir&E alii)

Shanghai Miaogiu Information The PRC, The PRC Technical 40.88% RMB1,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e consulting ARH1,000,0007C
(Note afii)) (Note c) HE - BREAAT RirAA

LEEREERITERAA
(BizEalii) (HzEc)

# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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(a)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BRARFEET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Chengdu Huanyou Tianxia The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.51% RMB500,000
Network Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e consulting AR 500,000
(Note ali) HE - ARELAA U
RERER MEENHERAR
(FizE i)
Phoenix Overseas Infonews Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company e holding 18T
BEENERERAR FE BREERA RERKR
Fenghuang Feiyang (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.51% RMB100,000,000
New Media Information limited liability company HE EERE AEH100,000,0007C
Technology Co., Ltd.* T ARERAT
BERE (bR) FERES
BERAR
Phoenix New Media (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 54.51% HK$1
Information Technology limited liability company B holding 18
Company Limited &5 BREMLAF REER
BB (B4) ERRMERAF
Convergence Investment Co. Ltd Cayman Islands, Cayman Islands Investment 54.51% US$0.01
limited liability company HEHE consultancy 0.01%TT
HeHS RE®A
BRELRA
Phoenix InfoNews Japan Limited*  Japan, Japan Satellite 100% JPY 9,000,000
JIZYGAeA YT FZ0=Ae limited liability company =p television 9,000,000 £
VAUAVZ/ s B BREFARF broadcasting
BEZARRBRAR* BEERER
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2018: (Continued)

R MR
(R IEABIE - SEBUBTFIE)
19 MEQE (&)

(@) M2018F12A31AMEBH
BARGBWT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW ZMER
Shanghai Phoenix General The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB100,000,000
Nice Art Development Co. Ltd.* limited liability company e development AKH100,000,000 70
TEEERRENEREARLE HE - ARELAA TR
Fread Limited (formerly known as Cayman lslands, Cayman Islands Investment 54.51% US$0.01
*I Game Limited” ) exempted company HEHE holding N ESH
Fread Limited HEHE REER
(7178 [1 Game Limited |  E=E YN
FBERAA")
| Game (Hong Kong) Company Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 54.51% HK$1
Limited limited liability company e holding 18T
B (B%) BRAR A BREEAR RERKR
Beijing Chenhuan Technology The PRC, The PRC Game 54.51% RMB1,500,000
Co., Ltd.*(Note a i) limited liability company e development AR®1,500,000 7T
FRESRBERAR (Miai) P BREFARA BEISHE
Beijing Youjiuzhou Technology The PRC, The PRC Game 54.51% RMB1,500,000
Co., Ltd.*(Note a i) limited liability company e development AR®1,500,000 7T
ERENNERERAF HE - ARELAA BEISHE
(FizE i)
Beijing Huanyou Tianxia The PRC, The PRC Game 54.51% RMB1,500,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note a (ii)) limited liability company e development AR®1,500,000 7T
FRBERTHEERAF HE - ARELAA BEISHE
(FizE i)
Beijing Fenghuang Borui Software ~ The PRC, The PRC Software 54.51% US$1,000,000
Technology Co. Ltd.* limited liability company Izl development 1,000,000E 7T
FTREEESRHRNERELAR  RE FREALT BHRE

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)
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(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2018: (Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2018F12A31AMEBH
BARGBWT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEEH  RNEZESN ZMER
Qie YiYou (Beijing) Information The PRC, The PRC Game 54.51% US$5,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company i development 5,000,000%7T
&S (tR) EERMERRT HE - BREEAR BREE
Phoenix Education Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company e holding 18T
BEHAREEERAR A BRELAR REER
Phoenix International Education Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 60% HK$500,000
Company Limited limited liability company i holding 500,000 57T
FRERHEERAR 7% BRRAAT REER
EA (R BERBER AT The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company i ) ARH5,000,0007
HE - BRERAT
[EEHES (LR) HERRARAR  The PRC, The PRC Education 80% RMB10,000,000
(Note a (i) (5= afii)) limited liability company HE H5 AR#10,000,0007
hE - BREARR
ERSE R HEHRERRAT  The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB2,000,000
(formerly known as /818 limited liability company mE HE AKH#2,000,0007C
BMERES R HE - AREAAA
AR Note afil) (P& afi)
Phoenix Property Investment British Virgin Islands, British Investment 100% US$1
Holding Limited limited liability company  Virgin Islands holding (E
BEESRABRERAR EERAES EERAEE REHER
BREFAH
Phoenix Property Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Property 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company i development 18T
BEEXREARAR B8 BREAAR NEERE
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 HBLATE (&)

MR20185 12 A31 B #y = & it
BRRBEOT  (8)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a)
December 2018: (Continued)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
MY IR AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Phoenix Cloud Technology Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company i holding 18T
BEERRBERERAT Fh BREEAR RERR
BEER (tx) MRERERAF  The PRC, The PRC Technical 100% RMB3,000,000
limited liability company i consulting ARH3,000,0007C
HE - AREEAR SRS
Phoenix Entertainment and Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 96.5% HK$1
Game Company Limited limited liability company i holding 1B
BEREBEBRAT FE ARELRA REARR
(Note alvi))
(Mtzatvi)
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Investment Limited limited liability company B holding 18
BEGRREBRAR % BRRAAT REER
Phoenix New Life Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
BEFEEEAERAT limited liability company BE holding 18T
Fh BREEAR RERR
FRBEXRAEER AR AR The PRC, The PRC Investment 96.5% RMB1,000,000
(Note alvi) limited liability company i holding ARH1,000,0007C
(Mtzanvi) HE - AREALT REARR
IRERGERRER AT The PRC, The PRC Game 96.5% RMB10,000,000
(Note alvi) limited liability company e development AR#10,000,0007
(Htezatvi) HEl - BREEAR BEIRE
Phoenix Hong Kong Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Dormant 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company &k Taxk 1T
BEEAERARAR B BRELAT
FRBEERESRITERAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.51% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company i consulting ARH5,000,0007C
Ml EREERA U]
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

314

(a)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER BERY FTEERK RABHRED amER
BEGHRCES (L8) BRAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB20,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%20,000,0007
HE - BREAAT TR
BERE () RREERE The PRC, The PRC Investment 80% RMB5,000,000
BRAT] limited liability company e management ARH5,000,0007C
HE - BREAAT REER
Phoenix Exhibitions Company Hong Kong, Hong Kong Exhibitions 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company B business 18
FEERARAT A BRRAAT EEXHK
FERREBEREERAR The PRC, The PRC Games 96.5% RMB1,000,000
(Note afvi) limited liability company HE development ARH1,000,0007C
(MEEatvi) HE - BREAAT BRI
Shanghai Fengyu Shixun The PRC, The PRC Media 54.51% RMB50,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e technology AR50,000,0007
DRERRHRARAT T ARERLAT development
e
T REEEFHBEERAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 34.20% RMB14,618,900
(formarly known as/ Bii & limited liability company e consulting AR 14,618,900 7
FRBEST R HE - ARELAA S
BRAR)Note o) (Hizte)
Beijiing Fengyue Culture The PRC, The PRC Media 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e technology AR#10,000,0007
IREEUEREARAT T ARERAT development
R
Tianjin Fengying Hongda Culture The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.51% RMB2,000,000
Communication Co., Ltd.* limited liability company Izl promotion ARH2,000,0007C
REBRREUERERLE HE - ARELRA TR

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

19 WEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BRARFEET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
MY IR AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Tianjin Fengman Culture Media The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company el promotion AK#10,000,0007C
REBEBEERAR HE - BRETAR YR
Beijing Fengge Advertising The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e EERE AK%10,000,0007C
tREREEERAT HE - BREEAR
Phoenix Culture Property Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HKD1
Investment Limited limited liability company B holding BT
BEX( EXERAT] &t BREERA RERR
IREEEEREARAT The PRC, The PRC Technology 5451% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company e development AR%5,000,0007T
HE - ARELAA RhnEE
IRBEHTREUERAR The PRC, The PRC Cultural 45.54% RMB8,000,000
limited liability company e promotion AK#8,000,0007C
hE - AREERR WiHkE
BEAECAE GER) BRAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 82.35% RMB2,000,000
limited liability company i promotion AR2,000,0007C
hE - AREEAT YR
Lilita Financial Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, The PRC Investment 100% USD1
limited liability company i holding 157
LBRNES ER REER
EfAR
PHOENIX SATELLITE Hong Kong, The PRC Sofeware 100% HKD1
TELEVISION APP LIMITED limited liability company e application 18
BEEREAEAARAT &5 BREMAF development
T ERRE
Tianjin Fengxiaoman Culture The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Media Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e promotion AK#10,000,0007C
REE/NELEEBRAR HE - BRELAR YR

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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(a)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
AL bR REEBEN  BRORERRE/
£ EERRER EENHY TEER  RABEASN EfER
BEZH () GBERRERRAAE  The PRC, The PRC Technology 100% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company HE development ARH1,000,0007C
HE - AREAAA SR
Fengyu Limited Cayman Islands, Cayman Investment 54.51% USD0.01
limited liability company Islands holding ESH
FEHS HEHS RERR
BREFLF
BRgE (K2) BRAR The PRC, The PRC Data 54.51% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e technology AK10,000,0007C
HE - ARELAA BB
REBRBEERAT The PRC, The PRC Technology 54.51% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e promotion AK10,000,000 7T
HE - ARELAA RTHRE
Fengyu (Hong Kong) Information Hong Kong, The PRC Information 54.51% HKD1
Technology Company Limited limited liability company i Technology 1B
Bk (B%) EHIERAR &5 BREMLAF development
BRI
Phoenix Overseas Investment Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HKD1
Advisory Limited (formerly known limited liability company B holding 18
as Phoenix Media Investment A BRELAR REER
(Holdings) Limited)
BEBMY BRI ERAT
(FIBERERRE (BR)
BRAF)
BE#T L (RY) BRAT The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company HE promotion ARH1,000,0007C
HE - AREALA XiHEE
AR (K2) BRAR The PRC, The PRC Technology 54,51% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company HE development ARH1,000,0007C
HE - AREALA SR
Hangzhou Qike Technology The PRC, The PRC Management 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company HE consulting ARH10,000,0007
MNFERHERAE HE - AREAAA ERERS
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2018: (Continued)

Notes:

Phoenix Satellite Television (B.V.l.) Holding Limited is
directly held by the Company, while all other subsidiaries
are indirectly held by the Company through Phoenix
Satellite Television (B.V.I.) Holding Limited.

The Group does not have any equity interest in Beijing
Tianying Jiuzhou Network Technology Co. Ltd., Yifeng Lianhe
(Beijing) Technology Co. Ltd., Beijing Chenhuan Technology
Co. Ltd., Beijing Youjiuzhou.Technology Co. Ltd., Beijing
Huanyou Tianxia Technology Co. Ltd. and BlE#TEEA (b
R)HBEREAMR AR and their respective subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “VIE entities”). However,
through entering into various contractual arrangements
with the registered equity holders of VIE entities, the
Group has rights to variable returns from its involvement
with these VIE entities and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over them and is considered
to control them. Consequently, the Company regards VIE
entities as indirect subsidiaries under HKFRS. The Group
has included the financial position and results of these VIE
entities in the consolidated financial statements from date
of acquisition of control. The management of the Group is
of the opinion that these contractual arrangements are in
compliance with relevant PRC laws and regulations and are
legally binding and enforceable.

Phoenix Hong Kong Television Limited became dormant
since 12 October 2017.

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2018F 12 A3 B EEM

B

BB - ()

BiazE

FEFHRERERQR BA
RAVEEFA  MAAEM
MEARRBAREEBE
BRI EBEAR DR B
5o

AN B AL R & UM A
HEITERAR - HEBA
(At3) MEBEREEAF
IEREEREERAR -4t
RENMFMERLRF - 4b
REBERTHEARARR
RE#HBA (L3 HEH
BRERDFIARE BHE
RE (BRI AENGRE
B WEMBEAEZE- A
- RBEA NS E N
BRBGERBATLZNA
D AREH2ENLE
BEZ-y paul JukEa
BRNAREEBHUEER
RRNTEZZLH &
ERENNETENGSE
B it ARRIREEE
S 765 S o5 R AR ot 5 ] B R
SERAREMBAR - A
SERERSESE L BT
e M IBRRE AL SR
BN E B MAN R
B AEEZERERE
WEHEaHZHFEEEHE
ERFBERAREBERD
R B AR BIERTT

BEZBERERAARN

201710 A12B K B E
/NI

317



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2018

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)
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(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2018: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

iv. JERBEBERITAERZAA], in which the Group previously
held 38.47% equity interest was dissolved on 1 June 2018.

V. FEABXXLEHABR AR, in which the Group
previously held 55% equity interest was disposed on
14 March 2018.

Vi. During 2018, the Group's equity interest in Phoenix
Entertainment and Game Company Limited and its
respective subsidiaries was decreased from 100% to
96.5% as a result of capital contribution RMB20,000,000
from independent third parties.

The Company has undertaken to provide the necessary
financial resources to support the future operations of the
subsidiaries within the Group. The Directors are of the
opinion that the underlying value of the subsidiaries was
not less than the carrying amount of the subsidiaries as at
31 December 2018.

The Group has assessed the existence of control over
these subsidiaries where it does not have more than 50%
of the voting power but is able to govern the financial and
operating policies of these subsidiaries by virtue of de-
facto control.

Cash and short-term deposits of HK$2,083,380,000
(2017: HK$1,983,323,000) held in the PRC are subject to
local exchange control regulations. These local exchange
regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital
from the country, other than through normal dividends.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

R 2018412 A31 B #y = 2
BRARFBOT : (8)

faE - (%)

v. IREREREBRAF
(REEBTRHAE3847%
f% #) B #R2018F6 818
FREN ©

V. HERBREEEERAR
(REERBAFEESS% R
#) B R2018FE3 /8148 H
£ o

vi.  RR2018%F ARBUE=H
H& AR ¥ 20,000,000 -
ANERBIBIR LB A R
UNGIDNENi NG ol N
ﬁT/iE‘ﬂ 100% 7)—@2?:96.5% °

RRREHRBVETHER
A HAREE RN ERFRR
REB-EERE WERA
RFERBEEETENRINE R RR
20184 12 A 31 HAERMEE -

AL 2t EL I B B 50 % JA
EREREDEREED G
BREZEMBRRMBRE
BRRZZEMBAREZ
BIF s -

AR Bl A 2 2,083,380,000 7%
7T (2017 4F : 1,983,323,000 %
L) Be REHHTRBETIH
T3 SN B G o it it 5 Hh
[ & I A5 I BR B (Y B N EE &
- HEFEBIREERR ST
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(e)

Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December
2018 are HK$2,257,223,000 (2017: HK$1,937,120,000),
of which HK$315,226,000 (2017: HK$342,057,000) is
attributed to PMM Beijing and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “PMM Group”); HK$1,762,870,000 (2017:
HK$1,424,331,000) is attributed to Phoenix New Media
Limited (“PNM") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as "PNM Group”); and HK$165,262,000 (2017:
HK$173,861,000) is attributed to Phoenix Oriental (Beijing)
Properties Company Limited (“Phoenix Oriental”). The
non-controlling interests in respect of other subsidiaries in
which the Group holds less than 100% are not material.

Set out below are the summarised financial information
for PMM Group, PNM Group and Phoenix Oriental that
have non-controlling interests that are material to the
Group. See Note 39 for transactions with non-controlling
interests.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(e)

BEE IR ED

R2018F 12 A31 H Z e %
E 25 48 58 52,257223,00058
7T (20174 : 1,937120,000 %
JT) ¢+ & B #9315,226,000 7%
JC

7.

1

>+

(2017 4F : 342,057,000
gt) HERIL B EET RE
ME AR (G [t =B R AT
&= E]):1,762,870,00078 T
(2017 % : 1,424,331,000 %
L) BEREEMEEERA
A ([BEFEE]) RENEA
A (T [BEMEEEE])
165,262,000 7% JT (2017 4F -
173,861,0007% t) 5% & 7 Bl
BERA (AR BEEBRAF
(TBRRRA]) - BAKEEFH
D 100% 4 25 9 E D BT B A
RIE AT E ST IEEE -

TXEINHEEHAEERER
Z FEERRHE a B0 A B VBB T
£ REFEREEREE
RITMWMIEEREE - BIEE
Ptz X5 FLHMEES9
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(e) Material non-controlling interests (e) BEIEEMER (8)
(Continued)
Summarised balance sheet EEABRUE
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
1ZEESTER BEHEEEE BEZRS
2018 2017 2018 2007 2018 2017
18 W% A18E N17E A18E W75
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
I r I i I o
Current assets TBEE 601,951 619,416 4,489,125 2,614,910 107151 46,340
Current liabilties TBRE 265,087) (275,468 (1,226,901) (1,282,659) (1,137072) (1,016,321)
Net current TEEE/
assets/lliabiltes) (BE) 58 336,864 33948 3,262,824 1,332,251 (1,029,921 (969,981)
Noncurrentassets  FRBEE 254,131 280,015 456,923 1,634,404 1,989,475 2,104,420
Non-current liabiliies ~ JERBIEE - - (159,129) (1,546) (408,679) (554,902)
Net non-current FTHEESE
assets 254,131 280,015 297794 1,632,858 1,580,796 1,549,518
Net assets EFE 590,995 623,963 3560,618 2,965,109 550,875 579,537
Non-controliing I RBEHTER/
interests within BEiREEE/
PMM Group/ BEFARNFE
PNM Group/ bl
Phoenix Oriental - 21.01) (79,749) 7436 - -
Net assets tFERSTEE/
attributable to BEREE/
owners of EEEN
PMM Group/ ElEESE
PNM Group/
Phoenix Oriental 590,995 602,952 3,480,869 2972545 550,875 579,537
Non-contralling SRR
inferests 315,226 342,057 1,762,870 1,424,331 165,262 173861
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 HBLATE (&)

(e) Material non-controlling interests e) EBIIERER (B)
(Continued)

Summarised income statement and statement of KERREZHEKBREE
comprehensive income
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
IRBESTER BEFEERE BERS
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
20185 WI7E 20185 017% 2018 01745
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
r S r L r L
Revenue WA 826,972 117472 1,706,101 1,739,253 108,345 36,484
Profitfloss) before ~ ERFTETAD
income tax a7/ (B8) 141,991 119,453 732,639 461,03 35,652 (5,933
Income tax expense  FIETER (34,174) (36,248 (172,361) (16,667) (2,944) 10,535)
Profitfloss) after REERE
income tax &t/ (58) 107817 82,705 560,278 444,356 32,708 (16,468)
Other comprehensive £ 2ENE
income - - - 6,239 - -
Profitfloss) and total £/ (B8) R
comprehensive FENGEE
income for the year 107817 82,705 560,278 450,59 32,708 (16,468)
Total comprehensive L REBETED/
income for theyear ~ EESTEEEE/
attributable to BEZARM
non-controlling FiER
interests within EIEFE2ENE
PMM Group/ 2%
PNM Group/
Phoenix Oriental 5,686 2,088 2817 3,502 - -
Total comprehensive ~ J REBHTEE/
income for theyear  BEHBET/
attrbutable to owners  EEEHEAE A
of PMM Group/ EEEE2ENE
PNM Group/ @z
Phoenix Oriental 113,503 84,793 563,095 454,097 32,708 (16,468)
Total comprehensive  AEZFEERIERA
income allocatedto 2 ENRER
non-controling
interests 52,960 43,226 252,319 197716 9,812 (4,940)
Dividends paid to BR#EERERD
non-controling &
interests 52,044 18,931 - - - -
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(e) Material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

Y

() ERIFEMMED (F)

Summarised cash flows HEeEREHPE
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
1ZBESHEE BENRREE BERA
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
018% WI7E 018% WITE 20185 17%
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
n v n n fr e
Cash flows from F-E 9 ]
operating activities ~ B&7%E
Cash generated from/ ~ FEEHHE/
used in) operations (FTE) Be 205,086 86,768 (6,666) 249,054 61,957 11,662
Income tax paid ERFER (41,921) (27701) (14,094) (24,264) - -
Netcashgenerated ~ BEEXEEHE/
from/lused in] (M) B2 58
operating activities 163,165 59,067 (20,760) 224,790 61,957 11,652
Net cash generated from/ REEHE,/
(used in) investing (M) B2 58
activities 77953 (132,059) (1,137669) (11.387) (1,679) (7567)
Netcash used i/ BEEEE) (A /
generated from R 8
financing activities (95,557) (12,143 (89,804) (19,255) - (17864)
Net increase/(decrease) R& R RS SEER
in cash and cash g/ (59)
equivalents #E 145,561 (85,135) (1,248,233) 194,148 60,278 (13,779)
Cash and cash R RRe%E
equivalents at R
beginning of year 93,969 172,563 1,507,452 1,252,688 25,214 41,735
Net exchange REREESERR
{losses)/gains MES (E8)/
on cash and Va5
cash equivalents (11,563) 6,541 (62,763) 60,616 (2,554) (2,742)
Cash and cash FRReNRE
equivalents at SEE
end of year 221967 93,969 196,456 1,507452 82,938 25,214

The information above is the amount before intercompany

eliminations.
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Credit quality of financial assets 20

The credit quality of financial assets can be assessed by
reference to external credit ratings or historical information
about counterparty default rates.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

MREEZFEER

MBEENEEERI2EAHRS
HFRINBEETRIENBERNE
2B T AR

Accounts receivable JFEUW IR K
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$'000 $'000
T T

Counterparties without WEINBEERNZZHEF
external credit rating

Group 1 #8711 72,898 61,860
Group 2 #8712 983,286 990,650
1,056,184 1,052,510

Other receivables

HoAth & W SRR

2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt

Counterparties without WEINBEERNZSHEF

external credit rating

Group 1 48501 4,778 10,166
Group 2 48512 624,401 605,874
629,179 616,040
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20 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued) 20 HIBEEZEFEEEZE (&)

Amounts due from related companies JEW B fiE R R FR
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Counterparties without WEINBEERNZZHEF
external credit rating
Group 2 48512 90,834 333,610
Group 1 — new customers/related parties (less than 6 months). AR — B BREEAL (DR
ANEA) -
Group 2 — existing customers/related parties (more than 6 #7R12 —BEVEEONBRERRS,
months) with no defaults in the past. EREATLT (ZRANEA) -
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEIER
Ratings by rating agencies of banks at which cash and deposits R EE AR T HMRITH
are held AR
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
AA - AA- 101,079 298,247
A+ A+ 315,911 4,530
A A 41,036 29,738
A- A- 478,316 1,023,954
BBB+ BBB+ 188,266 805,364
BBB BBB 1,032 215
BBB- BBB- 6,592 20,992
Others (Note a) Hit (fifzta) 113,948 35,360
1,246,180 2,218,400
Note a: Others represented cash held at banks without credit rating. Mizta: HMIEHAKREEATRANRT
These banks are reputable banks with no defaults in the past. FrARe  ZERITESE

RAF - BEAEIERFOA -
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Credit quality of financial assets (Continued)

Restricted cash

20

MBREEZFEER (&)

ZRHIRE

2018 2017
2018 % 2017
$'000 $000
F FT
A+ A+ - 351
A A 226 236
226 587
Available-for-sale financial assets AL EN KR EE
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $000
F FT
Others (Note b) Hth (FisEb) - 725,395

Note b: Balance represents investments in debt and equity securities
of private companies which credit ratings are not available.

MiED

BHRARBAERE BRI

ZRAARRIER REAES
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20 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued) 20 HIBEEZEFEEEZE (&)

Bank deposits RITIFEA

2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$000 $000
Fr T
A A 11,321 -
A A 243,395 2,356
BBB+ BBB+ 128,998 422,962
BBB- BBB- 35,591 45,652
419,305 470,970

Pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRITER
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$000 $'000
Fr I
AA- AA- 434,909 781,666
BBB+ BBB+ 299,836 -
734,745 781,666
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n e IR

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Credit quality of financial assets (Continued) 20 MKEEZEFEEE (&)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or AT ESEBERCROI
loss HERE

2018 2017
2018 & 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
AA- AA- 19,782 24,406
BBB+ BBB+ 1,030,227 -
Other (Note c) EAth (F5Ec) 2,254,494 -
3,304,503 24,406
Note c: Balance represents investments in debt and equity securities itc: BHRERBENEETRNEE

of private companies which credit ratings are not available.

None of the financial assets that are fully performing has been
renegotiated during the year (2017: Nil).

Accounts receivable, net

ZRAARRIER REAES

FTEZ2ERTHNMEEER TR E
FUEFER (2017 F « &) »

21 EWERFERE

2018 2017

20185 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr I

Accounts receivable FEUER R 1,056,184 1,052,510
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (137,062) (112,270)
919,122 940,240

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, net, approximate RN RS RER R A HE A N F(EME

their fair values.

The Group has appointed an advertising agent in the PRC
to promote the sales of the Group’s advertising airtime and
programme sponsorship and collect advertising revenues within
the PRC on behalf of the Group. The Group generally requires
its advertising customers to pay in advance. Customers of other
business segments are given credit terms of 30 to 180 days.

4+

= oo

REBEEFHASET—LESNIE -
FEUBAEERPEIEANEENER
MESREHEEREEEE - WIRE
BERA - AEE—RERKEERS
TESESNIE - EMEBSENES
X T30E180 BMEEH] -
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21 Accounts receivable, net (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, the ageing analysis of the accounts

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

21 BUWERFFE ()

MN2018F 12 A31 0 - BWEFER

receivable from customers was as follows: FERIR DT T -

2018 2017

2018 & 2017 &

$'000 $'000

Fr T

0-30 days 0% 30H 277,630 316,041
31-60 days 31260H 208,012 199,573
61-90 days 61290 H 156,020 131,337
91-120 days 912 120H 116,490 85,604
Over 120 days 120 HEA £ 298,032 319,955
1,056,184 1,052,510
Less: Provision for impairment B RER (137,062) (112,270)
919,122 940,240

The carrying amounts of the Group's accounts receivable are

AEEEYSRANREER IS

denominated in the following currencies: REBAL
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$'000 $'000
T T
RMB AR 1,040,513 1,031,560
US$ ET 12,610 14,469
UK pound g 1,666 4,940
Other currencies HEihEE 1,395 1,541
1,056,184 1,052,510

328




21

22

4R 2018

BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Accounts receivable, net (Continued) 21 BRERFEE (8)
Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of NEEBEREFRERENE 0N
accounts receivable are as follows: T
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
At 1 January ®1A1H 112,270 135,921
Provision for impairment IERE 53,692 24,345
Receivables written off during F R SE T AT Uk (B A R LR R
the year as uncollectible (11,608) (19,486)
Reversal of provision for RE R E R D
impairment (11,470) (33,567)
Currency translation differences E¥HREZ% (5,822) 5,057
At 31 December ®12A31H 137,062 112,270
The creation and release of provision for impaired accounts B R FE W R R AT IR B i M g [l
receivables of approximately HK$42,222,000 (2017: B % #942,222,00058 JT (2017 4F :
HK$9,222,000) have been included in “Selling, general 9,222,000/ ) * EFt Ak A W
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated income KPTHEE —BERITHER] B
statement (Note 7). The Group has written off approximately T (7)) - REBEREAFRER
HK$11,608,000 (2017: HK$19,486,000) of accounts receivable FEIR T E 1 A FE KRR ORI (B B
against the provision for impairment of accounts receivable 4 85 4911,608,000 7 7T (2017 4F -
made in prior years during the year because there is no 19,486,000/ 7T) WU AR © REA
expectation of recovering additional cash. RIEBTEWEIFEINEE o
There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts HRAEEHERERP  WUEE
receivable because the Group has a large number of customers. FRRBEER N EE SRR
. . Th1E . 45
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 FEFE - ZERHMEK

IR

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr Fi

Prepayment and deposits FENRERIES 308,772 250,864
Other receivables H bl RIE 629,179 616,040
937,951 866,904

Less: Non-current portion R FEENERER (D (79,299) (52,380)
Current portion BIEAER (D 858,652 814,524
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Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(Continued)

Included in other receivables is an amount of approximately
RMB331,843,000 (HK$374,690,000) (2017: RMB366,824,000
(HK$432,203,000)) owing from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC. The amount represents advertising revenue
collected, net of expenses incurred by Shenzhou on behalf of
the Group.

Pursuant to a service agreement signed between Shenzhou
and the Group dated 5 June 2015, Shenzhou agreed to deposit
the advertising revenue it had collected prior to the execution
of that agreement and to be collected in the future in one or
more than one specific trust bank accounts in the PRC, which
together with any interest generated from such bank account(s)
(based on prevailing commercial interest rates) would be held
in trust on behalf of the Group and handled according to the
Group’s instructions. No additional interest will be charged by
the Group on the balance.

The Trust Law in the PRC enacted in recent years has not
laid out specific detailed implementation rules applicable to
trust arrangements such as that of the Group with Shenzhou.
Therefore the extent of the enforceability of the arrangement
is still unclear. Although the management recognises that the
present arrangement is the only legally viable arrangement, the
management will continue to monitor and explore alternatives
to improve the situation.

The management of the Group is of the opinion that the amount
owing from Shenzhou of approximately RMB331,843,000
(HK$374,690,000) as at 31 December 2018 (2017: approximately
RMB366,324,000 (HK$432,203,000)) is fully recoverable and
no provision is required. The balance is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximate their fair values.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

22 FENRE  RERHEBER

I (&)

HmEkRERE SR KFTH
BEEREHMMNAORBEBOHOARE
331,843,0007T (374,690,000 7T)
(2017 F: AR¥ 366,824,000 7T
(432,203,000/87T)) ° LRI AN
REAEBWREDMHES WA (BB
i) o

RIEA N AR EE R 2015666 A5 H
FIORBHE  BNEEHERE
=1 1p % AT 2 B R R 2R A5 AR ER Y B
IR AT A B —{E sk — {8 2 B e
RITERERP AN ERAZSRT
ERPEAZEMFE (RE AT EF
L E) BRENEBUUETERE
£ UIREASEEZIEREE - 5%
BT g AR REUT A EEINFE

FELIFEMANEFATEE HER
IR S B B3 M ) (S FE R BEEY A
BIEME - At REEBELRHE
PAIEOERITREE o 8N E IR E
FRRIIRIT R BT AR LM —RITTE %
B EEEESEEER R EM
AITHREA R Z B RIEN

AEBEEERA  MR2018F12
A3TEBENEXRNREBEBLHARE
331,843,000 7T (374,690,000 JT)
(20174 = #) A R 366,824,000
7T (432,203,000 7T)) 5 7] & 2R Uk
B - B BAEELRE o BHRAEE
- 2B RAREREE -

BNRUR - R2E REAM BT IRR R
EEEENTEES
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Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other receivables are

ANRIER - ZEREMER

I (&)

AR EE A B F R BREETIAT

denominated in the following currencies: HIEHEESI(E -
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
RMB AR 557,317 591,642
Us$ ET 750 2,439
HK$ BT 67,369 18,636
UK pound e 3,659 3,318
Other currencies HEihEk 84 5
629,179 616,040

As at 31 December 2018, other receivables of HK$11,512,000
(2017: HK$12,014,000) were impaired.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of the prepayment, deposits and other
receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

MR2018FE12A31H EWEZHE
1, JE Y 3018 & 11,512,000 7T (2017
£ :12,014,000787T) °

REEAPMEYNSSERERRE
ERFTATEN TR - e REAMER
RIBR)PREE » A5 B \F5H T
HRRIERER -

- i

Inventories 23 FE&
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt

Decoder devices and RIS RS R E =R

satellite receivers 586 1,888
Merchandised goods SHEM M 9,528 5,605
10,114 7493

The cost of inventories sold of approximately HK$11,353,000
(2017: HK$3,020,000) for the year ended 31 December 2018 is
charged to the consolidated income statement.

HE208F12A3MHILEFE &
11,353,000;8 7T (20174 : 3,020,000
BIL) HEEGFEKRADS RS IRE
TR o
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24 Amounts due from related companies

332

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

24 FEWERERTFIE

2018 2017
2018 & 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Amounts due from related JEWE B A RIFRIA
companies
— Joint ventures (Note a) -G (M@) 14,892 20,704
— An associate - —fAEE R A = 10,782
— Other related companies - HibB@ERA 75,942 302,124
90,834 333,610
(a)  Amounts due from joint ventures (@) mEwagERE
2018 2017
2018 & 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Amounts due from joint JEU A B b SR
ventures 57,764 60,443
Less: Provision for B RERE
impairment (42,872) (39,739)
Amounts due from joint
ventures, net WA &b IR FE 14,892 20,704

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded a provision for impairment of approximately
HK$3,133,000 (2017: HK$17328,000), included in “Other
gains, net” after taking into account the present value of
the estimated cash flows from the joint venture.

REZE2018F 12 A31H IEF
B ZRIEGEFRBEEDRE
ZHEREMNAERE  A&EEH
EEHR B R 493,133,000 %
7t (2017 £F = 17328,0007% JT)
(FTATEAWEFEE]) ©
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24 Amounts due from related companies
(Continued)

(b) At 31 December 2018, the ageing analysis of the amounts
due from related companies, were as follows:

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

24 EWHEBRERXRINE (&)

(b) Mm2018F 128318 EK
BRE QR FIBRERER DT I0

T
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Amounts due from related  FEUW A RIE A & FIE
companies
0 -90 days 0&90H 42,590 52,850
91 - 120 days 91&120H 7,098 11,985
Over 120 days 1203 E 41,146 268,775
90,834 333,610

As at 31 December 2018, amounts due from related
companies of HK$47146,000 (2017: HK$60,462,000) were
past due but not impaired.

®2018F 12 A31H

47,146,000/8 7L (2017 4 :
60,462,000 7C) Z WA
HBRAFIBADEESER TR

B -

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
$'000 $'000
Fx Tt

Amounts due from related BB BE A 7 FIE

companies

Up to 90 days &% 90H 10,911 18,382
91 - 180 days 91 %180 H 14,774 19,048
Over 180 days 180 B E 21,461 23,032
47146 60,462
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24 Amounts due from related companies
(Continued)

25

334

(c)

(d)

The amount due from related companies are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. In 2017,
there was an amount of HK$214,215,000 due from
Particle (see Note 42) which is unsecured, interest
bearing at a range of 4.35% to 9% per annum and
repayable within one year and it was settled in 2018.
Other receivables from related parties are repayable in
accordance with credit terms.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from related
companies approximate their fair values as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

The maximum exposure of amounts due from related
companies to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying value mentioned above.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s amounts due from
related companies are denominated in RMB.

Financial assets/(liabilities) at fair value
through profit or loss

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

24 EWEBEEQATRE (E)

(c)

(d)

EWEREARIZEAER
B 2ERBREKEE-
B 2017 F - EWParticle
214,215,000 7T 3% 1 ( & B
F142) BEEMT - ®mNTF4.35
EZEIEZFFEFTERAR
—FREE LD HR2018F &
e Hibrl BB E A LR
WHRTEBIR(EEHEE

HRMBRZTELIER &
YA B 5E A SRR O AR [ £
HAFERE -

RBEBH BRARERA
R AT E R NS B R B D
biifcEE -

AEBERKEBERBFELZ
FREEAARKSIE -

25 BAVEZEBIRSCRAM
BEE (BfF)

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr FiT
Non-current assets FEREEE
Option for long term RHKREREERE
investment (Note 37) (M5E37) 18,909 -
Current assets REBEE
Trading equity securities BERAES 19,782 24,406
Convertible redeemable AJHRAR A B BB LA
preferred shares (Note 42) (MI3x42) 2,235,585 -
Structured deposits EEETR 1,030,227 -
3,285,594 24,406
Current liability REBEE
Interest rate swap FIRBEE LY
contract (Note 37) (FF5E37) (855) -
Non-current liability EREBEE
Cross-currency interest rate BEEEFNEEAEL
swap contract (Note 37) (Fg5E37) (5,363) -
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e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Financial assets/(liabilities) at fair value 25 RAFEZEBEBERTIRNE
through profit or loss (Continued) BEE(AF) (&)
Included in the financial assets at fair value through profit and BAFTEERBERTENMEEE
loss is an amount of approximately HK$19,782,000 (2017: B & #919,782,0007% JT (2017 4 :
HK$24,406,000) representing the shares of HSBC. 24,406,000 7T) KEZ D ©
These shares are held for trading. The fair value of these shares ZERODBFHEESR - HERMHZA
is based on the current bid prices in an active market. As at TEEEENERMSANEREA
31 December 2018, the closing price of the shares of HSBC & R20185F 124318 - REB L
listed in Hong Kong was HK$64.8 (2017: HK$80.0). If the price M EERMN 2B mER648E T
of the shares of HSBC increased/decreased by 20% with all (20174 : 80.0/87L) - AL FEE
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would B B EF T 820% - mATA
have been approximately HK$3,956,000 (2017: HK$4,881,000) Hin B E @I - AIFAKREIER
higher/lower. & A IE 0, 493,956,000 78 7T
(2017 % : 4,881,000/ 7T) °
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or BATEBBBRCENYEEED
loss of HK$804,025,000 (2017: HK$5,403,000) are recognised B U 75804,025,000 % 7T (2017
in “Other gains, net” in the consolidated income statement £ : 5,403,0007C) Jhat AdRa e
(Note 6). e [ H e 558 | (HiEEe) »
Available-for-sale financial assets 26 WHEHEMKEE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
$'000 $'000
Frx Fit
Balance, beginning of year FHEEH 725,395 617835
Change in accounting policy SEHBEREE) (KT EE 2(0) (i)

(Note 2(b)(iii)) (725,395) -
Additions A= - 7,068
Fair value loss NEEE - (28,635)
Interest income FELUA - 124,529
Currency translation differences & E =% - 4,598
Balance, end of year FIREERR - 725,395
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26

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued) 26 TFI{HHEMKEE (&)
Available-forsale financial assets include the following: AMHHE IS EEBRIEATIAR ¢
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
Unlisted securities: JELEMES -
— Preferred Shares - BER
- debt component - B ERMD - 705,712
- Equity securities - BRAESH - 19,683
- 725,395
(a) The carrying amounts of the Group's available-for- (a) AEEUHFEEVHEEENEK
sale financial assets are denominated in the following HEEN T EBREA
currencies:
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
RMB AR - 9,960
uss EV - 715,435
- 725,395
27 Bank deposits 27 HRITHEXR
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Short-term deposits (Note a) RN (W3Ea) 419,305 470,970

336




F3 2018 BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27 Bank deposits (Continued)

28

(a)

(b)

Short-term bank deposits represents bank deposits with
a maturity date exceeding 90 days but not exceeding 1
year from the date of making the deposits. The carrying
amounts of bank deposits are denominated in the
following currencies:

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

27 $BATERK (R

@ RHRITEIEEBFAZEAE
FTEHIEEBB0 RBET R —F
HERITIF R » RITFHIREE
AT 3 EHSIME -

2018 2017
2018 & 2017 4

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt

HK$ BT 241,039 -
RMB ARE 55,441 350,368
Us$ E 122,825 120,602
419,305 470,970

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded HK$59,549,000 interest income from
bank deposits and pledged bank deposits (2017:
HK$67,983,000).

Restricted cash

Restricted cash represents funds pledged to banks to secure
banking guarantee and advance payment.

b)) MEZE2018F12 A318 1t
FE AEBHEBRITER
REEBRITFERZ M BHK
A 59,549,000/87c(2017 4 :
67983,0007&7T) °

28 ZREERE

ERFREAREBERTRITZESIA
TR RIRTTHE R RIS R o

2018 2017

2018 & 2017 4F

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt

RMB AR 226 236
EURO BT = 351
226 587
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29 Cash and cash equivalents

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

29 RERRTEHEERE

2018 2017

2018 & 2017

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFER® 689,536 952,755

Short-term bank deposits EEIRITER 556,644 1,267273

1,246,180 2,220,028

Maximum exposure to credit risk = AEEEE 1,244,825 2,218,400
Denominated in: LARANEIME

- HK$ -BT 54,825 43,394

-RMB - AR 664,321 1,449,069

-US$ - %7 510,411 716,478

— Other currencies - Hih & 16,623 11,087

1,246,180 2,220,028

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.

30 Bank facilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has undrawn banking
facilities of HK$136,677,000 (2017: HK$72,933,000).

338

REFAHSRBRNS  HeRNS
ERE RERTRE REER S
RIREEAE A =8 A AT 2 & B
TR -

30 RITEE
R2018F 12 A31H » AEBA KR

HY $R 17 Rb & 136,677,000 7T (2017
£ :72,933,000/87T) °
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Share capital 31 B&
2018 2017
2018 2017 &
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BRHEE &8 sy 4= G|
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares BARAEE0.1 T
of $0.1 each 7B 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ETRAR :
At 1 January ®W1A1H 4,993,469,500 499,347 5,000,999,500 500,100
Exercise of share 1T AR
options - - - -
Cancellation of FEEHFTEE AR 1
repurchased shares - - (7530,000) (753)
At 31 December ®12A31H 4,993,469,500 499,347 4,993,469,500 499,347
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32 Share-based compensation

340

(a)

Share options of the Company

The Company has several share option schemes
under which it may grant options to employees of the
Group (including executive Directors of the Company)
to subscribe for shares of the Company. Options are
granted and exercisable in accordance with the terms set
out in the relevant schemes. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options
in cash.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

32 LRI E
(a) AN FIEEARAE

ARAHRA B E B AR S
REFEATAARNEEDNEE
(BRARRNNITES) BT
AR B AR m) B A Y B RSO -
PR R IR A BT BB D RO IR
R RITE - REEWET
MEEREEMEENELE
(o] sk A5 S RE A -

RITEBRESENESH L E
HEE M FITEERT M

follows: D
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 £F
Average Average
exercise exercise
price in HK$ price in HK$
per share Options per share Options
LB TSIE LA TTEIE
NER¥H WERTH
TEE B IR TEE iadibg
‘000 ‘000
T T
At 1 January W1 A1H 1.41 88,554 2.86 99,838
Granted R - - 1.41 89,504
Exercised 21T - - - -
Lapsed and BRI R EEH
cancelled 1.40 (2,370) 2.85 (100,788)
At 31 December 712 H31H 1.41 86,184 1.41 88,554

As at 31 December 2018, all of the 86,184,000 (2017:
88,554,000) outstanding options were exercisable (2017:
250,000). No options were exercised in 2018 (2017: Nil).

M2018F 12 A31H - ®H
86,184,000 (2017 % :
88,654,00017) K17 {5 & I &
B 2E0 (2017 4F : 250,000
17) BARHER F17{E - 742018
FREEITEBARE (2017 F -
) o
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Share-based compensation (Continued) 32 DR IREHEE (&)
(a) Share options of the Company (Continued) (a) ANAFIEEME (8)
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the RELRITEBREN S EAHE
following expiry dates and exercise prices: RATEELNT -

Share options

Exercise price in B

Expiry date HKS$ per share 2018 2017
FH#H LT HENSRTEE 20185 2017 F
‘000 ‘000
4 F5
21 July 2019 201947 A21 A 117 200 250
20 March 2027 202793 A20H 1.41 85,984 88,304
86,184 88,554

(b) Share options of PNM (b) [BLEFTEEE MR At
PNM has two share option schemes under which it may Bl 2\ 1 88 55 A W B B AR T
grant options to the executives, employees, directors, gl B IRE 8] A BB BT 4
consultants, advisers, agents, business partners, joint B, SEBERRMITEA
venture partners, service providers and contractors BE-EE &% EBEf- &
of PNM and/or its affiliates. Options are granted and A RE - EBEMN - 28R
exercisable in accordance with terms set out in the - REHEDRABEET
relevant share option schemes. PNM has no legal or B i o BB AR ME P] H2 AE A BB
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options AR HE R B3 51 B9 IR R AT
in cash. i o Bl BT B 3 A A E

FIEFMEEAR B O A
BRERHE -
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32 Share-based compensation (Continued)

342

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, PNM
implemented an option exchange program from 21
October 2016 to 1 November 2016, whereby PNM's
directors, employees and consultants exchanged options
to purchase 21,011,951 Class A ordinary shares of PNM
granted under PNM’'s 2008 Share Option Plan with
various exercise prices greater than US$0.4823 per
share (or US$3.8587 per ADS) for new options granted
by PNM under the same plan with a new exercise price
of US$0.4823 per share and a new vesting schedule
that generally adds 12 months to each original vesting
date, and the new options would vest no sooner than
1 May 2017. PNM accounted for the option exchange
program as option modification and recognised the total
incremental share-based compensation of US$1,700,000
(approximately HK$13,000,000), of which US$200,000
(approximately HK1,500,000) (2017: US$900,000
(approximately HK$7000,000)) was recognised in the year
ended 31 December 2018.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

32 DRI REME (&)

(b)

Rl 2\ 4% B2 RO B A
(#&)

REZE20165F12A318 I F
£ BEFEER 2016910 A
21HZ2016 F 11 A1 BEAE
TR ETE - BB B
EFEENES  EEREH
AR 45 B /21 37 54 B8 2008 G FE iR
RET B % AT B8 A 21,011,951
BRAKE X @ AR A BB AR R (5T
ETRTEEMHASRER
0.4823% 7T (KB REBTEFT
f& 1 3.85873% L)) « FIAZ#
RIE R — I SVER 2 AR
T (CGhiT{EEAEAR04823%
TG BRER —REER
FIEEBSEME12@EA)
i %7 B8 IR G N B R 2017 F
5A1HEB - BEFHEE
BREEET 2 F B EARER
BETEI AR I MR 4R 8 2 LAAR
19 37 1+t B9 % 181,700,000 € 7T
( 4913,000,0007% 7T) ' &
#9200,000 3 7t (491,500,000
7 7t) (2017 4F : 900,000 7T
(#77,000,00087T)) EREZE
2018 12 A31 HILFEMHER -
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
32 Share-based compensation (Continued) 32 IR@GMIRHEE (&)
(b) Share options of PNM (Continued) (b) Bl 2\ ¥ K 88 1) B Az
(&)
Movement in the number of share options outstanding MAITEERESEEEHLE
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as BRANETHTEENAT -
follows:
2018 2017
2018 2017 £
Average Average
exercise exercise
price in US$ price in US$
per share Options per share Options
NERTHIE AZETTYIME
WERFY HER
1TfEE B 1T(0(8 R
‘000 ‘000
T3 T1n
At 1 January ®m1A1H 0.42064 39,288 0.42754 44,445
Granted BT 0.55879 3,720 0.42394 7.255
Lapsed BEX 0.47224 (3,934) 0.50249 (7.320)
Exercised B171E 0.12247 (4,823) 0.36793 (5,092)
At 31 December %12 A31 H 0.47240 34,251 0.42064 39,288
As at 31 December 2018, out of the 34,251,000 (2017: ®2018%F 1284318
39,288,000) outstanding options, 22,372,000 (2017: 34,251,000 (20174 :
20,644,000) were exercisable. Options exercised in 2018 39,288,0001n) M AT
resulted in 4,823,000 (2017: 5,092,000) shares being B - 22,372,00017 (2017
issued at an average exercise price of US$0.12247 (2017: #:20,644,0001%) A F17T
US$0.36793). The related weighted average share price fE o R2018FTEBERET
at the time of exercise was US$0.59 (2017: US$0.77) per Bz EA%0.12247%% 7L (2017
share. #:0.36793F L) ZFHITE

B%%17 4,823,000/% (20174 :
5,092,0000%) R&fn o EAT{E
B2 AR RERTR
0.593 7T (20174 0.7737L) °

343



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

32 DRI REME (&)

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued) (b) Bl 2\ ¥ K 88 1) B Az
(&)
Management estimates the fair values of options at EIRE G ERENE L B
the grant dates. The fair values of the options were ZRAY{E - BREZ ATER
determined using the Black-Scholes model. The key Blmhn — iFRa B E
assumptions used in the valuation of the fair value of the E o HAREERENSELY
options granted on respective dates are set out in the AH AFEAEFRRAZE
below table. ERBHIINTE o
Closing share Annual Expected
Fair value of price at Exercise price risk-free life of Expected
Date of grant share options grant date per share interest options volatility
BhREN RiLBHH @R Rt
RiLBH NTE RARTHE BRTEE Ffz EES RHRE
(USS) (USS) (USS) rate (%) (years) %)
(%) (%1) (%) (%) (5) (%]
15 March 2013 2013F3A15H 0.298% 05125 044593 154 6.16 58.10
23 May 2013 2013F5823H 0.37349 061125 0.46565 160 6.16 5760
1 October 2013 WI3F10A18 09615 140625 0.7867 187 6.16 58.20
8 October 2013 13F10A8H 1.0998 15775 0.8249 188 6.16 58.20
10 December 2013 13F128108 06609 11575 1.08443 171 6.16 5840
14 March 2014 WI4FIA14A 08336 1405 131 188 6.16 62.20
4 June 2014 WILF6ALE 06626 123 12749 161 6.16 56.98
11 July 2014 WILETRNA 06608 1236 13035 160 6.16 56.38
11 October 2014 WILE0RH 06608 1.093 0.8249 160 581 56.13
16 July 2015 15F7816H 04658 08826 0.9155 198 6.16 54.32
17 October 2016 16107178 02342 045125 04734 155 6.16 56.30
21 October 2016 WIBFI0A21E  0.1732-0.193 04525 04823 130 391-5.39 50.67-55.65
14 September 2017 W7FIA14E 04648 0.7025 04149 188 6.16 56.99
24 November 2017 WITEN AU 06294 09338 05344 192 6.16 5706
3 January 2018 2018% 1830 05032 083375 06326 186 591 5700
3 January 2018 2018% 1830 04798-0.5289 08338 04823 1.02-150 344-5.04 5700
2 April 2018 184820 0.2419 052375 0.7513 185 6.16 5710
12 July 2018 18F7A 128 0.3063 057625 0.6306 2089082 6.16 5701533
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32 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the

following expiry dates and exercise prices:

BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

32 DRI REME (&)

Bl 2L 4% 22 &Y P B

(#8)

RERRITEBRZENTHA

RATHEET

Share options

Exercise price in B RE

Expiry date US$ per share 2018 2017
EIHH UETIMENBRITEE 20185 2017 4
‘000 ‘000

T3 T4

25 May 2018 201845 A 25H 0.03215 - 3,870
14 March 2023 20233 A 14H 0.445925 3,861 4,162
22 May 2023 20235 H22H 0.46565 2,900 2,900
30 September 2023 202399 HA30H 0.7867 6 6
7 October 2023 2023 10A87H 0.4823 2,125 2,125
9 December 2023 202312 A9H 0.4823 1,188 1,188
3 June 2024 20246 A3H 0.4823 37 163
4 June 2024 20246 H4H 0.4823 50 50
10 July 2024 20247 H10H 0.4823 6,829 7282
10 October 2024 2024410 A10H 0.4823 162 162
15 July 2025 20257 A 15H 0.4823 2,438 2,938
16 October 2026 202610 A 16 H 0.4733875 5,281 7289
13 September 2027 20279 A 13H 0.4149 5,367 6,617
23 November 2027 2027 11 A23H 0.5344 488 536
2 January 2028 2028 1H2H 0.4823 2,134 -
2 January 2028 2028 1H2H 0.6326 1,180 -
1 April 2028 20284 H1H 0.7513 190 -
11 July 2028 2028 7H 11 H 0.6306 15 -
34,251 39,288
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33 Accounts payable, other payables and

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

33 ENIRM - HMBEARER

accruals PESTRIE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Fi
Accounts payable JERTERR 391,350 380,722
Other payables and accruals Eo o FE A 5UE K FERTRUR 932,775 955,898
1,324,125 1,336,620
Less: Non-financial liabilities B I aE (13,400) (13,996)
1,310,725 1,322,624

At 31 December 2018, the ageing analysis of the accounts

R20184F 12 A31 8 @ TR

payable was as follows: AT
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
0-30 days 02 30H 237,882 240,858
31-60 days 31E£60H 13,986 17,393
61-90 days 61£290H 18,973 10,275
91-120 days 91 & 120H 11,663 7276
Over 120 days 1203 £ 108,846 104,920
391,350 380,722
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Accounts payable, other payables and
accruals (Continued)

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and
accruals approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and
accruals are denominated in the following currencies:

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

33 EMIRM - HMBEARER
FEst IR ()

FERTRRIR - EAth FE A5 5RIB M JE A 5R0R
ZIEmERE A ERS -

FERTRRIR - EAth FE A5 5RIB M A 5RIR
MEREEN THIEETIE

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fx Tt
HK$ BIT 221,099 247478
RMB ARHE 1,077,581 1,063,799
Us$ ETT 8,229 6,703
UK pound g 3,233 3,912
Other currencies HEthE 583 732
1,310,725 1,322,624
Borrowings 34 B8
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Secured bank borrowings BEMIEITEE (HTa)
(Note a) 825,188 925,722
Loans from non-controlling MIB A R ZEFERR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries RHER (MzEb)
(Note b) 376,507 308,946
1,201,695 1,234,668

347



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BLBTTIIE)
34 Borrowings (Continued) 34 B8 (&)
(a) Secured bank borrowings (a) BEMFITEE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Non-current ERED
Long-term secured REAEPRITEE
bank borrowings 92,221 329,215
Current B
Current portion of long-term REAEBRTEEZ
secured bank borrowings mENELD 732,967 596,507
Total secured bank borrowings  HiEHRTIEEHALE 825,188 925,722
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
The secured bank borrowings BEMIRITEERZUT
are repayable as follows: RFEER :
—Within one year -—FR 732,967 596,507
— More than one year but not - —FRETBIBRE
exceeding two years 62,090 233,015
— More than two years but not - MERETBBASF
exceeding five years 28,222 94,248
- More than five years - BRAF 1,909 1,952
Total secured bank borrowings BEMIBITEERE 825,188 925,722
As at 31 December 2018, bank borrowings of m20184 12 A31H
HK$141,113,000 (2017: HK$188,496,000) are secured $RITIE B141,113,000% 7T
by the land in Chaoyang Park with carrying values of (2017 45 : 188,496,000 7T)
approximately HK$96,000,000 (2017: HK$103,000,000), THAEARG A E A L fEH R
HK$365,000,000 (2017: HK$412,000,000) and EXmHEER W% HE
HK$1,497,000,000 (2017: HK$1,555,000,000) recorded RREBEARREDEERBH
in lease premium for land, property, plant and equipment 85 E 1E 9 75l 49 496,000,000
and investment properties respectively. These bank st (20174 : 103,000,000 %
borrowings are denominated in RMB and bear interest at JT) * 365,000,000/8 7T (2017
an average interest rate of 6.48% (2017: 6.48%) annually. % :412,000,0008 L)%

1,497,000,0007% T (2017 4 :
1,555,000,000/87C) ° &R
TEEUNARENE Wik
F1yE ) R6.48FE (2017 4 ¢
6.48[E) 5T 8B °
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34 Borrowings (Continued)

(a)

Secured bank borrowings (Continued)

A bank borrowing of HK$1,909,000 (as at 31 December
2017: HK$1,952,000) is secured by a property in the
United States with carrying value of approximately
HK$2,720,000 (as at 31 December 2017: HK$2,751,000)
recorded in property, plant and equipment as at 31
December 2018. The bank borrowing is denominated in
US dollar ("US$") and bears interest at an average interest
rate of 3.69% annually (as at 31 December 2017: 3.59%)
annually.

Bank borrowings of HK$682,167,000 (as at 31
December 2017: HK$735,273,000) are secured by bank
deposits of HK$734,745,000 (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$781,666,000) as at 31 December 2018 (Note 36).

Loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries

34

(a)

(b)

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

B8 (&)

BEMRTEE (B)

— % iR 17 & 51,909,000 %
7t (R20174% 12 A31H8 :
1,952,000/ L) T3 A —IHEE
mEEE A HR20185F 12
ANEMWE . BERRE
815 MR EE 4 52,720,000
# T ( R2017412 A31H -
2,751,000 7T) ° 2 £ R17fE
BLAZET ([ZEx])) 5)E @ Wik
FHEFMERIBIE (722017 F
12H31H :3.69E) 58

B1TEE682,167,000%
T(R2017F12A318:
735,273,00087C) T3 AR
2018412 B 31 H IR 1717 3K
734,745,0007% 7T ( 722017 F
12 A31H : 781,666,00087C)
{EEIR (BF5E36) °

P88 2 R FEAE AR AR B2
HER

2018 2017
2018 F 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Non-current JERED
Long-term loans from MIE A A2 FEFEARAR 3R
non-controlling shareholders Rz REER
of subsidiaries 235,428 251,252
Current B
Short-term loans from —fEIM B A 5] 2 FEIERR
non-controlling shareholders A SRS
of a subsidiary 141,079 57694
Total loans from non-controlling M8 A2 FEEAR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries Rt BEFesm 376,507 308,946

349



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

34 Borrowings (Continued)

(b) Loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries (Continued)

The loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries are repayable as follows:

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

34

B8 (&)

(b)

B9 2 A R R R
HER (&)

MR R 2 R AR SRR (it 2
£ AR IA FEE RS

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
—Within one year -—FR 141,079 57694
— More than one year but not - —FRETNBIEM T
exceeding two years 78,889 77163
— More than two years but not - MFRENBBAFT
exceeding five years 133,961 155,239
— More than five years - HARF 22,578 18,850
376,507 308,946

The loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries are denominated in RMB, unsecured and
interest-free (2017: same).
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34 Borrowings (Continued)

(c) The carrying amounts and fair values of the

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

B8 (&)
(c) EERREENRAFE

borrowings are as follows: RN
Group
XEE
Carrying amount Fair value
AYE
2018 2017 2018 2017
20185 20175 2018 20176
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T Fr
Secured bank borrowings BEMRITEE 825,188 925,722 825,188 925,722
Loans from non-controlling (ENGIEIR
shareholders of subsidiaries RERHER 376,507 308,946 350,390 272,17
1,201,695 1,234,668 1,175,578 1,197,893
The fair values of floating rate borrowings approximate FERRMEEN A FERERLR

their carrying amounts. The fair values of fixed rate
borrowings are based on cash flows discounted using a
rate based on the borrowing rate of 6.48% (2017: 6.48%)
and are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

HEMRE - BEMEEED
NFEERB—EER648F
(2017 : 6.48[E) ZEEFIE
WAMEBBRNESREET -
BRATESHANFE 24
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35 Deferred income tax

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

35 IEFEFTISH

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities

:

BEREBERZELEMSHEE

A
pa Ny =}
on the consolidated balance sheet are analysed as follows: MRS HAaEI AT -
2018 2017
2018 & 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Deferred income tax assets: FEIEFTSTHEE ¢
— Deferred income tax assets to be — B 12 @ A & U B
recovered after more than 12 months FREFTSHHEE (3,418) (4,697)
— Deferred income tax assets to be — H—rﬁ’\ 12 & A MU el HY
recovered within 12 months FREFTSHHEE (68,914) (72,228)
(72,332) (76,925)
Deferred income tax liabilities: FEFTSHAME -
- Deferred income tax liabilities to be H%ﬁé 12 &A1& 4= 8
recovered after more than 12 months FEASHEE 337,183 185,976
Deferred income tax liabilities, net FEEFTSH B E R 264,851 109,051

The gross movements in the deferred income tax liabilities, net

are as follows:

BIEFSHBEFREEHMT

2018 2017

2018 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr Fit

At 1 January M1A1H 109,051 98,131
Charged to the consolidated TEfRE Wz R bR

income statement (Note 9) (MF7E9) 151,019 7336

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 43) Ui —fM B A a) (MiEE43) 8,342 -

Currency translation differences ERE R (3,561) 3,684

At 31 December M®12A31H 264,851 109,051
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Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred taxation for the year ended 31 December 2018 is
calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability
method using a principal taxation rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%).

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of HK$174,073,000 (2017: HK$171,966,000) in respect of
unrecognised tax losses of HK$1,054,986,000 as at 31
December 2018 (2017: HK$1,042,220,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. Approximately
HK$911,151,000 (2017: HK$914,047,000) of the unrecognised
tax losses have no expiry date and the remaining balance will
expire at various dates up to and including 2036.

As at 31 December 2018, deferred income tax liabilities
of HK$25,465,000 (2017: HK$34,109,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of HK$329,096,000
(2017: HK$412,105,000) of certain PRC subsidiaries. Since the
Directors consider the timing for the reversal of the related
temporary differences can be controlled and such temporary
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future, no
withholding tax has been provided.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

35 EFEFTISH (M)

HZE2018F 12 A31 HILFERIEL
MBDREEELEREREEZR 1%
E Z M E16.5% (2017 F : 16.5%)
E28ETE -

RIEFMBHEEATEERIAEE
TR - MELARTREE B AR R ERBE T
BN G TS AR - AEEIL &
TR 20184 12 A 31 H Al 458 A LK
5 7R 2R FE R B U A /Y 1,054,986,000
I (20174 :1,042,220,00078
TL) RERBEBERRELERS
i & E 174,073,000/ JT (2017 4 :
171,966,00087T) : AR T
B 18 - 49911,151,0007% JT (2017
1 914,0470007870) WHEEEA -
MEREE AN EL = 2036 F (B IEL )
H % {8 B #AEIEE o

MR2018F 12 A31H @ W £ 78 5t %
=T & B KB A 7 2 329,096,000
7 7T (20174 : 412,105,000 JT)
AR EE AR AT 2 TEF T R = A T
18 fE 5225,465,000/8 JT (2017 4F :
34,109,000 ) 2 IREFTS T &
& EERAM IS EEREEE
ERHBLORME - UERTERIERS
RO EEREER - BRI RE
TR o
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35 Deferred income tax (Continued)

354

The movement in

deferred tax income assets and liabilities

during the year without taking into consideration the offsetting

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

35 IEIEFTEHL (

&)

REANBELEMEREERAER
(FEIR 85 R — Bt 3t [ e 45 82 A1) 40

of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: N
Deferred income tax liabilities BEXEFTERAE
Accelerated tax depreciation Revaluation of assets Total
MERENE EffEE @it
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
2018% 2017F 2018% 0175 2018 0175
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T r r i r T
At 1 January M ATA 440 1,754 185,528 166,826 185,968 168,580
[Credited)fcharged to the ERalER
consolidated income (B%) /M
statement (406) (1,376) 152,257 11,787 151,851 10,411
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-HNBAR - - 8,342 - 8,342 -
Currency translation differences S #EEE - 62 (8,978) 6,915 (8,978) 6,977
At 31 December M12A31R 34 440 337149 185,528 337183 185,968
Deferred income tax assets BEEFTE N EE
Tax losses Provisions Total
HEkE B @it
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
2018% 2017 2018% 0175 20185 0175
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T r r i r T
At 1 January M ATA (9,107) (9,107) (67,810) (61,342) (76,917) (70,449)
Credited to the consolidated ~ EFARERES
income statement - - (832) (3,075) (832) 3,075)
Currency translation differences S #E£%E - - 5,417 (3,393) 5,417 3,393)
At 31 December M12A31R (9,107) (9,107) (63,225) (67810) (72,332) (76,917)
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Pledged bank deposits

As at 31 December 2018, two bank deposits of approximately
HK$434,909,000 (as at 31 December 2017: two bank deposits
of approximately HK$385,000,000) bearing fixed interest
rates ranging from 1.8% to 3.59% (as at 31 December 2017:
1.52% to 1.8%) per annum, are pledged to a bank to secure
two bank borrowings of approximately HK$380,000,000 (as at
31 December 2017: HK$346,500,000) (Note 34(a)). The bank
borrowings bear interests at HIBOR plus 0.45% per annum
(as at 31 December 2017: HIBOR plus 0.45% per annum). The
Group has entered into interest rate swap and cross-currency
interest rate swap contracts with the same bank, with notional
principals of the same amount of the borrowings, to swap its
floating rate obligations under the borrowings for fixed rates
obligation ranging from 1.66% to 3.38% per annum (as at 31
December 2017: 1.4% to 1.66% per annum). The maturity
dates of the borrowings are the same as the interest rate swap
contracts. The Group did not elect to apply hedge accounting
for the interest rate swap contracts. As at 31 December 2018,
the fair values of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts
of HK$5,363,000 and HK$855,000 (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$990,000 and HK$698,000) have been recorded as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (2017: derivative
financial instruments) under current liabilities and non-current
liabilities respectively in the consolidated balance sheet (Notes
25, 37).

As at 31 December 2018, RMB denominated short-term bank
deposits of approximately HK$299,836,000 (as at 31 December
2017: HK$396,666,000) bearing fixed interest rates at 2.10%
per annum (as at 31 December 2017: 2.10% per annum) are
pledged to a bank to secure RMB denominated long term
bank borrowings of approximately HK$302,167,000 (as at
31 December 2017: HK$388,773,000) (Note 34). The bank
borrowings bear interest rates ranging from 2.46% to 3.53%
per annum.

The fair values of pledged bank deposits approximate their
carrying amounts.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

36 CEFMITERK

R2018F 12 A31H » MERITER
#7434,909,0007% T (A 201712 A
31 H : MZER1T1F349385,000,000
BT Thik[E EF R % 1.8[E £ 3.59
E (R2017412A8318 :1652E &
1.88) 7H8 - WK P —HIRITLAR
S ER 7718 E49380,000,0007% 7T
(72017412 B 31 B : 346,500,000
7&7e) (FisE34(a) - SRITIEE D RIZ
EBRITRZERBEIMFEF K045
(R2017F12 8318 : BHERTH
EIRBIEFR0ABE) 518 - A&
EEF—FHRTREESEIRER
SRR R I X EBREE
W ABEEZZEEBEBERRAT
&N F1.66E =3.38F (72017
F12R31H : F 5 14 £1.66
E)zEBRBE - BEEZI AR
i A QAR o NEBEWEE H
PG AR ERRE PEE-
R2018F 12 A31H » AFE ZFI=
= HA 48 A FE5,363,0008 7T &
855,000/ 7T (20174128318 :
990,0007% 7T % 698,000/ T) & &
AR AEEBBRANRBAGB K
ERBABETHRATEERIBET
RO EE (20174  STERBLT
) 508 (Mf3E25 - 37) °

M2018412 B31H - ARBEHIE
1717 30 # 299,836,000 7T (72017
12 A31H : 396,666,000/ T) JI
HEFEFERNE210E (R20175F12
A318 : £FK2.10E) 518 » WK
T —RRITUESARBRIRTT
f& & #9302,167.0007%8 7T (122017 £
12 A31 8 :388,773,000/87T) (Kt
34) c IRITEERFNEN T 2462
Z363E5E -

EHEMRTERN A HEREREE
EE=I
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BLBTTIIE)
37 Derivative financial instruments 37 $THEMKEIA
Asset Liability
BE B2
2018 2017 2018 2017
2018 2017 F 2018 2017 F
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 '000
Tr Tr Fr r
Conversion options for ARABEELR
convertible redeemable HOSARREE (Fir3E25)
preferred shares (Note 25) - 721,002 - -
Conversion options for AR E R AR E
convertible loans - 19,513 - -
Options for long-term R EmiRiE
investment (Note 25) (P5E25) - 17702 = -
Interest rate swap MERHEH
contracts (Note 25| (Bi3E25) - - - (1,688)
Total it - 758,217 - (1,688)
Less: non-current portion A FEREE R
— Conversion options — ARRATEE
for convertible B ERA
redeemable preferred ik
shares (Note 25) (£ 25) - (721,002) = -
- Interest rate swap — FIREHEY
contract (Note 25) (F13¥25) - - - 698
- Options for long term - REREN
investment (Note 25) nAkeE (7 25) - (17702) - -
Current portion RENE
- Interest rate swap —FREHEAD
contract (Note 25) (F13¥25) - - - (990)
— Conversion options — WHRRER
for convertible AR AE
loans - 19,513 - -
- 19,513 - (990)
Balance, beginning of year  FHI&H 758,217 468,933 (1,688) (1,802)
Change in accounting policy ~ EFTHRE
(Note 2(olfii) (BfF2E 200l i) (758,217) - 1,688 -
Fair value gain, net AFEYEFE - 284,495 - 114
Currency translation BHhEES
differences - 4,789 - -
Balance, end of year FiREEH - 758,217 - (1,688)
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38 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows

(a)

Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash

38

RERTREBRWEE

(a) WEXBELWRST

BT SR G M BE 2 XK E

generated from operations IR e HER
2018 2017
20185 20175
$'000 $'000
i T
Profit before income tax BRETSTAT AR 778,1M 610,432
Amortisation of lease premium for land T EE R 5,833 5,725
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE - BELRENE 186,379 194,466
Amortisation of purchased programme EINGEDERATT 3 ]
and film rights 9,306 12,256
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets ~ EFFEEHE RAE 20,654 9,073
Share-based compensation expense DA SR E 25,085 55,476
Provision for impairment of accounts receivable MR R E R 53,692 24,345
Reversal of provision for impairment of YRR E R ERE
accounts receivable (11,470) (33,567)
Provision for impairment of amounts due ERABLETERNERE
from joint ventures 3133 17328
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment of BN — g S ARFERE
amount due from an associate BERE/ (BE) (1,199) 1,199
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ HE&E#% « BE RREEE 2,543 4,905
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair value HERATFEEREZDRR 686 -
through profit or loss BBEENERE
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEME « BE R ZEKE (1,801) (5,517)
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary BELRE—HNBLARZ NG - (5,007)
Share of profits less losses of joint ventures BEARLEENAER (3.427) (6,145}
Share of profits less losses of associates b YNS vVl 5 (10,632) 19,888
Fair value gain on investment properties RENMELTEYNSR (7533) (44,868)
Interest income FEHA (61,422) (195,465)
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITEE MY 38,044 44,306
Investment income BEWA (10,458) (7442)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value BATEERERTENIBEEN
through profit or loss AT ENE (804,025) (5,403)
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments ~ $T4B B T AN ATFEREE - (284,609)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment mE - BE R ERE - 4,367
Increase in other long-term assets HEREEELM (26,919) 6,372)
Increase in accounts receivable [EMEE T (1,038) (209,452)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BRFE - RE REMEREE
deposits and other receivables wD/ (Em) 20,574 (249,194)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories HE () Ry (2.621) 963
Decrease in amounts due from related companies YR &R AFUER D 32,806 13,254
Decrease/(increase) in self-produced programmes  B1EETEE LD,/ (310) 3,678 (4,784)
(Decreasel/increase in accounts payable, FERTERT - Ht N FE R B TR
other payables and accruals (Rid) /tEm (124,488) 279,521
Increase in deferred income ERM A 77,643 20,820
Cash generated from operations MEEBEENAS 191,134 260,499
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows 38 HFERESRERMKET (&)
(Continued)
(b) The reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) BB EBEANAGRY
financing activities is as follows: BRan T -
Loans from Loans from

non-controlling non-controlling
Secured bank  Secured bank shareholders of shareholders of

borrowings borrowings  asubsidiary  subsidiaries
(current)  (non-current) (current)  (non-current) Total
—BHELR )
BHEA B FERBRE FERBR
BT BITRRE RUHEXR RUHER
(&) (e (%8) (e @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T Fr T Tr
Year ended BZ2018F
31 December 2018 12B31ALEE
At 1 January 2018 201815 1H 596,507 329,215 57,694 251,252 1,234,668
Cash flows Heng
—inflow from financing - BYEEEIRA
activities 509,590 - 12,322 68,611 590,523
- outflow from financing - B&EEREH
activities (611,064) - - - (611,064)
Non-cash changes FReE
— currency translations - EHaE 7133 (6,193) (2,878) (10,494) (12,432)
- reclassification - BN E 230,801 (230,801) 73,941 (73,941) -
At 31 December 2018 R2018F 12 A31H 732,967 92,221 141,079 235,428 1,201,695
Year ended BE2017F
31 December 2017 12B3NBLEE
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 A1 H 632,295 349,464 19,274 266,430 1,267463
Cash flows RemE
— inflow from financing -BEEDHRA
activities 424,116 180,000 - 1,137 615,253
- outflow from financing - BL&EE AL
activities (685,806) - - - (685,806)
Non-cash changes FREE
— currency translations -ERnE 17368 8,285 801 11,304 37758
- reclassification -ENNE 208,534 (208,534) 37619 (37619) -
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A318 596,507 329,215 57694 251,252 1,234,668
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38 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows
(Continued)

(c)

Disposal of subsidiaries

During 2018, the Group's equity interest in Phoenix
Entertainment and Game Company Limited and
its respective subsidiaries was decreased from
100% to 96.5% as a result of capital contribution of
RMB20,000,000 from independent third parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
disposed a subsidiary (the “Disposal”).

In August 2017 a new shareholder contributed additional
capital (“Capital Contribution”) in EFfEEERX(LEHE
ABREAF("EEEK"), which was a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group. As a result, the Group's equity
interest in 8= R was reduced from 51.15% to 35%
upon completion of the Capital Contribution. As a result
of the Capital Contribution, the control of E/8Z& by the

Group was lost and only significant influence over /8%
& is retained.
Upon the loss of control of B8ZER, the Group

recognised a gain of approximately HK$5,007000 in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2017

n e IR

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

38 FaBRERERME (F)

(c)

ST B~ 7

20184 - AR BIE=H
& AR % 20,000,0007T zﬁfa
AIRBEREEEEGRA
HIFEA Tmh$%‘mmwe
B2 96.5% °

RE 22017912 A31 8 IEF
B AEBLE—HEHBAR
([HE=EE] -

MR2017F8 A » R EAE
E2EWBAREMESE
BYLBEEERAR ([EEE
&) MEBENER ([HE] -
Hit  AEERESZER 2R
REE A H & FER T R 51.15% IR
LE3B% c HAHE  AEE
ERAHBEBER ZIEHIEL
BREVESERVEEFE
jj °

REAEEHBEER 215 6l #
% NEEREZE 2017512 5
INBEFEZGERGZTRPE
UL EE45,007000 87T °

Summary regarding the Disposal completed during the BERE=Z2017F12831H8
year ended 31 December 2017 is as follows: IEFETKR 2 HESENME
LU

2017
2017 4
$'000
T

Total consideration satisfied by: BREBEATHALM -
Fair value of the retained interest RE =2 AN TE 4,184
Net assets disposed of It EEEFE 1,667
Non-controlling interest derecognised I ETER  IEIE R i = (844)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
recognised in profit and loss (Note 6)

(PfF7E6)

REEERZHE—HMNB ARz WE

5,007
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39
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows 38 #HREHRSREXRMET (&)

(Continued)

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued) (c) HEMBAR (&)
Aggregate net cash outflows arising from the Disposals HZE207F12A3MBIEFE
during the year ended 31 December 2017: ZELESFEEL AT S

R
2017
2017 &
$'000
v
Bank balances and cash disposed of BHECRITESR MRS (6,086)
Transactions with non-controlling interests 39 EHFIERER IS
Deemed disposal of partial interest in PNM 1RVE L E B B 5 i 82 2R {5 4

During the year ended 31 December 2018, as a result of the
exercise of share options by the option holders, the Group’s
equity interest in PNM was decreased from 54.96% to 54.51%.
The Group recognised a deemed net loss of approximately
HK$4,966,000 in the equity attributable to owners of the
Company and an increase in non-controlling interests of
HK$16,043,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, as a result of the
exercise of share options by the option holders, the Group’s
equity interest in PNM was decreased from 55.45% to 54.96%.
The Group recognised a deemed net gain of approximately
HK$4,731,000 in the equity attributable to owners of the
Company and an increase in non-controlling interests of
HK$25,776,000 for the year ended 31 December 2017.

=

REZ2018F 12 A31BILFE © &
PR B AITEMERE - A5
7 JEL L 95 68 O IR AN 75 ER 54.96 %
A EBL51% o NEBREZE2018
FRANHLEFEARARGESR
AEERRPERBIEBEFEY
4,966,000 7T & JE 15 3% # 25 12 AN
16,043,000 7T °

REZE2017F12A31BIEFE - #
R B AITEMERE - A5
7 JEL LT 95 68 O IR AN 25 ER 55.45%
B EB4.96% © AEEREZE 2017
FRANHLEFERARGESR
AEEERPEAGIFERREFED
4,731,000 7T & JE ¥ % # 2 12 A0
25,776,000 7T °
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40 Commitments 40 FEiE
(a) Service charges (a) REE
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had committed R2018F 12 A31H » A& E
service charges payable under various agreements as RIEA B 175 N B AR AR 7S
follows: BT
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T+t
Not later than one year TER—F 24,274 23,5658
Later than one year and BN —FETERRT
not later than five years 4,046 28,228
28,320 51,786
. 4R AR T AE
(b) Operating leases (b) =S
A .k
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had rental R2018%F12A431H K&

BB EHERAER
T TAHEHKEEERTZ
T RBF AN LEDBRA 2

commitments under various operating leases. Total future
minimum lease payments payable in respect of land and
buildings and LED panels under non-cancellable operating

leases are as follows: ARE SERRRBAT :
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Not later than one year TER—F 263,209 315,683

Later than one year and BN —FETERRT

not later than five years 565,653 552,637
Later than five years EBERAF 29,241 63,133
858,103 931,353
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40 Commitments (Continued)

362

(c)

Capital commitments

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

40 A (4&)

(c) BAEIE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had capital R2018F 12 A31H » A& E
commitments as follows: BEAREENT ¢

2018 2017

20185 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr T

Contracted but not provided for BETHERVEL BE 42,908 48,146

Other commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had other operating
commitments under various agreements as follows:

(d) E iz

R2018F 12 A31H » K"&E H
BIEZ D it B H A & E R

LUNNE
2018 2017
2018 5§ 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Not later than one year TER—F 142,775 152,575
Later than one year and not BA—FETNERASE
later than five years 117912 26,248
260,687 178,823
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

41 Related party transactions 41 BREALRS
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial (i)  BREEHRREMIBOAEES
statements, the Group had the following significant Gh REBGHBRHEAT
transactions with the related parties as defined in HKAS (EEREBSHERFE 2457 —
24 — Related Party Disclosures: BREALHEE) #1TTHE
AR
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
Notes $'000 $'000
HisE Tr Fr
Service charges received/ R EREBEEEERAR
receivable from the (hBamEEE]) KA
China Mobile Communication MERR (SEA[HBH
Corporation("CMCC") and S8 ) B/ ERMERE B
its subsidiaries (collectively
“"CMCC Group") ab 124,164 127934
Service charges paid/payable mRBBHEESN,/
to the CMCC Group e RIS E ac 58,727 55,480
Advertising sales to the AR BBHEEETHNESHEE
CMCC Group a d 50,312 51,603
License fee received/receivable I TURER/TEUAY ] &
from LLT e, f 15 185
Advertising sales to LLT FEECETNESHE ey 12 11,492
Key management compensation ~ £ EZETE A BB ii 35,085 44,144
Notes: Fit%E

(@)  The CMCC Group, through a wholly-owned subsidiary of

China Mobile (Hong Kong) Group Limited, owns 19.69% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

(b)  Service charges received/receivable from CMCC Group
related to wireless income which are charged based on
terms specified in the agreements.

@ FTEHEEEBTEB
(B8) REERATNEZE
MEAREAARFDET
f&7519.69% H# 2 °

L B AR AR MR A MR, U
hRBEENREE IR
R TE RO ARULER -
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41 Related party transactions (Continued)

364

(i)

(ii)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

Service charges paid/payable to CMCC Group related to
video cost which are charged based on terms specified in
the agreements.

Advertising sales to the CMCC Group are related to airtime
advertising and programme sponsoring on channels and
airtime advertising on giant sized light-emitting diode
panels operated by the Group.

The controlling shareholder of LLT is a close family
member of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

The license fee received/receivable from LLT related to
grant of license of domain name to LLT is charged based
on terms specified in the agreement.

Advertising sales to LLT are related to airtime advertising
and programme sponsoring on channels and internet
advertising sales based on terms specified in the
agreements.

Year end balances arising from related party transactions
as disclosed in Note 41(i) above were also disclosed in
Note 24.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

41 EEEALRS (E)

(i)

(ii)

(&)

i3]

R

(c)

()

ARSI
R BB RTSE IR
R FETE B R ARULER ©

AP B e R EETTH RS
ENBEBAREMKEIRE
EMEEREIEEED
AR R B e — 1R 8 B
B ERESERE -

B EHNERRRABARAT
BEEIRFITREHN —
REFEKE -

AR FIZE TR IR AT
AIUER, FEMR IR © B F Al
& Ty 4% W 5 15 T B 1R K
HR o

MIBBECETHNESHEED
BRASEE FE SRR A
BEE WREBEES
SHE RIR W IE T M IREGE
17e

BSR4 () PR ER Y B
BALRZBEENFRERTT
BIER T 24 IR o
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41 Related party transactions (Continued) 41 BEEALTRZ (&)
Key management compensation (i) FEBFEABH2
2018 2017
2018 F 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
Salaries e 22,650 22,467
Discretionary bonuses BB ITEAL 722 1,146
Housing allowance EEER 7,384 7615
Pension costs RIRE AR 1,686 1,729
Share-based compensation expense  BARK{D S TRV E I L 2,643 11,187
35,085 44,144
42 Investments in and loans to Particle 42 HRERRKREKT Particle
In 2014, Phoenix New Media Limited (“"PNM") invested in a R2014%F - BIEFIEEAER QA
number of Series B Preferred Shares of Particle. In 2017 PNM (B EHEE]) RENSE TEEA
further invested approximately HK$496,989,000 in Series C ) Particle B & 5] {8 & % o 722017

Preferred Shares of Particle.

F-REHNRBE-IRERD
496,989,000 # L) Particle C Z5I|{&

S o
On 28 January 2016, the board of directors of PNM have R20165F1H28H  BEFEEE
authorised to provide short-term unsecured loans to Particle Ee it EMParticlelRi AL BERS
in an aggregate principal amount of up to US$20,000,000 /20,000,000 7t ( #9155,138,000
(approximately HK$155,138,000) (the “Loans”) at an interest ) mESsEERER (ER])
rate of 4.35% per annum with a term of twelve months and ERMFERNERIIBE EXRHAE
convertible options of which PNM may, at its option, convert + @AW AR E - Hit - B
all or a portion of the Loans together with any unpaid interest FTIEEER] A 2018 65 12 A 31 HATE(
into Series D1 Preferred Shares (“Conversion Options”) at any FF s 12 18 2 2P ek 30D B SE RIE (R
time prior to 31 December 2018, subject to the completion of AT BE®RAD ZIE L ([#
issuance of Series D Preferred Shares by Particle. Particle has PR AE]) » M 7B FParticle TEAX 877D
drawn down all of the US$20,000,000 loans in April 2016. RIBERIE - FOHEE © Particle 2

%2016 44 A 2 B & #(20,000,000
RTLHER
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366

Investments in and loans to Particle
(Continued)

On 30 December 2016, PNM exercised the Conversion Options
to convert the Loans totalling US$20,000,000 into 23,600,000
of Series D1 Preferred Shares. Similar to Series B and C, the
investment in D1 Preferred Shares have similar features and
were separated into the debt component of HK$122,744,000
which were classified as “available-for-sale financial assets”
(“AFS") and “derivative financial instruments” (“DFI") of
HK$38,171,000 (for the conversion option). The investments in
AFS and DFI were subsequently measured at fair value at each
reporting period based on an external valuation report. Under
HKAS 39, changes in fair value of the DFI are recognised in
the consolidated income statement whereas all changes in fair
value of AFS are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income except for the interest portion of the AFS calculated
using the effective interest method which is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

On 11 August 2016, PNM has provided a short-term
unsecured loan to Particle of US$14,800,000 (approximately
HK$114,802,000) (the “Convertible Loan"”) at an interest rate of
4.35% per annum with a term of six months and Conversion
Options exercisable at any time on or before the maturity
date of the loan. The loan represents compound financial
instruments, which comprise (i) “loans and receivable” of
HK$109,372,000 classified as “amounts due from related
companies” and (ii) DFI of HK$5,430,000. The “loans and
receivable” were carried at amortised cost and the DFI was
subsequently measured at fair value at each reporting period.
In August 2017, the term of the Convertible Loan was extended
to eighteen months to February 2018. On 22 January 2018, the
term of the Convertible Loan was further extended to August
2018.

On 2 November 2016, PNM provided another short-term
unsecured loan to Particle of RMB46,000,000 (approximately
HK$52,031,000) at an interest rate of 9.00% per annum with a
term of six months. In January 2017 the term of the loan was
extended to twelve months to November 2017 In November
2017 the unsecured loan was repaid by Particle.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

42

BER KR EKF Particle (&)

R20165F12 A308 - [B 2 57 i 82
1718 # B% # 8 & £20,000,000 % T

9B % 523,600,000 D1 FE
FIMESLNG - BB R R CRIMELNR
KBRS - D1 RHNE LR
EEBEURITE S AEBID
122,744,000 7T (D485 [AIIHE
MsEE] ([AIEEEVBEE]) &k
[T TAE] ([FTEFBIAD
38,171,000/ 7T (LR EMF)) ©
R ENEEERITEN K ITA
ZHREBEHBR S RERIRIBINBEE
RERAFEZE - REBBGTE
BIZE39%%  ITEMBITAZ AT ES
B NMR A UK S R BE RN 1] (8 S T 75
BEZBATFEESHEEREME
AR EER - ERA BRI E
2 AT IEE BB E 2 F S DR AR
AU RIER -

M2016F8 A 118+ Bl & # K
A Particle £2 £ 14,800,000 3 Jt ( 49
114,802,000 7T ) ([ AR EFK]) 8
REEERER - FFER435E -
B AN E A LM A TR E K EH
H 8k 2 AT R R R TE AR - B
FREREAYHBITE B EFR
JE W FNIE 1109,372,000 8 T (DB A
[ e A B ARl sRIE]) R i) $TER
7T H 5,430,000 B TAT4RK ° [ B3
N FEWSRIE | iR SE A ARSI BR T T A&
BT AEEBRSREHELFE
2 R2017F8 A AR ERNE
BERZ2+/\(EAE2018F2 A « K
2018 1 A22H » ATMIRE R W F
HiE— PIERE 20188 A »

R2016F 11 A28 » Bl E & I8
M) Particle $2 £ A R ¥ 46,000,000 7©
(#952,031,0007 JT) 953 HR % 45 19
B BRMFEFEER.00E - B
HANEA - R2017F1 8 - EXH
ERE2+Z@AZ2017F 118 - B
2017411 B - Particle € & E K 17 &

Eo
N
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Investments in and loans to Particle
(Continued)

On 20 January 2017, PNM also provided a short-term
unsecured loan to Particle of RMB74,000,000 (approximately
HK$83,835,000) at an interest rate of 9.00% per annum with a
term of twelve months.

Following the adoption of HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments on 1
January 2018, the investments in Series B, C and D1 Preferred
Shares of Particle (classified as AFS and derivative financial
instruments in 2017) and Convertible Loan (classified as loans
and receivables and derivative financial instruments in 2017)
have been reclassified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL’) ( Note 2(b)(iii)).

On 22 January 2018, the term of the loan of RMB74,000,000
was extended for six months and the loan and interest were
fully repaid in July 2018.

On 2 April 2018, PNM signed an agreement with an investor of
Particle to grant a right to assign the US$14,800,000 convertible
loan issued by Particle for US$17,000,000 to that investor of
Particle (the “Loan Assignment”). The Loan Assignment was
completed on 7 August 2018.

On 23 February 2019, PNM entered into a letter of intent
(“LOI") with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”)
pursuant to which the Purchaser will purchase 32% equity
interest of Particle held by PNM on an as-if converted basis.
The total consideration is US$448,000,000 (approximately
HK$3,494,400,000), based on an estimated transaction
valuation.

The independent professional valuer (the “Valuer”) adopted
the discounted cash flow method and market approach to
calculate the enterprise value of Particle at 31 December
2018. Accordingly, the fair values of the investments in Series
B, C and D1 Preferred Shares have increased significantly to
HK$2,235,600,000 at 31 December 2018 and a fair value gain
of HK$802,900,000 was recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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BER KR EKF Particle (&)

R2017F1 A208 - B2 31 1F 8 I8
A Particle 12 fit A R # 74,000,000 7T
(4983,835,000/8 7T) K42 £ £ 4K 7
B BRNFEFEER.00E - B

HAET=M@A -

R2018F 1 A1 BERMAE B ERE
AERZE 9 — B T A% - Particle
ZBH# - CEREDIHEBARIEE (R
2017 F R A HIEE RITEN B
TE) RAJ#BEBRER (R2017F0 58
AEERRERGFBERTEMBEITAR)
EEFPEARATEBEBESLE
(RAFEEBRIESIR]) VIBEEE
(BF=E2(b) i)

R201841 A 22 B + AR 74,000,000
TTZEFHNEFBERAEA BEX
SRR EER2018F7 A2EEE -

R2018F4 A28 - Bl E # K 52 @M
Particle 1R & &5 s R THENE
# Particle LA 17000,000 3% Jt % 77 T
# Particle & & # 2 14,800,000 % T
gES ([ERER]) - BXER
B 201848 A7 H®EA °

R2019F2 423 H - BB KR
—BUFE=H([EF]) FEIEME
(IBMED Bt EFBEEHE
JBL 37 1% 82 45 75 Particle % 8 40 & i 44
B E ST B 32% ARAE o 1Rt
S8 - # K8 /5448,000,000% T
(493,494,400,00087T) °

R2018F 12 A31H » B EEMEE
B ([ZEEE)) BRMNTHSRINE
SRR WAL E Particle I 2 (8
He- it B - CEEDIBRELR
AR 2018912 A31 A AFEKX
I8 45 1 = 2,235,600,00078 7T + I 7
4R A U252k IIRERR 802,900,000 78 7T
HAFERES -
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Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 18 December 2018, PNM announced that its indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary Beijing Chenhuan Technology Co.,
Ltd. ("Chenhuan") entered into an agreement to acquire 25.5%
equity interests in Beijing Yitian Xindong Network Technology
Co., Ltd. ("Yitian Xindong"), for an aggregate purchase price of
RMB144,100,000 (the "Acquisition"). The Acquisition completed
on 28 December 2018 ("Completion Date') following the
payment of part of the consideration of RMB73,000,000
(approximately HK$82,000,000) and the change of business
registration. As Bingruixin Technology Co., Ltd. , another 25.5%
equity interests holder in Yitian Xindong entrusted its voting
rights in respect to its shareholding in the Yitian Xindong
to Chenhuan on the Completion Date, Chenhuan was able
to obtain control over Yitian Xindong. Consequently, all the
identifiable assets of Yitian Xindong was measured at fair value
at Completion Date and consolidated in the Group's financial
statements and a goodwill of HK$111,310,000 was recognized
as an intangible asset in the Group's financial statements. Yitian
Xindong owns the mobile application Tadu, a leading online
digital reading application in China that currently has more than
1,000,000 daily active users.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)
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s —EHE AR

R2018F 12 A18H » Bl &l 3 ¥ 52
S HEEIFZEWNB AR
EREREERAT ([EBR]) F5#H
HWEBIL R I RTHABRREER
NE ([ SRFE]) 2255% &4 -
HIEEER A AR 144,100,000 7T
(TWEEEE] - TABHREARE
73,000,000 7T ( 982,000,000 7t)
MEMEEELE - WESIEN 2018
F12A288 ([T BHD T -
AR R EREERAE (5
— RS RHE255%BHEZIHEAAN)
NERBRRERZIEEAE SR
PRREMIRERE EREMESS K
E) 2R - Bt - HRIBZFT
B HRIEERTTK B HR AT ERT
2 UHAFEEAEEZHBRH
& 111,310,000 7T 2 7§ 2 B A
NEBZ M EREERBELEE -
SRNEEEFHRERARRIEEE
(BHPREEZEG LS FHEREARER
2 —) BRI#AEEE1,000,000%E
HIGBRAP -
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Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued)

Consideration transferred

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

WiE—ErE AR (&)

CEEAE

$'000

Tt

Cash e 82,410
Deferred consideration EERE 80,265
162,675

The following table summarises the consideration paid, the
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the

acquisition date:

TRBACHRE SBABEZR
FERAWHEESRAEEZB8E

$'000
FiT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KRR
and intangible assets LEREE 110,140
Other assets/(liability),net HiEE/ (BRE) F48 27,215
Bank balances and cash IRITEBRERS 12,354
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIAAE (8,342)
141,367
Consideration transferred BEEAE 162,675
Plus: non-controlling interests n o IR 90,002
Less: net assets acquired B EEABEFRE (141,367)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEHEE 2 HE 111,310
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Yitian Xindong WiEZ XFE 2 REREFRE
$'000
T
Consideration BERENRE 162,675
Less: cash and cash equivalent  J& : EBEAR S KRS SEEE &5
balances acquired (12,354)
Less: deferred consideration B IRIERE (80,265)
Net cash outflow on acquisition W& 5 K8 2 B R F5E
of Yitian Xindong 70,056
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44 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

44 ARRWEEARRREH

Company <))
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries REB AR RERS 157,292 148,719
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRESEMEEE 10,786 10,768
Amounts due from subsidiaries, net JEULHI B A R IEF 58 1,970,011 1,970,011
1,980,797 1,980,779
Total assets BEE 2,138,089 2,129,498
EQUITY ER
Equity attributable to owner RATHEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital &N 499,347 499,347
Reserves (Note (a)) & (ME (@) 1,038,307 1,081,957
Total equity B 1,537,654 1,581,304
LIABILITIES aE
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals L Ath BT FIE R FERTRUE 561 808
Amount due to a subsidiary FE— M A AR 599,874 547,386
Total liabilities was 600,435 548,194
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 2,138,089 2,129,498
LIU Changle CHUI Keung
B Rs T
Director Director
EE2 Ea
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Balance sheet and reserve movement of the 44 AAFNEESBXRNHEE
Company (Continued)

Note (a)

Movement in the reserves of the Company during the year was as

follows:

25 (&)
B G

ARFRERIRERBNT -

Employee
Treasury share-based
share Share payment Retained
reserve premium reserve earnings Total
EEURS
XAHY
EFRAHE RAEE RERRE RERF st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T
At 31 December 2016 R2016F12A31H (5,042) 51,658 104,507 956,105 1,107228
Cancellation and lapse of BB S R R

share options - 106,328 (106,328) - -
Buy back shares B ) (4,512) (30) - - (4,542)
Cancellation of buy back shares ~ [EIEERR (A7 §4 9,554 (8,801) - - 753
Loss for the year FEEE - - - (3,195) (3,195}
Dividends related to 2016 2016 FAANRE - - - 49,935) (49,935)

Share-based compensation R RERS
expense - - 31,648 - 31,648
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A318 - 149,155 29,827 902,975 1,081,957
Lapse of share options BRI K - 908 (908) - -
Loss for the year FEEE - - - (2,288) (2,288)
Dividends related to 2017 B2017 FHEMNRE - - - (49,935) (49,935

Share-based compensation R RERS
expense - - 8,573 - 8,573
At 31 December 2018 R2018F 128310 - 150,063 37492 850,752 1,038,307
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45 Benefits and interest of directors 45 FEEBREFRF =
Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments EENEHREREAENBNE
The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31 BREFENHZE2018F12 A31 81t
December 2018 is set out below: FEMMSFHINNAT -
As director (note (i)
EREE (W (i)
Employer
contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement As
Discretionary of other Housing benefit management
Fees Salaries bonus benefits allowance scheme (note (ii)) Total
Aft R Exm
Name of Director R ffsst BRRERGE  fFREEE
3.2 ik i WA $RER BEEE  FHMME e &zt
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000
i T T T i i i T
1. LIU Changle - - - - - - 9,446 9,446
(Chief Executive Officer)
ARE (meEs)
2. CHUI Keung 392 - - - - - 4,500 4,892
ER
3. WANG JiYan - - - - - - 3,159 3,159
g
4 SHAYugja - - - - - - - -
(resigned on 16 Nov 2018)
DBR
(20185 11 A 16 REHA)
5 GONG Jianzhong - - - - - - - -
£
6. LEUNG Hok Lim 250 - - - - - - 250
1 Thaddeus Thomas 250 - - - - - - 250
BECZAK
8. FANG Fenglei 250 - - - - - - 250
GIEE
9, SUN Yanjun - - - - - - - -
HEE
0. LAUWai Kei, Ricky - - - - - - - -
ekl
1. HEDI 250 - - - - - - 250
fali
12. XIABing - - - - - - - -
Bk
13, JIANQin - - - - - - - -
{appointed on 16 Nov 2018)
GE]

(R2018F 11 B 16 HEZT)
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Benefits and interest of directors (Continued) 45 ESTEF R A= (&)
Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments EENEHEBEAENME
(Continued) (88)
The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31 BREEREE2017F12A31 81
December 2017 is set out below: FEMMHSIHINNAT -
As director (note (i)
fEREE (M)
Employer
contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement As
Discretionary of other Housing benefit  management
Fees Salaries bonus benefits allowance scheme (note (ii) Total
AR =10
Name of Director [HIEE iolER BINENEE  (FRERE
BEA ik e LA *HEE FEZH  ELOER (Bt (i) @t
§000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 §000 $000
ap i e S Fr Fr Fr S
1. LIU Changle - - - - - - 9,447 9,447
(Chief Executive Officer)
AR (THeEs)
2. CHUI'Keung - - - - - - 4,501 4,501
]
3. WANG JiVan - - - - - - 3,850 3,850
ThE
4. SHAYuejia - - - - - - - -
PER
5 GONG Jianzhong - - - - - - - -
B
6. LEUNG Hok Lim 250 - - - - - - 250
7 Thaddeus Thomas 250 - - - - - - 250
BECZAK
8. FANG Fenglei 250 - - - - - - 250
FRE
9. SUNYanjun - - - - - - - -
10, LAUWai Kei, Ricky - - - - - - - -
Elesid
1. HEDi 250 - - - - - - 250
f
12, XIABing - - - - - - - -
ik
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45 Benefits and interest of directors (Continued)

As of 31 December 2018, Mr. LIU Changle had outstanding share
options of the Company to purchase 4,900,000 (2017: 4,900,000
shares at HK$1.41 per share) shares at HK$1.41 per share,
Mr. CHUI Keung had outstanding share options of the Company
to purchase 3,900,000 (2017: 3,900,000 shares at HK$1.41
per share) shares at HK$1.41 per share and Mr. Wang Ji Yan
had outstanding share options of the Company to purchase
3,900,000 (2017: 3,900,000 shares at HK$1.41) shares at
HK$1.41 per share. No options were exercised during 2018.

(i) The amounts represented emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of a person's services as a director, whether of
the Company or its subsidiary undertakings.

(i)~ The amounts represented emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of a person’s other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company
or its subsidiary undertakings and included salaries,
discretionary bonuses, employer’s contributions to
retirement benefit schemes, housing allowance and
value of the share option. The value of the share options
granted to the directors of the Company under the share
option schemes of the Company represents the fair value
of these options charged to the consolidated income
statement for the year in accordance with HKFRS 2.

(i) No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year.
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

45 EEENRAZE (&)

MR2018F 12 A31H - Bl K& & &
BAERTEZARRERETIZER
1.41 7870 E 4,900,000 8 17 (2017
F TR 1.41 %708 4,900,000
RER%(D) ~ EREEFERITEZAR
NREREAIEERIMNBTEES
3,900,000 i Bz 7 (2017 5F : B R
1.41 7% 7T & B 3,900,000 % i 19) &
FREXREFBBRITEZRARARER
A% & % 1.41 78 ST BE B 3,900,000
&R tn (2017 F - L ER1.41 8L
53,900,000 & 7) - tFEF R
2018 FF A HET T HE ARAE o

) FHBERRAXAERESR
(TimRAR AR AN BB
BF) MRS XHF
FZAWFB - HRZARRZF
P75 7 W B 0 37 B =

(il BAHZBEARAXAERER
ARA (HEMBLE) OF
BERENBERTRENE M
R - XN TFRANHH - =X
% A P B % 55 AR 7 T WO HY S8
B YeEHs  BISERD
TEAL ~ R E AR KR M EH &I
HEHR - FERR - SARE
BAENEE - RERNRFNE
BAERT IR T AR P EENE
PR EE - KRIESBRE
RBBEUEREERFE 25
RERGEWERMFHRF
B

(i) MEEENFAREXRFRZN
EEAIME -
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Benefits and interest of directors (Continued)

During the year, no emoluments, retirement benefits, payments
or benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services
were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor
are any payable (2017: Nil). No consideration was provided to
or receivable by third parties for making available directors’
services (2017: Nil). There are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2017: None).

Subsequent event

On 1 March 2019, PNM entered into a second share purchase
agreement with Bingruixin Technology Co., Ltd. to purchase an
additional 25.5% of the equity interest in Yitian Xidong for cash
consideration of RMB144,000,000.

On 22 March 2019, PNM entered into the Share Purchase
Agreement with Run Liang Tai Management Limited (“Run
Liang Tai"), pursuant to which PNM conditionally agreed to
sell the 32% equity interest in Particle on an as-if converted
basis and Run Liang Tai conditionally agreed to purchase
the Sale Shares for cash consideration of US$448,000,000
(approximately HK$3,494,400,000).

45

46

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

EEEANRM=E ()

FR - WEAESEESEEINR
EHBRRIEEEZRBOEE - RIK
A~ ARk INEE AR E
I3RIE (2017 F « 4E) o W ph IR
HEERBEMATE-ERFE=FT
IR E F RS M WA R (B (2017
FoE) WEANESR ZISEEN
ZEHEABEREEEEREED
NERREUER  kBRZEAL
RHEMZ S (2017 4F : £) -

HIREE

R2019F 3 A1H @ BlEFHEEEEZE
N RIHEREERAAGILTE
ZTRBRHEERE  UREARE
144,000,000 SLEEINBE E SR8 2
25.5% fEiE o

20199F 3 A22 8 « BB i s e
Run Liang Tai Management Limited
([Run Liang Tail) 5132 7D BE E #
&= B BEEEEREAE
& Particle 12800 B 2R EL AT
B #32% B # + K Run Liang Tai B
fig 4 1 [R) 7 DA/ 448,000,000 £ 7T
(#73,494,400,00075 1) B EFER

,T/\ o
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Consolidated results me¥E
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
20185 2017 2016 F 2015F 20144
12A31H 12A31H 12H318 12H318 12H318
LEE HFE HFE IEFE IEFE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T Tr T T
Revenue WA 4,062,816 3,957487 3,798,273 4,200,895 4,618,365
Operating expenses BEER (2,976,886) (2,817858) (2,678,183) (2,973,897) (2,918,222)
Selling, general and e —RERTBER
administrative expenses (1,152,628) (1,011,700 (938,960) (912,528) (798,362)
Other gains, net and share Hit iz #88
of results of joint ventures b aEhE
and associates REERRIER 844,809 482,503 298,693 (22,763) 260,001
Profit before income tax and BRETIST R IEE
non-controlling interests AR R 778,111 610,432 479,823 291,707 1,161,782
Income tax expense GitcT5d (216,768) (89,579) (81,809) (139,876) (251,322)
Profit before non-controlling BRI R S Al
interests 561,343 520,853 398,014 151,831 910,460
Non-controlling interests RS (317553) (234,605) (167499) (41,482) (246,750)
Profit attributable to owners AREHEEA
of the Company a7 243,790 286,248 230,515 110,349 663,710
Consolidated assets and liabilities meEEREGE
As at 31 December
R12A318
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
2018 2017 2016 F 2015F 2014 F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000
Fr T T T Fr
Total assets BEE 10,861,694 10,244,268 9,268,474 9,561,818 9,540,824
Total liabilities BEE (3,125,542) (2,931,680 (2,639,699) (3,017.450) (2,570,074)
Non-controlling interests RS (2,257,223) (1,937120) (1,603,304) (1,530,008 (1,723,634)
Equity attributable to owners ADAEEA
to the Company FElhER 5,478,929 5,375,468 5,025,471 5,014,360 5,247116
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